

Light Responsive Adsorbents for Carbon Capture

by

Richelle Lyndon

Bachelor of Biotechnology (Honours), Monash University, Australia 2011

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED FOR THE FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Chemical Engineering Monash University

Australia

October 2014

Contents

LIST OF FIGURESVIII
LIST OF TABLESXVI
ABSTRACT I
DECLARATIONII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSIV
ABBREVIATIONSVI
SYMBOLS
COMMUNICATION OF RESULTS IX
CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION 10
1.1 Background
1.2 General Research Aim
1.3 Thesis Outline
1.4 Graphical Abstract of Thesis15
1.5 References
CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW	1'	7

2.1	Curi	rent Carbon Capture Technologies	17
2	.1.1	Post-combustion Capture	18
2	.1.2	Pre-combustion Capture	19
2	.1.3	Oxy-combustion	20
2.2	Exte	ernal Triggers for Carbon Capture Technologies	. 21
2	.2.1	Pressure and Temperature	21
2	.2.2	рН	21
2	.2.3	Microwave	22
2	.2.4	Light	23
2.3	Ligł	nt Responsive Materials	.24
2	.3.1	Adsorbents	24
_	231	1 Metal Organic Frameworks	26
	2.3.1	.2 Porous Aromatic Frameworks	28
2	.3.2	Photochromes	29
	2.3.2	Azobenzene	31
	2.3.2		32
	2.3.2	.3 Diarylethene	33
2.4	Inco	prporation of Flexible Light Responsive Group into Adsorbents	.34
2	.4.1	Pendant Light Responsive Groups	34
2	.4.2	Guest Molecules Incorporation	36
2	.4.3	Use of Photoresponsive Linker Molecules	37
2.5	Rese	earch Gaps	. 39
2.6	Rese	earch Aim	.40
2.7	Refe	erences	. 41
СН	[APT	ER 3	
GE	NER	AL METHODS	55
3.1	Mat	erials	55
3.2	Synt	hetic Methods	. 55

3.2.1	MOF Synthesis
3.2.2	Solvent Exchange
3.2.3	Schlenk Technique
3.3 Cha	racterisation Techniques
3.3.1	Gas Adsorption Measurements
3.3.2	General Light Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Set-up 61
3.3.3	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (NMR)
3.3.4	Ultraviolet Visible Spectroscopy (UV-VIS)
3.3.5	Fourier-Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR)
3.3.6	Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)
3.3.7	Powder X-Ray Diffraction (PXRD)
3.4 Refe	erences

4.1	Intro	duction	76
4.2	Meth	ods	80
4.	2.1	General	80
4.	2.2	Synthesis of Azobenzene Dicarboxylic Acid (AzDC)	80
4.	2.3	Synthesis of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5}	81
4.	2.4	Characterisation Methods	81
4.	2.5	Broadband Light Irradiation Experiment	81
4.3	Resu	Its and Discussions	82
4.	3.1	Photoswitching mechanism	84
4.	3.2	Dynamic Photoresponse in CO2 adsorption	91
4.	3.3	Influence of Filtered Light in CO ₂ Adsorption	94
4.4	Conc	lusions	96

1.5	ces97
1.5	ces

DY	NAM	IIC PHOTOSWITCHING OF DARE@PAF-1 FOR CARBO)N
CA	PTUI	RE AND RELEASE1	105
5.1	Intro	oduction	105
5.2	Meth	nods	108
5	.2.1	General	108
5	.2.2	Synthesis of PAF-1	108
5	.2.3	Synthesis of Diarylethene (DArE)	108
	5.2.3.	.1 Synthesis of Ethyl 5-methyl-2-thiophene-carboxylate (1)	109
	5.2.3.	2 Synthesis of 5-(Ethoxycarbonyl)-2-methyl-3-thienylboronic acid pinacol ester (2)	109
	5.2.3.	.3 Synthesis of 1,2-Bis(5'-ethoxycarbonyl-2'-methyl-3'-thienyl)-3,3,4,4,	5,5-
	hexat	fluorocyclopentene (3)	110
	5.2.3.	4 Synthesis of 1,2-Bis(5-carboxyl-2-methyl-3-thienyl)perfluorocyclopentene (4)	110
5	.2.4	Preparation of DArE@PAF-1	111
5	.2.5	Characterisation Methods	111
5	.2.6	Broadband Light Irradiation Experiment	111
5.3	Resu	Ilts and Discussions	112
5	.3.1	Photoswitching Mechanism	114
5	.3.2	Photoresponse of DArE@PAF-1 with Varying Guest Loading Concentrations	119
5.4	Cond	clusions	125
5.5	Refe	rences	126

CHAPTER 6

VIS	IBLE LIGHT	RESPONSIVE	MOF-74@MR	WITH	PRESSURE-GATED
GAS	ADSORPTIO	N PROPERTIES	5		
6.1	Introduction			••••••	
6.2	Methods			••••••	

6.2.1	General	138
6.2.2	Synthesis of Mg-MOF-74	139
6.2.3	Synthesis of Mg-MOF-74@MR	139
6.2.4	Characterisation Methods	139
6.2.5	Visible Light Irradiation Experiment	139
6.3 Re	sults and Discussions	140
6.3.1	Influence of Methyl Red Guest Molecules on the Structural Conformation of MOF-74	140
6.3.2	Photoswitching Mechanism	143
6.3.3	Pressure Gated Effect on CO2 adsorption in Visible Light Triggered Mg-MOF-74@MR	154
6.4 Co	nclusions	. 161
6.5 Re	ferences	163

ΤU	J NAB	LE VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MIL-53(AL)@MR FOR CARB	ON
CA	PTU	RE	.169
7.1	Intro	oduction	169
7.2	Met	nods	173
7	7.2.1	General	173
7	7.2.2	Synthesis of MIL-53(Al)	173
7	7.2.3	Synthesis of MIL-53(Al)@MR	173
7	7.2.4	Characterisation Methods	173
7	7.2.5	Visible Light Irradiation Experiment	174
7.3	Resu	Ilts and Discussions	174
7	7.3.1	Influence of Methyl Red Guest Molecules on the Structural Conformation of MIL-53(Al)	175
7	7.3.2	Photoswitching mechanisms	178
7	7.3.3	Enhanced CO2 Uptake of MIL-53(Al)@MR Upon Visible Light Irradiation	188
7.4	Con	clusions	194
7.5	Refe	rences	196

CO	NCLUSIONS & FUTURE WORK
8.1	Conclusions 201
8.2	Future Directions
APF	PENDIX
PUI	BLICATIONS AND PRESS RELEASES RELEVANT TO THESIS

List of Figures

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Figure 2. 1. Schematic representations of current conventional methods for carbon capture.
Figure 2. 2. Formation of a carbamate ion through a chemical reaction between CO_2 and
an amine
Figure 2. 3. Solar irradiation spectrum. Adapted from [47]24
Figure 2. 4. Schematic representation of MOF synthetic routes whereby interpenetrated or
non-interpenetrated network could form. Interpenetration occurs by the formation of
two equivalent networks at the same time. Adapted from [59, 60]26
Figure 2. 5. General synthetic procedure for PAF preparation. Reprinted with permission
from [104]. Copyrigh 2014 Royal Society of Chemistry
Figure 2. 6. Different structures of PAFs. Reprinted with permission from [55]. Copyright
2014 Royal Society of Chemistry
Figure 2. 7. Examples of different photochromic molecules
Figure 2. 8. Photoisomerisation of azobenzene
Figure 2. 9. Photoisomerisation of stilbene
Figure 2. 10. Photocyclisation of diarylethene
Figure 2. 11. Methods for the incorporation of a light responsive group (red) in porous
adsorbents. Three different methods have been reported to this date. The light
responsive groups can be incorporated as pendant groups (a), guest molecules (b) or
linker molecules (c)
Figure 2. 12. Trans-cis isomerisation of an azobenzene pendant in PCN-123 framework.
Reprinted with permission from [97]. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society36

Figure 2. 13. Trans-cis isomerisation of photoactive guest molecules	triggering structural
change of the host framework. Reprinted with permission from	[99]. Copyright 2014
American Chemical Society.	

CHAPTER 3. GENERAL METHODS

Figure 3. 1. The autoclave (a) and incubator (b) used in this study56
Figure 3. 2. Schematic representation of a Schlenk line set-up
Figure 3. 3. The IUPAC classification of sorption isotherms [2]58
Figure 3. 4. Photos of the ASAP 2420 (a) and Tristar II 3020 (b) instruments61
Figure 3. 5. Schematic representation of the general experimental set-up
Figure 3. 6. Photos of the general set-up for conducting photoresponsive study on the
Tristar II 3020 instrument. The inset shows a close-up look of the set-up inside the
dewar
Figure 3. 7. A photo of the general set-up for conducting photoresponsive study on the
ASAP 2420 instrument. A close-up photo of the set-up inside the dewar is shown in
the inset of Figure 3.664
Figure 3. 8. Cross section of a light cell showing a light guide socket and a smooth-
surfaced cavity to allow maximum light coverage on sample. The light cell is made of
stainless steel65
Figure 3. 9. Spectral output of light with no filter
Figure 3. 10. Spectral output of light using the 365 nm filter
Figure 3. 11. Spectral output of light using the 400-500 nm filter67
Figure 3. 12. Basic principle of NMR spectroscopy68
Figure 3. 13. Principle of diffuse reflection
Figure 3. 14. Schematic diagram on the principle of FT-IR spectroscopy. The absorption
of photon promotes the molecule to the excited state70
Figure 3. 15. Schematic diagram of a single reflection ATR70
Figure 3. 16. Bragg's Law72

CHAPTER 4. DYNAMIC PHOTOSWITCHING IN METAL ORGANIC FRAMEWORKS AS ROUTE TO LOW COST CARBON CAPTURE

Figure 4. 1. X-ray crystal structure of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)₀₅ showing a paddle wheel building unit and the coordination geometries (a), one of the three independent primitive cubic nets (b), a 1D channel of 3.4×3.4 Å along the c axis (c), and a 1D channel of 3.6 x 3.6 Å along the rectangular diagonal of the paddle wheel clusters (d). Colour code for a) and b): zinc, pink; carbon, gray; nitrogen, blue; oxygen, red; hydrogen, white. Reprinted with permission from [59]. Copyright 2014 American Figure 4. 4. Gas adsorption isotherms of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} at 77 K (hydrogen, black) and 298 K (carbon dioxide, blue; and methane, red). Solid and open shapes Figure 4. 5. Dynamic photoswitching in the light responsive MOF Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} Figure 4. 6. Excitation spectra of AzDC ligand in the MOF (solid line) and free AzDC ligand (dashed line) with an emission wavelength of 370 nm (red) and 460 nm (blue). Figure 4. 7. Excitation spectra of 4,4'-BPE of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} with an emission Figure 4. 8. UV-Vis spectra of Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5}. The material was continually Figure 4. 9. Maximum intensity of trans- and cis- 4,4'-BPE peak at 310 nm (blue) and 285 nm (red) respectively. Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} was continually irradiated for 10 Figure 4. 10. Synchrotron PXRD of non-irradiated (black) and irradiated (red) Figure 4. 11. The full FT-IR spectrum (a) of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} and a close up region Figure 4. 12. The full FT-IR spectrum (a) of free AzDC ligand and a close up region in the

- Figure 4. 17. An adsorption isobar of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} showing the dependence of the CO₂ uptake on sample temperature at 1 bar CO₂. The temperature was ramped at 0.1 K/min from 288 to 328 K, then back to 288 K......96

CHAPTER 5. DYNAMIC PHOTOSWITCHING IN DARE@PAF-1 FOR CARBON CAPTURE AND RELEASE

Figure 5.1. General synthetic procedure for PAF preparation. Reprinted with permission
from [4]. Copyrigh 2014 Royal Society of Chemistry 106
Figure 5. 2. Photocyclisation of diarylethene with carboxylic acid groups
Figure 5.3. Crystal structure of open ring DArE [15]. The molecular diameter range from
0.9-1.3 nm
Figure 5.4. N_2 adsorption isotherm of PAF-1 (black) and DArE@PAF-1 (1 wt %, red; 5
wt %, blue; 20 wt %, green; 50 wt %, magenta) at 77 K (a) showing the effects of
DArE loading concentrations on the pore size distributions (b), BET surface areas (c)
and total pore volumes (d) of PAF-1113
Figure 5.5. Dynamic photoswitching of light responsive DArE@PAF-1 led to instantly
reversible CO ₂ uptake114
Figure 5.6. The peaks at 370 nm and 460 nm correspond to the open (blue) and closed
(red) ring free DArE (dashed line) and DArE@PAF-1 (solid line)respectively.
Changes in the intensities of solid-state UV Vis spectra of host free DArE (e) and
DArE@PAF-1 (f) during alternate UV (340 nm)/ Vis (480 nm) light irradiation 115
Figure 5.7. Full FT-IR spectrum of DArE@PAF-1 in the absence (black) and presence
(red) light irradiation

Figure 5.8. Full FT-IR spectrum of host-free DArE in the absence (black) and presence
(red) light irradiation [54]
Figure 5.9. CO2 adsorption isotherms of PAF-1 and DArE@PAF-1 at 303 K under
photoswitching environment showed that CO2 capture and release occurred
reversibly in the absence and presence of light respectively (a). CO_2 sorption
isotherms were normalised for clarity, showing that greater photoresponse was
obtained with higher DArE loading concentrations (b). CO_2 sorption isotherms of 50
wt % DArE@PAF-1 at 303 K and 273 K were also compared to look at their
adsorption behaviour
Figure 5.10. Dynamic vs static photoswitching of DArE@PAF-1 (50 wt %)121
Figure 5.11. Trade-off between photoresponse (a) and CO_2 uptake capacity at 1 bar (b).

- Figure 5.13. Kinetic studies of CO₂ adsorption at 303 K and 273 K at a pressure range of 0.6-1 bar, showing the effects of different guest loading concentrations (a) and temperature (b). 50 wt % DArE@PAF-1 was used for the latter experiment (b)....124

CHAPTER 6. VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MOF-74@MR WITH PRESSURE GATED GAS ADSORPTION PROPERTIES

Figure 6. 1. Photoisomerisation of <i>o</i> -methyl red
Figure 6. 2. General Structure of M-MOF-74 where each metal centers are connected by
2,5-dihydroxyterephthalate ligands (blue and red circles represent the metal species
and the oxygen atoms from the ligand respectively). Printed with permission from
[26]. Copyright 2014 Elsevier
Figure 6. 3. Schematic representation of CO2 coordinated in Mg-MOF-74. Reprinted with
permission from [27]. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society
Figure 6. 4. Trans-methyl red showing long and short axis dimensions [42]140
Figure 6. 5. Normalised PXRD data of Mg-MOF-74 and Mg-MOF-74@MR before
irradiation. An overall spectra (a) and magnified regions of the spectra (b-f) were
plotted to show general peak shifts and broadening upon MR loading 141
Figure 6. 6. TGA curves of Mg-MOF-74, MR and Mg-MOF-74@MR in N_2 (heating rate:
5 °C/min)142
Figure 6. 7. Proposed mechanism for Mg-MOF-74@MR upon irradiation and relaxation.

Figure 6. 8. PXRD patterns of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 (a) and MR (b)
in air with visible light (400-500 nm) 144
Figure 6. 9. PXRD data of non-irradiated (black), irradiated (yellow, purple, magenta and
red) and post-irradiated (blue) Mg-MOF-74@MR. An overall spectra (a) and
magnified regions of the spectra (b-e) were plotted to show the peak changes during
and after visible light irradiation (400-500 nm). PXRD pattern of the post-irradiated
sample was measured 5 hours after irradiation in the dark145
Figure 6. 10. Changes in cell parameters along the a axis (a), c axis (b) and cell volume (c)
upon prolonged irradiation in Mg-MOF-74@MR
Figure 6. 11. UV-Vis spectra of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 (a), MR (b),
Mg-MOF-74@ (c) in air with visible light (400-500 nm) 150
Figure 6. 12. FT-IR spectra of all the materials used in the study (a), and non-irradiated
and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 (b), MR (c), Mg-MOF-74@MR (d) in air with visible light
(400-500 nm). Peak due to CO_2 in the atmosphere at ~2450 cm ⁻¹ was omitted for
clarity
Figure 6. 13. CO2 adsorption isotherms of non-irradiated Mg-MOF-74, and Mg-MOF-
74@MR before and after irradiation at 303 K 154
Figure 6. 14. CO2 adsorption isotherms of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-
74@MR under dynamic (a) and static (b) conditions at 303 K. Dynamic and static
photoswitching experiments were carried out on day 1 and 2 respectively 156
Figure 6. 15. CO ₂ uptake performance of Mg-MOF-74@MR at 303 K after relaxation.157
Figure 6. 16. N_2 adsorption isotherms of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and
irrediated Ma MOE $74@MB$ at $77 K$ 158
inaulated ing-inton-74@mix at 77 K
Figure 6. 17. Pore size distributions of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated
Figure 6. 17. Pore size distributions of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74@MR
 Figure 6. 17. Pore size distributions of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74@MR. Figure 6. 18. CO₂ adsorption isotherm at 303 K of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-
 Figure 6. 17. Pore size distributions of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74@MR. Figure 6. 18. CO₂ adsorption isotherm at 303 K of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 and MR.

CHAPTER 7. TUNABLE VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MIL-53(AL)@MR FOR CARBON CAPTURE

Figure 7. 1. Photoisomerisation of o-methyl red. 170

Figure 7. 2. Structure of the MIL-53(Al) framework is composed of infinite chains of corner-sharing $AlO_4(OH)_2$ octahedra connected by the 1,4-benzenedicarboxylate ligands, in which the metal species are bridged by the hydroxyl groups (gray circles, square pyramids, represent the hydroxyl groups bridges and the metal clusters

respectively). Reprinted with persmission from [26]. Copyright 2014 John Wiley and Figure 7. 3. Schematic representation of the breathing of MIL-53(Al) showing the channel system. In this case the removal of free ligand molecules upon activation affords the open structure. The hydration-dehydration of the MOF results in a structural oscillation between the closed and open structure respectively. Reprinted with Figure 7. 4. Trans-methyl red showing long and short axis dimensions [33]......174 Figure 7. 5. Normalised PXRD data of MIL-53(Al) and MIL-53(Al)@MR 15 wt % and 50 wt % guest loading before irradiation. An overall spectra (a) and magnified regions of the spectra (b-e) were plotted to show general peak shifts and broadening with Figure 7. 6. TGA curves of MIL-53(Al), MR, MIL-53(Al)@MR (15 and 50 %wt) in N₂ Figure 7. 7. Proposed mechanism for MIL-53(Al)@MR upon irradiation and relaxation. Figure 7. 8. PXRD patterns of non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (a), MR (b), MIL-53(Al)@MR 15 wt % (c) and 50 wt % (d) in air with visible light (400-500 nm)...... 181 Figure 7. 9. UV-Vis spectra of non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (a), MR (b), MIL-Figure 7. 10. FT-IR spectra of as-synthesised, Methanol exchanged and activated MIL-53(Al) to indicate the removal of free terephthalic acid as shown by the elimination of Figure 7. 11. FT-IR spectra of all the materials used in the study (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (b), MR (c), MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt % (d) in air with visible light (400-500 nm). Peak due to CO₂ in the atmosphere at ~2450 cm⁻¹ was Figure 7. 12. CO2 adsorption isotherms of MIL-53(Al), and MIL-53(Al)@MR with 15 wt Figure 7. 13. Percentage photoresponse obtained with different MR loading concentrations in MIL-53(Al) (a). Effect of visible light irradiation on CO₂ adsorption isotherms of MIL-53(Al)@MR with 15 wt % (b) and 50 wt % (c) guest loading under dynamic and static photoswitching conditions at 303 K. 190

Figure 7. 14. N_2 adsorption isotherms of MIL-53(Al) (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated
MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt % at 77 K
Figure 7. 15. Pore size distributions of MIL-53(Al) (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated
MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt %, which were calculated from N_2 adsorption isotherm at 77
K
Figure 7. 16. CO2 adsorption isotherms at 303 K of non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-
53(Al) (a) and MR (b) at 303 K with visible light (400-500 nm) 194

List of Tables

CHAPTER 6. VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MOF-74@MR WITH PRESSURE GATED GAS ADSORPTION PROPERTIES

able 6. 1 Observed peak changes in PXRD pattern of Mg-MOF-74@MR upon lig	ght
irradiation, and its relaxation towards the initial peak locations and intensities po	ost-
irradiation. Y and N denote yes and no for observed relaxation1	46
able 6. 2. Observed peak changes in the FT-IR spectra of irradiated Mg-MOF-74, M	ЛR
and Mg-MOF-74@MR1	53

CHAPTER 7. TUNABLE VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MIL-53(AL)@MR FOR CARBON CAPTURE

Table 7. 1. Observed peak cha	unges in the FT-IR spectra	of irradiated MIL-53(Al)	, MR and
MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt 9	%		

Abstract

The discovery of novel light responsive adsorbents for carbon capture and release is reported here for the first time. These materials were found to exhibit dynamic or static photoswitchable properties in the broadband or visible light range during CO_2 adsorption measurements. Prior to the publication of my work, no dynamic photoswitchable adsorbent or full utilisation of visible light to trigger carbon capture and release was known. Thus the pioneering work presented in this thesis provides a significant breakthrough for the carbon capture technologies that could potentially allow the process to be operated at a significantly lower cost and energy than conventional methods.

Commonly, the separation of CO_2 from a stream of gases involves the chemisorption of CO_2 by amines, the release from which is triggered by pressure and temperature. Although it is an effective process, amine degradation and regeneration are the main problems in post-combustion capture technologies. The regeneration of amines requires a large energy input which can result in ~30 % reduction in power plant capacity. Such limitations prompted research on different sorbent materials that display reversible adsorption using low cost triggers. While temperature, pressure, pH and microwave stimuli responsive materials have potential applications in gas adsorption technologies, light, particularly in the visible light range is the least disruptive stimulus for triggering carbon capture and release efficiently and it is highly abundant in nature, in the form of sunlight. New classes of porous materials: Metal-organic Frameworks (MOFs) and porous aromatic frameworks (PAFs) were explored as potential CO_2 sorbent materials due to their excellent performance in CO_2 capture and tunable properties.

To achieve highly efficient utilisation of sunlight in carbon capture processes, porous materials with light responsive properties were developed according to the energy levels in the solar spectrum. The solar spectrum consists of 7 % ultraviolet, 47 % visible and 46 % infrared light. The concept of using non-filtered light as a practical approach was ideal. However, the use of filtered light to eliminate UV light and obtain visible light irradiation was also attractive as it constitutes the major fraction of solar radiation intensity. Furthermore, it is more environmentally friendly and greater exposure due to deeper light penetration could be achieved. Thus porous adsorbents that could respond to light in the broadband range or specifically in the visible light range were developed.

In the course of the research project, four novel light responsive materials were successfully developed; two of which respond in the broadband light range and the other respond in the visible light range. The first dynamically photoswitchable MOF (**Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)**_{0.5}) for reversible carbon capture and release was reported. The MOF contained azobenzene and stilbene derivative linker molecules, in which photoirradiation resulted in the fast-bending motion of these molecules. Thus, up to 42 % and 64 % static and dynamic photoresponse were achieved respectively. This was the highest dynamic photoresponse obtained at the time of publication. The development of more broadband light responsive adsorbents was conducted further in the research. The work led to the discovery of photoresponsive PAF containing diarylethene (**DArE**) guest molecules (**DArE@PAF-1**). The dynamic carbon capture and release was triggered by the interaction between photoactive **DArE** molecules with the PAF. At high guest loading concentration, photoresponse can reach up to 24 %.

As earlier work showed great promise for light triggered carbon capture applications, improvements were focused on using more penetrating light trigger, such as visible light. As a result, an adsorbent that could respond exclusively to visible light was developed. Furthermore, unique adsorption behaviour was obtained for a reversible carbon capture and release process. The introduction of visible light guest molecules (methyl red, MR) into the host (Mg-MOF-74) displayed a pressure-gate system, in which light could be used to tune the gate-opening pressure. Photoirradiation of the sample resulted in the photoswitching of the guest molecules, whereby lesser contact with the host allowed more adsorption sites to be accessible. Thus upon irradiation, a significant increase in CO₂ uptake adsorption of up to 84 % was obtained. This is the highest photoresponse ever reported to date under static condition using visible light trigger. Further development led to the discovery of a water stable adsorbent that is visible light responsive. Again, methyl red (**MR**) was used as the visible light responsive molecule. The incorporation of the guest molecule into water stable MIL-53(Al) resulted in a similar photoresponse trend, in which prolonged irradiation resulted in the increase in CO₂ uptake adsorption of up to 9 % at lower guest loading (15 wt %) and 46 % at higher guest loading (50 wt %).

The light responsive nature and recyclability of these adsorbents represents a new strategy for lowering the cost and energy for sorbent regeneration, a main problem associated with conventional carbon capture technologies. Under the Copyright Act 1968, this thesis must be used only under the normal conditions of scholarly fair dealing. In particular no results or conclusions should be extracted from it, nor should it be copied or closely paraphrased in whole or in part without the written consent of the author. Proper written acknowledgement should be made for any assistance obtained from this thesis.

I certify that I have made all reasonable efforts to secure copyright permissions for thirdparty content included in this thesis and have not knowingly added copyright content to my work without the owner's permission.

Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or equivalent institution, and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

This thesis includes one original paper published in a peer reviewed journal and three unpublished publications. The core theme of the thesis is light responsive adsorbents for carbon capture. The ideas, development and writing up of all the papers in the thesis were the principal responsibility of myself, the candidate, working within the Department of Chemical Engineering under the supervision of Assoc Prof Bradley Ladewig and Dr Matthew Hill.

[The inclusion of co-authors reflects the fact that the work came from active collaboration between researchers and acknowledges input into team-based research.

Thesis chapter	Publication title	Publication status	Nature and extent of candidate's contribution
4	Dynamic Photoswitching In Metal Organic Frameworks as Route to Low Cost Carbon Capture	Published	100 % - Experiment and analysis work, writing
5	Dynamic Photoswitching in DArE@PAF-1 for Carbon Capture and Release	Unpublished	100 % - Experiment and analysis work, writing
6	Visible Light Responsive MOF- 74@MR with Pressure Gated Gas Adsorption Properties	Unpublished	100 % - Experiment and analysis work, writing

In the case of Chapters 4, 5, 6 and 7, my contribution to the work involved the following:

7	Tunable Visible Light Responsive MIL-	Unpublished	100 % - Experiment	
	53(Al)@MR for Carbon Capture		and analysis work,	
			writing	

I have / fave not (circle that which applies) renumbered sections of submitted or published papers in order to generate a consistent presentation within the thesis.

Signed:		
	31/10/2014	

51/ 10/ 2014

Date:

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude for my supervisors, Dr Matthew Hill and Assoc Prof Bradley Ladewig, for giving me the opportunity to do research with them at CSIRO and Monash University. Their supervision, guidance, encouragement and support throughout my PhD candidature have been invaluable for me.

Special thanks goes to Dr Kristina Konstas for her constant support and assistance throughout my research and providing me with PAF samples. I will remember our conversations in lab about funny things and horror movies. Thank you for being a great travel companion to San Francisco and New Orleans. I enjoy our fun conversations and shopping times. Thank you to Marta, Sam, Ravi and Aaron for their advice and support during my PhD candidature.

I would also like to thank Dr Daniel Keddie, Dr Haiqing Li and Dr Helmut Thiessen for providing diarylethene, some Mg-MOF-74 samples and light filters for my project. I would also like to thank Dr Aaron Seeber and Dr Chris Hayes for helping me with X-ray experiments and running some TGA samples for me.

I would also like to thank Bruce Dobney and Maria Triantis from the third year chemistry labs for allowing me to prepare my samples and conduct my photoresponse studies on their FT-IR instruments on any occasion. Their kindness and helpfulness in finding the correct items and set-up for the experiment allowed me to perform my experiment without delay. I am also thankful for Cheng's group for allowing me to use their solid UV-VIS instrument. Special thanks goes to Jye from Cheng's group for always helping me book the instrument. His training on the instrument was very helpful and detailed.

I would like to thank Prof Cameron Kepert from University of Sydney for allowing me to work with his group and in his lab. I would also like to thank Dr Peter Southon from the group for helping me conduct some X-ray experiment. I would like to acknowledge Australian Synchotron for providing me an opportunity to X-ray synchrotron experiment on my sample that led to the publication of my first paper.

I would also like to acknowledge Australian Nanotechnology Network for offering me a Travel Fellowship. It gave me the opportunity to conduct my research at University of California, Berkeley for three months. I would like to thank Prof Jeffrey Long for giving me the opportunity to work in his lab and group and provide constructive suggestions during group meetings. I would also like to thank members of the Long group, particularly Thomas McDonald, for their helpful advice and kind supervision. I would also like to thank the International House and the residents for making my overseas stay memorable and enjoyable.

I am immensely grateful to Monash Univsersity and CSIRO for providing the facility and great work environment to facilitate my research during my PhD candidature. Thank you to the members of the Ladewig Group, CSIRO and SIEF group for their great support and help. Many thanks to Ben, Bec, Con, Adam, Ben W, Emily, Jack, Stefan, Kathryn, Sally, Gagan, Negin, Joyee, Fiona, Jo, Ruohui, Romiza, Sunaina, Bayzid, Jia Han, Mel, Marzi, Mahdokht, Teckwang, Chris, Tristan, Niken, Peter, Pau, Joan, Amy, Waiyin and Lily for their companionship and constant encouragement, and the fun conversations. Special thanks goes to Kathryn for letting me use her computer and helping me out. I would also like to thank my friends in New Zealand: Susan, Lisa, Tree and Candy for their constant support throughout my PhD candidature. Thank you to Thanh, Carmel and Tracy for sharing their passion in crafting and baking, and inspired me to teach myself how to sew and design my own clothes during my spare time. I would also like to thank Martin, for his constant support and compassion, especially during the completion of my thesis. I enjoy our daily conversations on Google hangout and Skype.

And lastly, I would like to thank my family for their ongoing love and support throughout my PhD. Thank you to Mum and Dad for their constant encouragements. Thank you to my twin, Larissa, and my brother, Shane, for always being there for me.

Abbreviations

atm	Atmosphere
AzDC	Azobenzene Dicarboxylate
BET	Brunauer-Emmett-Teller
BPE	1,2-bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene
DArE	Diarylethene
DCM	Dichloromethane
DMF	Dimethylformamide
DFT	Density Functional Theorem
DSB	Distyrylbenzene
D-R	Dubinin-Radushkevich
EtOH	Ethanol
Equiv.	Equivalent
FT-IR	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
KBr	Potassium Bromide
LLCT	Ligand-to-Ligand
МеОН	Methanol
MIL	Matériaux de l'Institut Lavoisier
MLCT	Metal-to-Ligand
MOF	Metal-organic Framework
MOP	Metal-organic Polyhedra
MR	Methyl Red
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
PAF	Porous Aromatic Framework
UV-VIS	Ultraviolet Visible
TGA	Thermogravimetric Analysis
ppm	Parts per million
PXRD	Powder X-Ray Diffraction

Symbols

bPath length of the samplebrsBroad singletcVelocity of light or concentrationdDoubletEEnergy or molar absorbtivityhPlanck's constantIIntensity of the radiation I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	Å	Ångström
brsBroad singletcVelocity of light or concentrationdDoubletEEnergy or molar absorbtivityhPlanck's constantIIntensity of the radiation I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	b	Path length of the sample
cVelocity of light or concentrationdDoubletEEnergy or molar absorbtivityhPlanck's constantIIntensity of the radiation I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	brs	Broad singlet
dDoubletEEnergy or molar absorbtivityhPlanck's constantIIntensity of the radiationI₀Initial radiation intensityλWavelengthwt %Weight percent	c	Velocity of light or concentration
EEnergy or molar absorbtivityhPlanck's constantIIntensity of the radiation I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	d	Doublet
hPlanck's constantIIntensity of the radiation I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	Е	Energy or molar absorbtivity
IIntensity of the radiation I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	h	Planck's constant
I_0 Initial radiation intensity λ Wavelengthwt %Weight percent	Ι	Intensity of the radiation
λWavelengthwt %Weight percent	\mathbf{I}_0	Initial radiation intensity
wt % Weight percent	λ	Wavelength
	wt %	Weight percent

viii

Communication of Results

Publications

- Lyndon, R., Konstas, K., Ladewig, B. P., Southon, P. D., Kepert, C. J., and M. R. Hill, *Dynamic photo-switching in metal-organic frameworks as a route to low-energy carbon dioxide capture and release*. Angewandte Chemie, 2013. **52**(13): p. 3695-3698.
- Lyndon, R., Ladewig, B. P., and M. R. Hill, Squeezing out CO₂. Post-combustion capture: metal-organic framework releases stored carbon dioxide in sunlight. Carbon Management, 2014. 5(1): p. 9-11.

Patent

 WO Application 2014015383 A1, Bradley Ladewig, Richelle Lyndon, Matthew Hill, "Gas Separation Process", published Jan 30, 2014, assigned to Commonwealth Scientific And Industrial Research Organisation and Monash University.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

When sunlight passes through the Earth's atmosphere, some of the energy is reflected back to space, while a portion is absorbed by greenhouse gases [1]. These greenhouse gases, including water vapour, carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and nitrous oxide (NO₂), are able to absorb solar radiation and release heat into the atmosphere [1]. The increase in greenhouse gases in the atmosphere results in increased global temperatures, due to the greenhouse effect. The removal of these gases from the atmosphere is difficult due to their inertness, so they pose a risk of long-lasting global warming and climate change [1, 2].

 CO_2 is one of the primary greenhouse gases that cause global warming [1, 2]. For many years, the concentration of CO_2 in the environment has varied between 180 and 280 ppm [2]. CO_2 is naturally present in the atmosphere and is constantly being exchanged in the atmosphere, as animals, plants and microorganisms are recycling it [1]. Unfortunately, the level of CO_2 emitted increased due to human activities, including industrial and agricultural practices, since the industrial revolution. For the past few years, the average annual increase was 2.07 ppm, which is more than double the rate in the 1960s [2]. The current level of CO_2 in the atmosphere stands at around 400 ppm, surpassing the suggested safe upper level of atmospheric CO_2 of 350 ppm [3]. It has been reported that the increased atmospheric CO_2 concentrations correlates to changes in temperature, precipitation, sea levels and ocean pH [2]. In July 2014, the average global temperature has reached the fourth highest on record for the month, at 0.64 °C above the 20th century average of 15.8 °C [4, 5]. The mitigation of global CO_2 emission stands as one of the greatest worldwide challenges of our time.

The main sources of CO_2 emissions are electricity generation using fossil fuels and transportation [6]. Transportation includes vehicles such as cars, trucks, trains, ships and aeroplanes, which emit CO_2 as the petroleum-based fuel is combusted to provide

propulsion. The most effective way to reduce these emissions is by reducing fossil fuel consumption [2]. Reduction in energy intensity through efficient utilisation has been demonstrated as one of the lowest-cost means of reducing CO_2 emissions. Renewable energy sources such as solar, biofuels and wind energy have been shown to be viable low CO_2 intensity replacements for fossil fuel power stations [2]. However, some of these technologies are still at the development stage and/or they only provide electricity intermittently (for example when the wind is blowing for wind turbines). In the absence of high-efficiency low-cost electricity storage, fossil fuel combustion will continue to be used as a key global energy source, and so there is an urgent need for new solutions to reduce the CO_2 emissions.

Currently, carbon capture and storage is seen as a potential near term approach to reducing global CO_2 emissions [2]. The strategies involve an efficient separation of CO_2 from gaseous mixture or water vapor, in which temperature and pressure changes are used to drive the separation process. However, the process involved is expensive and energy-intensive due to the large energy required for the regeneration of sorbent materials using temperature and pressure triggers [2]. Therefore, there is a critical need for improved separation strategies that will provide efficient, cost-effective technologies for carbon capture and release.

With this motivation, many researchers are seeking new materials and triggers for low cost carbon capture and release [2]. Sorbent materials must be very carefully selected to achieve a commercially viable carbon capture and release process. An ideal sorbent material must be capable of capturing a large amount of CO_2 . However, CO_2 gas molecules must bind strongly to the sorbent material so that it is effectively and preferably completely separated from the gas mixture, whilst still being weak enough for the bound gas molecule to be released with minimal energy input. To overcome the limitations in the conventional carbon capture technologies, many novel adsorbents using new triggers have been developed to try and meet these often-conflicting requirements.

1.2 General Research Aim

The idea of using newly emerged adsorbent materials to capture and release CO_2 , using naturally occurring triggers is highly attractive. A significant reduction in the energy cost component of the carbon capture process could potentially be achieved through this approach. Thus for this research, novel stimuli responsive materials have been investigated and developed using various synthetic approaches and characterisation methods, mainly focusing on the effect on gas adsorption properties in response to a specific stimulus.

A critical literature review has been conducted, identifying research gaps, and key research aims are specified in the next chapter.

1.3 Thesis Outline

The motivation of reducing CO_2 emissions using Metal-organic Frameworks (MOFs) and porous aromatic frameworks (PAFs) as new adsorbent materials and light as a novel trigger for a potential low cost carbon capture and release process was the main focus of this project. The results reported in this thesis are novel and represent pioneering work in the field of stimuli responsive carbon capture materials, particularly light responsive materials, and could help further accelerate the development of "next generation" light responsive materials. Improvements and developments on light responsive adsorbents were made over the course of the research. As a result, the experimental chapters will fall under two main categories: Chapter 4-5 are based on broadband light responsive materials and Chapter 6-7 are based on visible light responsive materials. The thesis is divided into eight chapters, which are summarised below.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

This chapter includes a brief historical review on climate change and carbon emissions, highlighting the need for developing novel strategies for carbon capture technologies. This section also includes the thesis outline.

Chapter 2 - Literature Review

An in-depth literature review on carbon capture technologies is presented, from current technologies and their challenges to emerging potential technologies using novel sorbents and triggers. To address the main issue of the energy intensive sorbent regeneration step in

carbon capture technologies, this chapter focusses on the use of light as a potential trigger for carbon capture and release from novel porous materials like Metal-organic Frameworks (MOFs) and Porous-Aromatic frameworks (PAFs). This chapter also identifies the research gap, where key research aims will be presented.

Chapter 3 - General Methods

General methods for synthesising and characterising photoresponsive adsorbent materials and their starting materials are presented in this chapter, along with the basic theory behind each characterisation technique.

Chapter 4 - Dynamic Photoswitching in Metal–Organic Frameworks as a Route to Low-Energy Carbon Dioxide Capture and Release

This chapter is based on a published journal article in Angewandte Chemie, which has received media attention, and a patent application is pending. The work investigates a novel approach for incorporating light responsive groups into porous materials and presents its novel dynamic photoswitching behaviour upon broadband light irradiation. In this study, the photoresponse property of fully incorporated light responsive linker molecules in the MOF framework (**Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)**_{0.5}) was exploited to obtain a dynamic carbon capture and release process. This was achieved through the fast bending motions of the light responsive linker molecules. Control and mechanistic studies were conducted using various characterisation methods. This paper was the first published report of such dynamic photoswitching behaviour.

Chapter 5 - Photodynamic Switchable DArE@PAF-1 for Carbon Capture and Release

In this chapter, the dynamic photoswitching of **PAF-1** containing light responsive diarylethene (**DArE**) guest molecules upon broadband light irradiation was presented. The effect of different guest loading concentration on the photoresponse during CO_2 adsorption was investigated. A trade-off between photoresponse and adsorption capacity was observed. The dynamic and reversible photoswitching behaviour during CO_2 adsorption was triggered by the interaction between the guest molecules and the host. The possible mechanism was postulated based on various control and characterisation studies.

Chapter 6 - Visible Light Tunable Pressure-Gate System of Mg-MOF-74@MR for Carbon Capture and Release

This chapter discusses the significance of eliminating UV light from the broadband wavelength range and highlights the successful development of a novel visible light responsive adsorbent. This study focuses on the use of methyl red (**MR**) molecules as guest molecules in **Mg-MOF-74** to create an adsorbent that fully utilised a visible light trigger for carbon capture. A pressure-gate phenomenon was obtained upon guest loading. Photoirradiation of the material resulted in the opening of the gate and an increase in CO₂ uptake. Thus visible light allows the tuning of the gate-opening pressure to achieve a reversible carbon capture and release process. To this date, this behaviour has not been reported in the literature. Control and mechanistic studies showed that the mechanism involved the *trans*-to-*cis* photoisomerisation of **MR**. The photoirradiated CO₂ adsorbent displayed the highest photoresponse ever reported to date under static conditions.

Chapter 7 - Tunable Visible Light Responsive MIL-53(Al)@MR for Carbon Capture and Release

This chapter highlights the importance of using water stable adsorbents for carbon capture in industrial settings. Visible light responsive methyl red (**MR**) was again used as guest molecules. However, a water stable **MIL-53(AI)** was chosen as the host in this study. Similar photoresponse behaviour to previous results was observed, where the photoirradiated sample displayed higher CO_2 uptake capacity from the non-irradiated sample. The effect of different guest loading concentration on the photoresponse during CO_2 adsorption was also investigated and a trade-off between photoresponse and adsorption capacity was observed. Characterisation studies, once again, showed that *trans*to-*cis* photoisomerisation of **MR** was responsible for the photoresponse obtained during CO_2 adsorption.

Chapter 8 - Conclusions and Recommendations

This section highlights and concludes the summary of the major findings reported over the course of the research. Based on the conclusion, future work is recommended for developing the ideal light responsive adsorbents for low cost carbon capture.

1.4 Graphical Abstract of Thesis



Figure 1. 1. Schematic representation of the novel light responsive adsorbents developed for carbon capture. Two broadband light responsive adsorbents (Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} and DArE@PAF-1) and two visible light responsive adsorbents (Mg-MOF-74@MR and MIL-53(Al)@MR) were successfully prepared, showing reversible CO₂ capture and release. Spontaneous CO₂ release and enhanced CO₂ uptake were obtained upon photoirradiation respectively.

1.5 References

- Casper, J.K., Greenhouse Gases: Worldwide Impacts. Global Warming. 2009, New York: Facts On File.
- Compton, H.J. and B.I. Raymond, *Carbon Capture Beyond 2020: Basic Research Needs*.
 2012: Nova Science Publishers, Incorporated.
- Hansen, J., M. Sato, P. Kharecha, D. Beerling, R. Berner, V. Masson-Delmotte, M. Pagani, M. Raymo, D.L. Royer, and J.C. Zachos, *Target atmospheric CO2: Where should humanity aim?* arXiv preprint arXiv:0804.1126, 2008.
- 4. NOAA National Climatic Data Center, State of the Climate: Global Analysis for August 2014. 2014; Available from: http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/global/.
- NOAA National Climatic Data Center, State of the Climate: Global Analysis for July 2014.
 2014; Available from: http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/global/.
- 6. Rackley, S., *Carbon Capture and Storage*. 2009, Oxford: Academic.
Chapter 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Current Carbon Capture Technologies

Fossil fuels are the world's main primary source of energy due to their relatively low cost and abundance (especially for coal) [1, 2]. The combustion of these fuels resulted in the release of heat, water vapour and carbon dioxide (CO₂), a greenhouse gas. As demands for energy have increased, the annual global emissions of CO₂ have increased by approximately 80 % between 1970 and 2004 [3]. Furthermore, the atmospheric CO₂ concentration reached ~400 ppm in 2013 and is projected to exceed 500 ppm by 2050 according to a business-as-usual scenario, with associated global warming of 4-5 °C and catastrophic impacts [4, 5]. Thus, there is a pressing need to develop strategies to reduce CO₂ emissions, especially those resulting from combustion of fossil fuels [2].

Alternate energy sources have been sought to reduce carbon emissions, such as, solar, wind, geothermal and hydropower [6, 7]. However, these technologies still need improvements to make them commercially desirable and viable [5, 7]. Conversion of CO_2 to useful chemical products is also considered a potential CO_2 reduction route [2, 6, 8]. For example, conversion of CO_2 into cyclic carbonates would be useful as solvents, chemical reagents and in biomedical applications [9-13]. However, the chemical conversion process is generally inefficient and a difficult synthetic problem as the CO_2 molecule is energetically very stable [8].

Meanwhile, large-scale carbon capture and sequestration (CCS) may play a key role in mitigating global climate change [2, 3]. The three main processes proposed are post-combustion capture, pre-combustion capture and oxy-combustion (Figure 2.1) [1, 3, 14].



Figure 2. 1. Schematic representations of current conventional methods for carbon capture.

2.1.1 Post-combustion Capture

Post-combustion capture technologies are the most common and widely used process in many industries, in which the separation of CO_2 from the flue gas occurs after combustion [15]. The main aspect of this process that is still under development is to increase the concentration of CO_2 before sequestration, at a low energy cost [16]. The most well-established process involves the use of ~25-30 wt % aqueous amine solution, typically primary alkanolamine MEA, to absorb the flue gas containing CO_2 in an absorber column at 40 °C [2, 3]. At such a low temperature, the CO_2 reacts with the amine through a zwitterionic mechanism to form carbamates (Figure 2.2) [2, 3]. This CO_2 -rich solvent is then pumped to a stripping column where it is heated at 100-140 °C and around atmospheric pressure to regenerate the solvent and release the CO_2 [2, 3]. The hot regenerated amine solution then flows through a heat exchanger, where the solvent is cooled and the CO_2 rich solvent going to the stripper column is pre-heated, before returning to the absorber column. High temperature is required to regenerate the solvent due to the high heat of formation associated with the carbamate production upon

absorption. The high-energy intensity process contributes to a parasitic energy loss of up to 30 % of the power plant capacity [3].



Figure 2. 2. Formation of a carbamate ion through a chemical reaction between CO_2 and an amine.

Post-combustion capture is a technologically mature process and could potentially be retrofitted into existing power plants. However, the process has other limitations. A high amount of energy is required to drive the separation process, contributing to a significant fraction of the energy cost. In addition, it suffers from solvent degradation and volatility problems [16, 17]. The volatility of water and amines could result in the loss of absorbent over time [5, 18]. Furthermore, amines are corrosive in nature and also decompose over time as the presence of residual oxygen in the flue stream causes oxidative degradation, forming nitrosomes [17, 19]. Contaminants such as sulfur oxides and nitrogen oxides also interfere with the absorption of CO_2 [17, 20].

In order to improve the technology, other materials with lower heat of absorption and regeneration energy have been sought to lower the energy costs. The use of other amine based materials with lower regeneration energy and less susceptible to degradation such as secondary amines (e.g. diethanolamine), tertiary amines (e.g. N-methyldiethanolamine), and sterically hindered amines (e.g. 2-amino-2-methyl-1-propanol) have been considered by lowering the carbamate stability and increasing the reaction rate with CO_2 [3, 5, 16, 17, 19, 21]. Inorganic solvents like aqueous ammonium carbonate have also been considered as an alternative due to their strong absorbing nature [22, 23]. However, the regeneration step is also energy intensive as the CO_2 -rich solvent has to be heated to about 80 °C [3].

2.1.2 **Pre-combustion Capture**

Pre-combustion capture is another alternative to post-combustion technology, where the CO_2 separation process occurs before the combustion process. Firstly, the fossil fuel is converted into synthesis gas (syngas), containing CO, CO_2 and H_2 [24, 25]. CO_2 is then separated in a similar method as in the post-combustion process but it occurs at high partial pressures and at high temperatures of between 250 °C and 450 °C [3].

The use of elevated pressure and higher CO_2 concentration in the process lowers the energy capture penalty by about 50 % compared to that of post-combustion capture [26]. Although it has the advantage of lower energy requirement, the temperature and efficiency required for H₂-rich gas turbine fuel is high and problematic [14]. Moreover, since the technology is new, retrofitting into existing plants is more difficult and currently it can only be applied to new power plants [27].

2.1.3 Oxy-combustion

Oxy-combustion is similar to the post-combustion processes. The fuel is combusted in pure oxygen instead of air to produce a highly concentrated CO_2 level and water vapour, which can be easily separated through condensation [24, 25]. The process is highly efficient and is more promising for new installations compared with post-combustion capture technology. However, like pre-combustion capture, the technology is still new and retrofitting of existing plant is not economical [14, 27]. There is also the requirement to produce pure (or highly enriched) O_2 from air, which is itself energy-intensive and represents a substantial parasitic energy loss.

With an increasing demand in global energy use, these current adsorption technologies still require substantial improvements in order to achieve an efficient process while consuming the least possible energy. Therefore, there is an urgent need to find a better approach, such that research on different carbon capture materials and the use of novel external stimuli have been proposed.

Amongst these conventional technologies, post-combustion capture would be the most practical to implement for current power plants and has the most potential for high efficiency energy conversion [15, 28, 29]. However, the high-energy requirement associated with sorbent regeneration has impeded the CO_2 capture efficiency. As a result, significant research into potential post combustion capture processes has been conducted as alternatives to the current amine absorption method [14].

2.2 External Triggers for Carbon Capture Technologies

2.2.1 Pressure and Temperature

Current methods utilise temperature or pressure swing absorption, in which the separation takes advantage of the solubility of gas at different temperature or pressure [3, 16]. These methods have been widely used in current carbon capture technologies such as post-combustion, pre-combustion and oxy-combustion [3, 5]. CO_2 has greater solubility in an amine solution at lower temperature and higher pressure, and poorer solubility at higher temperature and lower pressure [3, 5]. Solid sorbents currently used for carbon capture, such as zeolites and activated carbon, also utilise pressure swing adsorption where CO_2 affinity increases at higher pressure [3, 5].

Unfortunately, conventional carbon capture technologies can consume up to 40 % of the power output of a plant [3]. An economically viable process would require a reduction in the energy penalty much closer to the thermodynamic minimum of ~4 % [15]. Alongside the development of conventional carbon capture technologies, novel smart separation methods, like those can be found in nature, have gained a lot of interest in gas separation applications [5]. In theory, these materials may require less energy and could also be exploited to obtain tunability of the gas adsorption behaviour.

2.2.2 pH

pH-driven CO_2 capture and release utilises the shift between gaseous CO_2 and bicarbonate ion (HCO₃⁻) in a solution that continuously shifts the pH between basic and acidic [30]. This method allows CO_2 recovery at atmospheric pressure without using heat and pressure. However, one of the limitations is that the presence of other species in flue gas such as sodium oxides and nitrous oxides could interfere with the pH and result in no significant change in the HCO₃⁻/CO₂ equilibrium ratio.

Recent findings showed that CO_2 can be captured at a higher pH (pH = 8) and released at a lower pH (pH = 6), in which gaseous CO_2 is regenerated [31]. The pH-shift is generated by running a current through two chambers that have a narrow pH difference. In addition, an enzyme can be added to speed up the reaction kinetics [31]. However, the performance of the catalyst declined with continuous operation and more robust catalysts are required. Another study reported that indirect pH swing using ammonium salts and antigorite source could facilitate carbon capture and storage [30, 32-34]. The process involves reacting CO_2 with rocks rich in magnesium and a mixture of ammonium salts (NH₄HCO₃ and (NH₄)₂CO₃) through pH swing to generate mineral carbonates. Although the process was proven feasible, developments are still required to reduce the large energy consumption of the process [32].

2.2.3 Microwave

Microwave heating has been proposed for post-combustion capture process to either capture or release CO_2 [35, 36]. This is because it is one of the most energy efficient systems for application of heat due to its high heating rate and short processing time where the irradiation can be delivered directly to the material through molecular interaction with the electromagnetic field [37]. It can take only a few minutes to reach a high temperature instead of hours in conventional heating systems [35]. The concept of using microwave-heating systems for CO_2 capture is still quiet new and few studies have been reported.

Naturally occurring carbonates, called dolomite, in a packed bed and calcined form, have been considered for a microwave heating system to capture CO_2 at a low cost [36]. The process involved heating the calcined material to the carbonation temperature, where the calcium component converts to calcium carbonate and blocked the pores, and the magnesium component did not react and remained porous to allow CO_2 access [36]. After three cycles of calcination-carbonation using microwave heating, the packed bed was found to be highly regenerable and allowed a sustainable performance for carbon capture [36].

The CO_2 desorption rates of activated carbon packed beds using microwave heating and conventional heating at 70 °C and 130 °C have been compared recently [35]. The results showed that the overall desorption rate of CO_2 from the activated carbon is four times faster than that of conventional heating [35].

To this date, there has been no other report on CO_2 capture using microwave heating. Although this approach is promising, further research is still required to improve the system.

2.2.4 Light

Light, particularly natural sunlight, is an attractive trigger for low-energy CO₂ release. An ideal stimulus for triggering CO₂ capture and release requires a low or even zero energy cost, which makes light the best candidate for this application [38]. The amount of solar energy absorbed by Earth's atmosphere and surface annually is more than 3800 zettajoules [39]. As it is abundant in nature, it can be delivered instantaneously (albeit only during daylight periods) and the process is non-invasive [40]. The wavelengths can also be tuned using filters of specific spectral range. Broadband light delivers a wide range of light of different wavelengths ranging from 250-700 nm [41]. One advantage is that it offers a simpler light source with no filter requirements. However, broadband light also contains light in the UV range, which is biologically harmful and can potentially induce photodegradation of light responsive adsorbents [42-44]. Moreover, visible light accounts for 47 % of the rays that reach Earth's surface instead of a low fraction of 7 % for UV, and the sunlight radiates strongly in this region (Figure 2.3) [45, 46]. Thus, visible light (400-700 nm) is a highly attractive environmentally friendly source to induce a photoresponse [41]. Another option is to use infrared light where the spectral range lies between 700-900 nm [41]. The increase in wavelength offers deeper penetration into materials, thereby allowing greater light exposure for achieving stronger photoresponse [41]. The penetration depth can be quantified using a few equations. The rate of adsorption of light is proportional to the intensity of light of a specific wavelength and the penetration depth of light is generally expressed as a function of a wavelength. Upon penetration, light interacts with the atoms and electrons inside the material. Depending on the density of the material and wavelength used, light can travel very far into the material or lose its energy relatively quickly. The equation related to the energy of radiation during absorption is defined by Equation 2.1, where E is the energy of radiation, h is Planck's constant, *c* is the velocity of light and λ is the wavelength [41].

$$E = hc/\lambda \tag{2.1}$$

The absorption generally follows the Beer-Lambert law (Equation 2.2), where I is the intensity of the radiation at depth z, I_0 is the initial intensity at the surface, a is the absorption coefficient defined by the material and z is the penetration depth [41].

$$I = I_0 10^{-az} (2.2)$$



Figure 2. 3. Solar irradiation spectrum. Adapted from [47].

If a material can be made light responsive and displays a strong photoresponse, the cost of CO_2 capture and release may be drastically reduced. With the energy source being infinitely available, there could potentially be no or very little parasitic energy loss from the power station. Research on CO_2 capture using light has recently gained more attention due to its promising results [48, 49]. Light responsive Metal-organic Frameworks (MOFs) have recently been shown to capture and release CO_2 efficiently [48, 49]. Although there have been some studies reported, there has been very little research so far on light responsive materials for gas separation [48, 49]. As part of the research focus, light driven materials will be investigated and discussed in more details in the next section.

2.3 Light Responsive Materials

2.3.1 Adsorbents

New materials for carbon capture have been considered promising for post-combustion technologies [3, 5]. Most of them are focused on reducing the energy required for the regeneration step [3]. The use of solid adsorbents could offer significant advantages over chemical and physical absorbents in terms of energy efficiency [3]. This is because CO_2 adsorption involves either physisorption through van der Waals force, or chemisorption though covalent bonding between the gas molecules and the solid surface [3, 28]. The primary mechanism of CO_2 uptake in current solid adsorbents is through physisorption,

resulting from the interactions between the gas and the adsorbents [5]. Chemisorption only takes place if the adsorbent features reactive functional groups available for covalent bonding [50].

Porous solid adsorbents have increasingly gained more attention in gas separation applications because of their great potential to afford much lower cost and energy consumption [3, 28]. These materials can be purely inorganic, organic or in organicinorganic hybrid form [3]. Their pore sizes range between 0.2 and 2 nm [5]. Solid sorbents currently used for carbon capture include zeolites, activated carbons, calcium oxides and alkaline and alkaline-earth hydrotalcites, in which they are in packed or fluidised bed and operate under pressure swing adsorption [3, 5, 51]. However, their performances are limited by their low gas uptake and selectivity, and the energy required for the regeneration of the adsorbent [5].

More recently, Metal-organic Frameworks (MOFs) [52-54] and Porous-aromatic Frameworks (PAFs) [55-57] have emerged and attracted much attention due to their inherently unique properties (Section 2.3.1.1-2.3.1.2). Furthermore, these adsorbents are found to respond to external stimuli, such as light, temperature, pressure and pH, which could lead to different properties [48, 58].



2.3.1.1 Metal Organic Frameworks

Figure 2. 4. Schematic representation of MOF synthetic routes whereby interpenetrated or noninterpenetrated network could form. Interpenetration occurs by the formation of two equivalent networks at the same time. Adapted from [59, 60].

Metal-organic Frameworks (MOFs) are microporous materials where the metal and ligand components that make up the three-dimensional network can be manipulated during synthesis or post-synthetically to obtain structural flexibility, high surface area and high porosity (Figure 2.4) [53, 61-65]. The properties of these materials depend on the metal ion geometry and the binding mode of the bridging ligand. The bridging organic ligands can range from ditopic to tritopic linkers with different properties, such as size, length, functionality, symmetry and flexibility [66]. The use of mixed linkers can also generate a more complex network topology, such as framework interpenetration [66]. Synthesis of these materials requires organic ligands and metal salts in a specific condition such as the solvent, the temperature of the environment and concentration of reactants [61]. Typically, solvothermal synthesis is used for MOF synthesis, but other methods such as microwave and hydrothermal reactions have been used [61]. The high tunability in their physical and chemical properties makes MOFs highly attractive for applications in catalysis [53, 61], gas separations [51, 61, 67], biomedical l[61, 68-70], optical sensing [61, 71, 72] and fuel cell [53, 73-75] applications.

MOFs can be classified into three classes. First generation MOFs have microporous structures, which are sustained only by guest molecules and undergo irreversible framework collapse upon removal of guest molecules [59, 60]. Second generation MOFs are more robust and stable, in which permanent porosity can be achieved after removal of guest molecules and subsequent adsorption and desorption cycles of other guest molecules [59, 60]. MOFs are generally rigid in nature but can obtain flexibility and dynamicity upon exposure to certain stimuli. These materials are referred to as the third generation MOFs [59, 60]. Their ability to undergo reversible change in properties whilst retaining the overall framework structure makes them unique and highly attractive for various applications [60].

Many MOFs have been studied for their applications in gas separations. These microporous materials are not only chemically and thermally stable, but they also exhibit high porosity and surface area, which gives them very high capacity storage for gases such as H₂ [76-79], CH₄ [78, 80-83] and CO₂ [14, 78, 84, 85]. For example, NU-109 and NU-110, have a Brunauer-Emmet-Teller (BET) surface area of 7000 m²/g, the highest surface area reported to date [86]. The openness of the pores within the structures provides a great advantage for fast uptake of gases and removal of bound gases, thereby reducing the energy for adsorbent regeneration. Furthermore, they can display high gas selectivity [87-89]. MOF properties can be tuned using different metal centers and organic linkers, which can be further altered through post-synthetic modification [61, 90]. Such desirable properties make them extremely ideal for gas separation applications [14, 91].

Different structures allows gas to interact differently with MOFs and as a result, unique gas adsorption isotherms can be observed [92]. For example, two-step sorption isotherms can be obtained in MOFs with co-existing cages and channels [14]. Ultraporosity can further enhance the sorption steps into a sigmoidal isotherm [14]. Hysteretic sorption isotherm on the other hand, may be obtained as a result of narrow pore channels in the MOF framework [14]. A more complex isotherm involving a combination of the two isotherms can be observed from MOFs exhibiting flexible framework structure. Flexible MOFs can also display a sorption isotherm with a "gate-opening" feature where an increase in adsorption and reaches saturation can be achieved upon exposure to certain stimuli such as, guest molecules or pressure [14, 93, 94].

While these adsorbents show great promises for applications in gas separation, there has been very little research so far on light stimuli responsive MOFs for CO_2 capture [48, 49]. Various studies have shown that photoresponse properties could be introduced in MOFs through using photoresponsive pendant groups [95-98], light responsive guest molecules [99-101] and photoresponsive linker molecules [38, 102, 103].

2.3.1.2 Porous Aromatic Frameworks



Figure 2. 5. General synthetic procedure for PAF preparation. Reprinted with permission from [104]. Copyrigh 2014 Royal Society of Chemistry.

Porous aromatic frameworks (PAFs) are similar to MOFs except that they are composed of microporous organic polymers [55]. They feature diamondoid networks due to their tetrahedral atomic or small molecular nodes and simple biphenyl units as struts (Figure 2.5-2.6) [55, 104]. Unlike most MOFs, PAFs have high physicochemical stability [55, 63]. The covalent bonding nature and cross-linked rigid phenyl framework in PAFs offer high thermal, chemical and hydrothermal stability [55, 63]. The combination of both high surface area and physicochemical stability makes PAFs an excellent candidate for gas separation applications, particularly CO₂ capture [105-110]. They are also considered in other applications such as catalysis [109, 111], optoelectronics [109] and biomedical technologies [112]. PAFs can exhibit BET surface areas as large as 5640 m²/g, high gas adsorption capacities and gas selectivity [57]. PAF-1, PAF-3 and PAF-4 have been reported to exhibit very high selectivity towards greenhouses gases, CO2 and CH4, against H₂, N₂, O₂ and Ar at 273 K and 1 bar [57]. Methods such as metalation, interpenetration, and optimisation of pore size and pore infiltration with reactive species has been used to improve the interaction between guest molecules and the host framework [106, 108]. The typical synthetic route involved the cross-coupling reactions of halogen-functionalised monomers [55]. Such a synthetic process still requires improvement to allow a more convenient and low cost method on a large scale [55].

To this date, literature on stimuli responsive or flexible PAFs for CO_2 capture has not been reported. However, it has been shown in the literature that photoresponse properties





Figure 2. 6. Different structures of PAFs. Reprinted with permission from [55]. Copyright 2014 Royal Society of Chemistry.

2.3.2 Photochromes

Photochromes are able to irreversibly convert from one form to another upon light irradiation, in which some physical properties of the compounds, such as absorption spectra, fluorescence emission, conjugation, geometrical structures may be tuned [114]. Photoirradiation can be achieved by means of ultraviolet (UV), visible or infrared (IR) light. Well-known photochromic materials, whose colour and other properties can be triggered with light irradiation, have been used in applications in switches [115-117], memory devices [116, 118] and as dyes [119].

Under the branch of photochromic materials [114, 120], there are several functional groups, such as, azobenzene [121], diarylethene [117, 122], stilbenes [123], spiropyrans [124], viologens [125] and fulgides [126] (Figure 2.7). Their photochromic processes include photoisomerisation, photocyclisation and photoinduced electron transfer. However, each of these photoswitches has its advantages and disadvantages. For example, spiropyrans can exist in two isomers, in which they display vastly different properties [124].

However, it only shows photochromism when it is in solution [127]. On the other hand, fulgides can exhibit photochromism in solid form, but some of them are known for their low resistance to degradation [124, 126]. Viologens can change colour reversibly upon reduction and oxidation [125]. However, they can suffer from short repetition life as they display unstable coloration [128]. When incorporated into a host material such as a polymer, the transformations of these light responsive compounds can change the properties of the host such as their absorption or emission behaviour, the dipole moment and the polarisability of the molecule, making them highly desirable for triggering carbon capture and release [124]. For this project, the light responsive properties of azobenzene, stilbene and diarylethene derivatives are exploited for gas separation applications.



Figure 2. 7. Examples of different photochromic molecules.

2.3.2.1 Azobenzene



Figure 2. 8. Photoisomerisation of azobenzene.

Azobenzene is a well-known photochrome comprised of two phenyl rings linked by a nitrogen-nitrogen double bond (N=N) [129, 130]. It absorbs strongly in the blue region, resulting in an orange, red or yellow colour [121]. Modifications of the structure can result in a different colour, making them the largest dye group in commercial usage [131]. Another interesting property is its ability to undergo photoisomerisation using specific wavelengths of light, in which *cis* or *trans* isomers can exist, with the *trans* state being the stable form [121, 130]. The photochromism and structural formula of the parent azobenzene molecule is shown in Figure 2.8. Typically, the irradiation of the *trans* isomer with UV light yields the *cis* isomer, resulting in a decrease in the molecular length of the azobenzene molecules [121, 132]. Visible light irradiation is generally used to drive *cis* to *trans* isomerisation. However, since the *cis* form is less stable, the *cis* isomer can thermally relax back to the *trans* form [121].

Based on their thermal relaxation of the *cis*-to-*trans* photoisomerisation and the wavelength of adsorption required to trigger *trans*-to-*cis* isomerisation, azobenzene molecules can be classified in three classes: classic azobenzene, pseudo-stilbenes and amino-stilbenes [133]. In a classical azobenzene, the *trans* isomer absorbs in the UV range and the formed *cis* isomers can remain stable for days in the dark. On the other hand, a pseudo-stilbene displays a very fast thermal reconversion and a far red-shifted absorption. Amino-azobenzene will have an intermediate lifetime and the *trans* absorption band is slightly red-shifted [133]. The *cis*-trans isomerisation of azobenzene occurs through the inversion or rotation of the N=N bond, and is accompanied by a large change in molecular conformation. Photoinduced isomerisations of azobenzene and its derivatives have found broad applications in molecular switches, optical data storage and biological systems [129, 134].

Azobenzene molecules have several advantages as photoswitches compared to other photochromic molecules [132]. They are chemically stable and easily synthesised, with some being commercially available [132]. The maximum yield of the *cis*-isomers through photoirradiation is typically around 70-80 %, although complete photoisomerisation to the *cis*-isomer is possible as azobenzene are free from side reactions unlike stilbenes molecules [132]. Azobenzene can be isomerised on a timescale from hours down to sub-nanoseconds for 10⁵-10⁶ cycles before fatigue [135, 136]. Prolonged irradiation displays negligible decomposition due to its remarkable photostability. The large variation in properties in different types of azobenze offers a versatility advantage over other photochromic molecules as chemical functionalisation or substitution will have a large effect on the photophysical synthetic route [133]. Functionalisation of the azobenzene compound with various functional groups, particularly those that can donate electron density, such as thiol [137], amide [138-140], methoxy [138], dialkylamine [141] or ethylenic bridge [142] can shift the wavelengths of activation towards visible light region and improve stability of the *cis* isomers.

2.3.2.2 Stilbene



Figure 2. 9. Photoisomerisation of stilbene.

Similar to azobenzene, stilbenes consist of two phenyl rings but they are linked by a carbon to carbon double bond (C=C) [143]. They are widely used as photochromic molecules in dyes, scintillators and optical brighteners due to their intense absorption and fluorescence properties [143]. Stilbene and its derivatives also undergo reversible but competitive *trans-cis* isomerisation about double bonds under light irradiation, with the sterically hindered *cis* form being less stable (Figure 2.9) [143]. UV light promotes the *trans*-to-*cis* conversion, while the reversed path can be triggered by heat or UV light [123, 144]. The photoisomerisation of stilbenes competes with its photocyclisation pathway, in which the two aromatic carbons in the molecule couple and generate phenanthrenes as the by-product [144]. Photocyclisation can be prevented by functionalising the stilbene molecule

with amino or nitro substituents [144]. It is also known that stilbene molecules can undergo [2 + 2] photocycloaddition [102]. Unlike azobenzenes, one of the advantages of stilbenes is that the *cis*-form of stilbene is thermally stable and the photoisomerisation back to the *trans*-form does not occur thermally but requires light irradiation [132]. Furthermore, stilbene molecules are generally thermally and chemically stable [143]. However, there are disadvantages associated with stilbenes. Not only does the side-reaction product, phenanthrenes, shorten the life-cycle of the chromophore [133], but stilbenes also display low solubilities and photoisomerisation difficulties in rigid matrices [145]. The *trans*-to-*cis* isomerisation of stilbene utilises UV light irradiation[132]. However, the *cis*-to-*trans* isomerisation process requires UV light of an even shorter wavelength, which makes them not environmentally friendly [132]. These unfavourable aspects limits the use of stilbene as a photoswitch [132].

2.3.2.3 Diarylethene



Figure 2. 10. Photocyclisation of diarylethene.

Diarylethenes are derivatives of stilbenes. The phenyl rings of stilbenes are replaced with five-membered heterocyclic rings like thiophene or furan rings [117, 122]. They have been used for potential application in molecular sensors [122, 146], optical data storage [122, 146] and photoswitches [38, 122, 146, 147]. Traditional photochromic molecules, such as azobenzenes, stilbenes and spiropyrans, are thermally unstable and often revert back to the most stable isomers in the dark [148]. Diarylethenes, however, are attractive due to their high thermal stability and photostability, with more than 10⁴ photoinduced switching cycles and a lifetime of more than a thousand years at 30 °C [38, 124, 148]. The typical photoresponse mechanism involves the photocyclisation of the open ring state to the closed ring state, in which a six membered ring is obtained in the structure (Figure 2.10) [122, 149]. Visible and UV light irradiation promote the ring opening and the ring closing steps respectively [122, 149]. Unlike azobenzene and stilbene, the photocyclisation results

in a relatively small change in molecular conformation [124]. Although they are not ideal for the design of mechanically switchable systems, diarylethene displays high thermal stability and superb resistance to photodegradation as photocyclisation can be repeated many times [38, 132].

2.4 Incorporation of Flexible Light Responsive Group into Adsorbents

The introduction of a light response property in adsorbents is highly attractive for controlling CO_2 capture and release. However, there are very few studies reported in this area, leaving a gap in the research field and substantial work is necessary. A few strategies have been explored recently, including the use of a light responsive pendant group, guest molecules and linkers in adsorbents (Figure 2.11).



Photoresponsive Pendant Group Photoresponsive Guest Molecule Photoresponsive Linker

Figure 2. 11. Methods for the incorporation of a light responsive group (red) in porous adsorbents. Three different methods have been reported to this date. The light responsive groups can be incorporated as pendant groups (a), guest molecules (b) or linker molecules (c).

2.4.1 Pendant Light Responsive Groups

One method for introducing light response in porous adsorbents is through incorporating a ligand containing a photoresponsive group that is covalently attached to the inner pore wall of MOF as a side chain. With the responsive group partially incorporated within the framework, greater flexibility of the ligand inside the MOF can be achieved upon light activation. In 2011, Modrow *et al.* reported the first porous MOF with photoswitchable azo molecules, CAU-5 [95]. The MOF displayed a total CO₂ uptake capacity of 50 cm³/g STP at 100 kPa at 298 K[95]. Although *trans-cis* photoswitching was detected in the UV-VIS result, photoswitching during gas adsorption was not reported. In 2011, Zhou *et al.* reported that reversible light responsive gas adsorption effect could be achieved through the use of MOF with light responsive azobenzene pendant group, PCN-123 (Figure 2.12) [97]. Upon UV-irradiation, *trans*-to-*cis* isomerisation of the azobenzene pendant occurred, resulting in the release of adsorbed CO_2 from the MOF [97]. The *trans* azobenzene groups partially transformed into the *cis* state within 1 hour and after 5 hours, an overall decrease of 54 % of the originally adsorbed CO_2 was observed [97]. The adsorbent can be fully regenerated by standing at ambient conditions for a prolonged period of time or by heating the MOF at 60 °C for a day [97]. The slow photoisomerisation obtained upon UV irradiation is due to the rigidity of the MOF framework. Although the functionalisation of the pores with light responsive pendant groups can be used as a strategy to introduce photoswitchable property in adsorbents, photoswitching applications are still limited by steric restriction issues.

In a rigid framework, structural motions are hindered and photoresponse of light responsive compounds are difficult to achieve. In a more recent study, Yaghi *et al.* reported that such steric limitations can be overcome through the use of MOFs with the metal and organic components linearly stacked with each other, producing non-interpenetrated pores [98]. The improved photoswitching was due to the light responsive group being evenly spaced within the framework. However, its application in carbon capture was not reported [98].

Metal-organic Polyhedra (MOP), a self-assembled cage [150], functionalised with azobenzene pendant units on the surface has been reported to exhibit capture and release properties [96]. Although gas adsorption results were not reported, the mechanism for the capture and release of dyes, as guest molecules, is governed by the photoisomerisation of the azobenzene group [96]. UV light irradiation promoted the formation of a bigger pore cavity as intercage interactions due to the π - π interaction of neighbouring trans azobenzene between the MOPs were enhanced [96]. The trapped guest molecules in the big pore cavity were released when irradiated with visible light as intercage interaction weakened when the *trans*-to-*cis* isomerisation of azobenzene occurred [96].

The use of pendant groups is a promising method to overcome steric issues. The static pendant groups allow the switching of photoresponsive groups to occur in adsorbents without changing the overall framework. With the motivation of discovering more light responsive adsorbents, more strategies to incorporate light responsive properties in adsorbents are being discovered.



Figure 2. 12. *Trans-cis* isomerisation of an azobenzene pendant in PCN-123 framework. Reprinted with permission from [97]. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

2.4.2 Guest Molecules Incorporation

It has been reported in several articles that dynamic structural transformations of flexible MOFs can be achieved through the adsorption and desorption of guest molecules [60, 151-157]. This method typically alters the pore geometry of MOFs while maintaining the overall framework structure. Recently, the inclusion of photochromic guest molecules has been shown to be a good strategy for obtaining new materials with optical properties [99-101].

The use of light on a MOF containing guest molecules was first reported in 2012 by Kitagawa *et al.* [99]. Azobenzene was used as the guest molecule in a flexible host (Figure 2.13). The photoisomerisation property was exploited to photoinduce reversible structural changes in the framework. The expansion of the framework after UV irradiation reportedly allowed more N_2 to diffuse into the pores, resulting in the switching of gas adsorption property [99].

Incorporation of azobenzene in other MOFs (i.e. MOF-5, MIL-68(Ga), MIL-68(In), MIL-53(Al)) has been attempted recently [101]. The results showed that the *trans-cis* isomerisations in some of these MOFs have been improved compared to that of pure solid azobenzene. However, when in a more structurally hindered environment, no photoisomerisation was observed [101]. In another report, a composite between a flexible MOF and distyrylbenzene (**DSB**), a dye molecule that display fluorescence property, has shown selective CO_2 adsorption over other atmospheric gases [100]. Adsorption of **DSB** molecules resulted in a structural transformation of the host [100]. The co-adsorption of CO_2 resulted in a large change in pore structure, in which the guest-to-host structural transmission led to the changed fluorescence property. Thus MOF containing **DSB** could act as a gas sensor [100].

With very limited reports of photoinduced changes in adsorption property, the unique host-guest structural transmissions could potentially offer an efficient approach for developing stimuli responsive adsorbents that are advantageous for CO_2 capture.



Figure 2. 13. *Trans-cis* isomerisation of photoactive guest molecules triggering structural change of the host framework. Reprinted with permission from [99]. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

2.4.3 Use of Photoresponsive Linker Molecules

Despite reports of adsorbents containing light responsive groups in their backbones being widely available, there are no reports on their ability to undergo photoinduced structural change. As discussed above, this is because the linker containing photoresponsive groups are being held tightly in the framework. Therefore photoinduced structural motion of these linkers within the rigid framework is limited, preventing a large structural conformation to occur. The work contained in Chapter 4 was conducted and published prior to most of these reports in the literature.

In a previously reported article, linkers that can undergo chemical change by using a light trigger have been exploited to achieve photoswitchable gas adsorption properties. In this study, a MOF that possessed an azide moiety, which are known to generate triplet nitrines upon UV light irradiation, was used [158, 159]. Since these photoactive groups were exposed on the pore surface, the MOF, CID-N₃ exhibited low porosity [158]. The adsorption ability was enhanced after light activation due to the photochemical trapping of physisorbed gas molecules in the framework [158]. However, as chemical modifications occurred on the pore surface, no large structural movement was observed upon light irradiation.

In another report, MOFs containing 1,2-bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene (**BPE**), a stilbene derivative molecule, as one of the linkers in the framework, can undergo a structural change upon UV light irradiation [102]. With the neighboring **BPE** linkers being relatively close to each other within the framework, photodimerisations were able to take place during light irradiation, creating wider pore channels. As a result, different CO_2 adsorption isotherms were obtained, whereby a hysteresis step was observed in the non-irradiated MOF [102].

Recently, further improvements have been made towards adsorbents containing photoswitchable linkers. The development of diarylethene based MOF (**DMOF**) was reported to be responsive towards UV light during CO_2 adsorption and visible light during CO_2 adsorption or desorption (Figure 2.14) [38]. The photoresponse due to a local framework movement of diarylethene in the MOF backbone resulted in desorption capacities of 75 % and 76 % under static and dynamic conditions respectively [38]. Most reported light responsive adsorption experiments were carried out under static conditions where light irradiation of the sample took place prior to gas adsorption measurements [97, 99, 102]. However, due to the photoresponse mechanism involved for this MOF, real-time dynamic control of gas could be achieved. The first reported MOF containing diarylethene was found to exhibit reversible photoresponse towards light irradiation. However, their gas adsorption properties were not reported [103].

Recently, a PAF containing an azo group in the linker was found to exhibit high temperature CO_2 selectivity over N_2 [113]. The azo group in the linkers were able to repel N_2 due to a large entropy loss upon their adsorptions, making them ideal candidates for carbon capture applications [113].

With the use of the three main strategies for introducing optical properties in materials, more light responsive adsorbents for CO_2 capture is continually being developed and discovered. However, very little work has been done on this area. This leaves a gap in the research field and more research is necessary to motivate new renewable strategies for low cost and energy carbon capture processes.



Figure 2. 14. Coordination of diarylethene to the Zn metal in DMOF (a). The view along the *b* axis of the 3D dia net (b) and the fivefold interpenetrating dia net. Colour code: C green, N blue, O red, Zn purple, S yellow, F orange. Reprinted with permission from [38]. Copyright 2014 John Wiley and Sons.

2.5 Research Gaps

Current technologies in carbon capture are highly energy intensive, particularly during the regeneration of sorbents, reducing the overall efficiency of the process. Furthermore, the sorbent materials are exposed to high temperatures over long periods of times, eventually resulting in their degradation.

To overcome the challenge of lowering the energy cost while increasing the energy efficiency of the process, new sorbent materials with specifically designed structures and desirable properties are needed. They need to be able to selectively bind CO_2 from a gas mixture and release it in a controlled fashion under external stimuli. In order to design and develop a desirable sorbent for carbon capture technologies, the mechanisms involved during gas adsorption and desorption must be fully understood. Currently the lack of understanding hinders the discovery and optimisation of ideal sorbents for future improved carbon capture technologies.

2.6 Research Aim



Figure 2. 15. Schematic representation of light activated adsorbent in a carbon capture and release system.

The main aim of this project is to develop and optimise recyclable light responsive adsorbents to address the problem of the high regeneration energy required by adsorbents for post-combustion capture (Figure 2.15). Thus, this could potentially lead to a lower cost and a more energy efficient renewable CO_2 capture and release process.

Two photoswitching conditions will be examined for gas adsorption experiments:

- Dynamic photoswitching
- Static photoswitching

With all of the current literatures conducted the light triggered gas adsorption under static conditions prior to the publication of Chapter 4, dynamic photoswitching condition will also be explored, as a strategy for a more controlled capture and release mechanism. Static condition involves the irradiation or relaxation of adsorbent sample prior to gas adsorption measurement, whereas dynamic photoswitching condition involves light switching taking place during the measurement.

In addition, two photoresponse properties that will be focused on this thesis:

- Adsorbents with broad spectral response range, such that of natural sunlight
- Adsorbents with spectral response in the visible region

The use of broadband light offers the advantage of using unfiltered light to trigger photoresponse for the carbon capture and release process. The use of visible light however, would further improve the use of light as a trigger in terms of providing deeper penetration and greater exposure into the adsorbents, potentially resulting in greater photoresponse, whilst being environmentally friendly.

2.7 References

- Merkel, T.C., H. Lin, X. Wei, and R. Baker, *Power plant post-combustion carbon dioxide capture: An opportunity for membranes.* Journal of Membrane Science, 2010. 359(1–2): p. 126-139.
- Mikkelsen, M., M. Jorgensen, and F.C. Krebs, *The teraton challenge. A review of fixation and transformation of carbon dioxide.* Energy & Environmental Science, 2010. 3(1): p. 43-81.
- D'Alessandro, D.M., B. Smit, and J.R. Long, *Carbon Dioxide Capture: Prospects for* New Materials. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2010. 49(35): p. 6058-6082.
- Dlugokencky, E. and P. Tans. Available from: NOAA/ESRL (http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/).
- Compton, H.J. and B.I. Raymond, *Carbon Capture Beyond 2020: Basic Research Needs*.
 2012: Nova Science Publishers, Incorporated.
- Quadrelli, E.A., G. Centi, J.-L. Duplan, and S. Perathoner, *Carbon Dioxide Recycling: Emerging Large-Scale Technologies with Industrial Potential*. ChemSusChem, 2011. 4(9): p. 1194-1215.
- Sims, R.E.H., H.-H. Rogner, and K. Gregory, Carbon emission and mitigation cost comparisons between fossil fuel, nuclear and renewable energy resources for electricity generation. Energy Policy, 2003. 31(13): p. 1315-1326.
- Yang, D.-A., H.-Y. Cho, J. Kim, S.-T. Yang, and W.-S. Ahn, CO2 capture and conversion using Mg-MOF-74 prepared by a sonochemical method. Energy & Environmental Science, 2012. 5(4): p. 6465-6473.
- Paddock, R.L. and S.T. Nguyen, Chemical CO2 Fixation: Cr(III) Salen Complexes as Highly Efficient Catalysts for the Coupling of CO2 and Epoxides. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2001. 123(46): p. 11498-11499.
- 10. Leitner, W., *The coordination chemistry of carbon dioxide and its relevance for catalysis: a critical survey.* Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 1996. **153**(0): p. 257-284.

- 11. Darensbourg, D.J. and M.W. Holtcamp, *Catalysts for the reactions of epoxides and carbon dioxide*. Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 1996. **153**(0): p. 155-174.
- Biggadike, K., R.M. Angell, C.M. Burgess, R.M. Farrell, A.P. Hancock, A.J. Harker, W.R. Irving, C. Ioannou, P.A. Procopiou, R.E. Shaw, Y.E. Solanke, O.M.P. Singh, M.A. Snowden, R.J. Stubbs, S. Walton, and H.E. Weston, *Selective Plasma Hydrolysis* of Glucocorticoid -Lactones and Cyclic Carbonates by the Enzyme Paraoxonase: An Ideal Plasma Inactivation Mechanism. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 1999. 43(1): p. 19-21.
- Shaikh, A.-A.G. and S. Sivaram, Organic Carbonates[†]. Chemical Reviews, 1996. 96(3): p. 951-976.
- Li, J.-R., Y. Ma, M.C. McCarthy, J. Sculley, J. Yu, H.-K. Jeong, P.B. Balbuena, and H.-C. Zhou, *Carbon dioxide capture-related gas adsorption and separation in metal-organic frameworks*. Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 2011. 255(15–16): p. 1791-1823.
- 15. Feron, P.H.M., *Exploring the potential for improvement of the energy performance of coal fired power plants with post-combustion capture of carbon dioxide*. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 2010. **4**(2): p. 152-160.
- Rochelle, G.T., Amine Scrubbing for CO2 Capture. Science, 2009. 325(5948): p. 1652-1654.
- Bello, A. and R.O. Idem, Pathways for the Formation of Products of the Oxidative Degradation of CO2-Loaded Concentrated Aqueous Monoethanolamine Solutions during CO2 Absorption from Flue Gases. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2005. 44(4): p. 945-969.
- Veltman, K., B. Singh, and E.G. Hertwich, Human and Environmental Impact Assessment of Postcombustion CO2 Capture Focusing on Emissions from Amine-Based Scrubbing Solvents to Air. Environmental Science & Technology, 2010. 44(4): p. 1496-1502.
- Fine, N.A., M.J. Goldman, and G.T. Rochelle, Nitrosamine Formation in Amine Scrubbing at Desorber Temperatures. Environmental Science & Technology, 2014.
 48(15): p. 8777-8783.
- Goff, G.S. and G.T. Rochelle, Monoethanolamine Degradation: O2 Mass Transfer Effects under CO2 Capture Conditions. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2004.
 43(20): p. 6400-6408.
- Kim, C.J., Degradation of alkanolamines in gas-treating solutions: kinetics of di-2propanolamine degradation in aqueous solutions containing carbon dioxide. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 1988. 27(1): p. 1-3.

- Yang, N., H. Yu, L. Li, D. Xu, W. Han, and P. Feron, Aqueous Ammonia (NH3) Based Post Combustion CO2 Capture: A Review. Oil Gas Sci. Technol. – Rev. IFP Energies nouvelles, 2013.
- Darde, V., K. Thomsen, W.J.M. van Well, and E.H. Stenby, *Chilled ammonia process for CO2 capture*. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 2010. 4(2): p. 131-136.
- Figueroa, J.D., T. Fout, S. Plasynski, H. McIlvried, and R.D. Srivastava, Advances in CO2 capture technology—The U.S. Department of Energy's Carbon Sequestration Program. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 2008. 2(1): p. 9-20.
- Feron, P.H.M. and C.A. Hendriks, Les différents procédés de capture du CO2 et leurs coûts.
 Oil & Gas Science and Technology Rev. IFP, 2005. 60(3): p. 451-459.
- 26. Lu, K. Materials in energy conversion, harvesting, and storage. 2014; Available from: http://public.eblib.com/EBLPublic/PublicView.do?ptiID=1765096.
- Balat, M., Chapter 2 The Future of Clean Coal, in Future Energy, T.M. Letcher, Editor.
 2008, Elsevier: Oxford. p. 25-40.
- 28. Xu, C. and N. Hedin, *Microporous adsorbents for CO2 capture a case for microporous polymers?* Materials Today, (0).
- Wang, L., Y. Yang, W. Shen, X. Kong, P. Li, J. Yu, and A.E. Rodrigues, CO2 Capture from Flue Gas in an Existing Coal-Fired Power Plant by Two Successive Pilot-Scale VPSA Units. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2013. 52(23): p. 7947-7955.
- Park, A.H.A. and L.S. Fan, CO2 mineral sequestration: Physically activated dissolution of serpentine and pH swing process. Chemical Engineering Science, 2004. 59(22-23): p. 5241-5247.
- Datta, S., M.P. Henry, Y.J. Lin, A.T. Fracaro, C.S. Millard, S.W. Snyder, R.L. Stiles, J. Shah, J. Yuan, L. Wesoloski, R.W. Dorner, and W.M. Carlson, *Electrochemical CO2 Capture Using Resin-Wafer Electrodeionization*. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2013. 52(43): p. 15177-15186.
- Sanna, A., M. Dri, and M. Maroto-Valer, Carbon dioxide capture and storage by pH swing aqueous mineralisation using a mixture of ammonium salts and antigorite source. Fuel, 2013. 114(0): p. 153-161.
- Wang, X. and M.M. Maroto-Valer, Integration of CO2 Capture and Mineral Carbonation by Using Recyclable Ammonium Salts. ChemSusChem, 2011. 4(9): p. 1291-1300.

- 34. Wang, X. and M.M. Maroto-Valer, *Dissolution of serpentine using recyclable ammonium* salts for CO2 mineral carbonation. Fuel, 2011. **90**(3): p. 1229-1237.
- Chronopoulos, T., Y. Fernandez-Diez, M.M. Maroto-Valer, R. Ocone, and D.A. Reay, CO2 desorption via microwave heating for post-combustion carbon capture. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials, 2014. 197(0): p. 288-290.
- Mohammadi, M., P. Lahijani, Z.A. Zainal, and A.R. Mohamed, *Capture of carbon dioxide from flue/fuel gas using dolomite under microwave irradiation*. Chemical Engineering Journal, 2014. 240(0): p. 169-178.
- 37. Cherba ski, R. and E. Molga, Intensification of desorption processes by use of microwaves-An overview of possible applications and industrial perspectives. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification, 2009. 48(1): p. 48-58.
- Luo, F., C.B. Fan, M.B. Luo, X.L. Wu, Y. Zhu, S.Z. Pu, W.-Y. Xu, and G.-C. Guo, *Photoswitching CO2 Capture and Release in a Photochromic Diarylethene Metal–Organic Framework*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(35): p. 9298-9301.
- Sayre, R., Microalgae: The Potential for Carbon Capture. BioScience, 2010. 60(9): p. 722-727.
- 40. Klajn, R., *Immobilized azobenzenes for the construction of photoresponsive materials*. Pure and Applied Chemistry, 2010. **82**(12): p. 2247-2276.
- 41. *Encyclopedia of entomology*, ed. J.L.e. Capinera and G. Gale. 2008, Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Dordrecht, The Netherlands : Springer.
- 42. Clydesdale, G.J., G.W. Dandie, and H.K. Muller, Ultraviolet light induced injury: Immunological and inflammatory effects. Immunol Cell Biol, 2001. 79(6): p. 547-568.
- 43. Hollósy, F., Effects of ultraviolet radiation on plant cells. Micron, 2002. 33(2): p. 179-197.
- Guillet, J.E., FUNDAMENTAL PROCESSES IN THE UV DEGRADATION AND STABILIZATION OF POLYMERS, in Chemical Transformations of Polymers, R. Rado, Editor. 1972, Butterworth-Heinemann. p. 135-144.
- 45. Chapter 2 Solar radiation at the top of the atmosphere, in International Geophysics, K.N. Liou, Editor. 2002, Academic Press. p. 37-64.
- 46. Sen, Z.i., Solar Radiation Deterministic Models, in Solar Energy Fundamentals and Modeling Techniques. 2008, Springer London. p. 47-99.
- 47. The Solar Spectrum. Available from: http://www.fgglass.com/light_and_thermal_performance.html.
- 48. Nagarkar, S.S., A.V. Desai, and S.K. Ghosh, *Stimulus-Responsive Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemistry An Asian Journal, 2014. **9**(9): p. 2358-2376.

- Matsuda, R., Design and Synthesis of Porous Coordination Polymers Showing Unique Guest Adsorption Behaviors. Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan, 2013. 86(10): p. 1117-1131.
- Gassensmith, J.J., H. Furukawa, R.A. Smaldone, R.S. Forgan, Y.Y. Botros, O.M. Yaghi, and J.F. Stoddart, *Strong and Reversible Binding of Carbon Dioxide in a Green Metal–Organic Framework*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2011. 133(39): p. 15312-15315.
- 51. Li, J.-R., J. Sculley, and H.-C. Zhou, *Metal–Organic Frameworks for Separations*. Chemical Reviews, 2011.
- 52. Zhou, H.-C., J.R. Long, and O.M. Yaghi, *Introduction to Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemical Reviews, 2012. **112**(2): p. 673-674.
- 53. Furukawa, H., K.E. Cordova, M. O'Keeffe, and O.M. Yaghi, *The Chemistry and* Applications of Metal-Organic Frameworks. Science, 2013. **341**(6149).
- 54. Pirngruber, G.D. and P.L. Llewellyn, Opportunities for MOFs in CO2 Capture from Flue Gases, Natural Gas, and Syngas by Adsorption, in Metal-Organic Frameworks. 2011, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 99-119.
- 55. Ben, T. and S. Qiu, *Porous aromatic frameworks: Synthesis, structure and functions.* CrystEngComm, 2013. **15**(1): p. 17-26.
- Lukose, B., M. Wahiduzzaman, A. Kuc, and T. Heine, Mechanical, Electronic, and Adsorption Properties of Porous Aromatic Frameworks. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2012. 116(43): p. 22878-22884.
- 57. Ben, T., H. Ren, S. Ma, D. Cao, J. Lan, X. Jing, W. Wang, J. Xu, F. Deng, J.M. Simmons, S. Qiu, and G. Zhu, *Targeted Synthesis of a Porous Aromatic Framework with High Stability and Exceptionally High Surface Area*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2009. 48(50): p. 9457-9460.
- 58. Kundu, P.K., G.L. Olsen, V. Kiss, and R. Klajn, *Nanoporous frameworks exhibiting multiple stimuli responsiveness*. Nat Commun, 2014. **5**.
- Hiroke, S., S. Shimomura, and S. Kitagawa, *Soft porous crystal.* Nature Chemistry, 2009. 1(9): p. 695-704.
- Uemura, K., R. Matsuda, and S. Kitagawa, *Flexible microporous coordination polymers*. Journal of Solid State Chemistry, 2005. **178**(8): p. 2420-2429.
- Meek, S.T., J.A. Greathouse, and M.D. Allendorf, *Metal-Organic Frameworks: A* Rapidly Growing Class of Versatile Nanoporous Materials. Advanced Materials, 2011.
 23(2): p. 249-267.

- 62. Yaghi, O.M., M. O'Keeffe, N.W. Ockwig, H.K. Chae, M. Eddaoudi, and J. Kim, Reticular synthesis and the design of new materials. Nature, 2003. **423**(6941): p. 705-714.
- 63. Ferey, G., *Hybrid porous solids: past, present, future.* Chemical Society Reviews, 2008.
 37(1): p. 191-214.
- 64. Deng, H., S. Grunder, K.E. Cordova, C. Valente, H. Furukawa, M. Hmadeh, F. Gándara, A.C. Whalley, Z. Liu, S. Asahina, H. Kazumori, M. O'Keeffe, O. Terasaki, J.F. Stoddart, and O.M. Yaghi, *Large-Pore Apertures in a Series of Metal-Organic Frameworks*. Science, 2012. **336**(6084): p. 1018-1023.
- Almeida Paz, F.A., J. Klinowski, S.M.F. Vilela, J.P.C. Tome, J.A.S. Cavaleiro, and J. Rocha, *Ligand design for functional metal-organic frameworks*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2012. 41(3): p. 1088-1110.
- 66. Haldar, R. and T.K. Maji, *Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) based on mixed linker systems: structural diversities towards functional materials.* CrystEngComm, 2013. **15**(45): p. 9276-9295.
- Barea, E., F. Turra, and J.A. Rodriguez Navarro, Separation and Purification of Gases by MOFs, in Metal-Organic Frameworks. 2011, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 69-97.
- McKinlay, A.C., R.E. Morris, P. Horcajada, G. Férey, R. Gref, P. Couvreur, and C. Serre, *BioMOFs: Metal–Organic Frameworks for Biological and Medical Applications*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2010. 49(36): p. 6260-6266.
- Horcajada, P., T. Chalati, C. Serre, B. Gillet, C. Sebrie, T. Baati, J.F. Eubank, D. Heurtaux, P. Clayette, C. Kreuz, J.-S. Chang, Y.K. Hwang, V. Marsaud, P.-N. Bories, L. Cynober, S. Gil, G. Ferey, P. Couvreur, and R. Gref, *Porous metal-organic-framework nanoscale carriers as a potential platform for drug delivery and imaging*. Nat Mater, 2010. 9(2): p. 172-178.
- Horcajada, P., C. Serre, M. Vallet-Regí, M. Sebban, F. Taulelle, and G. Férey, *Metal–Organic Frameworks as Efficient Materials for Drug Delivery*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2006. 45(36): p. 5974-5978.
- 71. Allendorf, M.D., C.A. Bauer, R.K. Bhakta, and R.J.T. Houk, *Luminescent metal*organic frameworks. Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. **38**(5): p. 1330-1352.
- 72. Chen, B., L. Wang, F. Zapata, G. Qian, and E.B. Lobkovsky, A Luminescent Microporous Metal Organic Framework for the Recognition and Sensing of Anions. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. 130(21): p. 6718-6719.

- 73. Yoon, M., K. Suh, S. Natarajan, and K. Kim, Proton Conduction in Metal–Organic Frameworks and Related Modularly Built Porous Solids. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2013. 52(10): p. 2688-2700.
- 74. Shigematsu, A., T. Yamada, and H. Kitagawa, *Wide Control of Proton Conductivity in Porous Coordination Polymers*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2011. 133(7): p. 2034-2036.
- 75. Taylor, J.M., K.W. Dawson, and G.K.H. Shimizu, *A Water-Stable Metal-Organic Framework with Highly Acidic Pores for Proton-Conducting Applications*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2013. **135**(4): p. 1193-1196.
- Suh, M.P., H.J. Park, T.K. Prasad, and D.-W. Lim, *Hydrogen Storage in Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemical Reviews, 2012. 112(2): p. 782-835.
- Murray, L.J., M. Dinca, and J.R. Long, *Hydrogen storage in metal-organic frameworks*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. 38(5): p. 1294-1314.
- 78. Lin, X., N. Champness, and M. Schröder, Hydrogen, Methane and Carbon Dioxide Adsorption in Metal-Organic Framework Materials, in Functional Metal-Organic Frameworks: Gas Storage, Separation and Catalysis, M. Schröder, Editor. 2010, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 35-76.
- 79. Kesanli, B., Y. Cui, M.R. Smith, E.W. Bittner, B.C. Bockrath, and W. Lin, *Highly Interpenetrated Metal–Organic Frameworks for Hydrogen Storage*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2005. 44(1): p. 72-75.
- Eddaoudi, M., J. Kim, N. Rosi, D. Vodak, J. Wachter, M. O'Keeffe, and O.M. Yaghi, Systematic Design of Pore Size and Functionality in Isoreticular MOFs and Their Application in Methane Storage. Science, 2002. 295(5554): p. 469-472.
- 81. Guo, Z., H. Wu, G. Srinivas, Y. Zhou, S. Xiang, Z. Chen, Y. Yang, W. Zhou, M. O'Keeffe, and B. Chen, A Metal–Organic Framework with Optimized Open Metal Sites and Pore Spaces for High Methane Storage at Room Temperature. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2011. 50(14): p. 3178-3181.
- Wu, H., W. Zhou, and T. Yildirim, *High-Capacity Methane Storage in Metal Organic Frameworks M2(dhtp): The Important Role of Open Metal Sites.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2009. 131(13): p. 4995-5000.
- 83. Ma, S., D. Sun, J.M. Simmons, C.D. Collier, D. Yuan, and H.-C. Zhou, Metal-Organic Framework from an Anthracene Derivative Containing Nanoscopic Cages Exhibiting High Methane Uptake. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. 130(3): p. 1012-1016.

- 84. Herm, Z.R., J.A. Swisher, B. Smit, R. Krishna, and J.R. Long, *Metal Organic Frameworks as Adsorbents for Hydrogen Purification and Precombustion Carbon Dioxide Capture*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2011. **133**(15): p. 5664-5667.
- Sumida, K., D.L. Rogow, J.A. Mason, T.M. McDonald, E.D. Bloch, Z.R. Herm, T.-H. Bae, and J.R. Long, *Carbon Dioxide Capture in Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemical Reviews, 2012. 112(2): p. 724-781.
- 86. Farha, O.K., I. Eryazici, N.C. Jeong, B.G. Hauser, C.E. Wilmer, A.A. Sarjeant, R.Q. Snurr, S.T. Nguyen, A.Ö. Yazaydın, and J.T. Hupp, *Metal–Organic Framework Materials with Ultrahigh Surface Areas: Is the Sky the Limit?* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(36): p. 15016-15021.
- 87. Li, J.-R., R.J. Kuppler, and H.-C. Zhou, *Selective gas adsorption and separation in metal*organic frameworks. Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. **38**(5): p. 1477-1504.
- Chen, B., N.W. Ockwig, A.R. Millward, D.S. Contreras, and O.M. Yaghi, *High H2* Adsorption in a Microporous Metal–Organic Framework with Open Metal Sites. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2005. 44(30): p. 4745-4749.
- Britt, D., H. Furukawa, B. Wang, T.G. Glover, and O.M. Yaghi, *Highly efficient separation of carbon dioxide by a metal-organic framework replete with open metal sites.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. **106**(49): p. 20637-20640.
- 90. Tanabe, K.K. and S.M. Cohen, *Postsynthetic modification of metal-organic frameworks-a* progress report. Chemical Society Reviews, 2011. **40**(2): p. 498-519.
- Mason, J.A., K. Sumida, Z.R. Herm, R. Krishna, and J.R. Long, *Evaluating metal*organic frameworks for post-combustion carbon dioxide capture via temperature swing adsorption. Energy & Environmental Science, 2011. 4(8): p. 3030-3040.
- 92. Kitagawa, S., R. Kitaura, and S.-i. Noro, *Functional Porous Coordination Polymers*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2004. **43**(18): p. 2334-2375.
- 93. Tanaka, D., K. Nakagawa, M. Higuchi, S. Horike, Y. Kubota, T.C. Kobayashi, M. Takata, and S. Kitagawa, *Kinetic Gate-Opening Process in a Flexible Porous Coordination Polymer*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2008. 47(21): p. 3914-3918.
- 94. Yamazaki, T., Y. Takahashi, and D. Yoshida, Adsorption of several gases on flexible metal organic framework [Cu(dbbc)2(4,4 -bpy)] H2O. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2011. 362(2): p. 463-469.
- 95. Modrow, A., D. Zargarani, R. Herges, and N. Stock, *The first porous MOF with photoswitchable linker molecules*. Dalton Transactions, 2011. **40**(16): p. 4217-4222.

- Park, J., L.-B. Sun, Y.-P. Chen, Z. Perry, and H.-C. Zhou, Azobenzene-Functionalized Metal–Organic Polyhedra for the Optically Responsive Capture and Release of Guest Molecules. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(23): p. 5842-5846.
- 97. Park, J., D. Yuan, K.T. Pham, J.-R. Li, A. Yakovenko, and H.-C. Zhou, *Reversible Alteration of CO2 Adsorption upon Photochemical or Thermal Treatment in a Metal–Organic Framework*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. **134**(1): p. 99-102.
- Brown, J.W., B.L. Henderson, M.D. Kiesz, A.C. Whalley, W. Morris, S. Grunder, H. Deng, H. Furukawa, J.I. Zink, J.F. Stoddart, and O.M. Yaghi, *Photophysical pore control in an azobenzene-containing metal-organic framework*. Chemical Science, 2013. 4(7): p. 2858-2864.
- Yanai, N., T. Uemura, M. Inoue, R. Matsuda, T. Fukushima, M. Tsujimoto, S. Isoda, and S. Kitagawa, *Guest-to-Host Transmission of Structural Changes for Stimuli-Responsive Adsorption Property*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(10): p. 4501-4504.
- 100. Yanai, N., K. Kitayama, Y. Hijikata, H. Sato, R. Matsuda, Y. Kubota, M. Takata, M. Mizuno, T. Uemura, and S. Kitagawa, *Gas detection by structural variations of fluorescent guest molecules in a flexible porous coordination polymer.* Nat Mater, 2011. **10**(10): p. 787-793.
- Hermann, D., H. Emerich, R. Lepski, D. Schaniel, and U. Ruschewitz, *Metal-Organic Frameworks as Hosts for Photochromic Guest Molecules*. Inorganic Chemistry, 2013. 52(5): p. 2744-2749.
- 102. Sato, H., R. Matsuda, M.H. Mir, and S. Kitagawa, Photochemical cycloaddition on the pore surface of a porous coordination polymer impacts the sorption behavior. Chemical Communications, 2012. 48(64): p. 7919-7921.
- 103. Walton, I.M., J.M. Cox, J.A. Coppin, C.M. Linderman, D.G. Patel, and J.B. Benedict, *Photo-responsive MOFs: light-induced switching of porous single crystals containing a photochromic diarylethene*. Chemical Communications, 2013. **49**(73): p. 8012-8014.
- 104. Garibay, S.J., M.H. Weston, J.E. Mondloch, Y.J. Colon, O.K. Farha, J.T. Hupp, and S.T. Nguyen, Accessing functionalized porous aromatic frameworks (PAFs) through a de novo approach. CrystEngComm, 2013. 15(8): p. 1515-1519.
- 105. Lu, W., D. Yuan, D. Zhao, C.I. Schilling, O. Plietzsch, T. Muller, S. Bräse, J. Guenther, J. Blümel, R. Krishna, Z. Li, and H.-C. Zhou, *Porous Polymer Networks: Synthesis, Porosity, and Applications in Gas Storage/Separation.* Chemistry of Materials, 2010. 22(21): p. 5964-5972.

- 106. Konstas, K., J.W. Taylor, A.W. Thornton, C.M. Doherty, W.X. Lim, T.J. Bastow, D.F. Kennedy, C.D. Wood, B.J. Cox, J.M. Hill, A.J. Hill, and M.R. Hill, *Lithiated Porous Aromatic Frameworks with Exceptional Gas Storage Capacity*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2012. 51(27): p. 6639-6642.
- 107. Ben, T., Y. Li, L. Zhu, D. Zhang, D. Cao, Z. Xiang, X. Yao, and S. Qiu, Selective adsorption of carbon dioxide by carbonized porous aromatic framework (PAF). Energy & Environmental Science, 2012. 5(8): p. 8370-8376.
- 108. Babarao, R., S. Dai, and D.-e. Jiang, Functionalizing Porous Aromatic Frameworks with Polar Organic Groups for High-Capacity and Selective CO2 Separation: A Molecular Simulation Study. Langmuir, 2011. 27(7): p. 3451-3460.
- McKeown, N.B. and P.M. Budd, *Exploitation of Intrinsic Microporosity in Polymer-Based Materials*. Macromolecules, 2010. 43(12): p. 5163-5176.
- Li, Y., T. Ben, B. Zhang, Y. Fu, and S. Qiu, Ultrahigh Gas Storage both at Low and High Pressures in KOH-Activated Carbonized Porous Aromatic Frameworks. Sci. Rep., 2013. 3.
- Zhang, Y. and S.N. Riduan, *Functional porous organic polymers for heterogeneous catalysis*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2012. 41(6): p. 2083-2094.
- 112. Yuan, Y., F. Sun, F. Zhang, H. Ren, M. Guo, K. Cai, X. Jing, X. Gao, and G. Zhu, Targeted Synthesis of Porous Aromatic Frameworks and their Composites for Versatile, Facile, Efficacious, and Durable Antibacterial Polymer Coatings. Advanced Materials, 2013. 25(45): p. 6619-6624.
- 113. Patel, H.A., S. Hyun Je, J. Park, D.P. Chen, Y. Jung, C.T. Yavuz, and A. Coskun, Unprecedented high-temperature CO2 selectivity in N2-phobic nanoporous covalent organic polymers. Nat Commun, 2013. 4: p. 1357.
- Zhang, J., Q. Zou, and H. Tian, *Photochromic Materials: More Than Meets The Eye*. Advanced Materials, 2013. 25(3): p. 378-399.
- 115. Raymo, F.M. and M. Tomasulo, *Electron and energy transfer modulation with photochromic switches*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2005. **34**(4): p. 327-336.
- 116. Irie, M., *Photochromism: Memories and SwitchesIntroduction*. Chemical Reviews, 2000.
 100(5): p. 1683-1684.
- 117. Natali, M. and S. Giordani, *Molecular switches as photocontrollable "smart" receptors*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2012. **41**(10): p. 4010-4029.
- 118. Tian, H., *Data Processing on a Unimolecular Platform*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2010. **49**(28): p. 4710-4712.

- Nigel Corns, S., S.M. Partington, and A.D. Towns, *Industrial organic photochromic dyes*. Coloration Technology, 2009. **125**(5): p. 249-261.
- Jochum, F.D. and P. Theato, *Temperature- and light-responsive smart polymer materials*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2013. 42(17): p. 7468-7483.
- 121. Griffiths, J., II. Photochemistry of azobenzene and its derivatives. Chemical Society Reviews, 1972. 1(4): p. 481-493.
- 122. Tian, H. and S. Yang, *Recent progresses on diarylethene based photochromic switches*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2004. **33**(2): p. 85-97.
- 123. Waldeck, D.H., *Photoisomerization dynamics of stilbenes*. Chemical Reviews, 1991. 91(3):
 p. 415-436.
- Klajn, R., Spiropyran-based dynamic materials. Chemical Society Reviews, 2014. 43(1): p. 148-184.
- Bird, C.L. and A.T. Kuhn, *Electrochemistry of the viologens*. Chemical Society Reviews, 1981. 10(1): p. 49-82.
- Yokoyama, Y., Fulgides for Memories and Switches. Chemical Reviews, 2000. 100(5): p. 1717-1740.
- 127. Hammarson, M., J.R. Nilsson, S. Li, T. Beke-Somfai, and J. Andréasson, Characterization of the Thermal and Photoinduced Reactions of Photochromic Spiropyrans in Aqueous Solution. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 2013. 117(43): p. 13561-13571.
- 128. Zeng, Y., S. Liao, J. Dai, and Z. Fu, Fluorescent and photochromic bifunctional molecular switch based on a stable crystalline metal-viologen complex. Chemical Communications, 2012. 48(95): p. 11641-11643.
- Wegner, H.A., Azobenzenes in a New Light—Switching In Vivo. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2012. 51(20): p. 4787-4788.
- Bandara, H.M.D. and S.C. Burdette, *Photoisomerization in different classes of azobenzene*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2012. 41(5): p. 1809-1825.
- 131. Muthuraman, G. and T.T. Teng, *Extraction of methyl red from industrial wastewater using xylene as an extractant*. Progress in Natural Science, 2009. **19**(10): p. 1215-1220.
- Kamiya, Y. and H. Asanuma, Light-Driven DNA Nanomachine with a Photoresponsive Molecular Engine. Accounts of Chemical Research, 2014. 47(6): p. 1663-1672.
- Goulet-Hanssens, A. and C.J. Barrett, *Photo-control of biological systems with azobenzene polymers*. Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry, 2013. 51(14): p. 3058-3070.

- 134. Kaczmarek, H., M. Ziegler-Borowska, M. Chyli ska, J. Kowalonek, and M. Wolnicka, Effect of azobenzene derivatives on the photochemical stability of poly(methyl methacrylate) films. Polymer Degradation and Stability, 2012. 97(8): p. 1305-1313.
- 135. Han, M., D. Ishikawa, T. Honda, E. Ito, and M. Hara, Light-driven molecular switches in azobenzene self-assembled monolayers: effect of molecular structure on reversible photoisomerization and stable cis state. Chemical Communications, 2010. 46(20): p. 3598-3600.
- Mahimwalla, Z., K. Yager, J.-i. Mamiya, A. Shishido, A. Priimagi, and C. Barrett, Azobenzene photomechanics: prospects and potential applications. Polym. Bull., 2012. 69(8): p. 967-1006.
- 137. Samanta, S., T.M. McCormick, S.K. Schmidt, D.S. Seferos, and G.A. Woolley, Robust visible light photoswitching with ortho-thiol substituted azobenzenes. Chemical Communications, 2013. 49(87): p. 10314-10316.
- Beharry, A.A., O. Sadovski, and G.A. Woolley, *Azobenzene Photoswitching without Ultraviolet Light*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2011. 133(49): p. 19684-19687.
- 139. Kienzler, M.A., A. Reiner, E. Trautman, S. Yoo, D. Trauner, and E.Y. Isacoff, A Red-Shifted, Fast-Relaxing Azobenzene Photoswitch for Visible Light Control of an Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2013. 135(47): p. 17683-17686.
- 140. Samanta, S., G.A. Qureshi Hi Fau Woolley, and G.A. Woolley, *A bisazobenzene crosslinker that isomerizes with visible light*. (1860-5397 (Electronic)).
- 141. Poloni, C., W. Szyma ski, L. Hou, W.R. Browne, and B.L. Feringa, A Fast, Visible-Light-Sensitive Azobenzene for Bioorthogonal Ligation. Chemistry – A European Journal, 2014. 20(4): p. 946-951.
- 142. Siewertsen, R., H. Neumann, B. Buchheim-Stehn, R. Herges, C. Näther, F. Renth, and F. Temps, *Highly Efficient Reversible Z E Photoisomerization of a Bridged Azobenzene with Visible Light through Resolved S1(n *) Absorption Bands.* J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2009. 131(43): p. 15594-15595.
- Likhtenshtein, G., Stilbenes Preparation and Analysis, in Stilbenes. 2009, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 1-41.
- Likhtenshtein, G., Stilbene Photoisomerization, in Stilbenes. 2009, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 99-136.
- 145. Pitts, J.N.H.G.S.G.K. *Advances in Photochemistry*, *12*. 1980; Available from: http://public.eblib.com/EBLPublic/PublicView.do?ptiID=468633.
- 146. Irie, M., T. Fukaminato, T. Sasaki, N. Tamai, and T. Kawai, Organic chemistry: A digital fluorescent molecular photoswitch. Nature, 2002. 420(6917): p. 759-760.
- Matsuda, K. and M. Irie, A Diarylethene with Two Nitronyl Nitroxides: Photoswitching of Intramolecular Magnetic Interaction. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2000. 122(30): p. 7195-7201.
- Irie, M., *Photochromism of diarylethene single molecules and single crystals*. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, 2010. 9(12): p. 1535-1542.
- 149. Morimoto, M. and M. Irie, *Photochromism of diarylethene single crystals: crystal structures and photochromic performance*. Chemical Communications, 2005. **0**(31): p. 3895-3905.
- Tranchemontagne, D.J., Z. Ni, M. O'Keeffe, and O.M. Yaghi, *Reticular Chemistry of Metal–Organic Polyhedra*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2008. 47(28): p. 5136-5147.
- 151. Coudert, F.-X., M. Jeffroy, A.H. Fuchs, A. Boutin, and C. Mellot-Draznieks, *Thermodynamics of Guest-Induced Structural Transitions in Hybrid Organic Inorganic Frameworks.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. **130**(43): p. 14294-14302.
- 152. Kitagawa, S. and K. Uemura, *Dynamic porous properties of coordination polymers inspired by hydrogen bonds.* Chemical Society Reviews, 2005. **34**(2): p. 109-119.
- 153. Triguero, C., F.-X. Coudert, A. Boutin, A.H. Fuchs, and A.V. Neimark, *Mechanism of Breathing Transitions in Metal–Organic Frameworks*. The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters, 2011. 2(16): p. 2033-2037.
- 154. Serre, C., F. Millange, C. Thouvenot, M. Noguès, G. Marsolier, D. Louër, and G. Férey, Very Large Breathing Effect in the First Nanoporous Chromium(III)-Based Solids: MIL-53 or CrIII(OH) ·{O2C C6H4 CO2} ·{HO2C C6H4 CO2H}x·H2Oy. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2002. 124(45): p. 13519-13526.
- 155. Serre, C., S. Bourrelly, A. Vimont, N.A. Ramsahye, G. Maurin, P.L. Llewellyn, M. Daturi, Y. Filinchuk, O. Leynaud, P. Barnes, and G. Férey, *An Explanation for the Very Large Breathing Effect of a Metal–Organic Framework during CO2 Adsorption.* Advanced Materials, 2007. **19**(17): p. 2246-2251.
- 156. Serre, C., C. Mellot-Draznieks, S. Surblé, N. Audebrand, Y. Filinchuk, and G. Férey, Role of Solvent-Host Interactions That Lead to Very Large Swelling of Hybrid Frameworks. Science, 2007. 315(5820): p. 1828-1831.

- 157. Matsuda, R., R. Kitaura, S. Kitagawa, Y. Kubota, T.C. Kobayashi, S. Horike, and M. Takata, *Guest Shape-Responsive Fitting of Porous Coordination Polymer with Shrinkable Framework*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2004. **126**(43): p. 14063-14070.
- 158. Sato, H., R. Matsuda, K. Sugimoto, M. Takata, and S. Kitagawa, Photoactivation of a nanoporous crystal for on-demand guest trapping and conversion. Nat Mater, 2010. 9(8): p. 661-666.
- 159. Gritsan, N.P. and M.S. Platz, *Kinetics, Spectroscopy, and Computational Chemistry of Arylnitrenes.* Chemical Reviews, 2006. **106**(9): p. 3844-3867.

Chapter 3

GENERAL METHODS

3.1 Materials

The specific materials utilised for each study will be mentioned in the methods section in each experimental chapter. All starting materials were used without further purification. Solvents for MOF syntheses were obtained from a Solvent Dispensing System (SDS).

3.2 Synthetic Methods

3.2.1 MOF Synthesis

The MOFs in this work were synthesised *via* a hydrothermal or solvothermal route. A metal salt and organic ligand was dissolved or dispersed in water or organic solvent in a Schott bottle. For the hydrothermal method, the reaction mixture was then transferred to a Teflon lined stainless steel autoclave (Figure 3.1a), sealed and heated in an oven for 3 days. For the solvothermal method, the reaction mixture was transferred and distributed into 5 or 10 mL glass vials and sealed with Teflon caps, which were then heated in a MRC dry bath incubator (Thermoline Scientific) (Figure 3.1b). The product was then filtered, washed and solvent exchanged (Section 3.2.2). The activation of air-sensitive MOFs was conducted in a nitrogen filled glove box or using a Schlenk technique (Section 3.2.2 and 3.2.3).



Figure 3. 1. The autoclave (a) and incubator (b) used in this study.

3.2.2 Solvent Exchange

In the MOF activation step, the occluded solvent obtained during synthetic preparation needed to be removed. However, due to the strong interaction between the solvent molecules within the framework, pore collapse or blockage could occur when a using conventional solvent removal method such as heating under vacuum or gas flow [1]. To overcome that issue, a mild evacuation condition is required and solvent exchange was performed. The process involved the exchange between the occluded solvent molecules with a lower boiling point solvent [1].

The solvents used were obtained from the Solvent Dispensing System (SDS) to ensure that the solvent was moisture free. The system consisted of a high vacuum pump and an argon supply. It operates by flowing the solvent through the drying columns under vacuum, while being simultaneously pushed with a positive pressure of argon out of the solvent kegs. The dried and degassed solvent is then dispensed under argon atmosphere into a flask.

To isolate air-sensitive MOF materials from atmospheric and solvent water, solvent exchange was performed in a nitrogen filled glove bag. The glove bag was connected to a purified nitrogen gas source and when sealed and clamped, the materials and tools in the glove bag were blanketed by nitrogen.

During solvent activation, the solid sample was soaked in the SDS solvent for several days in a pre-dried Schott bottle. The solvent was decanted and refilled with fresh SDS solvent after a few hours or in the following day. Several cycles of washing proceeded for several days prior to activation under vacuum and heat, to ensure the complete exchange of solvent and to obtain a high surface area.

3.2.3 Schlenk Technique

The handling and activation of MOF samples is important as the exposure to ambient air and moisture can negatively influence the surface area of some MOFs [1]. To prevent sample degradation, the air-sensitive Schlenk technique was used to isolate and handle the materials from the atmosphere in a controlled environment. A Schlenk line consists of a dual manifold system, where two parallel gas tubes, one for inert gas and the other for the vacuum, were connected to several taps for multiple experiments to be performed simultaneously (Figure 3.2). The inert gas was fed through the cylinders of compressed purified gas to the manifold. Typically, nitrogen or argon gas cylinders (99.999 % ultra high purity) are used to provide the inert gas supply. However, since argon is more expensive than nitrogen, nitrogen was used for these experiments. Nitrogen gas exits the manifold through an oil bubbler, as a means of pressure release and visible monitoring of the gas flow. The oil bubbler was vented out near the fumehood exhaust. The vacuum manifold had one end fused-closed and the other end connected to the vacuum pump, separated by a cold trap. A cold trap prevents volatile or corrosive solvent vapors from entering the pump. The cold trap was immersed in a Dewar cooled with liquid nitrogen, to allow vapors and gases from the Schlenk line to condense. Two-way taps were used to prevent both the gas and vacuum lines from opening at the same time and to feed the inert gas directly into the vacuum pump.

Safety considerations are important when using a Schlenk line as an explosion could occur if the gas supply is opened when the vacuum system is not closed or if the vessel is heated on a vacuum line without a source of pressure release, such as a bubbler. In addition, if a stream of air enters the cold trap immersed in liquid nitrogen, liquid oxygen may condense in the trap. Liquid oxygen is extremely dangerous as it reacts violently with most organic substances. When such reactions occur in a confined space, an explosion could result. Implosion could also occur if a glass manifold with unseen cracks is used under vacuum.



Figure 3. 2. Schematic representation of a Schlenk line set-up.

3.3 Characterisation Techniques

3.3.1 Gas Adsorption Measurements

Gas molecules can interact with sorbent materials through chemisorption or physisorption. In chemisorption, gas molecules chemically bond with the surface of the sorbent. On the other hand, the physical adsorption of gas involves the interaction of gas molecules on the surface of a porous solid through attraction or repulsion forces, such as dipole-dipole, hydrogen bonding or π - π interactions. The process is reversible, where the adsorbent material is in equilibrium with the adsorbed gas molecules at different relative pressures P/P_o, resulting in different gas adsorption isotherms (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3. 3. The IUPAC classification of sorption isotherms [2].

Type I isotherm indicates a chemisorption or physisorption isotherm in microporous materials, where saturation is reached after filling of the micropores, indicated by the plateau. The steep increase at low pressure is due to micropore filling within the pores of the material. Type II and III isotherms describe the sorption behaviour of nonporous and macroporous materials with high and low energies of adsorption, respectively. Type IV and V isotherms display hysteresis loops, which apply to mesoporous materials with high and low energies of adsorption behaviour behaviour that indicates that multiple pore sizes and multiple energies of adsorption exist.

The Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) model is widely used to evaluate the adsorption isotherms of porous materials, where multiple layer adsorptions are proposed and the number of adsorbed layers is infinite at the saturation pressure. From type II - IVisotherms, the specific surface area of the adsorbents can be determined using the BET equation. The surface area of a sample can be calculated from the total volume of adsorbate adsorbed at equilibration pressure and the monolayer adsorption amount on 1 cm² of surface and entire surface. The measurement typically uses nitrogen (N₂) as the adsorbate and the temperature is carried out at the temperature of liquid N₂ (77 K). This is shown in Equation 3.1, where CSA is the analysis gas molecular cross-sectional area (nm²), S is the slope (g/cm³ STP) and Y_{INT} is the Y-intercept (g/cm³ STP). Microporous materials such as MOFs, commonly display type I isotherms [3]. Theoretically, the BET method cannot be applied for such microporous materials, such as MOFs, because the diameter of the pores is too small to allow multilayer formation [3]. However, it has been suggested that adsorption in MOFs occurs through a pore-filling mechanism instead of layer formation [3]. Pressure range chosen is typically within $0.05 < P/P_o < 0.3$ [3]. However Type I isotherm can also be defined by Rouquerol criteria, where the value of the BET constant resulting from the linear fit should be positive and have a value of at least 10 [4]. Furthermore, the monolayer capacity calculated from the linear fit must be located within the linear region chosen for the area of calculation [4].

$$SA_{BET} = \frac{CSA \times (6.023 \times 10^{22})}{(22414 \ cm^3 STP) \times (10^{18} \ nm^2/m^2) \times (S + Y_{INT})}$$
(3.1)

Gas adsorption isotherms of samples were recorded at low pressure (0-1.2 bar) by a volumetric method using Micromeritics ASAP 2420 or Tristar II 3020 instruments (Figure 3.4). The main components of these instruments are analysis ports, sample tubes with isothermal jackets, P_0 tubes with isothermal jackets, which provide continuous P_0 readings

during analyses and long-life Dewars. ASAP 2420 has additional features such as the degassing ports and the independently controlled heating mantles to allow easy access for sample activation. These instruments operate by allowing multiple sample tubes to be injected with a chosen gas at a specific temperature within a specific pressure range. The pressures are measured and the volumes adsorbed as a result of pressure change are calculated. Longer analysis times could be obtained without refilling the Dewar, allowing analysis that involves longer times to equilibrium at each data point to be performed while unattended.

Prior to measurement, the sample was solvent exchanged, followed by sample activation under vacuum and heat. The sample was activated at a certain temperature under dynamic vacuum at 10⁻⁶ Torr for a certain period of time to remove any solvent molecules. Approximately 100 mg of dried activated sample was weighed in a pre-dried and weighed ASAP tube. Multiple replicate weights of the activated sample were taken and an average weight was calculated for both the empty tube and the added sample. Quartz ASAP tubes were used for experiments involving UV light and glass ASAP tubes were used for visible light switching experiments. An accurate weight of the degassed sample was calculated prior to analysis. Gas adsorption measurements were performed using ultra-high purity (99.999 %) CO₂, CH₄, H₂ and N₂ gas. The Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) method was used to calculate the surface area of porous adsorbents in the low pressure range (0.05 < $P/P_o < 0.3$) [3].

Porous solids generally exhibit a wide distribution of sizes, contributing to the total adsorption isotherm in proportion to the fraction of the representative total area of the sample [5]. Therefore pore size distribution of the materials was determined by Density Functional Theory (DFT), a well known and versatile approach for calculating pore structures [6]. The DFT calculation was based on the adsorption of nitrogen at 77 K. Some of the CO₂ adsorption isotherms in the presence and absence of light at 273 K were fitted with the Dubinin-Radushkevich (D-R) equation in the range of relative pressure of $0.05 < P/P_o < 0.3$ to detect the change in pore size [7]. This was because the photoswitching experiment could not be conducted at 77 K as the condensation occurs on the tip of the optical fiber, preventing light from being delivered into the materials.



Figure 3. 4. Photos of the ASAP 2420 (a) and Tristar II 3020 (b) instruments.

3.3.2 General Light Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Set-up

Pre-weighed and dried custom made aluminium foiled quartz or glass ASAP tube was used for light switching experiments. A custom made light cell was used to contain the BET tube and light guide to allow maximum light exposure and coverage on the sample when the light was switched on (Figure 3.8). A Cole Palmer Model BT 15 heated circulating bath was used to maintain the temperature at 303 K or 273 K throughout the experiment. A temperature probe was wedged inside the light cell between the ASAP tube and light guide to monitor the temperature. Acticure® 4000 containing a high pressure 100 Watt mercury vapour short arc lamp was used as a UV-VIS light source to trigger the sample's light response during analysis. The light was fixed at the highest intensity output with no filter (200-500 nm) (24,600 mW/cm²), 365 nm filter (5,600 mW/cm²) or 400-500 nm filter (8,100 mW/cm²). The general set-up (Figure 3.5), and the actual experimental set-up on Tristar II 3020 (Figure 3.6) and ASAP 2420 (Figure 3.7) are shown in the figures below.



Figure 3. 5. Schematic representation of the general experimental set-up.



Figure 3. 6. Photos of the general set-up for conducting photoresponsive study on the Tristar II 3020 instrument. The inset shows a close-up look of the set-up inside the dewar.



Figure 3. 7. A photo of the general set-up for conducting photoresponsive study on the ASAP 2420 instrument. A close-up photo of the set-up inside the dewar is shown in the inset of Figure 3.6.

Light Cell

The light cell is composed of two matching halves (Figure 3.8). One half has a machined socket for a light guide and the other half has no light socket. The hemispherical cavity in each half has a smooth machined surface finish and can fit the round bottom end of an ASAP tube when clasped together. The two components are secured with four screws.



Figure 3. 8. Cross section of a light cell showing a light guide socket and a smooth-surfaced cavity to allow maximum light coverage on sample. The light cell is made of stainless steel.

Spectral Output

The spectral outputs for light with different wavelength using specific filters are shown below (Figure 3.9-3.11).



Figure 3. 9. Spectral output of light with no filter.



Figure 3. 10. Spectral output of light using the 365 nm filter.



Figure 3. 11. Spectral output of light using the 400-500 nm filter.

3.3.3 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (NMR)

NMR is useful for determining and confirming the structure of an organic material of interest. Nuclei have positive charges and some behave as though they were spinning, generating a magnetic moment and a magnetic field [8]. In this work, H¹ NMR was used, where the spectra give information about the number of hydrogens in a molecule and how they are connected together. This technique utilises the absorption of molecules in the low-energy radio frequency range of an electromagnetic spectrum to generate excitation of nuclear spin states (Figure 3.12). The electrons surrounding the proton nuclei will behave differently in different compounds, depending on the chemical structure of the molecule and the magnetic field applied [8]. When protons in a molecule are surrounded by high or low electron densities, shielding or de-shielding from the applied magnetic field will occur respectively, resulting in differences in frequencies of absorption or chemical shifts [8].



Figure 3. 12. Basic principle of NMR spectroscopy.

The preparation of NMR samples required samples to be dissolved in a deuterated solvent to avoid solvent protons from interfering the spectra. In a typical procedure, the sample was placed in a small glass tube and dropped into a magnet and the spectra were characterised by chemical shifts and by spin-spin coupling between protons. The integration of each peak allowed the relative number of protons in the molecule to be determined.

NMR spectra were recorded on Bruker BioSpin Av400X Spectrometers at 400 MHz in deuterated solvent as indicated. The signal-to-noise ratio increases with the square root of the number of scans. Therefore, 16 scans with 2 seconds acquisition time were collected for each measurement to ensure an adequate signal-to-noise ratio and spectral resolution was obtained. Deuterated solvents were used as a reference for determining proton chemical shifts of sample materials, in dilute solutions.

3.3.4 Ultraviolet Visible Spectroscopy (UV-VIS)

UV-Vis spectroscopy uses light in the visible and ultraviolet region to promote electronic transitions of sample materials from the ground state to the excited state [8]. The absorption of the sample will depend on the energy gap between the ground and excited state, where the materials with lower energy gap absorb in the longer wavelength region [8]. As light cannot penetrate solid samples due to their high opacity, absorption spectra were obtained through the reflection of light on the surface of the sample (Figure 3.13). The intensity of diffusely reflected light depended on multiple reflection, refraction, and scattering from the rough surface of the sample [8]. The spectrophotometer was calibrated against air and background correction was then carried out prior to measurement.



Figure 3. 13. Principle of diffuse reflection.

UV-Vis spectra were obtained using FlexStation® 3 Benchtop Multi-Mode Microplate Reader or Cary 60. The solid samples used were activated accordingly prior to measurements. For the FlexStation® 3 Benchtop Multi-Mode Microplate Reader, excitation and emission wavelengths of the sample in solid state were read in a Corning black flat clear bottom microplate in fluorescence reading mode at room temperature. Agilent Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer was used to measure the solid sample in KBr form. For photoresponse analyses, the sample was irradiated with light for a certain period of time and the spectra were recorded immediately after irradiation.

3.3.5 Fourier-Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR)

FT-IR spectroscopy is useful for providing information on the chemical bonding of materials. The interaction of infrared light (200-4000 cm⁻¹) with the molecule through the excitation of vibrational modes to higher energy levels generated different absorption spectra (Figure 3.14) [8]. In FT-IR, the vibration of atomic bonds in the molecule was measured. An IR active molecule must display a dipole moment during vibration or have a permanent dipole moment. Different molecules absorb at different frequencies, depending on their structure. Absorption occurred when the frequency of the IR is the same as the vibrational frequency of a bond. Stronger bonds and light atoms typically vibrate at higher frequencies (cm⁻¹). The fingerprint region generally lies below 1500 cm⁻¹, where bending motions of different atomic bonds tend to overlap. The general experimental set-up consists of a radiation source, interferometer and detector. Sample spectra are obtained from the ratio of the sample in beam of light to a background spectra obtained without the sample. The spectra were recorded and processed through a Fourier transformation.



Figure 3. 14. Schematic diagram on the principle of FT-IR spectroscopy. The absorption of photon promotes the molecule to the excited state.

In some experiments, attenuated total reflection (ATR) was also used in conjunction with IR spectroscopy to allow samples to be analysed directly in their natural state with minimal or no sample preparation. In the ATR set-up used for these experiments, infrared radiation entered from the bottom of the ATR base, into a diamond crystal, with a relatively high refractive index (Figure 3.15) [9]. Consequently, a total internal reflection occurred, creating an evanescent wave that extends beyond the surface of the crystal into the sample in contact with the crystal, in which the detector then collected the reflected radiation [9].



Figure 3. 15. Schematic diagram of a single reflection ATR.

Infrared spectra were obtained on Agilent Cary 630 in KBr form, where powdered samples were diluted in solid KBr and finely ground to obtain a homogenous mixture, with air as the background reference, or on Thermoscientific Nicolet 6700 in powder form. Time-resolved photoresponse experiments were conducted by irradiating the solid sample for a certain period of time and the spectra were recorded immediately after or during irradiation. The solid samples used were activated accordingly prior to measurements.

3.3.6 Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

Thermogravimetric analysis is a useful method for investigating changes in physical and chemical properties of sample materials [10]. The mass changes, due to thermal degradation, oxidation, reduction or evaporation of volatile components, are measured as a function of temperature [10]. For the purpose of this thesis, the recorded results were used to determine the material composition, moisture or solvent content, thermal stability and degradation mechanisms.

The general instrumental set-up consists of a high precision thermobalance, for allowing accurate sample weight measurement, within a programmable furnace. In these experiments, analyses were performed by gradually raising the temperature of a sample at a constant rate.

TGA data was obtained on a TGA Pyris 1, Mettler Toledo TGA/SDTA 851 or Mettler Toledo TGA/DSC1 instrument with the temperature ramped from room temperature to 700 °C at a heating rate of 5 °C/min under N_2 gas flow (20 mL/min). The experiment was performed under inert atmosphere (nitrogen) to minimize possible thermal oxidative degradation in air. Platinum and ceramic pans were used as they are reusable and can withstand high temperature of up to 700 and 1200 °C respectively. Furthermore, platinum pans have the advantage of being inert and easy to clean. The pans were thoroughly cleaned between experiments. Ethanol was used to clean a platinum solvent and ceramic pan was heated up to 1100 °C in a furnace for 2 hours. A platinum pan was used on TGA Pyris 1 and a 70 μ L alumina pan was used on Mettler instruments to contain approximately 4 mg of the sample, which had been activated accordingly.

3.3.7 Powder X-Ray Diffraction (PXRD)

Powder X-ray diffraction is useful for determining crystal structures of a single crystal or powder sample through the diffraction of photons, neutrons and electrons. When an electron is exposed to an alternating electromagnetic field, such as a X-ray, they will oscillate with the same frequency as the field. Crystals are regular arrays of atom and Xrays are wavelike forms of electromagnetic radiation carried by photons. The collision of a photon with another atom will result in the absorption of the photon's energy and generate X-ray scattering. In a regular environment, the scattering will be produced as a regular array of spherical waves. Although most of the scattering will have destructive interference, where the combining waves are out of phase and resulting in no energy leaving the sample, they add constructively in a few directions. As a result, X-ray beams will be diffracted from the sample at various directions, which can be determined by Bragg's law (Figure 3.16). Bragg's law uses the angle between the incident X-ray beam and the sample surface (θ) and the wavelength of the beam (λ) to determine the spacing between the diffracting planes (d) in the crystal lattice.

The diffraction patterns, which included different peak positions and shapes, were used to confirm and analyse the structural features of materials. Broad or sharp peaks would be obtained if the samples were amorphous or crystalline respectively. This is because in an amorphous sample, the atoms would be arranged in a random way, where as in crystalline samples, the atoms would be arranged in a regular manner.



Figure 3. 16. Bragg's Law.

In a single crystal diffraction pattern, the periodic arrangement of atoms resulted in one family of peaks in the diffraction pattern. When solids are not single crystals, all possible diffraction peaks could be observed as they are composed of large numbers of small crystals. These solids are termed as polycrystalline materials. In this case, the diffraction peak is generated from X-rays scattering from an equal number of crystallites. Only a small fraction of crystallites in the sample actually contribute to the generated powder diffraction data were collected on the powder diffraction beamline at the Australian Synchotron. Synchotron X-ray radiation with an incident wavelength of 1.00 Å was used to collect data over the range of $2 < 2\theta < 20$ from samples sealed in 0.3 mm diameter quartz capillaries. PXRD data were also collected on the Bruker D8 Diffractometer (Cu K α radiation, 40 kV, 40 mA). The powder data were recorded in the range of $3.5 < 2\theta < 40$ with 0.020° 2 θ step size and 0.4 or 1 seconds/step scan speed. For photoresponse experiments, activated light responsive samples were mounted on zero background plates (Figure 3.17). The powder

samples were left to relax in the dark under vacuum overnight prior measurements in air. The general set-up is shown in Figure 3.17, where the light source was positioned over the sample in a way that shadowing of the sample did not occur. A black cloth was used to cover the X-ray instrument when collecting samples in the dark.



Figure 3. 17. A photo of a general set-up for conducting photoresponsive study on the Bruker D8 Diffractometer instrument.

3.4 References

- Suib, S.L. New and future developments in catalysis batteries, bydrogen storage and fuel cells.
 2013; Available from: http://www.123library.org/book_details/?id=109071.
- Sing, K.S.W., D.H. Everett, R.A.W. Haul, L. Moscou, R.A. Pierotti, J. Rouquerol, and T. Siemieniewska, *Reporting Physisorption Data for Gas/Solid Systems*, in *Handbook* of Heterogeneous Catalysis. 2008, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- Walton, K.S. and R.Q. Snurr, *Applicability of the BET Method for Determining Surface* Areas of Microporous Metal Organic Frameworks. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2007. 129(27): p. 8552-8556.

- 4. Senkovska, I. and S. Kaskel, *Ultrahigh porosity in mesoporous MOFs: promises and limitations*. Chemical Communications, 2014. **50**(54): p. 7089-7098.
- 5. Ross, S. and J.P. Olivier, On Physical Adsorption. 1964, New York: Interscience.
- 6. Landers, J., G.Y. Gor, and A.V. Neimark, *Density functional theory methods for characterization of porous materials*. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 2013. **437**(0): p. 3-32.
- Dubinin, M.M., Microporous structures and absorption properties of carbonaceous adsorbents. Carbon, 1983. 21(4): p. 359-366.
- 8. Skoog, D.A.C.S.R.H.F.J., *Principles of instrumental analysis.* 2007, Belmont, CA: Thomson Brooks/Cole.
- Hind, A.R., S.K. Bhargava, and A. McKinnon, At the solid/liquid interface: FTIR/ATR — the tool of choice. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 2001.
 93(1-3): p. 91-114.
- Coats, A.W. and J.P. Redfern, *Thermogravimetric analysis. A review.* Analyst, 1963.
 88(1053): p. 906-924.

Declaration for Thesis Chapter 4

Declaration by candidate

In the case of Chapter 4, the nature and extent of my contribution to the work was the following:

Nature of contribution	Extent of
	contribution
	(%)
Experiment and analysis work, writing	100

The following co-authors contributed to the work. If co-authors are students at Monash University, the extent of their contribution in percentage terms must be stated:

Name	Nature of contribution	Extent of contribution	
		(%) for student co-	
		authors only	
[name 1]	-	-	
[name 2]	-	-	
[name 3]	-	-	

The undersigned hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the candidate's and co-authors' contributions to this work*.

Candidate's		Date
Signature		31/10/2014
Main		Date
Supervisor's		31/10/2014
Signature		- , -,

Chapter 4

DYNAMIC PHOTOSWITCHING IN METAL ORGANIC FRAMEWORKS AS ROUTE TO LOW ENERGY CARBON CAPTURE

'The work reported in this chapter was published in Angewandte Chemie in 2013.

Lyndon, R., Konstas, K., Ladewig, B. P., Southon, P. D., Kepert, C. J., and M. R. Hill, *Dynamic photo-switching in metal-organic frameworks as a route to low-energy carbon dioxide capture and release*. Angewandte Chemie, 2013. **52**(13): p. 3695-3698.

4.1 Introduction

Light responsive adsorbents have the potential for overcoming limitations and challenges of conventional carbon capture technologies, particularly post-combustion capture technology, as previously discussed in Chapter 2. Current adsorbent technologies that rely on pressure, temperature, or vacuum swings consume as much as 40 % of the production capacity of a power plant, most of which is associated with the liberation of CO_2 from the capture medium [1-3]. Ultimately this penalty, or parasitic energy load, must be brought closer to the thermodynamic minimum of about 4 % to avoid prohibitive cost increases [4, 5]. Given that the triggers for release of adsorbed carbon dioxide, such as vacuum and heating, are so energy intensive [1, 6-8], requiring energy from the power plant, there is strong motivation to develop new release triggers that do not require extra energy from the plant, using renewable energy sources such as the sun. In conjunction with this, adsorbents with maximum gas sorption efficiency can further reduce the costs compared to the conventional energy-intensive CO_2 gas separation process.

Light, and in particular concentrated sunlight, is an extremely attractive stimulus for triggering CO_2 release. If used with an adsorbent material that strongly absorbs sunlight

concomitant with the desorption of large amounts of CO_2 , it may be possible to drastically reduce the energy costs. Perhaps the most attractive adsorbent candidates are Metalorganic Frameworks (MOFs), because of their large adsorption capacities [9-13], and the potential for incorporation of light responsive organic groups within the pore structure [11, 14]. MOFs are an important class of 3D crystalline porous materials comprised of metal centers and organic ligands, joined periodically to establish a crystalline porous array [12]. The large internal surface areas can be used to adsorb unprecedented quantities of gases [13, 15, 16], with particular interest in hydrogen [13, 17-24], methane [13, 21, 24-28], and carbon dioxide emergent [1, 3, 13, 18, 24, 29-31].

Methods for the incorporation of light responsive groups within MOFs include the use of pendant groups pointing into the pores [32], and filling of pores with light responsive guest molecules [33]. The responsive groups within these materials may then alter their conformation when exposed to filtered light which results in a change in adsorption capacity, as reported thus far for static conditions [32, 33]. In static condition, photoirradiation is conducted prior to each adsorption cycle measurement [32, 33]. Thus, the responsive groups within these MOFs can be statically set to one position or another. For use in photoswing CO_2 capture, MOFs that can respond dynamically, or to the broadband radiation found in sunlight whilst loaded with adsorbed gas, are ideal. This will increase the speed of operation and lower the energy costs because photoswitching experiment could be performed in real-time during adsorption measurements (Figure 4.5 and Figure 4.13).

Azobenzene and its derivatives are well-known photochromic molecules that can undergo clean and efficient reversible photoisomerisation about the azo bond (N=N) to *cis* and *trans* states upon irradiation (coordinated *trans*: $\lambda_{max} \approx 370$ nm, *cis*: $\lambda_{max} \approx 460$ nm) [34, 35]. As discussed previously in the literature, their photostability and versatility towards chemical functionalisation or substitution make them highly attractive for many applications as molecular switches, optical data storage and in biological system [36, 37].

The change in shape due to photoisomerisation can significantly change the properties of the host materials [38-40]. It has been reported that when azobenzenes are bound to solid materials, photoisomerisation could still occur, given that an adequate free volume is available in the material [38, 41]. For example, when densely packed, *trans*-to-*cis* photoconversion of azobenzenes in self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) on flat gold

CHAPTER 4

surfaces could not proceed and showed no photoactivity [40]. However, when the free volume required for conformational changes was obtained through the use of unsymmetrical azobenzene molecules and mixed components for SAMs, reversible photoisomerisation on solid surfaces was achieved [40]. Photoisomerisation in such constrained environments is reported to predominantly proceed *via* the inversion mechanism, instead of rotation, as shown in experimental [42-44] and theoretical results [45, 46]. This is because the free volume required to convert to the other isomer is smaller, allowing facile photoisomerisation of some azobenzene molecules to occur even in rigid matrices or constrained environment [47]. Most azobenzene based MOFs reported in literatures displayed no photoswitching effect [48-52]. This is because the azo moieties were being fully incorporated, instead of partially incorporated on the solid matrices. Thus the robust nature of MOF frameworks generated steric hindrance on the movement due to photoswitching [32, 53].

Conversion of azobenzene to the 4,4'-dicarboxylate (AzDC), the elongated structure form, delivers a ligand that can be incorporated into MOF architectures. Furthermore, the bidentate pillar ligand *trans*-1,2-bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene (4,4'-BPE) has also been reported to demonstrate *cis*-*trans* photoisomerisability when coordinated to a metal complex [54-58]. Combination of these two ligands within zinc-based MOFs generates the triply interpenetrated framework Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}, which exhibits an open topology amenable to high capacity and selective adsorption of hydrogen and carbon dioxide over other gas molecules such as N₂, CO and CH₄ (Figure 4.1) [59]. Most multiply interpenetrated MOFs rarely exhibit permanent porosity [19, 60]. However, the 3D interpenetrated structure of this MOF afforded 1D pore channels of about 3.4 x 3.4 Å along the *c* axis and 3.6 x 3.6 Å along the other axis, such that gas-sorption properties were obtained (Figure 4.1). The permanent porosity was partly due to the three independent nets within the framework, creating 1 D pore channels within the triply interpenetrated topology, which are enforced by van der Waals interaction [19, 60].



Figure 4. 1. X-ray crystal structure of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} showing a paddle wheel building unit and the coordination geometries (a), one of the three independent primitive cubic nets (b), a 1D channel of 3.4 x 3.4 Å along the *c* axis (c), and a 1D channel of 3.6 x 3.6 Å along the rectangular diagonal of the paddle wheel clusters (d). Colour code for a) and b): zinc, pink; carbon, gray; nitrogen, blue; oxygen, red; hydrogen, white. Reprinted with permission from [59]. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

The triply interpenetrated framework $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ was prepared solvothermally using previously reported methods (Section 4.2.3) [59]. The framework is assembled from paddle wheel dinuclear Zn_2 units, bridging AzDC dianions and 4,4'-BPE pillar ligands. The presence of two different light responsive linker molecules: AzDC and 4,4'-BPE, could potentially allow their optical properties to be exploited to obtain potential dynamic photoswitching during CO_2 capture process. To the best of the author's knowledge, dynamic photoswitching could not be achieved for gas capture applications prior to the publication of this paper. In a recent publication, Luo *et al.* reported the photodynamic switching of a diarylethene based MOF developed by the group [61].

Herein we report the discovery of strong, low-energy photoresponse in Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} and find that the behaviour is dynamic and localised, irrespective of the use of broadband or filtered light sources. Previous researchers have not detected *cis-trans* changes where azo groups are part of the MOF wall and not as pendant groups in the pores [53, 62]. In the present work it is reported that bending about the azo group can be observed to occur on a local scale in a dynamic fashion, perfect for on-line adsorbent regeneration. The effect was directly observed in the UV-Vis emission profiles and time-resolved infrared spectra, and indirectly through gas adsorption experiments with careful controls in place, and pore analysis calculations. We found agreement with the literature in that the effects could not be observed over larger length scales; synchrotron X-ray diffraction did not reveal a structural change [63, 64]. This unusual property was exploited to trigger the uptake and release of carbon dioxide in real time, during adsorption experiments. Exposure to UV light resulted in an instantaneous release of up to 64 % of the adsorbed CO_2 using broadband radiation, similar to concentrated solar sources. Furthermore, the response was found to be fully reversible. The dynamic, yet localised structural movements have been directly characterised spectroscopically, and isolated with several careful control experiments.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 General

All reagents were used as purchased without further purification. 4-Nitrobenzoic acid and *trans*-1,2-bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene were purchased from Aldrich, zinc nitrate hexahydrate was from Chem Supply, dimethylformamide (DMF) and sodium hydroxide were from Merck, and Glucose was from Ajax Chemical.

4.2.2 Synthesis of Azobenzene Dicarboxylic Acid (AzDC)

AzDC was prepared according to a procedure previously reported by Liu *et al.* [65]. 4-Nitrobenzoic acid (15 g, 0.09 mol) was dissolved into an aqueous sodium hydroxide solution (51 g, 1.3 mol, in 225 mL water) by heating the solution. A hot aqueous glucose solution (101 g, 0.56 mol, in 150 mL water) was slowly added into the above solution at 50 °C, in which the initially formed yellow precipitate immediately turned into a brown solution upon further addition of glucose. The mixture was allowed to react overnight at room temperature to form a dark solution. Methanol was added to the aged solution until a bright brown precipitate formed. The filtered precipitate was dissolved in water, followed by acidification with acetic acid (20 mL), whereupon a light pink precipitate was obtained. The product was filtered, washed with excess water and dried overnight to yield the final product (4.92 g, 17 mmol, 38.5 %). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz): δ (ppm) 8.04-8.06 (d, 4H), δ 8.18-8.20 (d, 4H), δ 13.0 (brs, 1H). 13C NMR (DMSO, 500 MHz): 122.86, 130.72, 133.50, 154.17, 166.67.

4.2.3 Synthesis of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}

The MOF was solvothermally synthesised according to the procedure described by Zhou *et al.* [59]. A mixture of $Zn(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$, **AzDC** and **4,4'-BPE** was suspended in DMF (100 mL) and heated at 100 °C for 24 h. The resulting red block-shaped crystals formed were filtered and washed with DMF and hexane, and dried in air.

4.2.4 Characterisation Methods

Please refer to Chapter 3 for general characterisation procedures (Section 3.1-3.2).

The MOF used in this work was of high quality and comparable to those reported in the literature. The measured BET surface area of the activated MOF was 126 m²/g (literature: $100 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$) [59]. Other characterisation results, including the thermal analysis (Figure 4.3) and PXRD data (Figure 4.10), are in good agreement with the reported data in literature [59].

4.2.5 Broadband Light Irradiation Experiment

No filter was used and the light intensity was fixed at 24.6 W/cm^2 in the wavelength range (200-500 nm). Please refer to Chapter 3 for light responsive gas adsorption experimental set-up (Section 3.3.2).

4.3 Results and Discussions

The crystal structure shows that the framework is 3D triply interpenetrated in a primitive cubic structure with pore windows in the range of 3.4-3.6 Å (Figure 4.2) [59]. Optical switching property of **Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)**_{0.5} may be possible due to the presence of light responsive groups: **AzDC** and **4,4'-BPE**, within the framework.



Figure 4. 2. Crystal structure of Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5} [59].

Characterisation of the non-irradiated MOF was first obtained to ensure that the material obtained is comparable to the literature. From the TGA result, it is evident that after solvent exchange with dry methanol showing that the MOF is thermally stable up to 400 °C which is in accordance with the literature value (Figure 4.3) [59]. Upon the decomposition of the framework, approximately 55 % of the initial weight was lost. Different gas adsorption isotherms were also obtained to compare with those reported in literature (Figure 4.4) [59]. However, because of the interpenetrated nature of the sample resulted in restricted pore channels, adsorption capacity was dependent upon the equilibration times used. The hydrogen adsorption capacity in particular could have been optimised through extensive variations of the equilibration time, however this was not a focus of the work.



Figure 4. 3. TGA profile of methanol exchanged Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5}.



Figure 4. 4. Gas adsorption isotherms of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} at 77 K (hydrogen, black) and 298 K (carbon dioxide, blue; and methane, red). Solid and open shapes correspond to adsorption and desorption respectively.

4.3.1 Photoswitching mechanism



Figure 4. 5. Dynamic photoswitching in the light responsive MOF Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} leads to instantly reversible CO₂ uptake.

To examine the optical properties of the **AzDC** and **4,4'-BPE** light responsive linkers, PXRD, UV-Vis and FT-IR data were collected. *Trans-* and *cis-***AzDC** n–p* (S1 state) and p–p* (S2 state) transitions can be detected at 455 and 380 nm in the excitation spectra, respectively (Figure 4.6). The coordination of **4,4'-BPE** to Zn results in a photoactive species under light irradiation [55]. The *trans* isomer of the **4,4'-BPE** ligand exhibits overlapping excitation bands of metal-to-ligand (MLCT) and ligand-to-ligand (LLCT) charge-transfers in the 310–375 nm region (Figure 4.7) [55]. Excitation in this region generates *trans–cis* isomerisation as shown in the excitation spectra where the MLCT band maximum shift to 285 nm [57]. Both *cis-***AzDC** and **4,4'-BPE** can return to their *trans* state.

Photoresponsive studies in solid state revealed a photoactive framework. The excitation band at 380 nm and 455 nm observed in the UV-Vis spectrum is due to the *trans* and *cis* **AzDC** in the MOF respectively (Figure 4.6) [66]. The peak at 330 nm and 430 nm is characteristic of the *trans* and *cis* free **AzDC** ligand respectively [66]. The purpose of these experiments was to determine the likely absorption maxima for obtaining the strongest localised bending possible within the framework. On the other hand, the excitation wavelengths of **Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)**_{0.5} at the 300 nm region and 285 nm correspond to the *trans*-4,4'-BPE and *cis*-4,4'-BPE peaks respectively. Free 4,4'-BPE was found to have no photoactivity in the solid state.



Figure 4. 6. Excitation spectra of AzDC ligand in the MOF (solid line) and free AzDC ligand (dashed line) with an emission wavelength of 370 nm (red) and 460 nm (blue).



Figure 4. 7. Excitation spectra of 4,4'-BPE of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} with an emission wavelength of 250 (blue) nm and 370 nm (red).



Figure 4. 8. UV-Vis spectra of Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5}. The material was continually irradiated with 455 nm (blue) and 380 nm (magenta) filtered light.

A further response study was conducted to gain a better understanding of the mechanism. The framework was continuously exposed to either 365 or 460 nm light and the intensity of the absorption peak was monitored. Continual irradiation led to oscillations between native and excited states witnessed with UV-Vis absorption. Absorption related to trans-AzDC and *cis*-AzDC moieties was found to be complementary and also periodically changing, regardless of whether the excitation wavelength promoted formation of either as or trans structures (Figure 4.8). Under continuous irradiation from either 370 nm (promote *cis*-AzDC) or 460 nm light (promote *trans*-AzDC), small fractions of the structure were found to periodically oscillate between both isomeric conformations in a complementary fashion given the additive nature of *cis* and *trans* peaks across the two separate experiments (Figure 4.8). Similar additive effects were less clear from 4,4'-BPE excitation profiles where there was considerable overlap, although this ligand also clearly underwent transitions whilst coordinated within the framework (Figure 4.9). Most likely, this continual reversion to native states even under irradiation that promotes an isomeric transformation stems from the structural stresses induced within the interpenetrated framework, due to the components also being critical to the topology, and not pendant to it. Furthermore, rapid changes predominantly through bending motions must occur throughout the framework to maintain the original triply interpenetrated framework and accommodate the constraints [67]. The changes could not be observed on a periodic scale however, with synchrotron X-ray diffraction experiments revealing no changes (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4. 9. Maximum intensity of *trans-* and *cis-* 4,4'-BPE peak at 310 nm (blue) and 285 nm (red) respectively. Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} was continually irradiated for 10 minutes with 370 nm (red) and 250 nm (blue) light at room temperature.



Figure 4. 10. Synchrotron PXRD of non-irradiated (black) and irradiated (red) Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}.
To characterise the presence of framework transformations due to light, PXRD experiments were conducted. However, structural transitions during photoresponse were local and dynamic, as synchrotron PXRD experiments did not reveal any periodic changes (Figure 4.10). Thus, FT-IR and UV-Vis analyses were conducted to further confirm that local dynamicity was occurring within the framework (Figure 4.6-4.12).



Figure 4. 11. The full FT-IR spectrum (a) of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} and a close up region in the FT-IR spectrum (b).

To directly observe the structural oscillations, time-resolved FT-IR spectroscopy under UV irradiation was performed (Figure 4.11-4.12). In the FT-IR spectra of the MOF, significant changes in peak intensity for the region of 540–700 cm⁻¹ were observed under irradiation, whereas the remaining spectrum was unchanged (Figure 4.11). The peak intensity increase at 550 cm⁻¹ can be attributed to C-C-C and C-C-N bending modes with **AzDC** [68], indicating low-energy structural variations about the azo group, which occurred due to the suppression of *cis–trans* isomerisation [69].



Figure 4. 12. The full FT-IR spectrum (a) of free AzDC ligand and a close up region in the FT-IR spectrum (b).

Similar experiments on the free ligand **AzDC** confirmed this effect (Figure 4.12). C-C-Cand C-C-N low energy FT-IR bending modes in **AzDC** were found to be excited by UV in both the ligand and the framework (Figure 4.11 and 4.12). An increase in intensity at 537 cm⁻¹ indicated the activation of bending modes about the C-C-N bonds within the ligand. Furthermore, very minor peak increases in the free ligand at 1516 cm⁻¹ were observed, assigned to higher energy *cis*-N=N stretching modes forming as the native trans material was excited [70]. These modes were not seen to change within the framework, highlighting the restricted **AzDC** in this structure, which could not undertake these transitions. This also explains why no changes were seen in the X-ray diffraction pattern (Figure 4.10). This result was also replicated with similar UV-Vis experiments, where only a small fraction of *cis* isomers were detected (Figure 4.8).





Figure 4. 13. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} at 303 K in the presence of light (red), absence of light (black) and unfiltered light switching environment (blue).

Photoresponse was observed upon light irradiation of $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$, whereby adsorption and desorption of adsorbed CO₂, occurred in the absence and presence of light, respectively (Figure 4.13). $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ exhibits unprecedented dynamic switching under CO₂ adsorption, with a 42 % desorption capacity under static irradiation conditions (red and black curves), and as much as 64 % during dynamic measurements (blue curve) (Figure 4.13). As shown in the FT-IR result, the C-C-N bending modes of **AzDC** and **4,4'-BPE** linker molecules are likely to be responsible for the spontaneous release of adsorbed CO₂ upon irradiation, in which the pore surface was activated and the surface energy was increased (Figure 4.11). Light irradiation increased the MOF surface energy, in which intermolecular interactions between CO₂ molecules and the surface weakened, and thus triggered instantaneous CO₂ release. Photodynamicity triggered by the free **AzDC** and **4,4'-BPE** molecules was not possible because of the small pores of the MOF (3.4 x 3.4 Å) (Figure 4.2) [59]. Dynamic irradiation isotherms follow values obtained under continuous irradiation conditions, however the reversal in uptake was not entirely complete under the dynamic measurement conditions employed. Collection of N₂ isotherms at 77 K have been attempted to probe the surface areas of the non-irradiated and irradiated MOF. However, the condensation at the light guide surface resulted in an inability to deliver light to the surface. CO₂ adsorption in the presence of light did not follow the D-R model and thus the surface area could not be obtained (Figure 4.14). This is due to gas adsorption at the surface being disturbed by the presence of UV light [71].



Figure 4. 14. CO₂ adsorption isotherm in the presence (blue) and absence (black) of light at 273 K was fitted with the Dubinin-Radushkevich (D-R) equation (red) to detect the change in pore size.



4.3.3 Influence of Filtered Light in CO₂ Adsorption

Figure 4. 15. Performance of photoswitching according to light wavelength, normalised for flux. 365 nm filtered light is optimal for *cis-trans* photoisomerisation of both AzDC and 4,4`-BPE ligands. Inset: original data without normalisation.

Accounting for variations in raw uptake amounts, and changing flux gives Figure 4.15. The absolute CO₂ uptake is increased and the amount released upon light exposure lessened when a filtered light source, which has a lower flux, is used. Here it is shown that the efficiency of CO₂ release is greatly enhanced by the use of 365 nm filtered light (Figure 4.15). As shown in the UV-Vis result, filtering the light to 365 nm promoted photoisomerisation in both the AzDC and 4,4'-BPE ligands, which was responsible for the photoresponse observed during gas adsorption experiments (Figure 4.15). In both cases the adsorption amounts in the absence of light irradiation are similar, yet CO₂ desorption is found to be more efficient with use of filtered 365 nm radiation. This effect is most pronounced at high partial pressures, yet it is notable that at partial pressures similar to those encountered in post-combustion capture gas streams (ca. 0.15 bar) that unfiltered light gives a very comparable response. The results imply that in cases where the light intensity is not a limiting factor, that filtration to 365 nm is preferable, but in other instances, unfiltered, concentrated sunlight will also perform almost as well, especially in post-combustion capture streams. Illuminations up to 20 W/cm² (200 solar equivalents) can be achieved using concentrated sunlight [72, 73].

A series of careful control experiments were undertaken to ensure that this phenomenon was not an experimental or material artefact, but due solely to the dynamic photoresponse observed. Careful localised temperature monitoring showed that the temperature varied by less than 0.2 °C, indicating that minor localised heating did occur, however it was not a significant factor in the uptake variation (Figure 4.16). Furthermore, experiments with control materials including SAPO-34 zeolite, and also a framework without known photoactive groups, Cu-BTC (Basolite C300), showed almost no CO₂ uptake variations upon UV irradiation (0.2 and 2 % vs. 64 % for **Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)**_{0.5}) (Figure 4.16). In comparison to the 64 % response in **Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)**_{0.5}, the response is very low. An isobar has been measured, where temperature was changed with constant pressure, and these show that the temperature needs to rise by 25 K for the same uptake variation to be observed (Figure 4.17). A degree of the release may be due to general sample heating, although this is likely to be small given the negligible change in control samples.



Figure 4. 16. Control experiments using non-photoactive materials to verify the effect of light on Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5}. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of Cu-BTC (blue) and SAPO-34 zeolite (red) at 303 K.



Figure 4. 17. An adsorption isobar of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} showing the dependence of the CO₂ uptake on sample temperature at 1 bar CO₂. The temperature was ramped at 0.1 K/min from 288 to 328 K, then back to 288 K.

4.4 Conclusions

These remarkable results stem from the fact that the photoinduced structural changes in Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} are dynamic as witnessed both directly with UV-Vis and FT-IR experiments, and indirectly driving photoresponsive gas adsorption. The foregoing results demonstrate that the interpenetrated framework Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} can undergo dynamic light induced structural flexibility, which results in large variations in CO₂ uptakes. For the first time an experimental protocol was established to exploit this remarkable property for low-energy CO₂ capture and release. The variation in CO₂ capture performance was found to be exceptionally strong, as much as 64 % under dynamic measurements and 42 % under static conditions. Characterisation of the framework showed that the light induced structural flexibility is due to both the AzDC and 4,4'-BPE ligands, occurring reversibly and on a local scale, even under irradiation that would promote formation on just one conformer. Detailed characterisation showed that the transitions occurred only on a short range scale, and in a dynamic fashion, accounting for a lack of detection on longer length scales, in line with previous studies. This approach represents a potential route to renewable energy CO₂ capture and release, and was found to remain effective under broadband irradiation. This means that unfiltered sunlight may be used instead of the energy intensive temperature and pressure swings to release trapped gases. Further developments in this area include other mechanistic investigations, in further increasing the already strong response, developing similar responses in the visible region, and taking advantage of the performance within industrially relevant mixed gas streams.

4.5 References

- D'Alessandro, D.M., B. Smit, and J.R. Long, *Carbon Dioxide Capture: Prospects for New Materials.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2010. 49(35): p. 6058-6082.
- Bao, J. and P.M. Weber, *Electronic Effects on Photochemistry: The Diverse Reaction Dynamics of Highly Excited Stilbenes and Azobenzene*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2011. 133(12): p. 4164-4167.
- Sumida, K., D.L. Rogow, J.A. Mason, T.M. McDonald, E.D. Bloch, Z.R. Herm, T.-H. Bae, and J.R. Long, *Carbon Dioxide Capture in Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemical Reviews, 2012. 112(2): p. 724-781.
- 4. Feron, P.H.M., *Exploring the potential for improvement of the energy performance of coal fired power plants with post-combustion capture of carbon dioxide*. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, 2010. **4**(2): p. 152-160.
- Bhown, A.S. and B.C. Freeman, *Analysis and Status of Post-Combustion Carbon Dioxide Capture Technologies*. Environmental Science and Technology, 2011. 45(20): p. 8624-8632.
- Rochelle, G.T., Amine Scrubbing for CO2 Capture. Science, 2009. 325(5948): p. 1652-1654.
- Mason, J.A., K. Sumida, Z.R. Herm, R. Krishna, and J.R. Long, *Evaluating metal-organic frameworks for post-combustion carbon dioxide capture via temperature swing adsorption*. Energy & Environmental Science, 2011. 4(8): p. 3030-3040.
- Simmons, J.M., H. Wu, W. Zhou, and T. Yildirim, *Carbon capture in metal-organic frameworks-a comparative study*. Energy & Environmental Science, 2011. 4(6): p. 2177-2185.
- Yaghi, O.M. and Q. Li, Reticular chemistry and metal-organic frameworks for clean energy. MRS Bulletin, 2009. 34(9): p. 682-690.

- Zacher, D., R. Schmid, C. Wöll, and R.A. Fischer, *Surface chemistry of metal-organic frameworks at the liquid-solid interface*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2011. 50(1): p. 176-199.
- Almeida Paz, F.A., J. Klinowski, S.M.F. Vilela, J.P.C. Tome, J.A.S. Cavaleiro, and J. Rocha, *Ligand design for functional metal-organic frameworks*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2012. 41(3): p. 1088-1110.
- 12. Horike, S. and S. Kitagawa, *Design of Porous Coordination Polymers/Metal–Organic Frameworks: Past, Present and Future*, in *Metal-Organic Frameworks.* 2011, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 1-21.
- Zhou, H.-C., J.R. Long, and O.M. Yaghi, *Introduction to Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemical Reviews, 2012. **112**(2): p. 673-674.
- 14. Allendorf, M.D., C.A. Bauer, R.K. Bhakta, and R.J.T. Houk, *Luminescent metal*organic frameworks. Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. **38**(5): p. 1330-1352.
- 15. Li, J.-R., R.J. Kuppler, and H.-C. Zhou, *Selective gas adsorption and separation in metal*organic frameworks. Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. **38**(5): p. 1477-1504.
- 16. Ma, S. and H.-C. Zhou, *Gas storage in porous metal-organic frameworks for clean energy applications*. Chemical Communications, 2010. **46**(1): p. 44-53.
- Murray, L.J., M. Dinca, and J.R. Long, *Hydrogen storage in metal-organic frameworks*. Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. 38(5): p. 1294-1314.
- Debatin, F., A. Thomas, A. Kelling, N. Hedin, Z. Bacsik, I. Senkovska, S. Kaskel, M. Junginger, H. Müller, U. Schilde, C. Jäger, A. Friedrich, and H.-J. Holdt, In Situ Synthesis of an Imidazolate-4-amide-5-imidate Ligand and Formation of a Microporous Zinc– Organic Framework with H2-and CO2-Storage Ability. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2010. 49(7): p. 1258-1262.
- Kesanli, B., Y. Cui, M.R. Smith, E.W. Bittner, B.C. Bockrath, and W. Lin, *Highly Interpenetrated Metal–Organic Frameworks for Hydrogen Storage*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2005. 44(1): p. 72-75.
- Lin, X., J. Jia, X. Zhao, K.M. Thomas, A.J. Blake, G.S. Walker, N.R. Champness, P. Hubberstey, and M. Schröder, *High H2 Adsorption by Coordination-Framework Materials*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2006. 45(44): p. 7358-7364.
- Getman, R.B., Y.-S. Bae, C.E. Wilmer, and R.Q. Snurr, Review and Analysis of Molecular Simulations of Methane, Hydrogen, and Acetylene Storage in Metal–Organic Frameworks. Chemical Reviews, 2012. 112(2): p. 703-723.

- 22. Suh, M.P., H.J. Park, T.K. Prasad, and D.-W. Lim, *Hydrogen Storage in Metal–Organic Frameworks*. Chemical Reviews, 2012. **112**(2): p. 782-835.
- Sumida, K., M.R. Hill, S. Horike, A. Dailly, and J.R. Long, Synthesis and Hydrogen Storage Properties of Be12(OH)12(1,3,5-benzenetribenzoate)4. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2009. 131(42): p. 15120-15121.
- Lin, X., N. Champness, and M. Schröder, Hydrogen, Methane and Carbon Dioxide Adsorption in Metal-Organic Framework Materials, in Functional Metal-Organic Frameworks: Gas Storage, Separation and Catalysis, M. Schröder, Editor. 2010, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 35-76.
- 25. Guo, Z., H. Wu, G. Srinivas, Y. Zhou, S. Xiang, Z. Chen, Y. Yang, W. Zhou, M. O'Keeffe, and B. Chen, A Metal–Organic Framework with Optimized Open Metal Sites and Pore Spaces for High Methane Storage at Room Temperature. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2011. 50(14): p. 3178-3181.
- Wu, H., W. Zhou, and T. Yildirim, High-Capacity Methane Storage in Metal Organic Frameworks M2(dhtp): The Important Role of Open Metal Sites. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2009. 131(13): p. 4995-5000.
- 27. Thornton, A.W., K.M. Nairn, J.M. Hill, A.J. Hill, and M.R. Hill, Metal Organic Frameworks Impregnated with Magnesium-Decorated Fullerenes for Methane and Hydrogen Storage. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2009. 131(30): p. 10662-10669.
- 28. Ma, S., D. Sun, J.M. Simmons, C.D. Collier, D. Yuan, and H.-C. Zhou, Metal-Organic Framework from an Anthracene Derivative Containing Nanoscopic Cages Exhibiting High Methane Uptake. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. 130(3): p. 1012-1016.
- Thallapally, P.K., J. Tian, M. Radha Kishan, C.A. Fernandez, S.J. Dalgarno, P.B. McGrail, J.E. Warren, and J.L. Atwood, *Flexible (Breathing) Interpenetrated Metal Organic Frameworks for CO2 Separation Applications*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. 130(50): p. 16842-16843.
- Liu, J., P.K. Thallapally, B.P. McGrail, D.R. Brown, and J. Liu, *Progress in adsorption*based CO2 capture by metal-organic frameworks. Chemical Society Reviews, 2012. 41(6): p. 2308-2322.
- Pirngruber, G.D. and P.L. Llewellyn, Opportunities for MOFs in CO2 Capture from Flue Gases, Natural Gas, and Syngas by Adsorption, in Metal-Organic Frameworks. 2011, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 99-119.

- 32. Park, J., D. Yuan, K.T. Pham, J.-R. Li, A. Yakovenko, and H.-C. Zhou, *Reversible Alteration of CO2 Adsorption upon Photochemical or Thermal Treatment in a Metal–Organic Framework.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. **134**(1): p. 99-102.
- Yanai, N., T. Uemura, M. Inoue, R. Matsuda, T. Fukushima, M. Tsujimoto, S. Isoda, and S. Kitagawa, *Guest-to-Host Transmission of Structural Changes for Stimuli-Responsive Adsorption Property*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(10): p. 4501-4504.
- 34. Griffiths, J., II. Photochemistry of azobenzene and its derivatives. Chemical Society Reviews, 1972. 1(4): p. 481-493.
- Han, M., T. Honda, D. Ishikawa, E. Ito, M. Hara, and Y. Norikane, *Realization of highly photoresponsive azobenzene-functionalized monolayers*. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 2011. 21(12): p. 4696-4702.
- Wegner, H.A., Azobenzenes in a New Light—Switching In Vivo. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2012. 51(20): p. 4787-4788.
- 37. Kaczmarek, H., M. Ziegler-Borowska, M. Chyli ska, J. Kowalonek, and M. Wolnicka, *Effect of azobenzene derivatives on the photochemical stability of poly(methyl methacrylate) films.* Polymer Degradation and Stability, 2012. **97**(8): p. 1305-1313.
- Li, C., C.W. Lo, D. Zhu, C. Li, Y. Liu, and H. Jiang, Synthesis of a photoresponsive liquid-crystalline polymer containing azobenzene. Macromolecular Rapid Communications, 2009. 30(22): p. 1928-1935.
- 39. Kucharski, T.J., N. Ferralis, A.M. Kolpak, J.O. Zheng, D.G. Nocera, and J.C. Grossman, *Templated assembly of photoswitches significantly increases the energy-storage capacity of solar thermal fuels.* Nature chemistry, 2014. **6**(5): p. 441-447.
- 40. Wen, J., Z. Tian, and J. Ma, Light- and electric-field-induced switching of thiolated azobenzene self-assembled monolayer. Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2013. **117**(39): p. 19934-19944.
- 41. Takashima, Y., S. Hatanaka, M. Otsubo, M. Nakahata, T. Kakuta, A. Hashidzume,
 H. Yamaguchi, and A. Harada, *Expansion-contraction of photoresponsive artificial muscle regulated by host-guest interactions*. Nature Communications, 2012. 3.
- 42. Rau, H. and E. Lüddecke, On the rotation-inversion controversy on photoisomerization of azobenzenes. Experimental proof of inversion. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 1982. **104**(6): p. 1616-1620.

- 43. Liu, Z.F., K. Morigaki, T. Enomoto, K. Hashimoto, and A. Fujishima, *Kinetic studies* on the thermal cis-trans isomerization of an azo compound in the assembled monolayer film. Journal of Physical Chemistry, 1992. **96**(4): p. 1875-1880.
- Fujino, T., S.Y. Arzhantsev, and T. Tahara, *Femtosecond time-resolved fluorescence study of photoisomerization of trans-azobenzene*. Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 2001. 105(35): p. 8123-8129.
- 45. Angeli, C., R. Cimiraglia, and H.-J. Hofmann, On the competition between the inversion and rotation mechanisms in the cis-trans thermal isomerization of diazene. Chemical Physics Letters, 1996. **259**(3–4): p. 276-282.
- 46. Jursic, B.S., *Ab initio and density functional theory study of the diazene isomerization*. Chemical Physics Letters, 1996. **261**(1-2): p. 13-17.
- 47. Yager, K.G. and C.J. Barrett, Light-Induced Nanostructure Fomation using Azobenzene Polymers, in Encyclopedia of NanoScience and NanoTechnology2005, CRC Press: Boca Raton, Florida. p. 243-272.
- Zele ák, V., Z. Vargová, M. Almáši, A. Zele áková, and J. Kuchár, Layer-pillared zinc(II) metal-organic framework built from 4,4 -azo(bis)pyridine and 1,4-BDC. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials, 2010. 129(3): p. 354-359.
- Kitagawa, S., R. Kitaura, and S.-i. Noro, *Functional Porous Coordination Polymers*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2004. 43(18): p. 2334-2375.
- 50. Maji, T.K., K. Uemura, H.C. Chang, R. Matsuda, and S. Kitagawa, *Expanding and shrinking porous modulation based on pillared-layer coordination polymers showing selective guest adsorption*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2004. **43**(25): p. 3269-3272.
- Noro, S.I., S. Kitagawa, T. Nakamura, and T. Wada, Synthesis and crystallographic characterization of low-dimensional and porous coordination compounds capable of supramolecular aromatic interaction using the 4,4 -azobis(pyridine) ligand. Inorganic Chemistry, 2005. 44(11): p. 3960-3971.
- 52. Kondo, M., M. Shimamura, S.I. Noro, S. Minakoshi, A. Asami, K. Seki, and S. Kitagawa, Microporous materials constructed from the interpenetrated coordination networks. Structures and methane adsorption properties. Chemistry of Materials, 2000. 12(5): p. 1288-1299.
- 53. Modrow, A., D. Zargarani, R. Herges, and N. Stock, *The first porous MOF with photoswitchable linker molecules*. Dalton Transactions, 2011. **40**(16): p. 4217-4222.

- 54. Itokazu, M.K., A.S. Polo, and N.Y.M. Iha, Light driven isomerization of coordinated ligand and modulation of fac-[Re(CO)3(phen)(trans-bpe)]PF6 photoluminescence in rigid media. International Journal of Photoenergy, 2001. 3(3): p. 143-146.
- 55. Dattelbaum, D.M., M.K. Itokazu, N.Y. Murakami Iha, and T.J. Meyer, Mechanism of Metal-to-Ligand Charge Transfer Sensitization of Olefin Trans-to-Cis Isomerization in the fac-[ReI(phen)(CO)3(1,2-bpe)]+ Cation. Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 2003. 107(20): p. 4092-4095.
- Knaust, J.M. and S.W. Keller, A Mixed-Ligand Coordination Polymer from the in Situ, Cu(I)-Mediated Isomerization of Bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene. Inorganic Chemistry, 2002. 41(22): p. 5650-5652.
- 57. Sun, S.-S., J.A. Anspach, and A.J. Lees, *Self-Assembly of Transition-Metal-Based Macrocycles Linked by Photoisomerizable Ligands: Examples of Photoinduced Conversion of Tetranuclear Dinuclear Squares.* Inorganic Chemistry, 2002. **41**(7): p. 1862-1869.
- Patrocinio, A.O.T., M.K. Brennaman, T.J. Meyer, and N.Y. Murakami Iha, *Excited-State Dynamics in fac-[Re(CO)3(Me4phen)(L)]+*. Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 2010.
 114(46): p. 12129-12137.
- Chen, B., S. Ma, E.J. Hurtado, E.B. Lobkovsky, and H.-C. Zhou, A Triply Interpenetrated Microporous Metal Organic Framework for Selective Sorption of Gas Molecules. Inorganic Chemistry, 2007. 46(21): p. 8490-8492.
- 60. Choi, E.Y., K. Park, C.M. Yang, H. Kim, J.H. Son, S.W. Lee, Y.H. Lee, D. Min, and Y.U. Kwon, *Benzene-templated hydrothermal synthesis of metal-organic frameworks with selective sorption properties.* Chemistry A European Journal, 2004. **10**(21): p. 5535-5540.
- Luo, F., C.B. Fan, M.B. Luo, X.L. Wu, Y. Zhu, S.Z. Pu, W.-Y. Xu, and G.-C. Guo, *Photoswitching CO2 Capture and Release in a Photochromic Diarylethene Metal–Organic Framework*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(35): p. 9298-9301.
- 62. Schaate, A., S. Dühnen, G. Platz, S. Lilienthal, A.M. Schneider, and P. Behrens, A Novel Zr-Based Porous Coordination Polymer Containing Azobenzenedicarboxylate as a Linker. European Journal of Inorganic Chemistry, 2012. 2012(5): p. 790-796.
- Horike, S., R. Matsuda, D. Tanaka, S. Matsubara, M. Mizuno, K. Endo, and S. Kitagawa, *Dynamic Motion of Building Blocks in Porous Coordination Polymers*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2006. 45(43): p. 7226-7230.

- Bureekaew, S., S. Shimomura, and S. Kitagawa, *Chemistry and Application of Flexible Porous Coordination Polymers*. Science and Technology of Advanced Materials, 2008.
 9(1): p. 014108.
- Liu, D., Y. Xie, H. Shao, and X. Jiang, Using Azobenzene-Embedded Self-Assembled Monolayers To Photochemically Control Cell Adhesion Reversibly. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2009. 48(24): p. 4406-4408.
- 66. Abellán, G., H. García, C.J. Gómez-García, and A. Ribera, *Photochemical behavior in azobenzene having acidic groups. Preparation of magnetic photoresponsive gels.* Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry, 2011. 217(1): p. 157-163.
- 67. Park, S.K., C. Lee, K.C. Min, and N.S. Lee, *Structural and conformational studies of ortho-, meta-, and para-methyl red upon proton gain and loss.* Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society, 2005. **26**(8): p. 1170-1176.
- Klima, M., A. Kotov, and L. Gribov, *Analysis of the vibrational spectrum of azobenzene*. Journal of Structural Chemistry, 1973. 13(6): p. 987-990.
- Bauer, C.A., T.V. Timofeeva, T.B. Settersten, B.D. Patterson, V.H. Liu, B.A. Simmons, and M.D. Allendorf, *Influence of Connectivity and Porosity on Ligand-Based Luminescence in Zinc Metal Organic Frameworks*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2007. 129(22): p. 7136-7144.
- 70. Socrates, G., Infrared and raman characteristic group frequencies : tables and charts. 2001, Chichester: J. Wiley.
- Motkuri, R.K., P.K. Thallapally, S.K. Nune, C.A. Fernandez, B.P. McGrail, and J.L. Atwood, Role of hydrocarbons in pore expansion and contraction of a flexible metal-organic framework. Chemical Communications, 2011. 47(25): p. 7077-7079.
- Manor, A., E.A. Katz, T. Tromholt, and F.C. Krebs, *Electrical and Photo-Induced Degradation of ZnO Layers in Organic Photovoltaics*. Advanced Energy Materials, 2011.
 1(5): p. 836-843.
- Tromholt, T., M. Manceau, M. Helgesen, J.E. Carlé, and F.C. Krebs, *Degradation of semiconducting polymers by concentrated sunlight*. Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells, 2011. 95(5): p. 1308-1314.

Declaration for Thesis Chapter 5

Declaration by candidate

In the case of Chapter 5, the nature and extent of my contribution to the work was the following:

Nature of contribution	Extent of
	contribution
	(%)
Experiment and analysis work, writing	100

The following co-authors contributed to the work. If co-authors are students at Monash University, the extent of their contribution in percentage terms must be stated:

Name	Nature of contribution	Extent of contribution
		(%) for student co-
		authors only
[name 1]	-	-
[name 2]	-	-
[name 3]	-	-

The undersigned hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the candidate's and co-authors' contributions to this work*.



Chapter 5

DYNAMIC PHOTOSWITCHING OF DARE@PAF-1 FOR CARBON CAPTURE AND RELEASE

5.1 Introduction

Photodynamic switching was proven to be promising for low cost carbon capture and release, as reported for the first time in Chapter 4. It overcomes the challenges encountered in conventional carbon capture technologies, where energy intensive vacuum, pressure or temperature swings were used to trigger the CO_2 release in order to regenerate the absorbents for the next cycle. As previously discussed, light is an attractive stimulus for triggering the capture and release of CO_2 , owing to their abundant availability in nature and capability for instantaneous delivery into materials. Previous reports have shown that light responsive properties can be introduced to porous materials through the use of light responsive pendant groups or guest molecules [1, 2]. However, recently localised bending of photoresponsive linkers within the framework can also display photoresponse property, as demonstrated in Chapter 4 [3]. Photoresponse of up to 42 % and 64 % was achieved under static and dynamic photoswitching respectively [3]. Through this discovery, the dynamic photoswitching property was exploited for dynamic CO_2 capture and release [3]. As such, further development for a more improved dynamic light responsive system for novel carbon capture technologies was conducted.



Figure 5.1. General synthetic procedure for PAF preparation. Reprinted with permission from [4]. Copyrigh 2014 Royal Society of Chemistry.

With the motivation to further develop the novel strategy, further research was conducted using different potential adsorbents and light responsive groups. Porous materials remain one of the most intensively studied classes of adsorbents for gas storage and separation applications, whereby gas can be adsorbed in the pores of the material [5-7]. Porous aromatic framework (PAFs), particularly PAF-1, is one of the most promising recent developments in the field of carbon capture materials [4]. They feature diamondoid networks where the tetrahedral atomic or small-molecular centers are connected by simple biphenyl units [4]. PAF materials are typically synthesised by the nickel catalysed Yamamoto-Ullmann cross-coupling of tetrakis(4-bromophenyl)methane monomers (Figure 5.1) [8-11]. PAF possesses those inherent properties displayed in MOFs such as; high surface area, high porosity, high gas uptake capability and tunable properties [8-11]. PAF-1, being one of the most porous versions of the PAF materials, can display BET surface areas of up to 5600 m²/g [11]. However, unlike most MOF materials, PAFs have the additional advantage of exhibiting high thermal and hydrothermal stability [8, 9, 12]. Recent literature reports showed that optical properties could be introduced in PAFs through the use of photoresponsive pendant groups and photoresponsive linker molecules [13, 14]. However, to this date, dynamic photoresponsive PAF materials for CO₂ adsorption have not yet been reported. Thus further research was conducted in order to achieve dynamic photoswitching of PAFs containing light responsive groups for carbon capture.



Figure 5. 2. Photocyclisation of diarylethene with carboxylic acid groups.

Amongst different photochromic molecules, diarylethenes (DArE) are well known photochromic π -conjugated organic molecules. They contain two aromatic groups that are double bonded together. DArE derivatives, particularly dithienylperfluorocyclopentenebased **DArE**, is an attractive guest molecule for photoswitching applications due to their high sensitivity, fatigue resistance towards repeated switching cycles and thermal stability [15-24]. As discussed in Chapter 2, the photoswitching mechanism involves the cyclisation of the open-ring and closed-ring isomers, following irradiation with UV and visible light, respectively [16, 25, 26]. Therefore, this would make them desirable for dynamic photoswitching carbon capture applications. The open ring isomer displays free rotation at the ethene and aryl groups, in which the two conformations, parallel and antiparallel forms exist and can exchange between each other, even at room temperature [27, 28]. However, photocyclisation can only proceed through the antiparallel conformation [29-31]. Upon ring-closing process, the colour generally changes from colourless to different colouration depending on the substituents [16]. The absorption band of the closed isomers in the visible region is due to the strongly conjugated system of the whole molecule, in which it can be further red-shifted by extending the conjugation length using various substituents such as long polyene chain, any groups and substituents attached in the 5-position of the thiophene rings [23, 32-37]. Chemically gated photochromism can be introduced through the preparation of **DArE** derivatives with interlocking arms, such as those with carboxylic acid groups or mercaptoalkyl groups at the external positions of the heterocyclic rings [29, 38]. This would effectively lock the molecule in the non-photoactive parallel form. Upon disruption of the hydrogen bonds or disulfide linkages, the molecules can isomerise back to the antiparallel form, regaining its photoactivity. Thus, gated photochromism could modulate the binding affinity of host-guest systems.

It has been shown that photoresponse can be achieved through the incorporation of purpose of adsorbents [39-41]. For diarylethene inside the this thesis. dithienvlperfluorocyclopentene based **DArE** bearing carboxyl groups was chosen as guest molecules for **PAF-1**. The presence of long π -conjugation length and interlocking arms could potentially offer multiple non-covalent interactions in the host-guest complex, thereby potentially affecting the photoswitching capabilities upon gas adsorption. In this work, PAF-1 containing photoresponsive DArE guest molecules with dynamic CO₂ capture and release property upon broadband light irradiation is being reported for the first time. In the previous work, photoresponsive linkers integrated within the Metalorganic Framework were used to trigger CO₂ release, in which 64 % desorption capacity was obtained under dynamic conditions [3]. Another recent article reported 76 % desorption capacity observed under dynamic conditions [42]. The use of DArE guest molecules can display desorption capacities of up to 26 % at high loading concentrations. The observed photodynamicity was due to host-guest competition between DArE and CO₂ inside the sterically hindered pores of the PAF. Furthermore, the presence of carboxyl groups in **DArE**, along with the aromatic nature of the host and guest molecules, allowed multi non-covalent interactions (e.g., hydrogen bonding, aromatic interaction) upon light irradiation [43-46]. The improved light responsive adsorbent system could potentially further reduce the adsorbent regeneration energy and hence low energy carbon capture could be achieved.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 General

All reagents were used as purchased without further purification. All Schlenk equipment and glassware were dried (120 °C) for a minimum of 2 h.

5.2.2 Synthesis of PAF-1

PAF-1 was prepared and provided by Dr Kristina Konstas. **PAF-1** was synthesised according to the literature procedure to give an off white powder [8].

5.2.3 Synthesis of Diarylethene (DArE)

DArE was synthesised and provide by Daniel Keddie according to the following procedures:

5.2.3.1 Synthesis of Ethyl 5-methyl-2-thiophene-carboxylate (1)

5-methyl 2-carboxythiophene (12.4 g, 87.2 mmol) was dissolved in a solution of EtOH (480 mL) and conc. H₂SO₄ (15 mL). The reaction was heated under reflux for 20 h, after which the volume was reduced by half under reduced pressure, the reaction mixture quenched with saturated aqueous NaHCO₃. The resulting mixture was extracted with Et₂O (3 × 150 mL), washed with brine, dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent removed under reduced pressure to give ethyl 5-methyl-2-thiophene-carboxylate **1** as a colourless liquid (14.7 g, 86.2 mol, 99 %); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, *CDCl*₃) δ 1.32 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H CH₂CH₃), 2.48 (s, 3H, CH₃), 4.29 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H CH₂CH₃), 6.72 (d, , *J* = 3.6 Hz, 1H, thienyl 4-*H*), 7.57 (d, , *J* = 3.6 Hz, 1H, thienyl 3-*H*); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, *CDCl*₃) δ 14.3 (ethyl CH₃), 15.7 (methyl CH₃), 60.8 (ethyl CH₂), 126.2 (thienyl C-4), 131.4 (thienyl C-2), 133.6 (thienyl C-3), 147.7 (thienyl C-5), 162.8 (*C*=O); LR-EI-MS m/z 170 (M⁺, 35 %), 142 (21), 125 (100). These data agree with that previously reported.[47]

5.2.3.2 Synthesis of 5-(Ethoxycarbonyl)-2-methyl-3-thienylboronic acid pinacol ester (2)

The synthesis was adapted from the previously reported literature procedure by Kawamorita et al. [48] and was achieved as follows: A Schlenk flask was charged with bis(pinacolato)diboron (21.9 g, 86.2 mmol, 1 equiv.), [Ir(OMe)(COD)]₂ (69 mg, 0.10 mmol, 0.11 mol%) and 4,4'di-tert-butyl-2,2'-bipyridyl (52 mg, 0.20 mmol, 0.23 mol%) and the flask was subjected to three cycles of evacuation and backfilling with nitrogen. Subsequently a solution of ethyl 5-methyl-2-thiophene-carboxylate (14.7 g, 86.2 mmol, 1 equiv.) dissolved in dry heptane (110 mL) over 3Å mol sieves was degassed by three freeze/pump/thaw cycles and quantitatively transferred to the reaction vessel via cannula. The reaction was heated at 80 °C for 20h. Solvent was passed through a short plug of silica eluting with heptane then 10 % EtOAc/heptane to ensure complete elution of the product. The crude sample was subsequently purified by kugel-rohr distillation, isolated as the highest boiling point fraction, after distillation of the bis(pinacolato)diboron starting material, to give ethyl 5-methyl-4-(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)thiophene-2carboxylate 2 as a pale yellow solid (20.81 g, 70.3 mmol, 82%); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 1.30 (s, 12H, pinacolato CH₃), 1.32 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H, CH₂CH₃), 2.67 (s, 6H, CH₃), 4.28 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 7.89 (s, 1H, thienyl 3-H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CD₃OD) δ (9

of 10 signals were observed; no signal was observed for C directly bonded to B) 14.3 (CH₂CH₃), 16.3 (CH₃), 24.8 (pinacolato CH₃), 60.8 (CH₂CH₃), 83.5 (pinacolato C*), 130.7 (thienyl C-2), 140.0 (thienyl C-3), 159.6 (thienyl C-5), 162.3 (thienyl C-5), (C=O); LR-EI-MS m/z 296 (M⁺, 98 %), 281 (40), 251 (60), 239 (100). HR-EI-MS m/z = found 296.1254 M⁺ (calculated 296.1248 for $C_{14}H_{21}BO_4S$).

5.2.3.3 Synthesis of 1,2-Bis(5'-ethoxycarbonyl-2'-methyl-3'-thienyl)-3,3,4,4,5,5hexafluorocyclopentene (3)

The synthesis was adapted from the previously reported literature procedure by Hiroto et al. [49] and was achieved as follows: A Schlenk flask was charged with ethyl 5-methyl-4-(4,4,5,5-tetramethyl-1,3,2-dioxaborolan-2-yl)thiophene-2-carboxylate (8.88 g, 30 mmol, 3 equiv.), PCy₃ (68 mg, 0.24 mmol, 2.4 mol%), CsF (13.7g, 90 mmol, 9 equiv.), Pd₂(dba)₃ (56 mg,) and the flask was subjected to three cycles of evacuation and backfilling with nitrogen. Subsequently deoxygenated toluene/water (10:1, 33 mL in total) and 1,2dichloro-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexafluoropentene (1.50 mL, 10 mmol) was added and the mixture heated at 110°C for 16 h. After which the reaction mixture was filtered through a plug of silica eluting with EtOAc and solvent removed under reduced pressure. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (SiO₂, 5% EtOAc, *n*-heptane) yielding a viscous yellow oil that solidified upon standing. Recrystallisation from MeOH gave 1,2-bis(5'ethoxycarbonyl-2'-methyl-3'-thienyl)-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexafluorocyclopentene **3** as a white powder (3.70 g, 7.22 mmol, 72 %); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, *CDCl*₃) δ 1.35 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 6H CH_2CH_3), 1.92 (s, 6H, CH_3), 4.33 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 4H CH_2CH_3), 7.72 (s, 2H thienyl 4-H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, $CDCl_3$) δ (8 of 11 signals were observed; no signals were observed for C's in cyclopentene ring due to coupling to F) 14.4 (CH₂CH₃), 15.1 (CH₃), 61.7 (CH₂CH₃), 125.5 (thienyl C-4), 132.5 (thienyl C-2), 132.9 (thienyl C-5), 148.6 (thienyl C-3), 161.4 (C=O); LR-EI-MS m/z 512 (M⁺, 63 %), 466 (100), 451 (60), 423 (75). HR-EI-MS m/z = found 512.0541 M^+ (calculated 512.0545 for $C_{21}H_{18}F_6O_4S_2$).

5.2.3.4 Synthesis of 1,2-Bis(5-carboxyl-2-methyl-3thienyl)perfluorocyclopentene (4)

1,2-Bis(5'-ethoxycarbonyl-2'-methyl-3'-thienyl)-3,3,4,4,5,5-hexafluorocyclopentene (1.7 g, 3.3 mmol) was dissolved in THF (30mL) and added 60 mL of an aqueous solution of LiOH (1.3 g in 75 mL, 54.3 mmol) and stirred at 40°C for 4 h. After which the solution

was washed with Et₂O, combined organics back extracted with dilute NaOH (1 M), the combined aqueous fractions acidified with HCl (conc.) (dropwise to pH 1) and extracted with Et₂O, dried (Na₂SO₄) and the removed solvent under reduced pressure. Recrystallisation of the resulting residue from propan-2-ol gave 1,2-Bis(5-carboxyl-2-methyl-3-thienyl)perfluorocyclopentene **4** as a pale greenish powder (1.1 g, 2.4 mmol, 73 %); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, *CD₃OD*) δ 1.96 (s, 6H, *CH₃*), 7.70 (s, 2H thienyl 4-*H*); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, *CD₃OD*) δ (6 of 9 signals were observed; no signals were observed for C's in cyclopentene ring due to coupling to F) 13.6 (*C*H₃), 125.2 (thienyl *C*-4), 132.6 (thienyl *C*-2), 133.1 (thienyl *C*-5), 149.1 (thienyl *C*-3), 162.8 (*C*=O); LR-EI-MS m/z 456 (M⁺, 85 %), 438 (55), 423 (70), 395 (100). HR-EI-MS m/z = found 455.9912 M⁺ (calculated 455.9919 for C₁₇H₁₀F₆O₄S₂). These data agree with that previously reported [50, 51].

5.2.4 Preparation of DArE@PAF-1

Different concentrations of **DArE** were loaded in **PAF-1** (weight percentage diarylethene loading) in \sim 5 mL dry diethyl ether in Quartz ASAP tube. The solution was sonicated for 1 h to allow even loading distribution within the PAF. The solvent was then evaporated under N₂ atmosphere.

5.2.5 Characterisation Methods

Please refer to Chapter 3 for general characterisation procedures (Section 3.1-3.2).

The activated **PAF-1** used in this work has a BET surface area of 1967 m^2/g (literature: up to 5600 m^2/g). The surface area obtained is much lower to the reported data in literature [11, 52]. However, this was not the main focus of the research as the pore sizes were found to be large enough to contain the **DArE** guest molecules.

5.2.6 Broadband Light Irradiation Experiment

No filter was used and the light intensity was fixed at 24.6 W/cm^2 in the wavelength range (200-500 nm). Please refer to Chapter 3 for light responsive gas adsorption experimental set-up (Section 3.3.2).

5.3 Results and Discussions

In its natural state, **DArE** displays an open-ring structure, with a molecular diameter of 0.9-1.3 nm (molecular volume 300 Å³, average kinetic diameter: 10.7 Å)(Figure 5.3). Thus **PAF-1** is a suitable host for the inclusions of **DArE**, as they exhibit pore dimensions larger than **DArE** molecules. The pore size distribution calculated from N₂ adsorption isotherm at 77 K indicated that **PAF-1** had a pore size range of 1.2-3 nm and pore volume of 0.9 Å³ (Figure 5.4a-b).



Figure 5.3. Crystal structure of open ring DArE [15]. The molecular diameter range from 0.9-1.3 nm.

The successful inclusion of **DArE** molecules in **PAF-1** was first suggested by the decrease in N_2 adsorption capacity (Figure 5.4a). Further analyses of the isotherm supported the result, indicated by the decrease in pore size distribution intensities, surface areas and total pore volume (Figure 5.4b-d) [16]. Varying concentrations of **DArE** from 1-50 wt % was loaded. The pore size distribution intensities, along with the surface area and total volume, gradually decreased with increasing loading concentrations of **DArE**. The result was expected as it indicated that the guest molecules progressively occupied more of the vacant sites within the **PAF-1** (Figure 5.4b).



Figure 5.4. N₂ adsorption isotherm of PAF-1 (black) and DArE@PAF-1 (1 wt %, red; 5 wt %, blue;
20 wt %, green; 50 wt %, magenta) at 77 K (a) showing the effects of DArE loading concentrations on the pore size distributions (b), BET surface areas (c) and total pore volumes (d) of PAF-1.

5.3.1 Photoswitching Mechanism



Figure 5.5. Dynamic photoswitching of light responsive DArE@PAF-1 led to instantly reversible CO₂ uptake.

A photoresponse study was conducted to assess the dynamic properties of **PAF-1** for potential dynamic gas adsorption. Solid-state UV-Vis and FT-IR were conducted to look at the photoswitching mechanism. Upon UV (340 nm) and visible (460 nm) excitation of the free **DArE** molecule, absorption peaks which correspond to the closed-ring (*c*-**DArE**) and open-ring **DArE** (*o*-**DArE**) at 450 and 580 nm, and 370 nm respectively were observed (Figure 5.6b) [15, 53]. These peaks were also observed in the sample prepared, confirming the presence of **DArE** with **PAF-1** (Figure 5.6c-d). To further analyse the photoresponse mechanism, the peak intensities at 460 and 370 nm exhibited by the free **DArE** and **DArE@PAF-1** during UV-Vis experiments were monitored by continually irradiating the materials with alternating UV and visible light. From the result, the peak intensities of *o*-**DArE@PAF-1** at 370 nm gradually decreased over several cycles (Figure 5.6c). Similar trends were observed in the free *o*-**DArE** molecule (Figure 5.6c). The slight decrease in peak intensities at 370 nm indicated that perhaps photocyclisation was inhibited.



Figure 5.6. The peaks at 370 nm and 460 nm correspond to the open (blue) and closed (red) ring free DArE (dashed line) and DArE@PAF-1 (solid line)respectively. Changes in the intensities of solid-state UV Vis spectra of host free DArE (e) and DArE@PAF-1 (f) during alternate UV (340 nm)/ Vis (480 nm) light irradiation.

FT-IR results revealed the photoisomerisation behaviours of **DArE@PAF-1** in more detail. Upon light irradiation, the FT-IR spectrum of host-free **DArE** showed that the photogeneration of the closed ring isomer can be detected by the formation of 2 additional weak C-F absorption bands at 966 and 1013 cm (Figure 5.8)[54]. However, these two signals were not observed in the FT-IR spectrum of **DArE@PAF-1** (Figure 5.7). This may

be due to the peaks associated with **DArE** photoresponse being too weak to be detected and had been masked by the PAF's peaks. Instead, the C=O (1688 cm⁻¹) and O-H (3000 cm⁻¹) peaks showed considerable broadening, suggesting that multiple intermolecular noncovalent interactions may be involved (Figure 5.7) [55].

Upon light irradiation, the formation of *c*-DArE exhibited a planar geometry which is less bulky compared to its twisted open structure [45, 56-58]. It has been shown that a typical DArE molecule expands upon ring-opening and shrinks upon ring-closing [16, 59]. Upon photocyclisation, the width of a typical **DArE** molecule could expand from 0.90 nm to 1.01 nm [59]. Thus aryl-perfluoaryl interactions became more favourable between the guest molecules and the host, and hence the peak broadening at 1688 cm⁻¹ (Figure 5.7) [43, 44, 46, 60-62]. With the aromatic stacking occurring, the movements due to photocyclisation upon light irradiation would be suppressed. This was also confirmed in FT-IR spectra of irradiated DArE@PAF-1 and free DArE, as shown by the reduction in peak intensities at 810, 985, 1035, 1140 and 1548 cm⁻¹ regions (Figure 5.7-5.8) [54, 63]. These peaks correspond to the vibration modes of the thiopene and cyclopentene groups in DArE [54, 63]. The reduction in peak intensities was due to the loss of aromatic character of two thiopene rings in DArE upon ring closure [17, 18, 64]. Furthermore, this could also be contributed by the restricted movement of **DArE** guest molecules inside the pores of **PAF-1**. As a result, the ring bending vibration of the aryl and ethene groups around 500-600 cm⁻¹ region was enhanced (Figure 5.7) [27, 65, 66].

In conjunction with the aromatic stacking, H-bonding was also detected at 3000 cm⁻¹ (Figure 5.7) [44]. This was only observed in the FT-IR spectra of **DArE@PAF-1**, which suggested that intramolecular H-bonding between the carboxylic ends of the guest molecules may occur, a known phenomenon reported in the literature [27, 29, 30, 38]. The stable intramolecular H-bonds are unlikely to be broken without H-bond breaking agents [27, 29, 30, 38]. As **DArE** can exist in three conformers, the antiparallel *o*-**DArE** and *c*-**DArE** conformers may interconvert reversibly under broadband light irradiation, but some parallel *o*-**DArE** conformers may form in the process [29, 30, 67, 68]. The formation of the parallel conformer prevented photocyclisation back to its antiparallel form [29, 30, 67, 68]. This would explain the incomplete ring opening process observed in solid UV-Vis result (Figure 5.6). The presence of multiple interactions in light irradiated **DArE@PAF-1** may potentially trigger dynamic CO₂ adsorption. Competitive interaction between **DArE**

and CO_2 molecules with the host may be observed as adsorption would occur within a sterically demanding environment [43, 44, 46, 60-62].



Figure 5.7. Full FT-IR spectrum of DArE@PAF-1 in the absence (black) and presence (red) light irradiation.



Figure 5.8. Full FT-IR spectrum of host-free DArE in the absence (black) and presence (red) light irradiation [54].







Figure 5.9. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of PAF-1 and DArE@PAF-1 at 303 K under photoswitching environment showed that CO₂ capture and release occurred reversibly in the absence and presence of light respectively (a). CO₂ sorption isotherms were normalised for clarity, showing that greater photoresponse was obtained with higher DArE loading concentrations (b). CO₂ sorption isotherms of 50 wt % DArE@PAF-1 at 303 K and 273 K were also compared to look at their adsorption behaviour.

To examine the potential of dynamic carbon capture and release in **DArE@PAF-1**, a photoswitching experiment was conducted during gas adsorption measurement (Figure 5.9). In this experiment, CO_2 capture and release occurred in the absence and presence of light respectively (Figure 5.9). The process was found to be reversible as adsorption and desorption was observed after each photoswitching cycle. The adsorption isotherm obtained under static irradiation matched those irradiated parts of the isotherm obtained under dynamic conditions (Figure 5.10). The observed photoresponse behaviour is similar to the reported work in Chapter 4 [3]. Such dynamicity was likely due to the increase in host-guest interactions upon the formation of the parallel *o*-DArE conformer [43, 44, 46, 60-62]. This would weaken the intermolecular interactions between CO_2 molecules and the adsorption sites, triggering instantaneous CO_2 release [3].



Figure 5.10. Dynamic vs static photoswitching of DArE@PAF-1 (50 wt %).

With varying concentrations of DArE loading, there was a trade-off between photoresponse and CO₂ uptake capacity. With the increase in **DArE** loading concentrations, a greater photoresponse was obtained (Figure 5.9a-b, 5.11a), which corresponded to the increase in photoactivity of DArE in PAF-1. To correlate photoactivity and CO₂ adsorption, CO₂ uptake capacity at 1 bar, which showed the largest photoresponse, was calculated and compared. When not irradiated, the CO₂ uptake capacity increased at higher loading concentration, but reduced when the loading concentration exceed 5 wt %, indicating an optimal loading concentration (Figure 11b). This suggested that perhaps competitive interactions between DArE and CO2 with the host, preventing CO₂ from occupying the adsorption sites. Similar to Chapter 4, CO₂ adsorption in the presence of light did not follow the D-R model and change in pore sizes could not be determined (Figure 5.12). This is due to gas adsorption at the surface being disturbed by the presence of UV light [69]. Photoswitching experiment was also performed on unloaded **PAF-1** as a control study to ensure that the photodynamicity was mainly due to the presence of DArE molecules (Figure 5.9a). The low photoresponse exhibited by **PAF-1** was due to the aromatic nature of its framework.



Figure 5.11. Trade-off between photoresponse (a) and CO₂ uptake capacity at 1 bar (b).



Figure 5. 12. CO₂ adsorption isotherm in the presence (red) and absence (blue) of light at 273 K was fitted with the Dubinin-Radushkevich (D-R) equation (red).

Adsorption kinetic studies showed that desorption capacities at 1 bar can increase by 65 % from 5 wt % to 50 wt % within 4 minutes of light irradiation (Figure 5.13a). Some CO_2 was re-adsorbed beyond this point, indicating that perhaps there was a small shift in the equilibrium, resulting in a slight preferential binding of CO_2 with the host. However, the equilibrium was shifted significantly towards DArE-PAF interactions at lower temperature, resulting in a complete CO_2 desorption within 9 minutes of irradiation (Figure 5.13b).



Figure 5.13. Kinetic studies of CO₂ adsorption at 303 K and 273 K at a pressure range of 0.6-1 bar, showing the effects of different guest loading concentrations (a) and temperature (b). 50 wt % DArE@PAF-1 was used for the latter experiment (b).
5.4 Conclusions

Photodynamic CO₂ capture and release from PAF containing photoactive guest molecules was demonstrated for the first time. Since the publication of the work reported in Chapter 4, only one MOF with DArE linker molecules was reported for the dynamic photoswitching property during gas adsorption. Similar to the results reported in Chapter 4, light could be switched on and off to trigger CO2 desorption and adsorption respectively. In this work, the level of photoresponse could be modulated through using different **DArE** loading concentration. Results showed that stronger photoresponse, of up to 26 %, were obtained at higher concentrations (50 wt %), but beyond the optimum concentration of 5 wt %, the CO₂ uptake capacity gradually reduced. FT-IR and UV-Vis analyses suggested that guest-host interactions between DArE and PAF-1, particularly involving aromatic stackings and H-bonding, occurred upon photoirradiation. This indicated that photocyclisation of **DArE** was inhibited in a sterically hindered environment, promoting the formation of its parallel *o*-DArE conformer, which feature an intralocking or H-bonding arms. This mechanism is likely to be responsible for the dynamic carbon capture and release observed in the adsorption results. The PAF-DArE and CO₂-PAF interactions competed with each other, resulting in the spontaneous release of adsorbed CO_2 upon photoirradiation. Complete desorption of adsorbed CO_2 could be achieved at lower temperature as PAF-DArE interactions were dominant. This result provided significant evidence since Chapter 4, showing that broadband light irradiation could be used to effectively trigger carbon capture and release in real time. Thus, this further supported the concept of using unfiltered sunlight as a novel trigger for low cost carbon capture. To further advance the technology, improved light responsive adsorbents, particularly those that respond to only visible light, should be focused on.

5.5 References

- Yanai, N., T. Uemura, M. Inoue, R. Matsuda, T. Fukushima, M. Tsujimoto, S. Isoda, and S. Kitagawa, *Guest-to-Host Transmission of Structural Changes for Stimuli-Responsive Adsorption Property*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(10): p. 4501-4504.
- Park, J., D. Yuan, K.T. Pham, J.-R. Li, A. Yakovenko, and H.-C. Zhou, *Reversible Alteration of CO2 Adsorption upon Photochemical or Thermal Treatment in a Metal–Organic Framework*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(1): p. 99-102.
- Lyndon, R., K. Konstas, B.P. Ladewig, P.D. Southon, P.C.J. Kepert, and M.R. Hill, *Dynamic Photo-Switching in Metal–Organic Frameworks as a Route to Low-Energy Carbon Dioxide Capture and Release.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2013. 52(13): p. 3695-3698.
- 4. Garibay, S.J., M.H. Weston, J.E. Mondloch, Y.J. Colon, O.K. Farha, J.T. Hupp, and S.T. Nguyen, *Accessing functionalized porous aromatic frameworks (PAFs) through a de novo approach*. CrystEngComm, 2013. **15**(8): p. 1515-1519.
- D'Alessandro, D.M., B. Smit, and J.R. Long, *Carbon Dioxide Capture: Prospects for* New Materials. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2010. 49(35): p. 6058-6082.
- 6. apos, D.M. Alessandro, and T. McDonald, *Toward carbon dioxide capture using nanoporous materials.* Pure and Applied Chemistry, 2011. **83**(1): p. 57+.
- Davis, M.E., Ordered porous materials for emerging applications. Nature, 2002. 417(6891): p. 813-821.
- Ben, T., H. Ren, S. Ma, D. Cao, J. Lan, X. Jing, W. Wang, J. Xu, F. Deng, J.M. Simmons, S. Qiu, and G. Zhu, *Targeted Synthesis of a Porous Aromatic Framework with High Stability and Exceptionally High Surface Area*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2009. 48(50): p. 9457-9460.
- Konstas, K., J.W. Taylor, A.W. Thornton, C.M. Doherty, W.X. Lim, T.J. Bastow, D.F. Kennedy, C.D. Wood, B.J. Cox, J.M. Hill, A.J. Hill, and M.R. Hill, *Lithiated Porous Aromatic Frameworks with Exceptional Gas Storage Capacity*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2012. 51(27): p. 6639-6642.
- Ben, T., Y. Li, L. Zhu, D. Zhang, D. Cao, Z. Xiang, X. Yao, and S. Qiu, Selective adsorption of carbon dioxide by carbonized porous aromatic framework (PAF). Energy & Environmental Science, 2012. 5(8): p. 8370-8376.

- Babarao, R., S. Dai, and D.-e. Jiang, Functionalizing Porous Aromatic Frameworks with Polar Organic Groups for High-Capacity and Selective CO2 Separation: A Molecular Simulation Study. Langmuir, 2011. 27(7): p. 3451-3460.
- 12. Ben, T. and S. Qiu, *Porous aromatic frameworks: Synthesis, structure and functions.* CrystEngComm, 2013. **15**(1): p. 17-26.
- Patel, H.A., S. Hyun Je, J. Park, D.P. Chen, Y. Jung, C.T. Yavuz, and A. Coskun, Unprecedented high-temperature CO2 selectivity in N2-phobic nanoporous covalent organic polymers. Nat Commun, 2013. 4: p. 1357.
- 14. Kundu, P.K., G.L. Olsen, V. Kiss, and R. Klajn, *Nanoporous frameworks exhibiting multiple stimuli responsiveness*. Nat Commun, 2014. **5**.
- Morimoto, M. and M. Irie, Photochromic Reactions of Diarylethenes in Single Crystals with Intermolecular O H N Hydrogen-Bonding Networks. Chemistry – A European Journal, 2006. 12(16): p. 4275-4282.
- Irie, M., *Photochromism of diarylethene single molecules and single crystals*. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, 2010. 9(12): p. 1535-1542.
- Irie, M. and M. Mohri, *Thermally irreversible photochromic systems*. Reversible photocyclization of diarylethene derivatives. The Journal of Organic Chemistry, 1988.
 53(4): p. 803-808.
- Irie, M., *Photochromism: Memories and SwitchesIntroduction*. Chemical Reviews, 2000.
 100(5): p. 1683-1684.
- Yuan, J., Z. Li, M. Hu, S. Li, S. Huang, J. Yin, and S.H. Liu, Synthesis and photochromic properties of imidazole-based diarylethenes. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, 2011. 10(4): p. 587-591.
- Uchida, K., T. Matsuoka, S. Kobatake, T. Yamaguchi, and M. Irie, *Substituent effect* on the photochromic reactivity of bis(2-thienyl)perfluorocyclopentenes. Tetrahedron, 2001. 57(21): p. 4559-4565.
- Irie, M., T. Lifka, S. Kobatake, and N. Kato, *Photochromism of 1,2-Bis(2-methyl-5-phenyl-3-thienyl)perfluorocyclopentene in a Single-Crystalline Phase*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2000. 122(20): p. 4871-4876.
- 22. Irie, M. and K. Uchida, Synthesis and Properties of Photochromic Diarylethenes with Heterocyclic Aryl Groups. Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan, 1998. **71**(5): p. 985-996.
- 23. Santos, A.R., R. Ballardini, P. Belser, M.T. Gandolfi, V.M. Iyer, and L. Moggi, *Photochemical investigation of a photochromic diarylethene compound that can be used as a wide*

range actinometer. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, 2009. 8(12): p. 1734-1742.

- 24. Brieke, C., F. Rohrbach, A. Gottschalk, G. Mayer, and A. Heckel, *Light-Controlled Tools*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2012. **51**(34): p. 8446-8476.
- Kobatake, S., Y. Matsumoto, and M. Irie, *Conformational Control of Photochromic Reactivity in a Diarylethene Single Crystal.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2005. 44(14): p. 2148-2151.
- 26. Terao, F., M. Morimoto, and M. Irie, *Light-Driven Molecular-Crystal Actuators: Rapid* and Reversible Bending of Rodlike Mixed Crystals of Diarylethene Derivatives. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2012. **51**(4): p. 901-904.
- 27. Warford, C.C., V. Lemieux, and N.R. Branda, *Multifunctional Diarylethenes*, in *Molecular Switches*. 2011, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. p. 1-35.
- 28. Tian, H. and S. Yang, Recent progresses on diarylethene based photochromic switches. Chemical Society Reviews, 2004. 33(2): p. 85-97.
- 29. Irie, M., O. Miyatake, K. Uchida, and T. Eriguchi, *Photochromic Diarylethenes with Intralocking Arms*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 1994. **116**(22): p. 9894-9900.
- Irie, M., O. Miyatake, and K. Uchida, *Blocked photochromism of diarylethenes*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 1992. 114(22): p. 8715-8716.
- Shibata, K., K. Muto, S. Kobatake, and M. Irie, *Photocyclization/Cycloreversion Quantum Yields of Diarylethenes in Single Crystals*. The Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 2001. 106(1): p. 209-214.
- Kim, E., M. Kim, and K. Kim, A new diarylethene with donor-acceptor group for reversible photo-induced electrochemical switching. Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society, 2008. 29(4): p. 827-832.
- Castellanos, S., L. Grubert, R. Stößer, and S. Hecht, *Diarylethene Photoswitches Featuring Tetrathiafulvalene-Containing Aryl Units.* The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2013. 117(45): p. 23529-23538.
- 34. Thomas Bens, A., D. Frewert, K. Kodatis, C. Kryschi, H.-D. Martin, and H.P. Trommsdorff, *Coupling of Chromophores: Carotenoids and Photoactive Diarylethenes Photoreactivity versus Radiationless Deactivation*. European Journal of Organic Chemistry, 1998. 1998(11): p. 2333-2338.

- Gilat, S.L., S.H. Kawai, and J.-M. Lehn, Light-Triggered Molecular Devices: Photochemical Switching Of optical and Electrochemical Properties in Molecular Wire Type Diarylethene Species. Chemistry – A European Journal, 1995. 1(5): p. 275-284.
- Ern, J., A.T. Bens, H.D. Martin, S. Mukamel, D. Schmid, S. Tretiak, E. Tsiper, and C. Kryschi, *Reaction dynamics of photochromic dithienylethene derivatives*. Chemical Physics, 1999. 246(1–3): p. 115-125.
- Ern, J., A.T. Bens, H.-D. Martin, K. Kuldova, H.P. Trommsdorff, and C. Kryschi, *Ring-Opening and -Closure Reaction Dynamics of a Photochromic Dithienylethene Derivative*. The Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 2002. 106(9): p. 1654-1660.
- Irie, M., O. Miyatake, R. Sumiya, M. Hanazawa, Y. Horikawa, and K. Uchida, *Photochromism of Diarylethenes With Intralocking Arms*. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals Science and Technology. Section A. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals, 1994. 246(1): p. 155-158.
- Walton, I.M., J.M. Cox, J.A. Coppin, C.M. Linderman, D.G. Patel, and J.B. Benedict, *Photo-responsive MOFs: light-induced switching of porous single crystals containing a photochromic diarylethene*. Chemical Communications, 2013. 49(73): p. 8012-8014.
- Okada, H., N. Nakajima, T. Tanaka, and M. Iwamoto, Improvement in Photocyclization Efficiency of Diaryl Ethenes by Adjusting the Pore Size of Mesoporous Silica. Angewandte Chemie, 2005. 117(44): p. 7399-7402.
- Luo, F., C.B. Fan, M.B. Luo, X.L. Wu, Y. Zhu, S.Z. Pu, W.-Y. Xu, and G.-C. Guo, *Photoswitching CO2 Capture and Release in a Photochromic Diarylethene Metal–Organic Framework.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(35): p. 9298-9301.
- 42. Luo, F., C.B. Fan, M.B. Luo, X.L. Wu, Y. Zhu, S.Z. Pu, W.-Y. Xu, and G.-C. Guo, Photoswitching CO2 Capture and Release in a Photochromic Diarylethene Metal–Organic Framework. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2014: p. n/a-n/a.
- 43. Yagai, S., K. Ohta, M. Gushiken, K. Iwai, A. Asano, S. Seki, Y. Kikkawa, M. Morimoto, A. Kitamura, and T. Karatsu, *Photoreversible Supramolecular Polymerisation and Hierarchical Organization of Hydrogen-Bonded Supramolecular Co-polymers Composed of Diarylethenes and Oligothiophenes.* Chemistry A European Journal, 2012. 18(8): p. 2244-2253.
- 44. Morimoto, M. and M. Irie, *Photochromism of diarylethene single crystals: crystal structures and photochromic performance*. Chemical Communications, 2005. **0**(31): p. 3895-3905.

- 45. Zhou, X., Y. Duan, S. Yan, Z. Liu, C. Zhang, L. Yao, and G. Cui, *Optical modulation* of supramolecular assembly of amphiphilic photochromic diarylethene: from nanofiber to nanosphere. Chemical Communications, 2011. **47**(24): p. 6876-6878.
- 46. Morimoto, M., S. Kobatake, and M. Irie, *Crystal engineering of photochromic diarylethene single crystals.* The Chemical Record, 2004. **4**(1): p. 23-38.
- 47. Suaifan, G.A.R.Y., C.L.M. Goodyer, and M.D. Threadgill, *Synthesis of N-*(*Methoxycarbonylthienylmethyl*)thioureas and Evaluation of Their Interaction with Inducible and Neuronal Nitric Oxide Synthase. Molecules, 2010. **15**(5): p. 3121-3134.
- Kawamorita, S., H. Ohmiya, and M. Sawamura, *Ester-Directed Regioselective Borylation* of Heteroarenes Catalyzed by a Silica-Supported Iridium Complex. The Journal of Organic Chemistry, 2010. **75**(11): p. 3855-3858.
- Hiroto, S., K. Suzuki, H. Kamiya, and H. Shinokubo, *Synthetic protocol for diarylethenes through Suzuki-Miyaura coupling*. Chemical Communications, 2011. 47(25): p. 7149-7151.
- Morimoto, M. and M. Irie, Photochromic reactions of diarylethenes in single crystals with intermolecular O-H…N hydrogen-bonding networks. Chem. - Eur. J., 2006. 12(Copyright (C) 2014 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 4275-4282.
- Myles, A.J. and N.R. Branda, Novel Photochromic Homopolymers Based on 1,2-Bis(3thienyl)cyclopentenes. Macromolecules, 2003. 36(Copyright (C) 2014 American Chemical Society (ACS). All Rights Reserved.): p. 298-303.
- Chen, B., S. Ma, E.J. Hurtado, E.B. Lobkovsky, and H.-C. Zhou, A Triply Interpenetrated Microporous Metal Organic Framework for Selective Sorption of Gas Molecules. Inorganic Chemistry, 2007. 46(21): p. 8490-8492.
- 53. Lucas, L.N., J.J.D. De Jong, J.H. Van Esch, R.M. Kellogg, and B.L. Feringa, Syntheses of dithienylcyclopentene optical molecular switches. European Journal of Organic Chemistry, 2003(1): p. 155-166.
- 54. De Jong, J.J.D., W.R. Browne, M. Walko, L.N. Lucas, L.J. Barrett, J.J. McGarvey, J.H. Van Esch, and B.L. Feringa, *Raman scattering and FT-IR spectroscopic studies on dithienylethene switches - Towards non-destructive optical readout.* Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry, 2006. 4(12): p. 2387-2392.
- 55. Ma, L., Q. Wang, G. Lu, R. Chen, and X. Sun, *Photochromic Nanostructures Based on Diarylethenes with Perylene Diimide*. Langmuir, 2009. **26**(9): p. 6702-6707.

- Hirose, T., K. Matsuda, and M. Irie, Self-Assembly of Photochromic Diarylethenes with Amphiphilic Side Chains: Reversible Thermal and Photochemical Control. The Journal of Organic Chemistry, 2006. 71(20): p. 7499-7508.
- Kitagawa, D., H. Nishi, and S. Kobatake, *Photoinduced Twisting of a Photochromic Diarylethene Crystal.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2013. 52(35): p. 9320-9322.
- Yagai, S., K. Ishiwatari, X. Lin, T. Karatsu, A. Kitamura, and S. Uemura, Rational Design of Photoresponsive Supramolecular Assemblies Based on Diarylethene. Chemistry – A European Journal, 2013. 19(22): p. 6971-6975.
- Yamada, T., S. Kobatake, K. Muto, and M. Irie, X-ray Crystallographic Study on Single-Crystalline Photochromism of Bis(2,5-dimethyl-3-thienyl)perfluorocyclopentene. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2000. 122(8): p. 1589-1592.
- 60. Morimoto, M., S. Kobatake, and M. Irie, *Photochromism of diarylethenes in nanolayers of a single crystal*. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences, 2003. **2**(11): p. 1088-1094.
- 61. Meejoo, S., B.M. Kariuki, and K.D.M. Harris, *The Interplay of Aryl–Perfluoroaryl Stacking Interactions and Interstack Hydrogen Bonding in Controlling the Structure of a Molecular Cocrystal.* ChemPhysChem, 2003. **4**(7): p. 766-769.
- 62. Yagai, S., K. Iwai, M. Yamauchi, T. Karatsu, A. Kitamura, S. Uemura, M. Morimoto, H. Wang, and F. Würthner, *Photocontrol Over Self-Assembled Nanostructures of Stacked Dyes Supported by the Parallel Conformer of Diarylethene*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(10): p. 2602-2606.
- Takata, A., S. Yokojima, H. Nakagawa, Y. Matsuzawa, A. Murakami, S. Nakamura, M. Irie, and K. Uchida, *Substituent effect of diarylethenes on IR spectra for application of non-destructive readout of photochromic recording*. Journal of Physical Organic Chemistry, 2007. 20(11): p. 998-1006.
- Kobatake, S., H. Hasegawa, and K. Miyamura, *High-Convertible Photochromism of a Diarylethene Single Crystal Accompanying the Crystal Shape Deformation*. Crystal Growth & Design, 2011. 11(4): p. 1223-1229.
- 65. Jean-Ruel, H., M. Gao, M.A. Kochman, C. Lu, L.C. Liu, R.R. Cooney, C.A. Morrison, and R.J.D. Miller, *Ring-Closing Reaction in Diarylethene Captured by Femtosecond Electron Crystallography.* The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 2013.
- Matsuda, K. and K. Higashiguchi, *Photoswitching Property of Diarylethenes in Molecular Magnetism and Electronics*, in *Supramolecular Soft Matter*. 2011, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 215-235.

- 67. Pu, S.-Z., F.-S. Zhang, F. Sun, R.-J. Wang, Z.-H. Zhou, and S.-K. Chan, *The Allomorphism of a Photochromic Diarylethene*. Tetrahedron Letters, 2003. **44**: p. 1011-1014.
- 68. Ohsumi, M., T. Fukaminato, and M. Irie, *Chemical control of the photochromic reactivity of diarylethene derivatives*. Chemical Communications, 2005(31): p. 3921-3923.
- Motkuri, R.K., P.K. Thallapally, S.K. Nune, C.A. Fernandez, B.P. McGrail, and J.L. Atwood, Role of hydrocarbons in pore expansion and contraction of a flexible metal-organic framework. Chemical Communications, 2011. 47(25): p. 7077-7079.

Declaration for Thesis Chapter 6

Declaration by candidate

In the case of Chapter 6, the nature and extent of my contribution to the work was the following:

Nature of contribution	Extent of
	contribution
	(%)
Experiment and analysis work, writing	100

The following co-authors contributed to the work. If co-authors are students at Monash University, the extent of their contribution in percentage terms must be stated:

Name	Nature of contribution	Extent of contribution
		(%) for student co-
		authors only
[name 1]	-	-
[name 2]	-	-
[name 3]	-	-

The undersigned hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the candidate's and co-authors' contributions to this work*.

Candidate's		Date
Signature		31/10/2014
Main		Date
Supervisor's		31/10/2014
Signature		01, 10, 2011

Chapter 6

VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MOF-74@MR WITH PRESSURE-GATED GAS ADSORPTION PROPERTIES

6.1 Introduction

The development of light responsive MOFs in order to control the capture and release of CO₂ has gained much attention recently [1-5]. In particular, those that exhibit a gateopening phenomenon due to structural responses to specific adsorbate or variable pressures are highly attractive [6-9]. Previous results (Chapter 4 and 5) have demonstrated that the use of broadband light can trigger the photodynamic response of adsorbent materials during gas adsorption, offering the potential feasibility of using natural sunlight directly onto materials. However, UV light is needed, which is not environmentally friendly and can potentially degrade materials, sometimes into toxic by-products, overtime [10-12]. As discussed previously, different wavelengths of light penetrate into materials at different depths, depending on the optical density of the sample and intensity of light (Section 2.2.4) [13]. The relationship can be represented using the Beer-Lambert Law (Section 1.2.4) [13]. To improve the penetration level, longer wavelengths of light must be used to achieve greater photoresponse of light responsive materials. Natural sunlight radiates strongly in the visible range (400-700 nm) as it makes up for 47 % of the solar spectrum [14, 15]. UV light (200-400 nm) on the other hand, is strongly scattered and only comprises a tiny fraction (7 %) of the solar spectrum [14, 15] (Figure 2.3). Therefore utilising a large fraction of solar light could greatly enhance low-energy carbon capture and release.

Amongst various photochromic molecules, *o*-Methyl Red (**MR**), also known as Acid Red, is an attractive visible light responsive molecule. **MR** is an azobenzene derivative that has been widely used as an indicator dye or colouring agents. It has been extensively studied

for photochromism, inclusion complexes with cyclodextrin, structure [16] and pKa determination [17]. Unlike most azobenzene derivative molecules that require UV light for photoisomerisation, **MR** molecules are able to undergo conformational changes from the natural *trans* state to the *cis* state upon visible light irradiation shorter than 590 nm (Figure 6.1) [16, 18, 19]. The relaxation of *cis*-**MR** back to the *trans* state can be achieved in the dark [18, 19]. This prompted the idea of using **MR** to introduce visible light properties in MOFs, in this particular case, **Mg-MOF-74**.



Figure 6. 1. Photoisomerisation of o-methyl red.

MOF-74 is highly attractive for gas separation applications as it exhibits high CO_2 adsorption capacity under atmospheric conditions and is considered as one of the more promising candidates for CO_2 capture (35.2 wt % CO_2 capacity at 1 atm at 298 K) [6, 20-23]. The MOF is composed of the 2,5-dihydroxyterephthalate ligand and unsaturated metal sites that forms 1D hexagonal pore structure, where the average pore diameter is ~11 Å [22]. The metal sites can be varied without changing the overall framework structure due to the metal oxidation state (M=Zn, Mg, Ni, Co, Mn, Ca and Sr) [22]. In the framework, each metal cluster at the vertices of the hexagons are connected by organic linkers and could coordinate with 6 atoms [24]. Due to the octahedral arrangement at the metal center, all of the ligand functional groups (carboxylate and alcohol) are deprotonated and all are coordinated to the metal atom: 5 oxygen atoms from the carboxyl and hydroxyl group of the organic ligand and 1 free site that was occupied by a solvent or water molecule prior to activation (Figure 6.2) [24]. Upon water removal from the pore channels, the metal coordination environment changes from octahedral to square pyramidal [25].



(M: Zn, Co, Ni, Mg)

Figure 6. 2. General Structure of M-MOF-74 where each metal centers are connected by 2,5dihydroxyterephthalate ligands (blue and red circles represent the metal species and the oxygen atoms from the ligand respectively). Printed with permission from [26]. Copyright 2014 Elsevier.

The resulting five-coordinated metal centres in the activated form allow a high concentration of unsaturated metal cations to be exposed on the pore surface. It has been shown that these metal ions can act as Lewis acids and serve as the primary binding sites for gas molecules [27, 28]. A Lewis acid is an electron pair acceptor, which can readily react with a Lewis base, an electron pair donor. Unlike materials with flexible structures, where the removal of guest molecules result in structural collapse [29, 30], the structural rigidity of the MOF ensures that the open metal sites remain accessible for incoming guest molecules [31]. The featured Lewis acid sites can strongly polarize gas adsorbents, in which preferential adsorption to CO2 over other gas molecules, such as N2 or CH4 could be obtained [31, 32]. The adsorbed CO₂ molecule reportedly forms a bent structure and binds through one of its oxygen atoms, while the rest of the molecules are free [27, 33]. This is because CO₂ can act as a stronger Lewis base due to its larger quadrupole moment and greater polarisability [32]. Upon increase in gas uptake, some CO₂ molecules are also adsorbed in the centre of the hexagonal channels [27]. These Lewis acids can also be further functionalised through post-synthetic modification. It has been shown that in a chemically robust MOF with well separated open metal sites, one amine of a diamine molecule can bind to a metal cation as a Lewis base, while the other amine can act as an adsorption site for gas molecules [34]. The general trend toward decrease in surface area in MOF-74 isostructural series is Mg > Co > Ni > Zn through N_2 adsorption measurement at 77 K, which corresponds to the mass increase from the lighter alkali earth metal towards

the heavier transition metal [22]. However, research has shown that this is not simply due to the weight effect of the metal atom on adsorption sites [22]. The strength of the Lewis acid-base interactions depend on metal sites and the adsorbates respectively, exhibiting advantageous adsorption properties. For example, nickel based MOF-74 exhibit the highest methane adsorption capacity compared to their isostructural MOF-74 materials [28], whereas Fe and Mn based MOF-74 exhibits exceptionally strong preferential adsorption towards O₂ over N₂ [35]. For CO₂ adsorption, the general trend towards increase in capacity at 1 atm and 298 K in the MOF-74 isostructural series is Zn (24.4 wt % < Ni (25.6 wt %) < Co (30.6 wt %) < Mg (35.2 wt %). The heat of adsorptions for Co-MOF-74, Ni-MOF-74 and Mg-MOF-74 have initial heat adsorptions of 37, 41 and 47 k]/mol respectively [22]. The general trend for the increase in CO₂ affinity can be correlated to the increase in the Lewis acidity of the metal centres. However, the exceptional CO₂ uptake of Mg-MOF-74 could be attributed to the increase in the ionic character of the Mg-O bond (Figure 6.3) [22, 36]. In a CO₂ sequestration process, MgO is known to exhibit exothermic chemisorptions of CO2 to form MgCO3 [37]. However chemisorption does not occur in Mg-MOF-74, presumably because of the rigid nature of the framework preventing the chemical bond formation between Mg and O atoms [22]. The reported heat of adsorption value indicates a strong physisorption interaction but remains well below that of the energy obtained for chemisorptions, thus the reversibility of adsorption could be maintained [36].



Figure 6. 3. Schematic representation of CO₂ coordinated in Mg-MOF-74. Reprinted with permission from [27]. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

Therefore, amongst many MOF-74 materials, **Mg-MOF-74** is an attractive material for carbon capture due to its exceptionally high CO₂ uptake capacity (5.95 mmol/g, even at low pressure (<0.1 atm) at room temperature, and high heat of adsorption (47 kJ/mol) [36]. It has also been reported that when **Mg-MOF-74** is subjected to a gas stream containing similar content to that in industrial separations, it only adsorbs CO₂ and not CH₄ [22, 31]. Furthermore, the pores could retain a large amount of CO₂, with a capacity

higher than any other achieved in MOFs, and is competitive with conventional materials, such as zeolites, with the highest capacities [31]. Facile CO_2 release could be obtained as a large amount of the captured CO_2 (80 %) can be liberated at room temperature, and complete removal can be achieved through heating the materials in mild conditions at 80 °C [31].

Light responsive MOF-74 bearing a photoswitchable azo group has been reported previously by Yaghi *et al.* However, their potential application in carbon capture was not reported [38]. To improve response in the visible light range, several studies have attempted the inclusion of amine moieties in porous adsorbents to extend their absorption to the visible region. However, their photoswitching and gas adsorption properties were not reported. To date, only one report has shown the use of visible light in adsorbents for carbon capture applications. A diarylethene based MOF has been shown to show photochromic response during gas adsorption [2]. However, this process only partially used visible light. Although visible light was used to further promote desorption during the gas adsorption step, UV light was still used in order to promote adsorption during the gas adsorption step.

In order to fully utilise visible light, different visible light responsive adsorbents must be used. Thus, in this work, **MR** was used as the visible light responsive guest molecule and **Mg-MOF-74** as the host. Upon visible light irradiation, photoisomerisation of the partially incorporated **MR** guest molecules in the host resulted in a gate-opening behaviour, a previously unknown phenomenon. As a result, the total CO_2 uptake capacity was significantly increased by up to 84 %. To the best of the author's knowledge, this is the highest photoresponse ever reported through static irradiation, particularly with full utilisation of visible light for carbon capture.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 General

All reagents were used as purchased without further purification. Magnesium nitrate hexahydrate and 2,5-dihydroxyterepthalic acid were purchased from Aldrich. Dichloromethane (DCM) and dimethylformamide (DMF) were from Merck.

6.2.2 Synthesis of Mg-MOF-74

Mg(NO₃)₂.6H₂O (1.96 g, 7.7 mmol), 2,5-dihydroxyterepthalic acid (0.47 g, 2.4 mmol) were dissolved in a solvent mixture of DMF (175 mL), EtOH (12.4 mL) and distilled water (12.6 mL) in a Teflon capped vial. The mixture was heated to 125 °C and the temperature was held for 20 h, followed by cooling the mixture to room temperature. The yellow powder was then solvent exchanged in DMF for 2 days, followed by MeOH twice a day for five days. The dried sample was then activated at 200 °C for 5 hours at a rate of 1 °C/min under vacuum overnight.

6.2.3 Synthesis of Mg-MOF-74@MR

Mg-MOF-74 (0.17 g) and methyl red (**MR**) (0.16 g) were mixed in DCM (5 mL) and the mixture was sonicated for 15 minutes and left overnight. The mixture was filtered and thoroughly washed with DCM to remove excess **MR**. **Mg-MOF-74@MR** was heated under vacuum at 150 °C overnight at a rate of 1 °C/min to ensure solvent removal. Due to the rigidity of the framework, the mixture was irradiated with visible light, to potentially allow for an easier incorporation of the guest molecules into the pore channels.

6.2.4 Characterisation Methods

Please refer to Chapter 3 for general characterisation procedures (Section 3.2-3.3).

The MOF used in this work was of high quality and comparable to those previously reported [24, 39, 40]. The measured BET surface area of the activated Mg-MOF-74 was 1418 m²/g (literature: 1640 m²/g) (Figure 6.16a) [24]. Other characterisation results, including the thermal analysis (Figure 6.6) [39], FT-IR (Figure 6.12) and PXRD data (Figure 6.5) [40], are in good agreement to the reported data in literature [24, 39, 40].

6.2.5 Visible Light Irradiation Experiment

A 400-500 nm filter was used to ensure irradiation of visible light with an intensity of 8,100 mW/cm². Please refer to Chapter 3 for light responsive gas adsorption experimental set-up (Section 3.3.2).

6.3 Results and Discussions

In its natural state, *trans*-**MR** displays a longitudinal axis of 13 Å and a width of 6 Å (molecular volume: 235 Å³, average kinetic diameter: 10.3 Å), whereas upon excitation with visible light, the *ais* form could become 8 % smaller (Figure 6.4) [18, 19]. The incorporation of azobenzene-like materials into porous adsorbents such as MOFs and cyclodextrin has been studied previously. Particularly, the inclusion of azobenzene-like molecules into channel-structured MOFs has been reported recently, where they could either be densely packed within the pore channels or caused pore deformation [4, 41]. **MR** could potentially be incorporated longitudinally within the 1D channels of the **MOF-74**. With the use of visible light, deeper light penetration would allow more guest molecules to respond within the framework. To ensure even distribution of **MR** in the MOF, the introduction of guest molecules was carried out through solvent diffusion technique (Section 6.2.3).



Figure 6. 4. Trans-methyl red showing long and short axis dimensions [42].

6.3.1 Influence of Methyl Red Guest Molecules on the Structural Conformation of MOF-74

PXRD data were collected to verify the presence of **MR** in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** and to look at the potential structural changes in the presence of **MR**. Upon incorporation, there was a general blue-shift in peak positions from those observed in the activated **Mg-MOF-74** itself, indicating there was a contraction within the MOF framework (Figure 6.5) [43]. Changes in the cell parameter were also observed, as suggested by the decrease and increase in peak intensities (Figure 6.5). This could be due to the partial incorporation of **MR**. Lower crystallinity in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** could also indicate the presence of MOFdye interaction, as shown by the general broadening of the peaks (Figure 6.5).



Figure 6. 5. Normalised PXRD data of Mg-MOF-74 and Mg-MOF-74@MR before irradiation. An overall spectra (a) and magnified regions of the spectra (b-f) were plotted to show general peak shifts and broadening upon MR loading.

The thermal behaviour of **Mg-MOF74@MR** showed that no free **MR** was present in the MOF as no weight loss step due to the degradation of **MR** at 180 °C was observed (Figure 6.6). This suggested that the **MR** molecules may be partially incorporated and have interacted with the organic ligands in the framework through aromatic interactions, further confirming the PXRD results (Figure 6.5). TGA curves of **Mg-MOF-74** and **Mg-MOF-74@MR** showed similar trend to each other. Weight loss due to moisture between 40-100 °C was seen in both TGA curves as they were exposed briefly in air prior to measurements [39]. The next main weight loss observed in both curves occurred from 300 °C onwards was attributed to the organic ligand decomposition (Figure 6.6) [39]. The thermal stability of the MOF is slightly reduced as the degradation step of **Mg-MOF74@MR** ended at a slightly lower temperature (660 °C) than that observed in the MOF itself (680 °C) (Figure 6.6). Furthermore, lower total percentage mass loss was obtained upon **MR** introduction (Figure 6.6). This could be due to the burning of more organic materials in the presence of **MR**, leaving more solid residues behind in the form of carbonaceous char.



Figure 6. 6. TGA curves of Mg-MOF-74, MR and Mg-MOF-74@MR in N₂ (heating rate: 5 °C/min).

6.3.2 Photoswitching Mechanism



Figure 6. 7. Proposed mechanism for Mg-MOF-74@MR upon irradiation and relaxation.

Photoresponse studies were conducted in PXRD, UV-Vis and FT-IR experiments to determine the possible photoswitching mechanism. PXRD experiments of Mg-MOF-74 showed that there were no long range structural changes detected upon photoirradiation, as expected, and in line with the results found in Chapter 4 (Figure 6.8a) [1]. No peak changes were detected either upon photoirradiation of MR itself, indicating that preferential orientation may have occurred in its amorphous form (Figure 6.8b) [44, 45]. However, there were subtle peak changes occurring in Mg-MOF-74@MR when irradiated with visible light. At an earlier stage of irradiation, increased in peak intensities at 6.9 and 11.9° 20 and decreased in peak intensity at 26.6° 20 were observed (Figure 6.9, Table 6.1). However, a slight gradual blue-shift in peak positions was observed upon prolonged irradiation (Figure 6.9, Table 6.1). The changes observed could be attributed to the MR photoswitching in the presence of the MOF (Figure 6.9), as this trend was not observed in the pure MR (Figure 6.8b). Further examination suggested that cell parameters at the a and c axes slightly reduced over time during irradiation period, thus leading to slight reduction in the cell volume (Figure 6.10). As peaks due to the host-free MR were not observed, the changes observed in Mg-MOF@MR could not be due to the **MR** itself (Figure 6.8b), confirming the previously discussed result that **MR** was perhaps partially incorporated in the MOF ((Figure 6.5). The very small changes in cell parameters could be due to the rigidity of the Mg-MOF-74 framework [31]. After leaving the postirradiated Mg-MOF@MR in the dark for 5 hours, some peaks were found to have moved back towards its initial position (Figure 6.9, Table 6.1). Therefore, indicating relaxation of the material due to *cis*-to-*trans* photoisomerisation of **MR** in the framework. As there was no significant changes in the overall peak positions or intensities, movement due to photoresponse could be predominantly localised. Localised dynamic movement has been previously reported in Chapter 4 [1].



Figure 6. 8. PXRD patterns of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 (a) and MR (b) in air with visible light (400-500 nm).



Figure 6. 9. PXRD data of non-irradiated (black), irradiated (yellow, purple, magenta and red) and post-irradiated (blue) Mg-MOF-74@MR. An overall spectra (a) and magnified regions of the spectra (b-e) were plotted to show the peak changes during and after visible light irradiation (400-500 nm). PXRD pattern of the post-irradiated sample was measured 5 hours after irradiation in the dark.

Table 6. 1 Observed peak changes in PXRD pattern of Mg-MOF-74@MR upon light irradiation, and its relaxation towards the initial peak locations and intensities post-irradiation. Y and N denote yes and no for observed relaxation.

Peak Changes	Peak Positions (° 20)	Relaxation
	6.9	Y
	11.9	Ν
Increased	15.3	Y
	16.8	Ν
	20.6	Y
	31.6	Y
Decreased	26.6	Y
Red-shift	15.3	Y
	16.8	Ν
	18.2	Y
	20.6	Y
	21.7	Y
	24.8	Y
	25.8	Y
	27.5	Y
	30.1	Y
	30.9	Y
	31.6	Y





Figure 6. 10. Changes in cell parameters along the a axis (a), c axis (b) and cell volume (c) upon prolonged irradiation in Mg-MOF-74@MR.

In order to examine the optical properties of Mg-MOF-74@MR, several characterisation methods were conducted. UV-Vis and FT-IR spectra were collected in order to analyse the potential photoisomerisation of MR of Mg-MOF-74@MR. The UV-Vis spectrum of pure MR displayed characteristic absorption bands at 330 nm and 430 nm, which correspond to the *cis* and *trans* peaks (Figure 6.11b). When irradiated, a large fraction of the *trans* isomers appeared to have converted to the *cis* isomer within 30 minutes. This was indicated by the decrease in the *trans* absorption peak and increase in the *cis* absorption peak (Figure 6.11b).

The UV-Vis spectra of Mg-MOF-74@MR were collected to analyse the photoisomerisation trend. Upon irradiation of the sample, the slight increase in an absorption peak at 310 nm could be attributed to the *cis*-MR formation (Figure 6.11c). However, the typically more predominant decrease in an absorption peak due to *trans*-MR was not detected (Figure 6.11c). In Mg-MOF-74@MR, the absorption peak due to the MOF itself at ~400 nm may have masked the *trans*-MR peak (Figure 6.11a, c). MOF with terephthalate-based linkers are known to exhibit optical absorption in the UV-Vis region [46, 47]. Furthermore, the intensities of the *cis* and *trans*-MR absorption peaks would be much lower due to the lower MR concentration in the MOF compared to that of pure MR, resulting in the masking of the *trans*-MR peak. The *cis*-MR, and perhaps the *trans*-MR absorption bands were blue-shifted by ~50 nm and ~90 nm (assuming the peak lied around the MOF absorption band) respectively (Figure 6.11c). The observed blue-shift

could indicate interactions between the guest molecules and the host, which confirmed the PXRD (Figure 6.5) and TGA results (Figure 6.6) [48].





Figure 6. 11. UV-Vis spectra of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 (a), MR (b), Mg-MOF-74@ (c) in air with visible light (400-500 nm).

FT-IR data were collected to further confirm the photoisomerisation of **MR** of **Mg-MOF-74@MR** (Figure 6.12, Table 6.2). Upon irradiation, the reduction of a broad peak at 3400 cm⁻¹ and a peak at 700 cm⁻¹ was observed in **Mg-MOF-74** itself (Figure 6.12b). This could be attributed to the hydroxyl band involved in the interaction with water molecules in air and the phenyl group of the ligand of **Mg-MOF-74**. The slight photoresponse observed was due to the presence of a conjugated system in the framework.

In the FT-IR of **MR**, characteristic vibration bands due to stretching of the azo group at 1560 cm⁻¹ ($v_{as}(N=N)$) and 1370 cm⁻¹ ($v_{s}(N=N)$), alkyl groups of aromatic and aliphatic groups in the 2800-4000 cm⁻¹ range, phenyl groups at ~700-800 cm⁻¹ and 1600 cm⁻¹ regions were observed (Figure 6.12c) [49, 50]. The formation of a new peak at 1520 cm⁻¹ and reduction of peak intensities due to the azo group of *trans*-**MR** at 1560 cm⁻¹ and 1370 cm⁻¹ and phenyl group of *trans*-**MR** at 820 cm⁻¹ were observed upon visible light irradiation (Figure 6.12c), indicating the formation of *ais*-**MR** [49, 50].

Most of the **MR** peaks could not be observed in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** as the signal may be too low to be detected or masked by the peaks from the host (Figure 6.12d). However, the formation of an additional peak at 1510 and 1540 cm⁻¹, and reduction of a phenyl group peak intensity at 680 cm⁻¹ upon visible light irradiation could indicate the formation of the *ais* isomers (Figure 6.12d).





Figure 6. 12. FT-IR spectra of all the materials used in the study (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 (b), MR (c), Mg-MOF-74@MR (d) in air with visible light (400-500 nm). Peak due to CO₂ in the atmosphere at ~2450 cm⁻¹ was omitted for clarity.

Peak Changes	Peak locations (cm ⁻¹)			
i can onangeo	Mg-MOF-74	MR	Mg-MOF-74@MR	
New Peak		1520	1510	
INEW Peak			1540	
	820	600-800	680	
	890	820	3420	
	1115	890		
	1210	950		
	1240	1110		
	1350	1145		
	1380	1165		
	1400	1275		
Decreased	1600	1275		
Decreased	3400	1310		
		1370		
		1395		
		1465		
		1485		
		1550		
		1600		
		1720		
		3400		
		835	820	
		1035	890	
		1225	1090	
Increased			1210	
Increased			1240	
			1380	
			1420	
			1450	

Table 6. 2. Observed peak changes in the FT-IR spectra of irradiated Mg-MOF-74, MR and Mg-MOF-74@MR.

6.3.3 Pressure Gated Effect on CO₂ adsorption in Visible Light Triggered Mg-MOF-74@MR



Figure 6. 13. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of non-irradiated Mg-MOF-74, and Mg-MOF-74@MR before and after irradiation at 303 K.

A light responsive pressure-gate system, previously an unknown behaviour, was observed in the CO₂ adsorption isotherms of Mg-MOF-74@MR at room temperature. Prolonged irradiation of the Mg-MOF-74@MR resulted in a gate opening absorption of CO2, gradually increasing the CO₂ uptake capacity. Fully activated Mg-MOF-74, with a BET surface area of 1418 m²/g, pore volume of 4.7 Å³ and pore sizes of 5 and 10 Å was used in the experiment, which is comparable to the reported surface area and is close to average pore value (~11 Å) in literatures (Figure 6.16a) [22, 24, 40]. As expected, the introduction of **MR** resulted in the reduction in CO_2 uptake capacity with the maximum CO_2 uptake of 11 cm 3 /g STP for non-irradiated sample (Figure 6.13). To some extent, the presence of MR inhibited CO₂ from accessing the pores as saturation was reached at an absolute pressure of 0.7 bar [7, 51]. Various characterisation results indicated that photoswitching of MR could occur in the presence of the MOF. This indicated that the non-irradiated MOF-74@MR may contain the inactive MR state, limiting pore access for adsorption of gas molecules and reached saturation at 0.7 bar (Figure 6.13). Upon light irradiation, photoisomerisation of MR in the MOF to the active state may open up the pores as saturation point was no longer observed (Figure 6.13). Therefore this prompted the idea of investigating the potential effect of light irradiation in unblocking CO₂ adsorption sites.

Under dynamic photoswitching environment, significant carbon capture and release was not observed and saturation was reached at an even lower absolute pressure of 0.5 bar, indicating that perhaps, **MR** photoresponse in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** caused further pore blockage from closer contact of guest molecules to the framework. However, after a total irradiation of 30 minutes, pressure-gate opening was observed as no saturation point was observed and a 35 % increase in total CO₂ uptake was obtained (17 cm³/g STP) (Figure 14a). This could be due to the formation of the *cis*-**MR** guest molecules, as shown in the UV-Vis result whereby a large fraction of *cis* isomers was formed within 30 minutes of visible light irradiation (Figure 6.11b). The formation of more compact *cis*-**MR** guest molecules may have resulted in a lesser contact with the host and thus, pore opening occurred.

A similar experiment was conducted under static photoswitching condition on the next day to validate the pressure-gate effect in response to the visible light trigger. The result was in fact, reproducible, as the gate opening effect could be observed after 30 minutes of irradiation (Figure 14b). A 50 % increase in the total gas uptake capacity was obtained on a 30 minute irradiated **Mg-MOF-74@MR** (8 cm³/g STP). Subsequently, the total uptake was significantly enhanced when the sample was irradiated for 1 hour as 84 % increase in adsorption was obtained (25 cm³/g STP). To date, this is the highest photoresponse obtained under static conditions, especially with visible light irradiation [1, 2]. To determine the time required for maximum light triggered gas adsorption, longer irradiation of **Mg-MOF-74@MR** was conducted. However, no change in total CO₂ uptake was obtained after 2 hours, indicating that full photoresponse of **Mg-MOF-74@MR** can be achieved within 1 hour (Figure 14b).

Evidently, the increase in the overall gas uptake was much higher when photoswitching was performed under static conditions. This could be due to the movement of **MR** in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** during dynamic photoswitching preventing CO_2 from accessing the pores. Static photoswitching on the other hand, could overcome this issue as sample was irradiated before measurement, resulting in a higher total CO_2 uptake. It has also been shown previously that dynamic photoswitching exhibited lower gas uptake capacity compared to static photoswitching [1].



Figure 6. 14. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74@MR under dynamic (a) and static (b) conditions at 303 K. Dynamic and static photoswitching experiments were carried out on day 1 and 2 respectively.

The process was found to be reversible as Mg-MOF-74@MR relaxed back to the initial state where gate-closing occurred overnight (Figure 6.15). However, a gradual decrease in overall performance of Mg-MOF-74@MR in the non-irradiated state can be observed with each overnight relaxation cycle. The relaxation of light irradiated sample in subsequent days exhibited a gas adsorption isotherm with an earlier saturation point as an absolute pressure of 0.5 bar was obtained in day 2 and 3 (Figure 6.15). Furthermore, the maximum CO₂ uptake capacities at saturation points after one cycle reduced by 36 %,

followed by further reduction of 19 % after two cycles (Figure 6.15). A previous report has shown that **Mg-MOF-74** displayed a loss in uptake capacity in consecutive cycles [31]. The relaxation of **MR** in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** could also gradually degrade the MOF. The gated system offers an advantageous process, like a dynamic photoswitching system, where controlled carbon capture could be obtained whilst providing potential CO_2 adsorption selectivity upon light trigger.



Figure 6. 15. CO₂ uptake performance of Mg-MOF-74@MR at 303 K after relaxation.

In the presence of **MR**, adsorption of N_2 at 77 K was dramatically reduced, with a slight increase in adsorption upon light irradiation (Figure 6.16). As previously reported in the CO₂ adsorption isotherm results obtained at 303 K (Figure 6.13), the presence of **MR** significantly reduced the gas uptake capacities, suggesting a decrease in the gas adsorption site. Often with small pores, pore blockage is obtained at lower temperature. To confirm this, pore size distributions of the non-irradiated and irradiated **Mg-MOF-74@MR** samples were analysed.



Figure 6. 16. N_2 adsorption isotherms of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74@MR at 77 K.

Pore size distributions using DFT analysis of N₂ adsorption isotherms showed that **Mg-MOF-74** without the guest molecules, two different pore sizes: 5 and 10 Å were obtained (Figure 6.17a). However in the presence of guest molecules **MR**, non-irradiated **Mg-MOF-74@MR** showed no porosity (Figure 6.17b). The result confirmed that pore size reduction was obtained. Although **Mg-MOF-74** is known to exhibit selective CO₂ uptake over N₂ at room temperature, complete blockage could not occur and some pores should still be detected as CO₂ uptake was observed prior to light irradiation [52]. N₂ isotherm of **MOF-74@MR** at 77 K showed an atypical shape of porous MOF (Figure 6.16b). At

lower temperature, pore blockage is often obtained. Since N_2 has a larger dynamic diameter than that of CO₂, diffusion of the N₂ gas molecules into small pores would be more difficult, especially at lower temperature, resulting in pore blockage [53]. An increase in porosity was observed on post-irradiated samples where most pores were around 14 and 17 Å (Figure 6.17b). This might be due to the formation of the more compact *ais*-**MR** guest molecules, causing them to move away from MOF adsorption sites, without affecting the pore structure of the MOF As a result, this created larger adsorption sites, which would be sufficient for some N₂ molecules to be adsorbed. Some mesopores were also detected from 50-100 Å, which may suggest the presence of interparticular voids (Figure 6.17b) [54, 55]. This could be attributed to the **MR** guest molecules being partially incorporated or coated on the surface of the MOFs, which may allow the guest molecules to interact with each other, forming larger cavities.



Figure 6. 17. Pore size distributions of Mg-MOF-74 (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74@MR.

Control studies were performed to confirm the effect of **MR** in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** during gas adsorption. As shown in the previous chapter, both non-irradiated and irradiated **MR** showed no CO₂ uptake at 303 K (Figure 6.18b). Irradiation of **Mg-MOF-74** in the absence of **MR** showed very low photoresponse compared to those observed in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** as 12 % reduction in uptake capacity was obtained in the visible light range (Figure 6.18a). Therefore, the photoresponse of **Mg-MOF-74@MR** during gas adsorption was purely due to **MR**.


Figure 6. 18. CO₂ adsorption isotherm at 303 K of non-irradiated and irradiated Mg-MOF-74 and MR.

6.4 Conclusions

For the first time, a CO_2 adsorbent that can be exclusively controlled with a visible light trigger was successfully developed. In this work, a visible light responsive methyl red (**MR**) was used as the guest molecule and **Mg-MOF-74** as the host. Unlike the previously reported studies in this thesis, UV light can be exclusively removed using visible light by filters, achieving a more environmentally friendly and efficient approach. To date, no

reversible carbon capture and release experiment has ever been conducted using exclusively visible light as the trigger.

The incorporation of **MR** into **Mg-MOF-74** introduced a pressure-gate opening behaviour upon CO_2 adsorption, a previously unknown phenomenon. The gate-opening pressure can be tuned through the use of visible light trigger, in which the total CO_2 uptake of **Mg-MOF-74@MR** can be significantly enhanced by up to 84 % upon prolonged irradiation (~1 hour). To the best of the author's knowledge, MOFs displaying visible light triggered gate-opening pressure for carbon capture has not yet been reported in the literature. Furthermore, this is the highest photoresponse obtained under static conditions, particularly with visible light irradiation, reported to date.

Control studies have been conducted to ensure that no false positive results were obtained. Very little or no photoresponse was observed in the CO₂ adsorption isotherm of the parent **Mg-MOF-74** by itself. The very low photoresponse could be due to the aromaticity nature of the framework. Photoresponse studies were conducted on the parent MOF materials in both UV-Vis and FT-IR experiments to ensure that the changes observed in **Mg-MOF-74@MR** upon photoirradiation was purely due to the presence of the **MR** in the host.

PXRD data showed slight structural expansion of the MOF framework upon MR incorporation. The photoswitching mechanism was confirmed by UV-Vis and FT-IR results, in which trans-to-cis photoisomerisation of MR occurred upon visible light irradiation. Thus the formation of the *cis*-MR resulted in a lesser contact with the host and adsorption sites became more accessible. The results also revealed the presence of hostguest interactions existed in the material. The presence of MR also increased pore blockage at lower temperature, as the larger gas molecules N2 could not interact with the adsorption sites, as shown by the absence of N₂ adsorption and porosity calculated by N₂ isotherm at 77 K prior to irradiation. The lack of porosity calculated from the N₂ isotherm did not indicate complete blockage of the pores as CO₂ adsorption was still observed prior to irradiation. N₂ adsorption and porosity was increased slightly in the irradiated sample, confirming that the formation of the cis-MR and pore opening did occur after photoirradiation. This work showed that visible light could be used to potentially trigger carbon capture and release efficiently at a lower cost. Further work, such as using a water stable MOF as a host, needs to be carried out in order to develop a more efficient visible light responsive carbon capture materials.

6.5 References

- Lyndon, R., K. Konstas, B.P. Ladewig, P.D. Southon, P.C.J. Kepert, and M.R. Hill, *Dynamic Photo-Switching in Metal–Organic Frameworks as a Route to Low-Energy Carbon Dioxide Capture and Release.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2013. 52(13): p. 3695-3698.
- Luo, F., C.B. Fan, M.B. Luo, X.L. Wu, Y. Zhu, S.Z. Pu, W.-Y. Xu, and G.-C. Guo, *Photoswitching CO2 Capture and Release in a Photochromic Diarylethene Metal–Organic Framework*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(35): p. 9298-9301.
- 3. Modrow, A., D. Zargarani, R. Herges, and N. Stock, *The first porous MOF with photoswitchable linker molecules*. Dalton Transactions, 2011. **40**(16): p. 4217-4222.
- Yanai, N., T. Uemura, M. Inoue, R. Matsuda, T. Fukushima, M. Tsujimoto, S. Isoda, and S. Kitagawa, *Guest-to-Host Transmission of Structural Changes for Stimuli-Responsive Adsorption Property*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(10): p. 4501-4504.
- Park, J., D. Yuan, K.T. Pham, J.-R. Li, A. Yakovenko, and H.-C. Zhou, *Reversible* Alteration of CO2 Adsorption upon Photochemical or Thermal Treatment in a Metal–Organic Framework. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(1): p. 99-102.
- Nijem, N., H. Wu, P. Canepa, A. Marti, K.J. Balkus, T. Thonhauser, J. Li, and Y.J. Chabal, *Tuning the Gate Opening Pressure of Metal–Organic Frameworks (MOFs) for the Selective Separation of Hydrocarbons*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(37): p. 15201-15204.
- 7. Klein, N., H.C. Hoffmann, A. Cadiau, J. Getzschmann, M.R. Lohe, S. Paasch, T. Heydenreich, K. Adil, I. Senkovska, E. Brunner, and S. Kaskel, *Structural flexibility and intrinsic dynamics in the M2(2,6-ndc)2(dabco) (M = Ni, Cu, Co, Zn) metal-organic frameworks.* Journal of Materials Chemistry, 2012. 22(20): p. 10303-10312.
- Li, J.-R., Y. Ma, M.C. McCarthy, J. Sculley, J. Yu, H.-K. Jeong, P.B. Balbuena, and H.-C. Zhou, *Carbon dioxide capture-related gas adsorption and separation in metal-organic frameworks*. Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 2011. 255(15–16): p. 1791-1823.
- Yamazaki, T., Y. Takahashi, and D. Yoshida, Adsorption of several gases on flexible metal organic framework [Cu(dhbc)2(4,4 -bpy)] H2O. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2011. 362(2): p. 463-469.
- 10. Clydesdale, G.J., G.W. Dandie, and H.K. Muller, Ultraviolet light induced injury: Immunological and inflammatory effects. Immunol Cell Biol, 2001. **79**(6): p. 547-568.

- 11. Hollósy, F., Effects of ultraviolet radiation on plant cells. Micron, 2002. 33(2): p. 179-197.
- Guillet, J.E., FUNDAMENTAL PROCESSES IN THE UV DEGRADATION AND STABILIZATION OF POLYMERS, in Chemical Transformations of Polymers, R. Rado, Editor. 1972, Butterworth-Heinemann. p. 135-144.
- 13. *Encyclopedia of entomology*, ed. J.L.e. Capinera and G. Gale. 2008, Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Dordrecht, The Netherlands : Springer.
- 14. Chapter 2 Solar radiation at the top of the atmosphere, in International Geophysics, K.N. Liou, Editor. 2002, Academic Press. p. 37-64.
- Sen, Z.i., Solar Radiation Deterministic Models, in Solar Energy Fundamentals and Modeling Techniques. 2008, Springer London. p. 47-99.
- Park, S.K., C. Lee, K.C. Min, and N.S. Lee, *Structural and conformational studies of ortho-, meta-, and para-methyl red upon proton gain and loss*. Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society, 2005. 26(8): p. 1170-1176.
- 17. Srour, R.K. and L.M. McDonald, *Determination of the acidity constants of methyl red and phenol red indicators in binary methanol And ethanol-water mixtures.* Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data, 2008. **53**(1): p. 116-127.
- Terazima, M., K. Okamoto, and N. Hirota, *Diffusion process of methyl red in organic solvents studied by the transient grating method.* The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 1993.
 97(19): p. 5188-5192.
- 19. Xia, J.L. and C.H. Wang, *The holographic investigation of diffusion of methyl red in poly(caprolactone) diol.* The Journal of Chemical Physics, 1988. **88**(8): p. 5211-5214.
- 20. Millward, A.R. and O.M. Yaghi, *Metal Organic Frameworks with Exceptionally High Capacity for Storage of Carbon Dioxide at Room Temperature*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2005. **127**(51): p. 17998-17999.
- Mason, J.A., K. Sumida, Z.R. Herm, R. Krishna, and J.R. Long, *Evaluating metal-organic frameworks for post-combustion carbon dioxide capture via temperature swing adsorption*. Energy & Environmental Science, 2011. 4(8): p. 3030-3040.
- 22. Caskey, S.R., A.G. Wong-Foy, and A.J. Matzger, *Dramatic tuning of carbon dioxide uptake via metal substitution in a coordination polymer with cylindrical pores.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. **130**(33): p. 10870-10871.
- Zhang, Z., Z.-Z. Yao, S. Xiang, and B. Chen, *Perspective of microporous metal-organic frameworks for CO2 capture and separation*. Energy & Environmental Science, 2014. 7(9): p. 2868-2899.

- Yang, D.-A., H.-Y. Cho, J. Kim, S.-T. Yang, and W.-S. Ahn, CO2 capture and conversion using Mg-MOF-74 prepared by a sonochemical method. Energy & Environmental Science, 2012. 5(4): p. 6465-6473.
- Dietzel, P.D.C., R. Blom, and H. Fjellvåg, Base-Induced Formation of Two Magnesium Metal-Organic Framework Compounds with a Bifunctional Tetratopic Ligand. European Journal of Inorganic Chemistry, 2008. 2008(23): p. 3624-3632.
- Grant Glover, T., G.W. Peterson, B.J. Schindler, D. Britt, and O. Yaghi, MOF-74 building unit has a direct impact on toxic gas adsorption. Chemical Engineering Science, 2011. 66(2): p. 163-170.
- Hou, X.-J., P. He, H. Li, and X. Wang, Understanding the Adsorption Mechanism of C2H2, CO2, and CH4 in Isostructural Metal–Organic Frameworks with Coordinatively Unsaturated Metal Sites. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2013. 117(6): p. 2824-2834.
- Wu, H., W. Zhou, and T. Yildirim, *High-Capacity Methane Storage in Metal Organic Frameworks M2(dhtp): The Important Role of Open Metal Sites.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2009. 131(13): p. 4995-5000.
- Hiroke, S., S. Shimomura, and S. Kitagawa, *Soft porous crystal*. Nature Chemistry, 2009. 1(9): p. 695-704.
- Uemura, K., R. Matsuda, and S. Kitagawa, *Flexible microporous coordination polymers*. Journal of Solid State Chemistry, 2005. **178**(8): p. 2420-2429.
- Britt, D., H. Furukawa, B. Wang, T.G. Glover, and O.M. Yaghi, *Highly efficient* separation of carbon dioxide by a metal-organic framework replete with open metal sites. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. 106(49): p. 20637-20640.
- Drisdell, W.S., R. Poloni, T.M. McDonald, J.R. Long, B. Smit, J.B. Neaton, D. Prendergast, and J.B. Kortright, *Probing Adsorption Interactions in Metal–Organic Frameworks using X-ray Spectroscopy*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2013. 135(48): p. 18183-18190.
- Grajciar, L., O. Bludský, and P. Nachtigall, Water Adsorption on Coordinatively Unsaturated Sites in CuBTC MOF. The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters, 2010. 1(23): p. 3354-3359.
- McDonald, T.M., W.R. Lee, J.A. Mason, B.M. Wiers, C.S. Hong, and J.R. Long, Capture of Carbon Dioxide from Air and Flue Gas in the Alkylamine-Appended Metal– Organic Framework mmen-Mg2(dobpdc). Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(16): p. 7056-7065.

- Lou, W., J. Yang, L. Li, and J. Li, Adsorption and separation of CO2 on Fe(II)-MOF-74: Effect of the open metal coordination site. Journal of Solid State Chemistry, 2014. 213(0): p. 224-228.
- Park, J., H. Kim, S.S. Han, and Y. Jung, *Tuning Metal–Organic Frameworks with Open-*Metal Sites and Its Origin for Enhancing CO2 Affinity by Metal Substitution. The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters, 2012. 3(7): p. 826-829.
- Lackner, K.S., C.H. Wendt, D.P. Butt, E.L. Joyce Jr, and D.H. Sharp, *Carbon dioxide disposal in carbonate minerals*. Energy, 1995. 20(11): p. 1153-1170.
- Brown, J.W., B.L. Henderson, M.D. Kiesz, A.C. Whalley, W. Morris, S. Grunder, H. Deng, H. Furukawa, J.I. Zink, J.F. Stoddart, and O.M. Yaghi, *Photophysical pore control in an azobenzene-containing metal-organic framework*. Chemical Science, 2013. 4(7): p. 2858-2864.
- 39. DeCoste, J.B., G.W. Peterson, B.J. Schindler, K.L. Killops, M.A. Browe, and J.J. Mahle, The effect of water adsorption on the structure of the carboxylate containing metal-organic frameworks Cu-BTC, Mg-MOF-74, and UiO-66. Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2013. 1(38): p. 11922-11932.
- Bao, Z., L. Yu, Q. Ren, X. Lu, and S. Deng, Adsorption of CO2 and CH4 on a magnesium-based metal organic framework. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 2011. 353(2): p. 549-556.
- 41. Hermann, D., H. Emerich, R. Lepski, D. Schaniel, and U. Ruschewitz, *Metal-Organic Frameworks as Hosts for Photochromic Guest Molecules*. Inorganic Chemistry, 2013. **52**(5): p. 2744-2749.
- 42. Benedict, J.B., D.E. Cohen, S. Lovell, A.L. Rohl, and B. Kahr, *What is Syncrystallization? States of the pH Indicator Methyl Red in Crystals of Phthalic Acid.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2006. **128**(16): p. 5548-5559.
- 43. Das, D., T. Jacobs, and L.J. Barbour, *Exceptionally large positive and negative anisotropic thermal expansion of an organic crystalline material*. Nat Mater, 2010. **9**(1): p. 36-39.
- 44. Seki, T., New strategies and implications for the photoalignment of liquid crystalline polymers. Polym J, 2014.
- Natansohn, A., P. Rochon, M. Pezolet, P. Audet, D. Brown, and S. To, Azo Polymers for Reversible Optical Storage. 4. Cooperative Motion of Rigid Groups in Semicrystalline Polymers. Macromolecules, 1994. 27(9): p. 2580-2585.

- 46. Nasalevich, M.A., M.G. Goesten, T.J. Savenije, F. Kapteijn, and J. Gascon, Enhancing optical absorption of metal-organic frameworks for improved visible light photocatalysis. Chemical Communications, 2013. **49**(90): p. 10575-10577.
- 47. Feng, P.L., J.J. Perry Iv, S. Nikodemski, B.W. Jacobs, S.T. Meek, and M.D. Allendorf, Assessing the Purity of Metal Organic Frameworks Using Photoluminescence: MOF-5, ZnO Quantum Dots, and Framework Decomposition. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2010. 132(44): p. 15487-15489.
- Giustetto, R., J.G. Vitillo, I. Corazzari, and F. Turci, Evolution and Reversibility of Host/Guest Interactions with Temperature Changes in a Methyl Red@Palygorskite Polyfunctional Hybrid Nanocomposite. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2014. 118(33): p. 19322-19337.
- Tian, Y., G. Wang, F. Li, and D.G. Evans, Synthesis and thermo-optical stability of omethyl red-intercalated Ni-Fe layered double hydroxide material. Materials Letters, 2007. 61(8-9): p. 1662-1666.
- 50. Giustetto, R., K. Seenivasan, D. Pellerej, G. Ricchiardi, and S. Bordiga, *Spectroscopic characterization and photo/thermal resistance of a hybrid palygorskite/methyl red Mayan pigment*. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials, 2012. **155**(0): p. 167-176.
- Furukawa, H., N. Ko, Y.B. Go, N. Aratani, S.B. Choi, E. Choi, A.O. Yazaydin, R.Q. Snurr, M. O'Keeffe, J. Kim, and O.M. Yaghi, *Ultrahigh porosity in metal-organic frameworks*. Science, 2010. **329**(5990): p. 424-428.
- 52. Remy, T., S.A. Peter, S. Van der Perre, P. Valvekens, D.E. De Vos, G.V. Baron, and J.F.M. Denayer, *Selective Dynamic CO2 Separations on Mg-MOF-74 at Low Pressures: A Detailed Comparison with 13X.* The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2013. **117**(18): p. 9301-9310.
- 53. Hou, L., W.-J. Shi, Y.-Y. Wang, Y. Guo, C. Jin, and Q.-Z. Shi, *A rod packing microporous metal-organic framework: unprecedented ukv topology, high sorption selectivity and affinity for CO2.* Chemical Communications, 2011. **47**(19): p. 5464-5466.
- 54. Cao, S., G. Gody, W. Zhao, S. Perrier, X. Peng, C. Ducati, D. Zhao, and A.K. Cheetham, *Hierarchical bicontinuous porosity in metal-organic frameworks templated from functional block co-oligomer micelles.* Chemical Science, 2013. 4(9): p. 3573-3577.
- 55. Park, J., L.-B. Sun, Y.-P. Chen, Z. Perry, and H.-C. Zhou, Azobenzene-Functionalized Metal–Organic Polyhedra for the Optically Responsive Capture and Release of Guest Molecules. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(23): p. 5842-5846.

Declaration for Thesis Chapter 7

Declaration by candidate

In the case of Chapter 7, the nature and extent of my contribution to the work was the following:

Nature of contribution	Extent of
	contribution
	(%)
Experiment and analysis work, writing	100

The following co-authors contributed to the work. If co-authors are students at Monash University, the extent of their contribution in percentage terms must be stated:

Name	Nature of contribution	Extent of contribution
		(%) for student co-
		authors only
[name 1]	-	-
[name 2]	-	-
[name 3]	-	-

The undersigned hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the candidate's and co-authors' contributions to this work*.



Chapter 7

TUNABLE VISIBLE LIGHT RESPONSIVE MIL-53(AL)@MR FOR CARBON CAPTURE

7.1 Introduction

Amongst different light stimuli, visible light is an attractive trigger. As discussed previously in Chapter 6, most light responsive materials are limited by their activation with UV light to convert between their photoactive forms [1-4]. Visible light can offer deeper penetration into the sample and greater sample exposure [5]. This penetration depth into the sample also depends on the optical density of the sample and the equation can be defined by the Beer-Lambert Law (Section 2.2.4) [5]. It could also eliminate the potential UV degradation of samples and create an environmentally friendly and safer approach [5]. With visible light being the most strongly irradiated and makes up 47 % of the natural sunlight, more research on using visible light triggers is needed to further advance the development of light responsive materials [6, 7] (Figure 2.3).

With the motivation of using visible light as potential trigger for a low cost carbon capture application, *o*-methyl red (**MR**) will be used as guest molecule again for this work. As discussed in Chapter 6, the azobenzene derivative molecules undergo *trans*-to-*cis* photoisomerisation upon visible light irradiation and *cis*-to-*trans* photoisomerisation in the dark (Figure 7.1) [8, 9]. Recent results, reported in Chapter 6, indicated that the incorporation of **MR** in **Mg-MOF-74** generated a pressure-gate effect, in which prolonged irradiation of the material resulted in a pressure-gate opening. The total CO₂ uptake of the irradiated **Mg-MOF@MR** was significantly increased by up to 84 %. To the author's knowledge, this was the highest photoresponse ever recorded under static photoirradiation, particularly with visible light irradiation. The promising result led to the motivation to further improve and develop another **MR** based visible light responsive adsorbent. Compared to the work reported in Chapter 6, the MOF used in this chapter is

water stable and has a flexible framework. Thus **MIL-53(Al)** would be a more desirable host for the photoswitching of **MR** guest molecules upon visible light irradiation.



Figure 7. 1. Photoisomerisation of o-methyl red.

Specifically tailored MOFs that can exhibit light responsive properties have gained much interest recently in gas adsorption applications [1, 2, 10-12]. Structural stability for MOFs upon exposure to moisture is one of the many criteria required for gas storage and separations in industrial applications [13]. Unfortunately, the primary weakness for most MOFs are their instability in moist environments as shown in theoretical and experimental findings, hindering their applications in gas separation and storage [13]. For example, MOF-5, being a promising H₂ storage medium, suffers from having lower uptake performance after prolonged exposure in humid air [14, 15]. Theoretical simulation showed that MOF-5 is only water stable when exposed up to ≤ 4 % moisture [16]. This is because the interactions between Zn metal centers and O atoms coordinated in the framework is weak and is prone to reacting with water molecules, resulting in a structural collapse [16]. This was confirmed in experimental results, where the surface area of the MOFs significantly reduced and decomposed after exposure to humid air [17]. Another example is MOF-74, particularly Mg-MOF-74. As discussed in the previous chapter, MOF-74 serves as one of the most promising candidate for CO₂ separation applications. However the strength of the metal to ligand bond is weak. This results in lower water stability, reducing the CO₂ uptake performance upon exposure to air. As such, this significantly hinders their application and it is important to design new water stable MOFs.

Recently the motivation to improve their moisture stability led to the discovery of many water stable frameworks [18-22]. MOFs of the MIL series, which contain trivalent metal clusters, are well known for their water stability and show potential industrial applications, particularly in H₂ and CO₂ adsorptions [23, 24]. MIL-53 was initially reported with chromium [25] and aluminium [26]. The work was since extended to develop a range of MIL-53 materials containing Fe³⁺, Ga³⁺, In³⁺ and Sc³⁺ [27].

MIL frameworks, particularly **MIL-53(AI)**, are highly attractive due to its breathing effect and its stability and resistance to hydrolysis in neutral and acidic solution. They can be hydrothermally synthesised from low cost materials, aluminium metal clusters and terephthalate organic ligands. The infinite chains of *trans*-corner sharing octahedral metal species cross-linked by the ligands resulted in a porous network with 1D channels along the *a*-axis (Figure 7.2) [28].



Figure 7. 2. Structure of the MIL-53(Al) framework is composed of infinite chains of corner-sharing AlO₄(OH)₂ octahedra connected by the 1,4-benzenedicarboxylate ligands, in which the metal species are bridged by the hydroxyl groups (gray circles, square pyramids, represent the hydroxyl groups bridges and the metal clusters respectively). Reprinted with persmission from [26]. Copyright 2014 John Wiley and Sons.

MIL-53(Al) displays reversible structural changes between different pore structures, openpored and closed-pored, due to the framework interaction with guest molecules, or from specific pressure or temperature effects [29]. Upon structural oscillations, the unit cell volume increases up to 40 % [30]. In order to understand the flexible nature of the MOF, extensive research has been undertaken. Studies show that the activated MOF exposes the metal hydroxide chain, making the pore channels hydrophilic and prone to hydrogen bonding. Thus upon exposure to air, the hydroxyl groups of the inorganic chain can strongly H-bond with the adsorbed water molecules and it adopts a 'closed' structure [26]. Full structural reversibility could be achieved due to the absence of interaction, obtaining the 'open' structure (Figure 7.3). Another study indicated that the interaction between certain gas molecules and the framework at lower pressure upon gas adsorption could result in the shrinkage of the framework due to the narrowing of the pores [24]. However, pore opening could be achieved above a specific threshold pressure. The 'open' and 'closed' structure of the framework are often referred in literatures to as large pore (-/p) and narrow pore (-np) forms respectively, representing the accessible pore cavity in the frameworks [31]. The large structural changes between pore structures, in response to

various external triggers, are referred to as 'breathing' [31]. Mechanistic studies have been performed, both experimentally and theoretically, to provide useful insight on how the breathing effect works at a molecular level. The mechanism for the breathing of MIL-53 involves a twisting motion of the benzene groups of benzenedicarboxylate ligands, also known as II flipping, or distortion mode from the corner sharing octahedral metal clusters [31]. This could result in a layer-by-layer shear of the crystal, creating expansion and contraction of the unit cell volume [30]. The breathing effect of the MOFs can be tuned through synthetic functionalisation of the organic linkers, which could be attributed to the varying degree of interactions between guest molecules and the framework [31]. Such versatile structural flexibilities may allow greater structural transformations due to photoresponse.



Figure 7. 3. Schematic representation of the breathing of MIL-53(Al) showing the channel system. In this case the removal of free ligand molecules upon activation affords the open structure. The hydration-dehydration of the MOF results in a structural oscillation between the closed and open structure respectively. Reprinted with permission from [26]. Copyright 2014 John Wiley and Sons.

In this report, the introduction of **MR** in a water stable **MIL-53(Al)** also showed visible light response where the overall CO_2 uptake capacity of **MIL-53(Al)@MR** can be enhanced up to 46 % upon visible light irradiation at room temperature. This was due to the *trans*-to-*cis* photoisomerisation of the partially incorporated **MR** guest molecules in the host upon photoirradiation

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 General

All reagents were used as purchased without further purification. Aluminium oxide nonahydrate and terephthalic acid were purchased from Aldrich, and dichloromethane (DCM) was from Merck.

7.2.2 Synthesis of MIL-53(Al)

The synthetic procedure for **MIL-53(AI)** was modified according to the previously reported procedures [26, 32]. Aluminium oxide nonahydrate (Al(NO₃)₃.9H₂O) (1.34 g, 3.6 mmol), and terepthalic acid (0.30 g, 1.8 mmol) were mixed in 5 mL of distilled water in a Teflon autoclave. The mixture was heated to 200 °C and the temperature was held for 72 h, followed by cooling the mixture to room temperature. The off-white powder was filtered and washed thoroughly with distilled water. Purification methods (calcination and solvent activation) were carried out for the removal of unreacted and embedded terephthalic acid. Firstly, as-synthesised **MIL-53(AI)** samples were calcined at 330 °C for 3 days. This was then followed by sonicating the sample in DMF at 70 °C for 1 h. Finally, the sample was soaked in MeOH for 2 days. The sample was then filtered, washed with MeOH and dried to give a white powder. Further activation of **MIL-53(AI)** involved heating the sample at 200 °C at a rate of 1 °C/min under vacuum overnight.

7.2.3 Synthesis of MIL-53(Al)@MR

MIL-53(Al) (15 wt %: 0.51 g, 1.4 mmol, 50 wt %: 0.62 g, 1.6 mmol) and methyl red (MR) (15 wt %: 0.19 g, 0.7 mmol, 50 wt %: 0.62 g, 2.3 mmol) were mixed in DCM and the mixture was sonicated for about 15 minutes and left overnight. The mixture was filtered and thoroughly washed with DCM to remove excess MR. The orange coloured MIL-53(Al)@MR was heated under vacuum at 150 °C overnight at a rate of 1 °C/min to ensure solvent removal.

7.2.4 Characterisation Methods

Please refer to Chapter 3 for general characterisation procedures (Section 3.2-3.3).

The MOF used in this work was of high quality and comparable to those reported in the literature. The measured BET surface area of the activated **MIL-53(Al)** is 1213 m^2/g

(literature: 1235 m^2/g) (Figure 7.14a) [26]. Other characterisation results, including the thermal analysis (Figure 7.6) [26], FT-IR (Figure 7.11) [32] and PXRD data (Figure 7.5a) [26, 32], are in good agreement to the reported data in literature [26, 32].

7.2.5 Visible Light Irradiation Experiment

A 400-500 nm filter was used to ensure irradiation of visible light with an intensity of 8,100 mW/cm². Please refer to Chapter 3 for light responsive gas adsorption experimental set-up (Section 3.3.2).

7.3 Results and Discussions

As discussed previously, *trans*-**MR** is 13 Å long and 6 Å wide (molecular volume: 235 Å³, average kinetic diameter: 10.3 Å) (Figure 7.4) [33]. Upon *cis* isomerisation, the size of the molecule could become 8 % smaller [8, 9]. Depending on the pore structure of the host, guest molecules could either densely pack themselves within the pore channels, or cause pore deformation [2, 34]. The inclusion of azobenzene molecules into **MIL-53(AI)** pores has been reported recently [34]. The *trans*-azobenzene molecules of 1.2 nm length were found to be densely packed within the 1D channels of **MIL-53(AI)** [34]. However, in a sterically hindered environment, the photoisomerisation with UV light was not observed [34]. With the use of visible light, deeper light penetration could potentially trigger most of the **MR** of **MIL-53(AI)@MR** to display a photoresponse in a flexible environment. To ensure even distribution of **MR** in the MOF, the introduction of guest molecules was carried out through a solvent diffusion technique as described in Section 7.2.3.



Figure 7. 4. Trans-methyl red showing long and short axis dimensions [33].

7.3.1 Influence of Methyl Red Guest Molecules on the Structural Conformation of MIL-53(Al)

PXRD data were collected to verify the presence of **MR** in **MIL-53(AI)@MR** and to look at the potential structural changes in the presence of **MR** and upon irradiation. The PXRD of the activated **MIL-53(AI)** showed that the open structure was obtained, which was the most suitable structural form for **MR** loading [26]. Several peak shifts can be observed when **MR** was present in the MOF. The observed red-shift and blue-shift of peaks indicated that structural deformations were not uni-directional, which could be attributed to the shrinkage and expansion of the MOF framework (Figure 7.5) [35]. This may confirm that **MR** guest molecules possibly have been partially incorporated within the pore channels of the MOF framework. Small peak shifts and peak intensity changes as a result of guest infiltration have been previously reported in literatures [34, 36]. The peak shifts were significantly more pronounced with higher guest loading, suggesting more shrinkage and expansion. There was also a general broadening of peaks in the diffraction data with the increase in **MR** loading (Figure 7.5). This might indicate the lowering in crystallinity as **MR** molecules were loaded in the MOFs, which could be evidence of a MOF-MR interaction.



Figure 7. 5. Normalised PXRD data of MIL-53(Al) and MIL-53(Al)@MR 15 wt % and 50 wt % guest loading before irradiation. An overall spectra (a) and magnified regions of the spectra (b-e) were plotted to show general peak shifts and broadening with different MR loadings.

The thermal behaviour of **MIL-53(AI)@MR** further provides physical information on the presence of **MR** in **MIL-53(AI)**, as shown in Figure 7.6. Analyses on the parent materials were also conducted for comparison. Three events can be observed in **MIL-53(AI)** TGA

curve due to the loss of water, free terephthalic acid and formation of amorphous Al_2O_3 due to the loss of terephthalate linkers between 25-100 °C, 300-400 °C and 500-600 °C respectively (Figure 7.6). Although the measurement was carried out under N_2 , all of the open pored **MIL-53(Al)** samples have been exposed to air for a certain period of time and hydration of the samples was expected to occur. The presence of free terephthalic acid was negligible as only ~2 % weight loss was observed (Figure 7.6). Only one event was observed in **MR** TGA curve with the onset temperature for degradation of **MR** is at 180 °C (Figure 7.6).

The increase in **MR** loading decreased the dehydration process at 25-100 °C with 3 % and no mass loss obtained for 15 wt % and 50 wt % **MIL-53(AI)@MR** respectively. This could be due to the increase of pore blockage by **MR** molecules at higher guest loading, preventing water absorption. In the presence of **MR**, the thermal stability of free and bound ligands appeared to have reduced as degradation steps occurred earlier beginning at 300 °C and 500 °C respectively. No clear weight loss step which could be attributed to loss of **MR** from the MOF was evident. Perhaps, the **MR** molecules may have interacted with the free terephthalic acid and bound terephthalate linkers within the framework through aromatic interactions as no additional degradation step due to the **MR** itself were observed. Therefore, the increase in organic content may reduce their thermal stabilities [37, 38]. This further confirmed the PXRD results where the observed broadening of peaks could be due to host-guest interaction respectively (Figure 7.5). Lower total percentage mass loss was obtained with the increase in guest loading. This may be due to more solid residues being left behind in the form of carbonaceous char originating from the **MR** incorporation.



Figure 7. 6. TGA curves of MIL-53(Al), MR, MIL-53(Al)@MR (15 and 50 %wt) in N_2 (heating rate: 5 °C/min).

7.3.2 Photoswitching mechanisms



Figure 7. 7. Proposed mechanism for MIL-53(Al)@MR upon irradiation and relaxation.

Various characterisation techniques were used to understand the mechanism behind their light switching properties upon visible light irradiation. Photoresponse study was conducted during PXRD experiment. As **MIL-53(Al)** is known for its breathing behaviour, photoresponse study of the MOF itself was also conducted during PXRD experiment. The result showed no response upon visible light irradiation as expected (Figure 7.8a). However, PXRD of **MIL-53(Al)@MR** showed that there was no peak

shifts detected during light irradiation, suggesting that the movement due to photoresponse was perhaps localised (Figure 7.8c-d). This result is similar to that reported in Chapter 4 where an azobenzene based MOF displayed no change in the PXRD patterns as a function of irradiation [10]. The PXRD data of pure **MR** was also obtained to determine whether there was free **MR** present in the framework (Figure 7.8b). The result showed that no peaks due to the pure **MR** were present in the **MIL-53(AI)@MR** diffraction pattern. This indicated that the **MR** molecules present in the framework might have interacted with the host. The irradiation of the pure **MR** also showed no obvious peak changes due to photoresponse. This could indicate that preferential orientation may occur in its amorphous form, as reported in the literature for azo-based material [39, 40]. Thus UV-Vis (Figure 7.9) and FT-IR (Figure 7.11) were used to detect the photoresponse of **MIL-53(AI)@MR**.



0



Figure 7. 8. PXRD patterns of non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (a), MR (b), MIL-53(Al)@MR 15 wt % (c) and 50 wt % (d) in air with visible light (400-500 nm).

Although photoswitching was not observed in PXRD data (Figure 7.8), UV-Vis (Figure 7.9) and FT-IR spectra (Figure 7.11) confirmed the photoisomerisation of **MR** of **MIL-53(AI)@MR**. In the UV-Vis spectra, **MIL-53(AI)** did not show any absorption in the visible range and was unresponsive towards visible light (Figure 7.9a). The irradiation of pure **MR** with visible light resulted in a decrease in the *trans*-**MR** absorption band at 430 nm and an increase in the *cis*-**MR** absorption band at 330 nm (Figure 7.9b). A large fraction of the *trans* isomers appeared to have converted to the *cis* isomer within 30 minutes of irradiation. The presence of absorption peaks due to **MR** were observed in

MIL-53(Al)@MR. However, their absorption peaks were red-shifted by ~60 nm for *trans* $(\lambda_{max} \approx 490 \text{ nm})$ and ~30 nm for *cis* $(\lambda_{max} \approx 360 \text{ nm})$ at a much lower intensity from that of the free **MR** (Figure 7.9b-c). The observed red-shift could be due to the increase in the electron density from the interaction of **MR** molecules with the host, lowering the photoisomerisation energy barrier [41-44]. This also further confirmed the PXRD (Figure 7.5) and TGA (Figure 7.6) results regarding the presence of host-guest interaction. The lower absorption intensities were expected due to the lower **MR** concentration in the MOF than that obtained in the pure **MR**. Perhaps, photoisomerisation of some **MR** guest molecules were hindered in a more constricted environment, as reported in previous literatures [1, 11, 45]. Similar to the UV-Vis spectra of **MR**, the *trans* and *cis* peaks continually decreased and increased respectively upon visible light irradiation.





Figure 7. 9. UV-Vis spectra of non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (a), MR (b), MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt % (c) in air with visible light (400-500 nm).

FT-IR results also suggested that photoisomerisation of **MR** in **MIL-53(AI)@MR** may have occurred (Figure 7.11, Table 7.1). The IR spectra of irradiated **MIL-53(AI)** were collected in air. The result exhibited an increase in an OH band, that may be involved in the H-bond interactions with trapped water, at 3500-3600 cm⁻¹ region, and a decrease in the aromatic stretching band at ~1600 cm⁻¹. The slight photoresponse observed could be due to the aromaticity of the ligands that made up the framework [46]. FT-IR also showed that very little terepthalic acid was present in fully activated **MIL-53(AI)** (Figure 7.10), which further confirmed the TGA (Figure 7.6) result of the activated **MIL-53(AI)**. This indicated that the photoresponse of **MR** occurred without the interference of free organic ligands.



Figure 7. 10. FT-IR spectra of as-synthesised, Methanol exchanged and activated MIL-53(Al) to indicate the removal of free terephthalic acid as shown by the elimination of a peak at ~1690 cm⁻¹.

MR showed characteristic vibration bands due to stretching of the azo group in 1560 and 1370 cm⁻¹, alkyl groups of aromatic and alipathic groups in the 2800-400cm⁻¹ range, carbonyl group at 1720 cm⁻¹, and phenyl groups at ~700-800 cm⁻¹ and 1600 cm⁻¹ regions (Figure 7.11c, Table 7.1) [47, 48]. Upon visible light irradiation, a new peak at 1520 cm⁻¹ was formed, and the peaks due to the azo group of *trans*-**MR** at 1560 cm⁻¹ and 1370 cm⁻¹, carbonyl group at 1720 cm⁻¹, C-O group at 1150 cm⁻¹ and phenyl group of *trans*-**MR** at 820 cm⁻¹ were reduced, which could be ascribed to the formation of the *ais* isomer (Figure 7.11c, Table 7.1) [47, 48].

Most of the **MR** modes and peaks due to MOF-MR interaction could not be observed in **MIL-53(AI)@MR** as the signal may be too low or masked by the **MIL-53(AI)** peaks (Figure 7.11, Table 7.1). However, the increase in the peak intensity of the azo group of *trans*-**MR** at 1510 cm⁻¹, and reduction of peak intensities of the phenyl group, azo group and carbonyl group at 820, 1370 and 1740 cm⁻¹ respectively, could be attributed to the formation of the *cis*-**MR** (Figure 7.11d, Table 7.1).





Figure 7. 11. FT-IR spectra of all the materials used in the study (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (b), MR (c), MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt % (d) in air with visible light (400-500 nm). Peak due to CO₂ in the atmosphere at ~2450 cm⁻¹ was omitted for clarity.

Peak Changes	Peak locations (cm ⁻¹)			
	MIL-53(Al)	MR	MIL-53(Al)@MR	
New Peak		1520		
	700	600-800	750	
	760	820	820	
	835	890	835	
	850	950	850	
	990	1110	885	
	1015	1145	945	
	1120	1165	1085	
	1160	1275	1110	
Decreased	1320	1275	1150	
Decreased	1575	1310	1315	
	1630	1370	1365	
	3450	1395	1415	
		1465	1440	
		1485	1600	
		1550	1700	
		1600	1740	
		1720	3450	
		3400		
	1415	835	650	
Increased	1445	1035	670	
mercased		1225	680	
			1510	

Table 7. 1. Observed peak changes in the FT-IR spectra of irradiated MIL-53(Al), MR and MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt %.



7.3.3 Enhanced CO₂ Uptake of MIL-53(Al)@MR Upon Visible Light Irradiation

Figure 7. 12. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of MIL-53(Al), and MIL-53(Al)@MR with 15 wt % and 50 wt % before irradiation at 303 K.

To evaluate the visible light response of **MIL-53(Al)@MR** during adsorption, CO₂ adsorption isotherms were collected. The result showed that **MIL-53(Al)@MR** exhibited an interesting photoresponse on gas adsorption upon photoswitching at room temperature. Fully activated **MIL-53(Al)**, with a BET surface area of 1213 m²/g, pore volume of 8.6 Å³ and a pore size of 10 Å was used in the experiment, which is comparable to the reported surface area in literatures (Figure 7.14a) [26]. As expected, the inclusion of **MR** in **MIL-53(Al)** reduced the total CO₂ uptake capacity. A 49 % and 84 % reduction from that of pure **MIL-53(Al)** were observed in 15 and 50 wt % **MIL-53(Al)@MR** respectively (Figure 7.12).

Like the previously reported results in Chapter 6, dynamic photoswitching during gas adsorption could not be observed and slightly lower uptake was obtained. This suggested that the photoresponse of **MIL-53(Al)@MR** inhibited pore access for CO_2 through close contact of the host framework with the guest molecules.





Figure 7. 13. Percentage photoresponse obtained with different MR loading concentrations in MIL-53(Al) (a). Effect of visible light irradiation on CO₂ adsorption isotherms of MIL-53(Al)@MR with 15 wt % (b) and 50 wt % (c) guest loading under dynamic and static photoswitching conditions at 303 K.

Upon visible light irradiation, an increase in photoresponse was obtained. The increase in the total gas uptake was further enhanced at higher guest loading (Figure 7.13). At 15 wt % guest loading, the CO₂ uptake capacity of MIL-53(Al)@MR was increased by 9 % to an uptake of 28 cm³/g STP from 25 cm³/g STP (Figure 7.13a, b). However, a gating effect was observed, with a peak showing a sudden increase of CO₂ uptake by 28 % at 0.3 bar, followed by a decrease in photoresponse level (Figure 7.13c). This could be due to the flexible nature of the MOF framework upon guest accommodation [49]. This was not observed at higher MR loading where the pore environment would be more constricted. The CO₂ uptake effect was more pronounced at 50 wt % guest loading where uptake was significantly increased up to 46 % from 8 cm³/g STP to 14 cm³/g STP (Figure 7.13a, c). The observed photoresponse could be due to the formation of more compact *vis* conformers upon irradiation, resulting in a lesser contact with the MOF framework and opening of the pores, allowing more CO₂ molecules to access the adsorption sites upon irradiation, as shown in the characterisation results (Section 7.3.2). Evidently, there was a tradeoff between the guest loading concentration and strength of photoresponse. The increase in the amount of MR reduced the overall CO₂ uptake whilst obtaining stronger photoresponse. Although gas adsorption sites were inhibited by the increase of **MR** guest molecules, more MR could respond to light and thus, greater photoresponse could be achieved.

Relaxation of MIL-53(Al)@MR back to the initial state could be achieved after leaving the sample under vacuum overnight in the dark, suggesting the formation of the *trans*-isomer [8, 9]. However, the gas adsorption performance of non-irradiated sample after relaxation reduced as lower uptake capacity was obtained, indicating that perhaps degradation have occurred.

The N₂ adsorption capacity of **MIL-53(AI)@MR** at 77 K was found to be significantly low compared to that of **MIL-53(AI)** (Figure 7.14). Similar to light triggered CO₂ adsorption, increase in uptake was observed when sample was light irradiated (Figure 7.14b). The presence of **MR** could be responsible for the dramatic reduction in N₂ adsorption capacity. As CO₂ uptake could be observed even when in the non-irradiated state, some degree of porosity should be detected (Figure 7.12-7.13). At lower temperature, pore blockage is often obtained. The reduction in porosity in presence of **MR** made N₂ molecules, that has a larger kinetic diameter than that of CO₂, more difficult to access the pores [50].





Figure 7. 14. N_2 adsorption isotherms of MIL-53(Al) (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt % at 77 K.

MIL-53(AI) exhibited a narrow pore size distribution centered at 10 Å with a molecular volume of 8.6 Å (Figure 7.15a). A similar trend to that reported in Chapter 6 was observed, where the incorporation of guest molecules resulted in no N_2 adsorption (Figure 14b) and thus, no porosity was obtained (Figure 7.15b). Perhaps this was due to the **MR** molecules covering the adsorption sites and prevented N_2 adsorption prior irradiation. As **MR** in its natural state exists in the extended *trans* form and thus they would occupy the most space around the adsorption sites. This phenomenon was also observed in literatures involving photoisomerisation of azobenzene or its derivatives in MOFs [2, 11]. However, when irradiated, a broad pore size distribution was observed ranging from 16 to 50 Å (Figure 7.15b). The observed mesopores suggested that partial incorporation in the pores of the MOF or coating of the MOF surface may have occurred, allowing the less constricted part of the guest molecules to interact with each other, creating larger pore sites [3, 51]. Complete blockage of the pores did not occur as CO₂ adsorption could be observed prior to irradiation of the same **MIL-53(AI)@MR** sample (Figure 7.12-7.13).



Figure 7. 15. Pore size distributions of MIL-53(Al) (a), and non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al)@MR 50 wt %, which were calculated from N₂ adsorption isotherm at 77 K.

Control photoresponsive gas adsorption experiment was conducted on the starting materials: **MIL-53(AI)** and **MR** (Figure 7.16). Both non-irradiated and irradiated **MR** showed no CO_2 uptake at 303 K (Figure 7.16b). Furthermore, irradiation of **MIL-53(AI)** in the absence of **MR** showed a very low photoresponse (~0.6 %) in the visible light range, which could be attributed to the aromatic nature of the MOF (Figure 7.16a). This indicated that the host-guest interaction in **MIL-53(AI)@MR** and the photoresponse of **MR** in the MOF upon visible light irradiation, contributed to the photoresponse obtained during gas adsorption.



Figure 7. 16. CO₂ adsorption isotherms at 303 K of non-irradiated and irradiated MIL-53(Al) (a) and MR (b) at 303 K with visible light (400-500 nm).

7.4 Conclusions

In order to improve the previously developed work on **MR** based visible light responsive adsorbent (Chapter 6), a water stable and flexible MOF, **MIL-53(Al)**, was used as the host the **MR** guest molecules. For the first time, visible light photoresponse of a water stable **MIL-53(Al)** during gas adsorption was made possible through the use of **MR** as the light responsive guest molecules. The effect of CO_2 uptake capacity and the photoresponse of **MIL-53(Al)@MR** with different guest loading concentrations have been analysed through a gas adsorption study. Although the increase in **MR** loading resulted in a lower

 CO_2 uptake capacity than that of **MIL-53(AI)** itself, greater photoresponse was obtained. The introduction of **MR** guest molecules significantly decreased the total CO_2 uptake capacity of the sample materials. However, photoresponse increased with the increase of guest loading concentrations. At 15 wt % guest loading, the CO_2 uptake capacity was increased by 9 %, followed by a further increase in uptake capacity up to 46 % at 50 wt % guest loading.

Several control studies were conducted to ensure no false positive results were obtained. The photoisomerisation of **MR** occurred without the interference from free terepthalic acid as the FT-IR and TGA results showed they were present at very low amount in the fully activated **MIL-53(Al)**. Furthermore, photoresponse was attributed to the combination of **MR** in **MIL-53(Al)**. This is because both non-irradiated and irradiated methyl red showed no CO_2 uptake at 303 K and the irradiation of **MIL-53(Al)** showed very low photoresponse (~0.6 %) in the visible light range. With **MIL-53(Al)** being known for its "breathable" structures, photoresponse PXRD data were also collected. The irradiation of the MOF did not result in any peak shifts or changes in peak intensities.

Further studies were undertaken to understand the mechanism involved upon visible light irradiation. Photoisomerisation of **MR** in **MIL-53(AI)** was confirmed through UV-Vis and FT-IR spectroscopies, where photoirradiation resulted in *trans*-to-*ais* photoconversion. The mechanism also involved a host to guest interaction as shown in the UV-Vis, PXRD and TGA results, in which absorption bands due to **MR** were red-shifted, peak broadening became more pronounced with higher guest loading and no clear weight loss step due to the decomposition of **MR** were observed respectively. PXRD result also indicated that no pure **MR** molecules were present in the MOF. Thus the photoresponse observed during gas adsorption measurements could be attributed to the formation of the *ais*-**MR** isomers, where its compact configuration may have reduced their contact with the host and host-guest interaction, allowing more CO_2 to access the adsorption sites. To this date, MOFs that display photoresponse exclusively in the visible range have not been reported in literatures. Thus this result further advanced the development of light responsive adsorbents and further supported the potential use of light responsive adsorbents in low cost carbon capture technologies.

7.5 References

- 1. Modrow, A., D. Zargarani, R. Herges, and N. Stock, *The first porous MOF with photoswitchable linker molecules*. Dalton Transactions, 2011. **40**(16): p. 4217-4222.
- Yanai, N., T. Uemura, M. Inoue, R. Matsuda, T. Fukushima, M. Tsujimoto, S. Isoda, and S. Kitagawa, *Guest-to-Host Transmission of Structural Changes for Stimuli-Responsive Adsorption Property*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. 134(10): p. 4501-4504.
- Park, J., L.-B. Sun, Y.-P. Chen, Z. Perry, and H.-C. Zhou, *Azobenzene-Functionalized Metal–Organic Polyhedra for the Optically Responsive Capture and Release of Guest Molecules*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(23): p. 5842-5846.
- Brown, J.W., B.L. Henderson, M.D. Kiesz, A.C. Whalley, W. Morris, S. Grunder, H. Deng, H. Furukawa, J.I. Zink, J.F. Stoddart, and O.M. Yaghi, *Photophysical pore control in an azobenzene-containing metal-organic framework*. Chemical Science, 2013. 4(7): p. 2858-2864.
- 5. *Encyclopedia of entomology*, ed. J.L.e. Capinera and G. Gale. 2008, Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Dordrecht, The Netherlands : Springer.
- 6. Chapter 2 Solar radiation at the top of the atmosphere, in International Geophysics, K.N. Liou, Editor. 2002, Academic Press. p. 37-64.
- Sen, Z.i., Solar Radiation Deterministic Models, in Solar Energy Fundamentals and Modeling Techniques. 2008, Springer London. p. 47-99.
- Terazima, M., K. Okamoto, and N. Hirota, *Diffusion process of methyl red in organic solvents studied by the transient grating method.* The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 1993.
 97(19): p. 5188-5192.
- 9. Xia, J.L. and C.H. Wang, *The holographic investigation of diffusion of methyl red in poly(caprolactone) diol.* The Journal of Chemical Physics, 1988. **88**(8): p. 5211-5214.
- Lyndon, R., K. Konstas, B.P. Ladewig, P.D. Southon, P.C.J. Kepert, and M.R. Hill, Dynamic Photo-Switching in Metal–Organic Frameworks as a Route to Low-Energy Carbon Dioxide Capture and Release. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2013. 52(13): p. 3695-3698.
- Park, J., D. Yuan, K.T. Pham, J.-R. Li, A. Yakovenko, and H.-C. Zhou, *Reversible Alteration of CO2 Adsorption upon Photochemical or Thermal Treatment in a Metal–Organic Framework*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2012. **134**(1): p. 99-102.
- Luo, F., C.B. Fan, M.B. Luo, X.L. Wu, Y. Zhu, S.Z. Pu, W.-Y. Xu, and G.-C. Guo, *Photoswitching CO2 Capture and Release in a Photochromic Diarylethene Metal–Organic Framework*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. 53(35): p. 9298-9301.
- Qian, X., B. Yadian, R. Wu, Y. Long, K. Zhou, B. Zhu, and Y. Huang, *Structure stability of metal-organic framework MIL-53 (Al) in aqueous solutions*. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 2013. 38(36): p. 16710-16715.
- Yang, S.J., J.Y. Choi, H.K. Chae, J.H. Cho, K.S. Nahm, and C.R. Park, Preparation and Enhanced Hydrostability and Hydrogen Storage Capacity of CNT@MOF-5 Hybrid Composite. Chemistry of Materials, 2009. 21(9): p. 1893-1897.
- Kaye, S.S., A. Dailly, O.M. Yaghi, and J.R. Long, *Impact of Preparation and Handling* on the Hydrogen Storage Properties of Zn4O(1,4-benzenedicarboxylate)3 (MOF-5). Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2007. 129(46): p. 14176-14177.
- Greathouse, J.A. and M.D. Allendorf, *The Interaction of Water with MOF-5 Simulated by Molecular Dynamics*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2006. **128**(33): p. 10678-10679.
- Huang, L., H. Wang, J. Chen, Z. Wang, J. Sun, D. Zhao, and Y. Yan, Synthesis, morphology control, and properties of porous metal-organic coordination polymers. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials, 2003. 58(2): p. 105-114.
- Colombo, V., S. Galli, H.J. Choi, G.D. Han, A. Maspero, G. Palmisano, N. Masciocchi, and J.R. Long, *High thermal and chemical stability in pyrazolate-bridged metal-organic frameworks with exposed metal sites.* Chemical Science, 2011. 2(7): p. 1311-1319.
- Cychosz, K.A. and A.J. Matzger, Water Stability of Microporous Coordination Polymers and the Adsorption of Pharmaceuticals from Water. Langmuir, 2010. 26(22): p. 17198-17202.
- Demessence, A., D.M. D'Alessandro, M.L. Foo, and J.R. Long, Strong CO2 Binding in a Water-Stable, Triazolate-Bridged Metal Organic Framework Functionalized with Ethylenediamine. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2009. 131(25): p. 8784-8786.
- 21. Borjigin, T., F. Sun, J. Zhang, K. Cai, H. Ren, and G. Zhu, *A microporous metal-organic framework with high stability for GC separation of alcohols from water.* Chemical Communications, 2012. **48**(61): p. 7613-7615.
- 22. Park, K.S., Z. Ni, A.P. Côté, J.Y. Choi, R. Huang, F.J. Uribe-Romo, H.K. Chae, M. O'Keeffe, and O.M. Yaghi, *Exceptional chemical and thermal stability of zeolitic*

imidazolate frameworks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2006. **103**(27): p. 10186-10191.

- Ferey, G., M. Latroche, C. Serre, F. Millange, T. Loiseau, and A. Percheron-Guegan, Hydrogen adsorption in the nanoporous metal-benzenedicarboxylate M(OH)(O2C-C6H4-CO2) (M = Al3+, Cr3+), MIL-53. Chemical Communications, 2003(24): p. 2976-2977.
- Bourrelly, S., P.L. Llewellyn, C. Serre, F. Millange, T. Loiseau, and G. Férey, Different Adsorption Behaviors of Methane and Carbon Dioxide in the Isotypic Nanoporous Metal Terephthalates MIL-53 and MIL-47. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2005. 127(39): p. 13519-13521.
- 25. Serre, C., F. Millange, C. Thouvenot, M. Noguès, G. Marsolier, D. Louër, and G. Férey, Very Large Breathing Effect in the First Nanoporous Chromium(III)-Based Solids: MIL-53 or CrIII(OH) {O2C C6H4 CO2} {HO2C C6H4 CO2H}x H2Oy. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2002. 124(45): p. 13519-13526.
- 26. Loiseau, T., C. Serre, C. Huguenard, G. Fink, F. Taulelle, M. Henry, T. Bataille, and G. Férey, A Rationale for the Large Breathing of the Porous Aluminum Terephthalate (MIL-53) Upon Hydration. Chemistry A European Journal, 2004. 10(6): p. 1373-1382.
- 27. Mowat, J.P.S., V.R. Seymour, J.M. Griffin, S.P. Thompson, A.M.Z. Slawin, D. Fairen-Jimenez, T. Duren, S.E. Ashbrook, and P.A. Wright, *A novel structural form of MIL-53 observed for the scandium analogue and its response to temperature variation and CO2 adsorption.* Dalton Transactions, 2012. **41**(14): p. 3937-3941.
- Meilikhov, M., K. Yusenko, and R.A. Fischer, Incorporation of metallocenes into the channel structured Metal-Organic Frameworks MIL-53(Al) and MIL-47(V). Dalton Transactions, 2010. 39(45): p. 10990-10999.
- Liu, Y., J.H. Her, A. Dailly, A.J. Ramirez-Cuesta, D.A. Neumann, and C.M. Brown, *Reversible structural transition in MIL-53 with large temperature hysteresis.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2008. 130(35): p. 11813-11818.
- Triguero, C., F.-X. Coudert, A. Boutin, A.H. Fuchs, and A.V. Neimark, *Mechanism* of Breathing Transitions in Metal–Organic Frameworks. The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters, 2011. 2(16): p. 2033-2037.
- 31. Alhamami, M., H. Doan, and C.H. Cheng, *A review on breathing behaviors of metal*organic-frameworks (MOFs) for gas adsorption. Materials, 2014. 7(4): p. 3198-3250.

- 32. Rallapalli, P., D. Patil, K.P. Prasanth, R. Somani, R.V. Jasra, and H.C. Bajaj, *An alternative activation method for the enhancement of methane storage capacity of nanoporous aluminium terephthalate*, *MIL-53(Al)*. J Porous Mater, 2010. **17**(5): p. 523-528.
- 33. Benedict, J.B., D.E. Cohen, S. Lovell, A.L. Rohl, and B. Kahr, *What is Syncrystallization? States of the pH Indicator Methyl Red in Crystals of Phthalic Acid.* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2006. **128**(16): p. 5548-5559.
- Hermann, D., H. Emerich, R. Lepski, D. Schaniel, and U. Ruschewitz, Metal-Organic Frameworks as Hosts for Photochromic Guest Molecules. Inorganic Chemistry, 2013. 52(5): p. 2744-2749.
- 35. Das, D., T. Jacobs, and L.J. Barbour, *Exceptionally large positive and negative anisotropic thermal expansion of an organic crystalline material.* Nat Mater, 2010. **9**(1): p. 36-39.
- 36. Shang, P. and L. Zhang, *Preparation and Electronic Property Investigation of Zinc(II)-Schiff* Base Complexes in the Confined Space. Journal of Chemistry, 2013. **2013**.
- Laoutid, F., L. Bonnaud, M. Alexandre, J.M. Lopez-Cuesta, and P. Dubois, New prospects in flame retardant polymer materials: From fundamentals to nanocomposites. Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports, 2009. 63(3): p. 100-125.
- Recent advances in performance plastics Flame retardants and reinforcement. Materials & Design, 1983. 4(5): p. 863-866.
- Seki, T., New strategies and implications for the photoalignment of liquid crystalline polymers. Polym J, 2014.
- Natansohn, A., P. Rochon, M. Pezolet, P. Audet, D. Brown, and S. To, Azo Polymers for Reversible Optical Storage. 4. Cooperative Motion of Rigid Groups in Semicrystalline Polymers. Macromolecules, 1994. 27(9): p. 2580-2585.
- Kienzler, M.A., A. Reiner, E. Trautman, S. Yoo, D. Trauner, and E.Y. Isacoff, A Red-Shifted, Fast-Relaxing Azobenzene Photoswitch for Visible Light Control of an Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 2013. 135(47): p. 17683-17686.
- 42. Li, J., L. He, J. Wang, Z.T. Zhang, J. Shi, X.Z. Zhang, Y.P. Cao, and Y. Chen, Light-controlled drug releasing polymer films combining LbL self-assembly and host-guest interactions. Express Polymer Letters, 2014. 8(3): p. 143-153.
- 43. Ogawa, M., T. Ishii, N. Miyamoto, and K. Kuroda, *Intercalation of a cationic azobenzene into montmorillonite*. Applied Clay Science, 2003. **22**(4): p. 179-185.

- Zhu, L., H. Yan, C.Y. Ang, K.T. Nguyen, M. Li, and Y. Zhao, *Photoswitchable supramolecular catalysis by interparticle host-guest competitive binding*. Chemistry A European Journal, 2012. 18(44): p. 13979-13983.
- 45. Wen, J., Z. Tian, and J. Ma, *Light- and electric-field-induced switching of thiolated azobenzene self-assembled monolayer*. Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 2013. **117**(39): p. 19934-19944.
- Toyao, T., M. Saito, Y. Horiuchi, K. Mochizuki, M. Iwata, H. Higashimura, and M. Matsuoka, *Efficient hydrogen production and photocatalytic reduction of nitrobenzene over a visible-light-responsive metal-organic framework photocatalyst*. Catalysis Science & Technology, 2013. 3(8): p. 2092-2097.
- 47. Tian, Y., G. Wang, F. Li, and D.G. Evans, Synthesis and thermo-optical stability of omethyl red-intercalated Ni-Fe layered double hydroxide material. Materials Letters, 2007.
 61(8-9): p. 1662-1666.
- 48. Giustetto, R., K. Seenivasan, D. Pellerej, G. Ricchiardi, and S. Bordiga, *Spectroscopic characterization and photo/thermal resistance of a hybrid palygorskite/methyl red Mayan pigment*. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials, 2012. **155**(0): p. 167-176.
- 49. Sato, H., R. Matsuda, M.H. Mir, and S. Kitagawa, *Photochemical cycloaddition on the pore* surface of a porous coordination polymer impacts the sorption behavior. Chemical Communications, 2012. **48**(64): p. 7919-7921.
- 50. Hou, L., W.-J. Shi, Y.-Y. Wang, Y. Guo, C. Jin, and Q.-Z. Shi, *A rod packing microporous metal-organic framework: unprecedented ukv topology, high sorption selectivity and affinity for CO2.* Chemical Communications, 2011. **47**(19): p. 5464-5466.
- 51. Cao, S., G. Gody, W. Zhao, S. Perrier, X. Peng, C. Ducati, D. Zhao, and A.K. Cheetham, *Hierarchical bicontinuous porosity in metal-organic frameworks templated from functional block co-oligomer micelles.* Chemical Science, 2013. 4(9): p. 3573-3577.

CONCLUSIONS & FUTURE WORK

8.1 Conclusions

This thesis displays a pioneering work in the exploration of light responsive adsorbents for carbon capture and release. In this thesis, the discoveries of novel photoresponsive adsorbents (broadband and visible light responsive) for carbon capture and release are reported for the first time. Such key breakthroughs offer a new route for recycling CO_2 emissions using renewable energy and holds great promises for the future in reducing emissions from fossil fuels.

The primary focus of this research was to develop light responsive adsorbents for carbon capture applications, particularly focusing on lowering the energy and increasing the efficiency of the sorbent regeneration from that of conventional technologies. MOFs and PAFs were chosen as adsorbents of interest as they have an appealing aspect in terms of their structural diversities and gas adsorption capacities. Furthermore, to overcome the challenge of using high temperature and pressure to liberate CO_2 from the sorbent in conventional technologies, light was a highly attractive trigger. By adding photoresponsive properties to each adsorbent of interest, the potential of exploiting a renewable energy source such as natural sunlight, could potentially significantly reduce the overall cost and energy to reduce carbon emission. Sunlight consists of a wide spectral range and thus broadband and visible light triggers were investigated. This could offer the benefit of a practical non-filtered light delivery, or a more environmentally friendly and deeper light penetration into the sample respectively.

Novel light responsive adsorbents that display unique adsorption behaviour were developed successfully in this research. In this research, light of different spectral regions (broadband or visible light) were exploited to probe the photoactivity of different adsorbents containing light responsive groups. These linker molecules were incorporated as linker molecules or guest molecules. The synthesised samples were characterised using PXRD, NMR, FT-IR, UV-Vis, TGA and gas sorption, in which the starting adsorbent materials were verified through previous reports in literature. These characterisation techniques were also utilised to gain a better understanding on the mechanisms involved during photoirradiation. Photoresponse studies were conducted during gas sorption analyses under dynamic or static conditions to compare their sorption behaviours. The following are the main conclusions of the research presented in each experimental chapters (chapter 4-7):

 Photoresponsive properties was discovered for the first time in Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} a MOF which contained fully incorporated azobenzene linker molecules in the framework, using broadband light as the trigger. Carbon capture and release was able to be performed under dynamic and static photoswitching condition, whereby absorption and desorption occurred upon switching off and switching on the light respectively. Dynamic photoswitchable gas sorption has not been reported in literature prior to the publication of this paper.

This phenomenon was unexpected as light responsive molecules were known to exhibit no photoactivity in a constricted environment, such as MOF frameworks. Only the partially or non-incorporated light responsive groups have ever been reported for their photoactivity in literature. This was because the motions associated with their photoswitching mechanisms were not hindered. It was later found that photoswitching occurred on a local dynamic scale, whereby photoisomerisation did not occur due to the steric hindered environment, but fast bending motion of these linkers were detected as shown in the PXRD and FT-IR results respectively. These fast-bending motions facilitated the reversible CO₂ capture and release process. Photoresponse of up to 42 % and 64 % was achieved under static and dynamic photoswitching respectively.

The result indicated that broadband light, which could represent the wide range of wavelengths emitted by sunlight, could be used for the first time to directly control and dynamically triggers the carbon capture and release. This represents a significant breakthrough and a foundation for developing more light responsive adsorbents for a low cost carbon capture and release process.

- 2. The discovery led to another development of a broadband light responsive adsorbent, DArE@PAF-1. The increase of diarylethene (DArE) concentrations in PAF-1 gradually reduced the total CO₂ uptake capacities, as well as the surface areas. Similar to the work reported in the previous chapter, the capture and release of CO₂ can be triggered reversibly by switching the light off and on respectively. Stronger photoresponse, of up to 26 %, was obtained at higher concentrations (50 wt %). However beyond the optimum concentration of 5 wt %, the CO₂ uptake capacity gradually reduced. Photoresponse studies suggested that the interaction between DArE and PAF-1 upon photoirradiation could trigger the dynamic carbon capture and release.
- 3. As successful development of broadband light responsive adsorbents has been achieved, more work was focused on development adsorbents that are responsive in the visible light region. This would further advance the development of photoresponsive carbon capture materials. This is because natural sunlight radiates strongly in the visible light region and visible light could offer deeper light penetration into materials whilst being environmentally friendly. Thus visible light would be more advantageous over light containing UV. To this date, no adsorbents exhibit full visible light response in carbon capture and release.

Visible light responsive adsorbent (**Mg-MOF-74@MR**) was reported for the first time. The presence of visible light responsive guest molecules, methyl red (**MR**), in the MOF decreased the CO₂ uptake capacity but a unique photoresponse was obtained. CO₂ capture was achieved through the use of visible light trigger. Pressure-gate phenomenon was observed upon **MR** loading, in which the opening of the gate was obtained through prolonged visible light irradiation, increasing the CO₂ uptake capacity by up to 84 %. To date, this is the highest photoresponse obtained through static photoirradiation, especially with visible light irradiation. Host-guest interaction between **MR** and **Mg-MOF-74**.was detected in several characterisation studies. The photoisomerisation of the partially incorporated **MR** upon visible light irradiation suggested that the formation of the more compact *cis* comformation resulted in the reduction of host-guest contact, allowing for more CO₂ to be adsorbed. The study showed that visible light could be used to trigger the pressure-gate opening, allowing for reversible carbon capture and release to occur. This could potentially provide an environmentally friendly and cost effective process in carbon capture applications.

4. To further improve the work on developing visible light responsive adsorbent, the challenge of water stability in industrial processes was addressed. A water stable adsorbent, MIL-53(Al), was successfully used as a host for methyl red (MR) for the first time. In this work, the photoresponse level was investigated at different MR loadings. At lower MR loading (15 wt %), CO₂ uptake was increased by 9 %. This was further increased by up to 46 % at higher guest loading (50 wt %). The mechanism also involved the photoisomerisation of the partial incorporation of MR, in which host-guest interaction was reduced upon *cis* formation, allowing for more CO₂ to be adsorbed. The results showed that a light responsive water stable adsorbent could be potentially used industrially for carbon capture applications.

These major findings provide a new strategy for lowering the cost and energy of a carbon capture and release process. Further research should be conducted to advance the discovery of more light responsive materials for carbon capture technologies.

8.2 Future Directions

The developments in the emerging field of stimuli responsive materials for carbon capture and release could accelerate the discovery of newly designed materials and approach for lowering the cost and energy of a carbon capture process. The novel light responsive adsorbents reported in this work represent a significant step forward in improving carbon capture applications. However, further progress in their development should be carried out in order to understand the mechanisms responsible for changing the properties of the materials, particularly the gas adsorption properties. This includes the interaction between the light stimulus and the adsorbent materials, and the molecular interactions of the gas molecules at the adsorption sites in the presence and absence of light.

In this project, broadband light and visible light responsive adsorbents were developed, whereby the photoswitching of adsorbents during gas adsorption were conducted under dynamic and static condition. Adsorbents which can respond to light with longer range of wavelength, such as visible light was developed as an improvement for the previously reported results in the earlier thesis chapters. However, the loss in CO_2 uptake capacities in consecutive cycles limited the overall performance of the adsorbent. In gas separation applications, adsorbents would need to be stable under air, where water is present as a component in a gas mixture. This was overcome by using water stable adsorbents later in the project (e.g. **PAF-1** and **MIL-53(AI)**). However, most adsorbents, particularly MOFs, still suffer from this problem. Thus further mechanistic study is important in developing light responsive adsorbents that can display a large CO_2 uptake and release capacities with long term stability over multiple regeneration cycles.

An attempt to detect structural response upon photoirradiation in PXRD was undertaken. However, there was a possibility of preferred orientation of the material and therefore other characterisation techniques, including UV-Vis and FT-IR, were used. To eliminate this problem, PXRD data could be determined by measuring diffraction in three dimensions through rotating and tiling the sample with respect to the X-ray beam. This way the orientation distribution of the sample can be calculated, providing a more accurate diffraction data.

Another design problem that was not addressed in thesis is that most of these adsorbents cannot be synthesised in high yield. Large-scale synthesis is a very important aspect in the world of industrial applications. Although this was not the main focus of this research project, it is important to realise that a method to for synthesising the adsorbents in large quantities at high efficiency is required to further afford a commercially and economically viable solution.

By gaining a full understanding of the system, the structure and properties of the adsorbents, obtained at high yield, could be specifically modulated and further improved to obtain an optimal performance in response to light during carbon capture. This could significantly lower the cost and energy of the process as adsorbents could be easily regenerated and reused.

Appendix

Publications and Press Releases Relevant to Thesis

In order of appearance:

- Published paper reported in Chapter 4 and the journal back cover (Angewandte Chemie)
- Invited peer reviewed paper (Carbon Management)
- Patent
- Selected Press Releases (URLs)

Dynamic Photo-Switching in Metal–Organic Frameworks as a Route to Low-Energy Carbon Dioxide Capture and Release**

Richelle Lyndon,* Kristina Konstas, Bradley P. Ladewig, Peter D. Southon, Prof Cameron J. Kepert, and Matthew R. Hill*

For post-combustion carbon dioxide capture technology to realize widespread viability, the energy costs must be drastically reduced. Current adsorbent technologies that rely on pressure, temperature, or vacuum swings consume as much as 40% of the production capacity of a power plant, most of which is associated with the liberation of CO₂ from the capture medium.^[1] Ultimately this penalty, or parasitic energy load, must be brought closer to the thermodynamic minimum of about 4% to avoid prohibitive cost increases.^[2] Given that the triggers for release of adsorbed carbon dioxide, such as vacuum and heating, are so energy intensive,^[1a,3] requiring energy from the power plant, there is strong motivation to develop new release triggers that do not require extra energy from the plant, using renewable energy sources such as the sun. In conjunction with this, adsorbents with maximum gas sorption efficiency can further reduce the costs compared to the conventional energy-intensive CO2 gas separation process.

Light, and in particular concentrated sunlight, is an extremely attractive stimulus for triggering CO_2 release. If used with an adsorbent material that strongly absorbs sunlight concomitant with the desorption of large amounts of CO_2 , it may be possible to drastically reduce the energy costs.

Perhaps the most attractive adsorbent candidates are metal–organic frameworks (MOFs), because of their large adsorption capacities,^[4] and the potential for incorporation of light-responsive organic groups within the pore structure.^[4c,5] MOFs are an important class of 3D crystalline porous

[*]	R. Lyndon, Dr. K. Konstas, Dr. M. R. Hill
	CSIRO Division of Materials Science and Engineering
	Private Bag 33, Clayton South MDC, VIC 3169 (Australia)

R. Lyndon, Prof. B. P. Ladewig Department of Chemical Engineering, Monash University Clayton VIC 3800 (Australia)

Dr. P. D. Southon, P. C. J. Kepert

School of Chemistry, University of Sydney NSW 2006 (Australia)

[**] Parts of this work were carried out at the powder diffraction beamline at the Australian Synchrotron, Victoria, Australia. R.L. thanks the Australian Postgraduate Award Scheme for the provision of a scholarship, Larissa Lyndon for assistance with figures, Dr. Anita J. Hill and Dr. Kenji Schumida for helpful discussions, Fabre Merrin for providing the graphical abstract, and Dr. Laurence Meagher and Dr. Helmut Thissen for providing the light filters. This research is supported by the Science and Industry Endowment Fund.

Supporting information for this article is available on the WWW under http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/anie.201206359.

Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 3695-3698

materials comprised of metal centers and organic ligands, joined periodically to establish a crystalline porous array.^[4d] The large internal surface areas can be used to adsorb unprecedented quantities of gases,^[4e,6] with particular interest in hydrogen,^[4e,7] methane,^[4e,7c,b,8] and carbon dioxide emergent.^[1a,c,4e,7b,b,9]

Methods for the incorporation of light-responsive groups within MOFs include the use of pendant groups pointing into the pores,^[10] and filling of pores with light-responsive guest molecules.^[11] The responsive groups within these materials may then alter their conformation when exposed to filtered light which results in a change in adsorption capacity, as reported thus far for static conditions.^[10,11]

The responsive groups within these MOFs can be statically set to one position or another. For use in photoswing carbon dioxide capture, MOFs that can respond dynamically, or to the broadband radiation found in sunlight whilst loaded with adsorbed gas, are ideal. This will increase the speed of operation and lower the energy costs (see Figure 1)



Figure 1. Dynamic photo-switching in the light-responsive MOF Zn- $(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ leads to instantly reversible CO₂ uptake.

Azobenzene and its derivatives are well-known photochromic molecules that can undergo clean and efficient reversible photoisomerization about the azo bond to *cis* and *trans* states upon irradiation (coordinated *trans*: $\lambda_{max} \approx 370$ nm, *cis*: $\lambda_{max} \approx 460$ nm).^[12] Conversion of azobenzene to the 4,4'-dicarboxylate (AzDC) delivers a ligand that can be incorporated into MOF architectures. Furthermore, the pillar ligand *trans*-1,2-bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene (4,4'-BPE) has also been reported to demonstrate *cis*-*trans* photoisomerizability when coordinated to a metal complex.^[13] Combination of these two ligands within zinc-based MOFs generates the triply



interpenetrated framework $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$, which exhibits an open topology amenable to high capacity and selective adsorption of hydrogen and carbon dioxide (see Figure SI-1).^[14]

The triply interpenetrated framework Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} was prepared solvothermally using previously reported methods (see Supporting Information).^[14] The framework is assembled from paddle wheel dinuclear Zn₂ units, bridging AzDC dianions and 4,4'-BPE pillar ligands. Photoresponsive studies in solid state revealed a photoactive framework. Trans- and cis-AzDC n- π^* (S1 state) and π - π^* (S2 state) transitions can be detected at 455 and 380 nm in the excitation spectra, respectively (Figure SI-5). The coordination of 4,4'-BPE to Zn results in a photoactive species under light irradiation.^[13b] The trans isomer of the 4,4'-BPE ligand exhibits overlapping excitation bands of metal-to-ligand (MLCT) and ligand-to-ligand (LLCT) charge-transfers in the 310-375 nm region (Figure SI-6 in the Supporting Information).^[13b] Excitation in this region generates trans-cis isomerization as shown in the excitation spectra where the MLCT band maximum shift to 285 nm.[13d] Both cis-AzDC and 4,4'-BPE can return to their trans state.

Herein we report the discovery of strong, low-energy photoresponse in Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)0.5 and find that the behavior is dynamic and localized, irrespective of the use of broadband or filtered light sources. Previous researches have not detected cis-trans changes where azo groups are part of the MOF wall and not as pendant groups in the pores.^[15] In the present article it is reported that bending about the azo group can be observed to occur on a local scale in a dynamic fashion, perfect for on-line adsorbent regeneration. The effect was directly observed in the UV/Vis emission profiles and time-resolved infrared spectra, and indirectly through gas adsorption experiments with careful controls in place, and pore analysis calculations. We found agreement with the literature in that the effects could not be observed over larger length scales; synchrotron X-ray diffraction did not reveal a structural change.^[16] This unusual property was exploited to trigger the uptake and release of carbon dioxide in real time, during adsorption experiments. Exposure to UV light resulted in an instantaneous release of up to 64% of the adsorbed CO2 using broadband radiation, similar to concentrated solar sources. Furthermore, the response was found to be fully reversible. The dynamic, yet localized structural movements have been directly characterized spectroscopically, and isolated with several careful control experiments.

As shown in Figure 2, $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ exhibits unprecedented dynamic switching under CO₂ adsorption, with a 42% desorption capacity under static irradiation conditions (red and black curves), and as much as 64% during dynamic measurements (blue curve). Light irradiation increased the MOF surface energy, in which intermolecular interactions between CO₂ molecules and the surface weakened, and thus triggered instantaneous CO₂ release. Dynamic irradiation isotherms follow values obtained under continuous irradiation conditions, however the reversal in uptake was not entirely complete under the dynamic measurement conditions employed. Such dynamicity could not be triggered by free AzDC and 4,4'-BPE molecules because of the small



Figure 2. CO_2 adsorption isotherms of $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ at 303 K in the presence of light (red), absence of light (black), and unfiltered light switching environment (blue). Temperature fluctuations were not observed during the light switching experiment (green). The light intensity was fixed at 24.6 W cm⁻² in the wavelength range of 200–500 nm (STP=standard temperature and pressure).

pores of the MOF (3.4×3.4 Å).^[14] A series of careful control experiments were undertaken to ensure that this phenomenon was not an experimental or material artefact, but due solely to the dynamic photoresponse observed. Careful localized temperature monitoring showed that the temperature varied by less than 0.2°C, indicating that minor localized heating did occur, however it was not a significant factor in the uptake variation (Figure 2). Furthermore, experiments with control materials including SAPO-34 zeolite, and also a framework without known photoactive groups, Cu-BTC (Basolite C300), showed almost no CO₂ uptake variations upon UV irradiation (0.2 and 2% vs. 64% for Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}), see Figure SI-10. An isobar has been measured, where temperature was changed with constant pressure, and these show that the temperature needs to rise by 25 K for the same uptake variation to be observed (Figure SI-11). A degree of the release may be due to general sample heating, although this is likely to be small given the negligible change in control samples.

To directly observe the structural oscillations, timeresolved FTIR spectroscopy under UV irradiation was performed, (Figure 3a,b). Significant changes in peak intensity for the region of 540-700 cm⁻¹ were observed under irradiation, whereas the remaining spectrum was unchanged. The peak intensity increase at 550 cm⁻¹ can be attributed to C-C-C and C-C-N bending modes with AzDC,^[17] indicating low-energy structural variations about the azo group, which occurred due to the suppression of cis-trans isomerization.[18] These bending modes are likely to be responsible for the spontaneous release of adsorbed CO2 upon irradiation, in which the pore surface was activated and the surface energy was increased (Figure 3b). Similar experiments on the free ligand AzDC confirmed this effect (Figure 3a). An increase in intensity at 537 cm⁻¹ indicated the activation of bending modes about the C-C-N bonds within the ligand. Furthermore, very minor peak increases in the free ligand at





Figure 3. C–C–C and C–C–N low-energy FTIR bending modes in AzDC were found to be excited by UV light in both a) the ligand and b) the framework. c) Continual irradiation led to oscillations between native and excited states witnessed with UV/Vis absorption. d) It was confirmed that the transitions were local and dynamic, as synchrotron XRD experiments did not reveal any periodic changes.

1516 cm⁻¹ were observed, assigned to higher energy cis-N=N stretching modes forming as the native trans material was excited.^[19] These modes were not seen to change within the framework, highlighting the restricted AzDC in this structure, which could not undertake these transitions. This also explains why no changes were seen in the X-ray diffractogram (Figure 3d). This result was also replicated with similar UV/ Vis experiments, where only a small fraction of *cis* isomers were detected (Figure 3c). The framework was continuously exposed to either 365 or 460 nm light and the intensity of the absorption peak is monitored. Absorption related to trans-AzDC and cis-AzDC moieties was found to be complementary and also periodically changing, regardless of whether the excitation wavelength promoted formation of either cis or trans structures. Under continuous irradiation from either 370 nm (promote cis-AzDC) or 460 nm light (promote trans-AzDC), small fractions of the structure were found to periodically oscillate between both isomeric conformations in a complementary fashion given the additive nature of cis and trans peaks across the two separate experiments. Similar additive effects were less clear from 4,4'-BPE excitation profiles where there was considerable overlap, although this ligand also clearly underwent transitions whilst coordinated within the framework (Figure SI-7). Most likely, this continual reversion to native states even under irradiation that promotes an isomeric transformation stems from the structural stresses induced within the interpenetrated framework, due to the components also being critical to the topology, and not pendant to it. Furthermore, rapid changes predominantly through bending motions must occur throughout the framework to maintain the original triply interpenetrated framework and accomodate the constraints.^[20] The changes could not be observed on a periodic scale however, with synchrotron X-ray diffraction experiments revealing no changes (Figure 3d).



Figure 4. Performance of photo-switching according to light wavelength, normalized for flux. Filtered light of 365 nm is optimal for *cistrans* photoisomerization of both AzDC and 4,4'-BPE ligands. Inset: original data without normalization.

Figure 4 (inset) shows that the absolute CO₂ uptake is increased and the amount released upon light exposure lessened when a filtered light source, which has a lower flux, is used. Filtering the light to 365 nm promotes photoisomerization in both the AzDC (Figure 3b) and 4,4'-BPE ligands (Figure SI-6). Accounting for variations in raw uptake amounts, and changing flux gives Figure 4. Here it is shown that the efficiency of CO₂ release is greatly enhanced by the use of 365 nm filtered light. In both cases the adsorption amounts in the absence of light irradiation are similar, yet CO₂ desorption is found to be more efficient with use of filtered 365 nm radiation. This effect is most pronounced at high partial pressures, yet it is notable that at partial pressures similar to those encountered in post-combustion capture gas streams (ca. 0.15 bar) that unfiltered light gives a very comparable response. The results imply that in cases where the light intensity is not a limiting factor, that filtration to 365 nm is preferable, but in other instances, unfiltered, concentrated sunlight will also perform almost as well, especially in post-combustion capture streams. Illuminations up to 20 W cm⁻² (200 solar equivalents) can be achieved using concentrated sunlight.^[21] These remarkable results stem from the fact that the photoinduced structural changes in Zn-(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} are dynamic as witnessed both directly with UV/Vis and FTIR experiments, and indirectly driving photoresponsive gas adsorption.

The foregoing results demonstrate that the interpenetrated framework $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ can undergo dynamic light-induced structural flexibility, which results in large variations in CO₂ uptakes. For the first time an experimental protocol was established to exploit this remarkable property for low-energy CO₂ capture and release. The variation in CO₂ capture performance was found to be exceptionally strong, as much as 64% under dynamic measurements and 42% under static conditions. Characterization of the framework showed that the light-induced structural flexibility is due to both the AzDC and 4,4'-BPE

Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 3695-3698



ligands, occurring reversibly and on a local scale, even under irradiation that would promote formation on just one conformer. Detailed characterization showed that the transitions occurred only on a short range scale, and in a dynamic fashion, accounting for a lack of detection on longer length scales, in line with previous studies.

This approach represents a potential route to renewable energy CO_2 capture and release, and was found to remain effective under broadband irradiation. This means that unfiltered sunlight may be used instead of the energyintensive temperature and pressure swings to release trapped gases.

Further developments in this area include other mechanistic investigations, in further increasing the already strong response, developing similar responses in the visible region, and taking advantage of the performance within industrially relevant mixed gas streams.

Received: August 8, 2012 Revised: January 19, 2013 Published online: February 10, 2013

Keywords: absorption · carbon dioxide capture · metalorganic frameworks · photochromism

- a) D. M. D'Alessandro, B. Smit, J. R. Long, Angew. Chem. 2010, 122, 6194-6219; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 6058-6082;
 b) J. Bao, P. M. Weber, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 4164-4167;
 c) K. Sumida, D. L. Rogow, J. A. Mason, T. M. McDonald, E. D. Bloch, Z. R. Herm, T.-H. Bae, J. R. Long, Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 724-781.
- [2] a) P. H. M. Feron, Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control 2010, 4, 152– 160; b) A. S. Bhown, B. C. Freeman, Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45, 8624–8632.
- [3] a) G. T. Rochelle, *Science* 2009, 325, 1652–1654; b) J. A. Mason,
 K. Sumida, Z. R. Herm, R. Krishna, J. R. Long, *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2011, 4, 3030–3040; c) J. M. Simmons, H. Wu, W. Zhou, T. Yildirim, *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2011, 4, 2177–2185.
- [4] a) O. M. Yaghi, Q. Li, MRS Bull. 2009, 34, 682-690; b) D. Zacher, R. Schmid, C. Wöll, R. A. Fischer, Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 184-208; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 176-199; c) F. A. Almeida Paz, J. Klinowski, S. M. F. Vilela, J. P. C. Tome, J. A. S. Cavaleiro, J. Rocha, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 1088-1110; d) S. Horike, S. Kitagawa in Metal-Organic Frameworks, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2011, pp. 1-21; e) H.-C. Zhou, J. R. Long, O. M. Yaghi, Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 673-674.
- [5] M. D. Allendorf, C. A. Bauer, R. K. Bhakta, R. J. T. Houk, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2009, 38, 1330–1352.
- [6] a) J.-R. Li, R. J. Kuppler, H.-C. Zhou, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2009, 38, 1477–1504; b) S. Ma, H.-C. Zhou, *Chem. Commun.* 2010, 46, 44–53.
- [7] a) L. J. Murray, M. Dinca, J. R. Long, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2009, *38*, 1294–1314; b) F. Debatin, A. Thomas, A. Kelling, N. Hedin, Z. Bacsik, I. Senkovska, S. Kaskel, M. Junginger, H. Müller, U. Schilde, C. Jäger, A. Friedrich, H.-J. Holdt, *Angew. Chem.* 2010, *122*, 1280–1284; *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, *49*, 1258–1262; c) B. Kesanli, Y. Cui, M. R. Smith, E. W. Bittner, B. C. Bockrath, W. Lin, *Angew. Chem.* 2005, *117*, 74–77; *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2005, *44*, 72–75; d) X. Lin, J. Jia, X. Zhao, K. M. Thomas, A. J. Blake, G. S. Walker, N. R. Champness, P. Hubberstey, M.

Schröder, Angew. Chem. 2006, 118, 7518-7524; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7358-7364; e) R. B. Getman, Y.-S. Bae, C. E. Wilmer, R. Q. Snurr, Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 703-723; f) M. P. Suh, H. J. Park, T. K. Prasad, D.-W. Lim, Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 782-835; g) K. Sumida, M. R. Hill, S. Horike, A. Dailly, J. R. Long, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 15120-15121; h) X. Lin, N. Champness, M. Schröder, in Functional Metal-Organic Frameworks: Gas Storage, Separation and Catalysis, Vol. 293 (Ed.: M. Schröder), Springer, Berlin, 2010, pp. 35-76.

- [8] a) Z. Guo, H. Wu, G. Srinivas, Y. Zhou, S. Xiang, Z. Chen, Y. Yang, W. Zhou, M. O'Keeffe, B. Chen, Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 3236-3239; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 3178-3181; b) H. Wu, W. Zhou, T. Yildirim, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 4995-5000; c) A. W. Thornton, K. M. Nairn, J. M. Hill, A. J. Hill, M. R. Hill, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 10662-10669; d) S. Ma, D. Sun, J. M. Simmons, C. D. Collier, D. Yuan, H.-C. Zhou, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 1012-1016.
- [9] a) P. K. Thallapally, J. Tian, M. Radha Kishan, C. A. Fernandez, S. J. Dalgarno, P. B. McGrail, J. E. Warren, J. L. Atwood, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 16842–16843; b) J. Liu, P. K. Thallapally, B. P. McGrail, D. R. Brown, J. Liu, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 2308–2322; c) G. D. Pirngruber, P. L. Llewellyn in Metal– Organic Frameworks, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2011, pp. 99–119.
- [10] J. Park, D. Yuan, K. T. Pham, J.-R. Li, A. Yakovenko, H.-C. Zhou, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 99-102.
- [11] N. Yanai, T. Uemura, M. Inoue, R. Matsuda, T. Fukushima, M. Tsujimoto, S. Isoda, S. Kitagawa, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 4501-4504.
- [12] a) J. Griffiths, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1972**, *1*, 481–493; b) M. Han, T. Honda, D. Ishikawa, E. Ito, M. Hara, Y. Norikane, J. Mater. Chem. **2011**, *21*, 4696–4702.
- [13] a) M. K. Itokazu, A. S. Polo, N. Y. M. Iha, Int. J. Photoenergy 2001, 3, 143-146; b) D. M. Dattelbaum, M. K. Itokazu, N. Y. Murakami Iha, T. J. Meyer, J. Phys. Chem. A 2003, 107, 4092-4095; c) J. M. Knaust, S. W. Keller, Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 5650-5652; d) S.-S. Sun, J. A. Anspach, A. J. Lees, Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 1862-1869; e) A. O. T. Patrocinio, M. K. Brennaman, T. J. Meyer, N. Y. Murakami Iha, J. Phys. Chem. A 2010, 114, 12129-12137.
- [14] B. Chen, S. Ma, E. J. Hurtado, E. B. Lobkovsky, H.-C. Zhou, *Inorg. Chem.* 2007, 46, 8490–8492.
- [15] a) A. Schaate, S. Dühnen, G. Platz, S. Lilienthal, A. M. Schneider, P. Behrens, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* 2012, 790–796;
 b) A. Modrow, D. Zargarani, R. Herges, N. Stock, *Dalton Trans.* 2011, 40, 4217–4222.
- [16] a) S. Bureekaew, S. Shimomura, S. Kitagawa, *Sci. Technol. Adv. Mater.* 2008, *9*, 014108; b) S. Horike, R. Matsuda, D. Tanaka, S. Matsubara, M. Mizuno, K. Endo, S. Kitagawa, *Angew. Chem.* 2006, *118*, 7384–7388; *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2006, *45*, 7226– 7230.
- [17] M. I. Klima, A. V. Kotov, L. A. Gribov, Zh. Strukt. Khim. 1972, 13, 1060–1064.
- [18] C. A. Bauer, T. V. Timofeeva, T. B. Settersten, B. D. Patterson, V. H. Liu, B. A. Simmons, M. D. Allendorf, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2007, 129, 7136-7144.
- [19] G. Socrates, Infrared and Raman Characteristic Group Frequencies: Tables and Charts, Wiley, Chichester, 2001.
- [20] E. Y. Lee, S. Y. Jang, M. P. Suh, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6374-6381.
- [21] a) A. Manor, E. A. Katz, T. Tromholt, F. C. Krebs, Adv. Energy Mater. 2011, 1, 836–843; b) T. Tromholt, M. Manceau, M. Helgesen, J. E. Carlé, F. C. Krebs, Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 2011, 95, 1308–1314.

3698 www.angewandte.org



Supporting Information © Wiley-VCH 2013

69451 Weinheim, Germany

Dynamic Photo-Switching in Metal–Organic Frameworks as a Route to Low-Energy Carbon Dioxide Capture and Release**

Richelle Lyndon,* Kristina Konstas, Bradley P. Ladewig, Peter D. Southon, Prof Cameron J. Kepert, and Matthew R. Hill*

anie_201206359_sm_miscellaneous_information.pdf

Table of Contents

Section 1	Experimental Procedures S1
Section 2	Gas Adsorption Measurements S2
Section 3	Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) S3
Section 4	X-Ray Powder Diffraction (PXRD) S4
Section 5	Photo-Response Characterisation S5
Section 6	Light-Responsive Control Experiments S6
Section 7	Light-Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Setup S7

Section 1: Experimental Procedures S1

S1.1 General

All reagents were used as purchased without further purification. 4-Nitrobenzoic acid and *trans*-1,2-bis(4-pyridyl)ethylene were purchased from Aldrich, zinc nitrate hexahydrate was from Chem Supply, dimethylformamide (DMF) and sodium hydroxide were from Merck, and Glucose was from Ajax Chemical.

S1.2 Synthesis of AzDC(1)

Ligand 1 was prepared according to procedure previously reported work by Liu *et al..*^[1] 4-Nitrobenzoic acid (15.0304 g, 0.09 mol) was dissolved into an aqueous sodium hydroxide solution (51.0039 g, 1.28 mol, in 225 ml water) by heating the solution. A hot aqueous glucose solution (101.0159 g, 0.56 mol, in 150 ml water) was slowly added into the above solution at 50 °C, in which the initially formed yellow precipitate immediately turned into a brown solution upon further addition of glucose. The mixture was allowed to react overnight at room temperature to form a dark solution. Methanol was added to the aged solution until a bright brown precipitate formed. The filtered precipitate was dissolved in water, followed by acidification with acetic acid (20 mL), whereupon a light pink precipitate was obtained. The product was filtered, washed with excess water and dried overnight to yield the final product (4.92 g, 17 mmol, 38.5 %). ¹H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz): δ (ppm) 8.04-8.06 (d, 4H), δ 8.18-8.20 (d, 4H), δ 13.0 (brs, 1H). ¹³C NMR (DMSO, 500 MHz): 122.86, 130.72, 133.50, 154.17, 166.67.

S1.23 Synthesis of $Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}(2)$

Framework 2 was solvothermally synthesized according to the procedure described by Zhou *et al.*.^[2] A mixture of Zn(NO₃)₂.6H₂O, **1** and **4,4'-BPE** was suspended in DMF (100 mL) and heated at 100 °C for 24 h. The resulting red block-shaped crystals formed were filtered and washed with DMF and hexane, and dried in air. BET surface area: 126.4575 m²/g (literature: 100 m²/g).^[2]

Section 2: Gas Adsorption Measurement S2

S2.1 General Gas Adsorption Procedures

Gas adsorption isotherms of activated **2** were recorded at low pressure (0 - 1.2 bar) by a volumetric method using a Micromeritics ASAP 2040 instrument. Approximately 100 mg of dried methanol exchanged sample was weighed in a pre-dried and weighed Quartz BET tube. The sample was evacuated and activated at 150 °C under dynamic vacuum at 10^{-6} Torr for at least 24 h to remove any solvent molecules. An acccurate weight of the degassed sample was measured prior to analysis. Gas adsorption measurements were performed using ultra-high purity H₂, CO₂ and CH₄ gas.

S2.2 Gas Adsorption Isotherms



Figure SI-1: Gas adsorption isotherms of Zn(**AzDC**)(**4,4'-BPE**)_{0.5} at 77 K (hydrogen, black) and 298 K (carbon dioxide, blue; and methane, red). Solid and open shapes correspond to adsorption and desorption respectively.



Figure SI-2: CO₂ adsorption isotherm in the presence (blue) and absence (black) of light at 273 K was fitted with the Dubinin-Radushkevich (D-R) equation (red) to detect the change in pore size.

CO₂ adsorption in the presence of light did not follow the D-R model. This is due to gas adsorption at the surface being disturbed by the presence of UV light.^[3]

Section 3: Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) S3

S3.1 General Thermogravimetric Analysis Procedures

TGA data was obtained on a TGA Pyris 1 instrument with a heating rate of 5 °C/min under N_2 gas flow (20 ml/min). A platinum pan was used to contain approximately 4 mg of the sample, which had been solvent exchanged with dry methanol and degassed at 150 °C.



Figure SI-3: TGA profile of Zn(**AzDC**)(**4,4-BPE**)_{0.5} after solvent exchange with dry methanol showing that the MOF is thermally stable up to 400 °C which is in accordance with the literature value.^[2]

Section 4: X-Ray Diffraction S4

S4.1 X-Ray Crystal Structure

Crystal unit cell structure of 2 was constructed using Diamond v3.1.





The framework is 3D triply interpenentrated in a primitive cubic structure. This results in pore windows in the range of 3.4-3.6 Å.

Section 5: Photo-Response Characterisation S5

S5.1 General Photo-Response Characterization Procedure

All samples were used in solid state. Free ligand refers to unbound ligand in a solid state. Solid-state UV-VIS spectra were obtained using FlexStation® 3 Benchtop Multi-Mode Microplate Reader in fluorescence bottom reading mode at room temperature. The emission wavelengths were kept constant to detect the absorption (or excitation) peaks of samples. Acticure 4000 was used to irradiate the sample with unfiltered light in FTIR experiment.



Figure SI-5: Excitation spectra of AzDC ligand in 2 (-) and free AzDC ligand (···) with an emission wavelength of 370 nm (red) and 460 nm (blue).

The excitation band at 380 nm and 455 nm is due to the *trans* and *cis* AzDC in 2 respectively. The peak around 330 nm and 430 nm is characteristic of the *trans* and *cis* free AzDC ligand respectively.^[4] The purpose of these experiments was to determine the likely absorption maxima for obtaining the strongest localised bending possible within the framework.



Figure SI-6: Excitation spectra of **4,4'-BPE** of Zn(**AzDC**)(**4,4'-BPE**)_{0.5} with an emission wavelength of 250 (blue) nm and 370 nm (red).

The excitation wavelengths at the 300 nm region and 285 nm correspond to the *trans* and *cis* peaks respectively. Free BPE was found to have no photoactivity in the solid state.





10 minutes with 370 nm (red) and 250 nm (blue) light at room temperature.



Figure SI-8: Full FTIR spectrum of Zn(**AzDC**)(**4**,**4**'-**BPE**)_{0.5} showing that major band intensity changes are only seen in the highlighted range in the main manuscript.



Figure SI-9: Full FTIR spectrum of free AzDC ligand showing that there was very minor increase and decrease in the *cis* and *trans* peak during light irradiation respectively (insets).

Section 6: Light-Responsive Control Experiments S6

S6.1 General Light-Responsive Control Procedure

Cu-BTC and SAPO-34 zeolite were chosen as non-photoactive porous materials for a control study. Approximately 100 mg of degassed sample was used in a Quartz BET tube. Cu-BTC was activated at 150 °C for 24 h and SAPO-34 zeolite was activated at 90 °C for 1 h, then at 350 °C for 5 h. The experiment was conducted by switching the unfiltered light on and off throughout the analysis. An adsorption isotherm and isobar were measured on an IGA-002 gravimetric instrument (Hiden-Isochema). A CO₂ adsorption isotherm up to 1 bar was measured at 298 K, and was consistent with the isotherms measured previously for this material without irradiation. To measure an adsorption isobar, the sample was loaded into the sample holder as a fine slurry in methanol, dried under vacuum, then evacuated at 150 °C for 8 hours. The pressure was set to 1 bar CO₂ and the temperature was ramped at 0.1 K/min from 288 to 328 K, then back to 288 K.



Figure SI-10: Control experiments using non-photoactive materials to verify the effect of light on Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5}. CO₂ adsorption isotherms of Cu-BTC (blue)

Cu-BTC and SAPO-34 zeolite show up to approximately 0.2 % and 2 % responsiveness respectively. In comparison to the 64 % response in $Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{0.5}$, the response is very low.



Figure SI-11: An adsorption isobar of Zn(**AzDC**)(**4,4'-BPE**)_{0.5} showing the dependence of the CO₂ uptake on sample temperature at 1 bar CO₂. The temperature was ramped at 0.1 K/min from 288 to 328 K, then back to 288 K.

Section 7: Light-Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Setup S7

S7.1 General Light-Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Setup

A pre-weighed and dried custom made aluminium foil coated quartz BET tube was used for the light experiment. A custom made BET light cell was used to contain the BET tube and light guide to allow maximum light exposure and coverage on the sample when the light was switched on. A Cole Palmer Model BT 15 heated circulating water bath was used to maintain the temperature at 303 K or 273 K throughout the experiment. Bath temperature was found to vary by less than 0.1 °C.

Digitech QM-1600 type-K thermocouple probe (sensitivity: ~41 μ V/°C, temperature range: -200 °C to +1250 °C) was wedged inside the light cell between the quartz BET tube and light guide to monitor the temperature. Acticure® 4000 was used as a UV-VIS light source to trigger the sample's light response during analysis. The light (high pressure 100 W mercury vapor short arc) was fixed at the highest intensity output with no filter (200 - 500 nm) (24,600 mW/cm²) and 365 nm filter (5,600 mW/cm²). Photoswitching occurs at approximately 10-minute interval to allow clear detection of CO₂ capture and release. Photo-response effect can be observed within 2 minutes.

S7.2 BET Light Cell



Figure SI-12: Cross section of a BET light cell showing a light guide socket and a smooth-surfaced cavity to allow maximum light coverage on the sample. The BET light cell is made of stainless steel.



S7.3 Light-Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Setup

Figure SI-13: Schematic representation of the experimental setup.

S7.4 Spectral Output



Figure SI-14: Spectral output of light using no filter.



Figure SI-15: Spectral output of light using the 365 nm filter.

17

References

- [1] [2] D. Liu, Y. Xie, H. Shao, X. Jiang, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 4406-4408.
 B. Chen, S. Ma, E. J. Hurtado, E. B. Lobkovsky, H.-C. Zhou, Inorg. Chem. 2007, 46, 8490-8492.
- R. K. Motkuri, P. K. Thallapally, S. K. Nune, C. A. Fernandez, B. P. McGrail, J. L. Atwood, Chem. Commun. 2011, 47, 7077-7079. [3]
- [4] G. Abellán, H. García, C. J. Gómez-García, A. Ribera, J. Photochem. Photobiol A: 2011, 217, 157-163.



This article was downloaded by: [121.219.226.135] On: 27 October 2014, At: 19:39 Publisher: Taylor & Francis Informa Ltd Registered in England and Wales Registered Number: 1072954 Registered office: Mortimer House, 37-41 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3JH, UK



Carbon Management

Publication details, including instructions for authors and subscription information: http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/tcmt20

The carbon sponge: squeezing out captured carbon dioxide

Bradley P Ladewig^a, Richelle Lyndon^{ab} & Matthew R Hill^c

^a Department of Chemical Engineering, Monash University, Clayton, VIC 3800, Australia

^b CSIRO Division of Materials Science & Engineering, Private Bag 33, Clayton South MDC, VIC 3169, Australia

^c CSIRO Division of Materials Science & Engineering, Private Bag 33, Clayton South MDC, VIC 3169, Australia.

Published online: 10 Apr 2014.

To cite this article: Bradley P Ladewig, Richelle Lyndon & Matthew R Hill (2014) The carbon sponge: squeezing out captured carbon dioxide, Carbon Management, 5:1, 9-11

To link to this article: http://dx.doi.org/10.4155/cmt.13.74

PLEASE SCROLL DOWN FOR ARTICLE

Taylor & Francis makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of all the information (the "Content") contained in the publications on our platform. However, Taylor & Francis, our agents, and our licensors make no representations or warranties whatsoever as to the accuracy, completeness, or suitability for any purpose of the Content. Any opinions and views expressed in this publication are the opinions and views of the authors, and are not the views of or endorsed by Taylor & Francis. The accuracy of the Content should not be relied upon and should be independently verified with primary sources of information. Taylor and Francis shall not be liable for any losses, actions, claims, proceedings, demands, costs, expenses, damages, and other liabilities whatsoever or howsoever caused arising directly or indirectly in connection with, in relation to or arising out of the use of the Content.

This article may be used for research, teaching, and private study purposes. Any substantial or systematic reproduction, redistribution, reselling, loan, sub-licensing, systematic supply, or distribution in any form to anyone is expressly forbidden. Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at http://www.tandfonline.com/page/terms-and-conditions
For reprint orders, please contact

The carbon sponge: squeezing out captured carbon dioxide

Carbon Management (2014) 5(1), 9-11

...it is clear that genuine breakthroughs in carbon-capture technologies ... will be required to enable power generation from fossil fuels in a carbon constrained future.

Bradley P Ladewig^{‡1}, Richelle Lyndon^{1,2} & Matthew R Hill^{*+2}

Keywords: adsorption = carbon dioxide = light = metal organic framework = triggered release = UV

Carbon-capture technologies for the removal of carbon dioxide from industrial process streams have been intensively researched, both in academia and industry, for several decades. Governments worldwide have devoted enormous sums of research funding to advancing carbon capture technologies, especially to demonstrate them on pre-commercial and, eventually, the commercial scale. The impetus to make these investments are twofold.

First, governments can claim that they are directing resources to efforts that will reduce the carbon emission intensity of existing industries, especially power generation from fossil fuels such as coal. Superficially this is true, as without doubt the successful adoption of carbon capture-technologies in base load power generation from fossil fuels would reduce atmospheric carbon dioxide emissions. However, the fact that the power generation and allied industries are major employers is not lost on political minds, and so directing funding to potentially extending the extent or lifetime of those existing industries has pragmatic benefits too.

The second major reason to support the development of viable carbon capture technologies suitable for power generation is to protect the other major industries that rely on reliable, low-cost base load electricity generation, such as manufacturing and electro-refining. This is particularly the case in Victoria, Australia, which contains vast brown coal (lignite) reserves that could easily provide another 500 years of low-cost power generation at current consumption rates. If a technological option was available, which allowed for the continued use of brown coal (a very low-cost fuel) to generate electricity with minimal carbon dioxide emissions, then fossil-fuel rich regions such as Victoria could enjoy an enormous competitive advantage in terms of electricity supply costs.

The current state-of-the-art in carbon-capture technologies reveals that no one technology has reached the technological maturity and, more importantly, the required cost per ton of carbon dioxide removed, to be commercially adopted [1,2]. Perhaps the most mature technology that can be used at significant scale is the use of liquid absorbents such as amine solutions, which can scrub carbon dioxide from a mixed gas stream and be regenerated using steam or heat, releasing the carbon dioxide in concentrated form in a separate stream, ready

"Department of Chemical Engineering, Monash University, Clayton, VIC 3800, Australia ³CSIRO Division of Materials Science & Engineering, Private Bag 33, Clayton South MDC, VIC 3169, Australia ^{*}Author for correspondence; Tel.: +61 3 9545 2841; Fax: +61 3 9545 2837; E-mail: matthew.hill@csiro.au ⁴These authors contributed equally



10.4155/CMT.13.74 © 2014 Future Science Ltd

EDITORIAL

Editorial Ladewig, Lyndon & Hill

for compression, transport and usually some form of sequestration. This approach has been successfully used in the natural gas industry for removing carbon dioxide from largely methane streams, a process called 'sweetening'. However, for power generation units, the size of the capture plant using amine absorbents would be enormous, and the power to operate it could easily consume a significant fraction of the power output of the power station.

44 The current state-of-the-art in carbon-capture technologies reveals that no one technology has reached the technological maturity and, more importantly, the required cost per ton of carbon dioxide removed, to be commercially adopted.

Various membrane technologies have been proposed and validated at small to medium scales. This includes the use of polymeric membranes to remove carbon dioxide from combustion gas streams that have been cooled and cleaned to remove particulates and certain chemical species that are known to damage the membranes. This approach is also capital intensive, as the feed stream is usually available at pressure barely above ambient, which means that various configurations of vacuum pumps and membrane stages are required to obtain sufficient driving force for gas transport across the membrane. Very large membrane areas are inevitably required and, while membranes have the unique advantage that large areas can be packed into relatively compact modules with high area-to-volume ratios, the cost of the membranes becomes prohibitively high. Ceramics, metal oxides and other inorganic membranes in different configurations have also been proposed as carboncapture technologies, however these usually require the reconfiguration of power-generation technology to use enriched oxygen as the feed gas (which has the benefit of producing a combustion product largely free of nitrogen). Alternatively, the fuel may be gasified to produce a syngas-type mixture, which is then passed through membranes to produce hydrogen and other gas streams suitable for combustion, sequestration or otherwise. While very high performance inorganic membranes have been demonstrated at small scales, the production of defect-free large scale inorganic membranes has proved extremely difficult and is a major limitation to this technology.

Gas adsorption onto solid adsorbents is another longestablished technology that is being pursued as a carbon-capture possibility, but again there are significant challenges related to the size and cost of the equipment that would be required to treat the enormous flow rates resulting from power stations. The inherent parasitic energy loads of many prospective carbon-capture technologies limits the maximum attainable efficiencies. While liquid amines and some membranes are likely to find first-generation adoption, widespread application will be best suited to those technology solutions with drastically lowered parasitic energy loads. Consequently, methods that readily utilize alternative energy sources as part of the process are attractive. With this in mind, we have developed materials that can utilize solar radiation to release captured carbon dioxide.

Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) are a paradigmshifting family of materials. Consisting of metal atoms or clusters joined periodically by organic linking species, MOFs are hybrid materials with an ultraporous array of uniform pores in which unprecedented surface areas are housed. These surfaces can be tuned to provide exceptional capacity and selectivity for carbon dioxide adsorption. We have previously shown that MOFs have exceptional gas storage and separation characteristics [3–8], and their use in advanced membrane topologies [9–13].

Control Termed the 'solar sponge', the structure was able to release approximately 64% of the adsorbed carbon dioxide within just a few seconds.

Our team utilized a zinc-based MOF constructed from azobenzene and bipyridyl ethane organic linkers, substances known to change shape, or strongly absorb UV light [14]. After adsorption of carbon dioxide, we found that localized bending modes induced within these responsive organic components could instantly induce the release of this adsorbed gas when the samples were exposed to concentrated light while loaded with carbon dioxide. Furthermore, we found that while this was most effective at 365 nm, the absorption maximum for the MOF, the effect was still significant when simple, broadband UV radiation was employed. This gives the best of both worlds in a future application. Termed the 'solar sponge', the structure was able to release approximately 64% of the adsorbed carbon dioxide within just a few seconds.

Our discovery of the use of photo-swing adsorption is a general result that could be applied to all candidate adsorbents 'squeezing' out adsorbed carbon dioxide with application of broad spectrum light.

There are many challenges to using this type of capture process at any significant scale and the authors are currently working through those with colleagues around the world, but regardless of whether this particular breakthrough leads to a commercial reality, it is clear that genuine breakthroughs in carbon-capture technologies, and not just incremental improvements on the existing technologies, will be required to enable power generation from fossil fuels in a carbon constrained future.

Financial & competing interests disclosure

The authors acknowledge financial support from the Science and Industry Endowment Fund. The authors are co-applicants on a PCT Patent application entitled 'Gas Separation Process', based on the

References

- Boot-Handford ME, Abanades JC, Anthony EJ et al. Carbon capture and storage update. Energy Environ. Sci. 7, 130–189 (2014).
- 2 Duke MC, Ladewig B, Smart S, Rudolph V, Da Costa JCD. Assessment of postcombustion carbon capture technologies for power generation. *Front. Chem. Eng. Chin.* 4(2), 184–195 (2010).
- 3 Hon Lau C, Babarao R, Hill MR. A route to drastic increase of CO₂ uptake in Zr metal organic framework UiO-66. *Chem. Comm.* 49(35), 3634–3636 (2013).
- 4 Avellaneda A, Valente P, Burgun A et al. Kinetically controlled porosity in a robust organic cage material. Ang. Chem. Int. Ed. 52(13), 3746–3749 (2013).
- 5 Majumder M, Sheath P, Mardel JI et al. Aqueous molecular sieving and strong gas adsorption in highly porous MOFs with a facile synthesis. *Chem. Mat.* 24(24), 4647–4652 (2012).
- 6 Konstas K, Taylor JW, Thornton AW *et al.* Lithiated porous aromatic frameworks with

process described in this Editorial. The authors have no other relevant affiliations or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest in or financial conflict with the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript apart from those disclosed.

No writing assistance was utilized in the production of this manuscript.

exceptional gas storage capacity. Ang. Chem. Int. Ed. 51(27), 6639–6642 (2012).

- 7 Eckold P, Gee WJ, Hill MR, Batten SR. Synthesis, characterisation and adsorption properties of a porous copper(ii) 3D coordination polymer exhibiting strong binding enthalpy and adsorption capacity for carbon dioxide. *Dalton Transactions* 41(43), 13364–13369 (2012).
- 8 Arif Nadeem M, Thornton AW, Hill MR, Stride JA. A flexible copper based microporous metal-organic framework displaying selective adsorption of hydrogen over nitrogen. *Dalton Transactions* 40(13), 3398–3401 (2011).
- 9 Dumee L, He L, Hill M et al. Seeded growth of ZIF-8 on the surface of carbon nanotubes towards self-supporting gas separation membranes. J. Mat. Chem. A 1(32), 9208–9214 (2013).
- 10 Dimitrakakis C, Easton CD, Muir BW, Ladewig BP, Hill MR. Spatial control of zeolitic imidazolate framework growth on

flexible substrates. Cryst. Growth Des. 13(10), 4411-4417 (2013).

- 11 Thornton AW, Dubbeldam D, Liu MS, Ladewig BP, Hill AJ, Hill MR. Feasibility of zeolitic imidazolate framework membranes for clean energy applications. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 5(6), 7637–7646 (2012).
- 12 Dimitrakakis C, Marmiroli B, Amenitsch H et al. Top-down patterning of Zeolitic Imidazolate Framework composite thin films by deep x-ray lithography. Chem. Commun. 48(60), 7483–7485 (2012).
- 13 Dumee L, Velleman L, Sears K et al. Control of porosity and pore size of metal reinforced carbon nanotube membranes. *Membranes* 1(1), 25–36 (2010).
- 14 Lyndon R, Konstas K, Ladewig BP, Southon PD, Kepert PCJ, Hill MR. Dynamic photoswitching in metal-organic frameworks as a route to low-energy carbon dioxide capture and release. *Ang. Chem. Int. Ed.* 52(13), 3695–3698 (2013).

(12) INTERNATIONAL APPLICATION PUBLISHED UNDER THE PATENT COOPERATION TREATY (PCT)

(43) International Publication Date (19) World Intellectual Property International Bureau Organization

(10) International Publication Number WO 2014/015383 A1

Matthew; 28 Waverley Parade, Pascoe Vale South, Vic-toria 3044 (AU). Agent: GRIFFITH HACK; GPO Box 1285, Melbourne, Victoria 3001 (AU). (2 **i** WIPO | PCT PCT/AU2013/000831 26 July 2013 (26.07.2013) B01J 20/30 (2006.01) 30 January 2014 (30.01.2014) (51) International Patent Classification: B01D 53/02 (2006.01) B01J 20 (21) International Application Number: International Filing Date: B01J 20/28 (2006.01) 12

11) Designated States funders otherwaise indicated, for every land of rational protections available; J. AL, A.M., A.M. B.Z., C.H. CL, CN, CO, CR, CU, CZ, DE, DK, DM, DO, DZ, EC, EE, EG, ES, FI, GB, GD, GF, GH, GT, HR, HU, DL, LL, NI, JP, KE, KG, NI, NF, KR, KZ, LA, LC, LK, LR, LS, LT, LU, LY, MA, MD, ME, MG, MK, MN, MX, MY, MZ, NA, NO, NZ, OM, AY, FF, PO, HP, PL, TY, CA, NO, NZ, OM, AY, FF, PO, HP, PL, TY, CA, NO, NZ, OM, AY, FF, PO, HP, PL, TY, CA, NO, NZ, OM, AY, FF, PO, HP, PL, TY, CA, NO, NZ, OM, AY, FF, PO, HP, PL, TY, CA, ND, NZ, OM, AY, FF, PO, HP, LY, TY, CH, TU, MY, TR, TT, TZ, UA, UG, US, UZ, VC, VN, ZA, ZM, ZW.

English English ٩U

26 July 2012 (26.07.2012)

(26) Publication Language:

(30) Priority Data: 2012903210

Filing Language:

ନ୍ତ

(71) Appleants: COMMONWEALTH SCIENTIFIC AND INDUSTRIAL RESEARCH ORGANISATION [AU/AU]; Limestone Avenue, Campbell, Australian Capit-al Ternitory 2612 (AU). MONASH UNIVERSITY

Defended Staten (unless otherwise indicated, for every land of Yest, RA, Li, MW, MZ, NA, RND (18Y, GH, GM, KE, LS, MW, MZ, NA, RW, SD, SL, SZ, TZ, UG, ZM, ZW), Eunstain (AM, AZ, BY, KG, KZ, RU, TI, TM), European (AL, AT, BF, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, ER, ES, FL, PR, OB, OR, HR, HU, EL, SI, TI, LI, LU, LV,

Ē

ORGANISATION

[Continued on next page]

(54) THE: GAS SEPARATION PROCESSES

Investors: LADEWIG, Bradley: 5/32 Westbury Street St Kilda East, Victoria 3183 (AU), LYNDON, Richelle: 7 Baycrest Drive, Point Cook, Victoria 3030 (AU), HILL,

Ê

[AU/AU]; Wellington Road, Clayton, Victoria 3800 (AU).



[Continued on next page]

Figure 1

 with international search report (Art. 21(3)) MC, MK, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, RS, SF, SI, SK, Published SM, TR), OAPI (BF, BJ, CF, CG, CT, CM, GA, GN, GQ, — with i GW, KM, ML, MR, NE, SN, TD, TG). (57) Abstract: A process for the separation of a gas from a gas stream using metal organic framework that is reversibly switchable between a first conformation that allows the first gas species to be captured in the metal organic framework, and a second conformation that allows the release of the captured first gas species, using light as the switchable. The metal organic framework, and a second convolt may comprise a metal and not or on one gas species, in which the lighted so cantain an isomerisable group within the molecular chain that forms a link between adjacent metal longs the metal organic framework.

Fied

The present application relates to gas separation processes, such as processes for the separation or removal of carbon dioxide from other gases in a gas stream. The present application therefore has particular application in the area of post-combustion carbon dioxide capture technology.

Background

- 10 In order for post-combustion carbon dioxide capture technology to realize widespread viability, the energy cost of this technology must be drastically reduced. Current adsorbent technologies that rely on pressure, temperature or vacuum swing adsorption consume as much as 40 % of the power plant's production capacity, most of which is associated with the liberation of the CO₂ from the capture medium. Ultimately this penalty.
- 15 or parasitic energy load, must be brought doser to the thermodynamic minimum of about 4 % to avoid prohibitive cost increases. Given that the triggers for release of adsorbed carbon dioxide are so energy intensive and are based on energy from the power plant, there is strong motivation to develop new, low energy release triggers, utilising renewable energy sources. In conjunction with this, adsorbents with maximum performance can further reduce the cost compared to the conventional energy intensive CO₂ gas separation process.
 - A range of different types of materials have been considered for use in separation materials for the separation of selected gases, and notably CO₂ from a gas stream. Materials include porous organic polymers and metal-Organic Frameworks (MOFs), amongst others. MOFs are an important class of 3D crystalline porous materials comprised
- 25 of metal centres and organic ligands, joined periodically to establish a crystalline porous array. The large internal surface areas can be used to adsorb large quantities of gases, such as hydrogen, methane and carbon dioxide.

Methods for the incorportation of light responsive groups within MOFs include use of pendant groups pointing into the pores, and failing of pores with light responsive guest

- 30 molecules. The responsive groups within these materials may then change their conformation when exposed to fittered light which results in a change in adsorption capacity (in static conditions). Whilst these initial results are exciting, there are inherent limitations in the approaches reported to date. Firstly there is a requirement for specific wavelengths of light to trigger the conformational change. Second, the mode of regeneration in materials
 - 35 studied to date has involved mechanisms that take considerable time to achieve removal of the adsorbed species. Some mechanisms require the application of considerable energy in the form of heat.

An adsorbent that can respond to a broad light spectrum similar to solar radiation, and/or possess relatively fast photo-switching that directly releases CO₂ would offer enhanced, lower energy routes to light-triggered CO₂ release.

2

5 Summary

- According to the present invention, there is provided a process for the separation of a first gas species from a gas stream using a gas separation material comprising a metal organic framework that is reversibly switchable between a first confirmation that allows the first gas species to be captured in the metal organic framework, and a second conformation that allows the release of the captured first gas species on the use of light as the switching
 - stimulus, the process comprising: - contacting a gas stream containing the first gas species with the gas separation
 - material comprising the metal organic framework in the first conformation to capture the first gas species.
- releasing the separated first gas species from the gas separation material by switching the conformation of the metal organic framework to the second conformation, and

15

 switching the metal organic framework to the first conformation to regenerate the gas separation material.

20

The process typically comprises a further step of reusing the regenerated gas separation material for the separation of the first gas species from the gas stream. The term "light" is used broadly to refer to light from the visible and/or ultraviolet

spectrum. The term encompasses either filtered light of a selected wavelength, or unfiltered 25 light, or light having a broad wavelength range (broadband wavelength). According to one preferred embodiment, the light is light of broadband wavelength. According to another embodiment, the light is sunlight, such as concentrated sunlight.

Light, and in particular concentrated sunlight, is an extremely attractive stimulus for triggering CO₂ release. For the first time, it has been found that metal organic frameworks of

- 30 a suitable type that (i) are capable of capturing or adsorbing gases such as CO₂, (ii) strongly absorb sunlight which provides a stimulus for reversibly and rapidly changing their conformation, and (iii) adsorb gas or release the adsorbed gas through this conformational change. This process can achieve the required gas uptake and release with low energy
- cost, as is required for commercially viable gas separation processes. The process allows for reduced reliance on coal as an energy source. The "use" of light as the switching stimulus encompasses the application and removal of light. According to preferred embodiments, light is the only switching stimulus.

Thus, the metal organic framework is one that is reversibly switchable between a first

70 2014/015383 PCT/AU20	13/000831	WO 2014/015383	PCT/AU2013/000831
er.		4	
		<i>.</i>	
conformation that allows the first gas to be captured in the metal organic framework	and a		
second conformation that releases the captured first gas species on the use of light .	as the	Brief Description of the Figures	
only switching stimulus. It has been found by the present applicants that light is the	onły	Figure 1 is a schematic illustration showing dynamic photoswit	ching in the light
switching stimulus for the MOFs of preferred embodiments, so that no additional ene	ergy	responsive MOF of one embodiment, $Zn(AzDC)(4,4$ -BPE) _{0.5} , which lea	ds to rapidly
input such as heat application is required.	L)	reversible CO ₂ uptake.	
According to some embodiments, the second conformation is achieved on		Figure 2 is a graph of the CO ₂ adsorption isotherms of Zn(AZD	C)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5} at
application of light (e.g. through irradiation of the MOF with light). In this embodimer	nt, the	303 K in the presence of light (squares), absence of light (triangles) and	d unfiltered light
switching of the metal organic framework to the first conformation to regenerate the	gas	switching environment (circles). Temperature fluctuations were not obs	erved during the light
separation material is triggered by removal of light. Thus, in such embodiments, the	e process	switching experiment. The light intensity was fixed at 24.6 W cm 2 in the	e wavelength range
comprises the step of:	10	(200-500 nm).	
 releasing the separated first gas species from the gas separation materia 	al by	Figure 3 is a series of graphs demonstrating C-C-C and C-C-N	I low energy FTIR
applying light to switch the metal organic framework to the second confo	ormation	bending modes in AZDC which were found to be excited by UV in both	the ligand (see graph
and release the captured first gas species.		(a)) and the in the MOF Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE) ₀₅ (see graph (b)). Graph	3(c), which is a graph
		of the intensity of oscillation of trans (solid line) and cis (dashed line) M	OF upon prolonged
According to some embodiments, the conformation that is achieved on appl	lication 15	exposure to 380 nm and 455 nm light, demonstrates that continual irrad	liation of the MOF led
of light is a conformation that is under tension, and removal of the light results in		to oscillations between native and excited states witnessed with UV-Vis	s absorption . Free
spontaneous reversal to the structure of the other conformation. This is an importan	Ŧ	4,4'-BPE in the solid state was found to be non-photoactive. Graph 3(d	() is shows the results
characteristic of preferred embodiments, as this allows for the rapid reversible chang	ge in	of the synchrotron PXRD experiments, which confirm that the transition	s were local and
conformation to be achieved on removal of the light stimulus. As an example, the se	econd	dynamic, since no periodic changes are revealed.	
conformation may be one that is under tension, and removal of the light results in	20	Figure 4 is a graph of the photoswitching performance according	ng to light
spontaneous reversal to the first conformation. The first conformation is not under te	ension.	wavelength, adjusted for variation in flux. 365 nm fittered light is optimit	sed for cis-trans
"Rapid" in this context refers to a time period of not more than 30 seconds.		photoisomerisation of both AzDC and BPE ligands, which are ligands of	f the MOF of one
Details of suitable metal organic frameworks that have the properties requin	red for	embodiment.	
use in the present claimed process are set out in the detailed description below. In g	general	Figure 5 is a graph of the gas adsorption isotherms of Zn(AzD0	C)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5} at
terms, according to some embodiments, the metal organic framework is an interpent	etrated 25	77 K (hydrogen, squares) and 298 K (carbon dioxide, triangles; and me	thane, circles).
metal organic framework. The metal organic framework may be one that is triply			
interpenetrated, atthough other degrees of interpenetration are possible.		Figure 6 shows the PXKU of unitradiated (dashed line; top line	i) and light irradiated
According to another aspect, there is provided the use of a metal organic		(solid line – lower line) (AZDC)(4,4'-BPE) ₀₅ . No filter was used when the	e light source was
framework that is reversibly switchable between a first conformation and a second		switched on.	
conformation on the use of light as the switching stimulus, as a gas separation mater	rial for	Figure 7 shows the crystal structure of Zn(ADC)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5} .	
the separation of a first gas species from a second gas species in a gas stream throu	ugh 30	Figure 8 shows the excitation spectra of AzDC ligand in Zn(AD	C)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5} (solid
adsorption of the first gas species from the gas stream when in the first conformation	n, and	line) and free AzDC ligand (dashed line) with an emission wavelength o	ıf 370 nm (left side
release of the first gas species through switching to the second conformation. The s	switching	spectra) and 460 nm (right side spectra).	
to the second conformation may be through the application of light.		Figure 9 shows the excitation spectra of 4,4'-BPE of Zn(AzDC)	(4,4'-BPE) _{e.s} with an
According to a further aspect, there is provided a gas separation device con	mprising	emission wavelength of 250 nm (left side) and 370 nm (right side).	
the gas separation material described herein. The gas separation device may be in	any ³⁵	Figure 10 is a graph of gas adsorption isotherms for control ex	periments using non-
suitable form, such as in the form of a gas separation membrane, or a gas separation	E	photoactive materials to verify the effect of light on Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE),	s. The CO ₂
cartridge.			

20

25

30

WO 2014/015383

ŝ

10

15

cartridge.

35

adsorption isotherm at 303 K of Basolite C300 is reflected by the line connecting the circle points, and of Silica Atumina is reflected by the line connecting the square points. Figure 11 is a schematic illustration of the process for separating a first gas species

Figure 11 is a scientiatic intervention of the process for separating a life up of the process for a gas species from a gas stream using a gas separation material comprising a MOF according to one 5 embodiment.

Figure 12 is a schematic illustration of a gas separation device in the form of a cartridge being used the process of one embodiment.

Figure 13 is a graph of the spectral output of light using the 365 nm filter.

10 Detailed Description

The present application is based on the development of a metal organic framework that was selected based on its potential to have properties making it suitable for use in gas separation materials. A number of surprising features were found to be embodied in the studied metal organic framework, which now guide the selection and development of additional metal organic frameworks having the properties required for use in gas separation

1.5 additional metal organic frameworks having the properties required for use in gas separation materials which rely on light as the (or the only) switching mechanism. The term "gas separation material" is used in a general sense to refer to a material

that enables the required separation of gases. The gas separation material may be in the form of a gas separation membrane, or in the form of a gas separation adsorbant of any physical construction, such as a particulate adsorbant material or otherwise. The gas

separation material may form part of a gas separation device, such as a gas separator, gas separation cartridge, or any other device, equipment or apparatus used in the treatment of a gas stream. The gas separation material may consist of the metal organic framework, or the metal organic framework may constitute one component of the gas separation membrane, or gas separation adsorbart.

Metal organic frameworks are a well known class of chemical compounds. Metal organic frameworks comprise metal atoms (or metal centres) and organic ligands that bridge between the metal atoms to establish a crystalline porous array.

One of the ligands that was selected for use in developing the studied metal organic framework is based on azobenzene. Azobenzene and its derivatives are photochromic molecules that can undergo clean and efficient reversible photoisomerisation about the azo bond to cis- and *trans*- state upon visible and UV light irradiation respectively (coordinated *trans*-: Amax ~370 nm, cis-: Amax ~460 nm). Conversion of azobenzene to the 4,4⁻ dicarboxylate (AzDC) delivers a ligand that can be incorporated into MOF architectures.

35 A second ligand selected for the studied metal organic framework was the Igand frans-bis(4-pyridy)eithylene (4,4'-BPE), which has cis-frans photo-isomerisability when coordinated to a metal complex (coordinated trans 4,4'-BPE: Amax ~280-310 nm, coordinated cis 4,4'-BPE: Amax ~280 nm). This second ligand is of a class referred to as a

"pillar ligand", which is capable of co-ordinating to two metal atoms, to create pillars between two planar meta-ligand arrays.

ø

The combination of these two ligands within a zinc-based MOF generates the triply interpenetrated framework Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}, which exhibits an open topology

5 amenable to high capacity and selective adsorption of hydrogen and carbon dloxide. This is shown schematically in Figure 1.

The strong photo-response in Zn(AzDC)(4.4:BPE)_{0.5} that has been identified for the first time herein, is dynamic and localized in nature, irrespective of the use of broadband or filtered light sources. This unusual property has been able to be exploited to trigger the

10 uptake and release of carbon dioxide in real-time, during adsorption experiments, which demonstrate that gas separation materials comprising such MOFs can be utilised in very cost-effective processes for gas separation. Exposure to UV light resulted in an instantaneous release of up to 69 % of the adsorbed CO₂ using broadband radiation, similar to concentrated solar sources. Furthermore, the response was found to be fully reversible.

15 The dynamic, yet localized structural movements have been directly characterized with a suite of light and X-Ray based experiments, and isolated to being a factor solely of the UV radiation with several careful control experiments.

Based on the results achieved with Zrt/AzDC)(4.4:BPE)_{0.5}, the applicants have identified a range of variations that can be made on the MOF structure while still achieving the desired performance outcomes that will enable other MOFs to be used in the process of

the present application. Zr(AZDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5} is an interpenetrated metal organic framework. Specifically,

Zn(A2DC)(4.4:BPE)_{0.5} is a triply interpenetrated metal organic framework, or in other words, has 3-fold interpenetration. This is a concept that is well understood in the an of the invention. Interpenetration refers to the intersection of independent nets or networks of the

 Invertion. Interpendication reters to the intersection of independent nets of networks or the basic molecule (Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)₆, in this case) each being of the same structure. In the case of 3-fold interpenetration, 3 independent nets or networks intersect each other.
 According to preferred embodiments, other MOFs that can be used in the present

According to preterior emocomments, order mor's that can be used in the present application are interpenetrated metal organic frameworks. These may have 2-fold, 3-fold, 30 4-fold or greater degrees of interpenetration. According to one embodiment, the MOF has

3-fold interpenetration.

Other categories of MOFs of the prior at with cavities that may enable the capture and release of gas species rely on a bulky pendant group being tethered to the ligand via an isomerisable functional group (such as an azo group). In such pendant-group containing

35 MOFs, the tethered group projects into a cavity created by the MOF, and out of the cavity when subjected to a stimulus (such as heat stimulus to cause the bufky group to project into the cavity, and light to fold the bulky group out of the cavity). Examples of bufky pendant

PCT/AU2013/000831	W0 20	14/015383 PCT/AU2013/000831
7		ω
JFs suited for use in the present application are		The ligand undergoing a conformational (i.e. structural) change, such as
ps.	isom	erisation, suitably involves a structural change or isomenisation within the length of the
of the prior art with cavities that may enable the capture	mole	cule.
-host MOFs. These MOFs rely on a 3D host framework		In some embodiments, the MOF comprises a photochromic ligand. Photochromic
onformation on application of a stimukus, containing	5 mate	stials are materials that change colour on exposure to light. Photochromic materials
lest molecule which is isomerisable on the application	COMI	monty provide a colour change effect by undergoing a structural or electronic change on
is one conformation that allows a gas species to fit	exte	isure to light. Correspondingly, a photochromic ligand is a photochromic material that is
le, or another conformation that fills or obstructs the	in th	e form of a ligand. Ligand is a term well understood in chemistry and in this context
es from being retained within the pore. The MOFs	nefer	s to a molecule that co-ordinates to a metal atom by way of donating electrons to free
preferably free of an isomerisable guest molecule.	10 orbi t	als of the metal atom. The ligands of particular interest are bidentate or polydentate.
est in the present application comprise a metal species,	Ther	e may be one or more photochromic ligands in the MOF. Examples of photochromic
species may be denoted M.	ligan	ids include azobenzenes, triaryimethanes, stitbenes, azastitbenes, nitrones, fulgides,
elected from the group consisting of: Sc, Ti, V, Cr, Mn,	spiro	pyrans, napthopyrans, spiro-oxazines and quinines.
i, Zr, Tì and lanthanides (La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Pm, Sm, Eu,		In some embodiments, the MOF comprises one or more ligands containing one or
and combinations thereof. According to some	15 more	a of the following isomerisable groups:
elected from the group consisting of Zn, Y, Mg, Ca, Sr,		- azo (-N=N-),
inations thereof. In some embodiments the MOF		- ethene (-C=C-),
will be understood that these metals are positively		- aza (-N=C-),
iclude a counterion or counterions for charge balancing.		 nitrone (-C=N[*](O)-).
ses at least one ligand containing an isomerisable	20	 polyene group capable of a ring closing/opening reaction, a specific example of
forms a link between adjacent metal atoms in the		which is a diaryl ethenes, a class which includes fulgides,
nds containing a pendant groups attached via an		 two heterocyclic groups joined by a spiro-carbon atom, capable of ring opening
group). Examples of such ligands are azo benzene 4,4'		and closing, of which spiropyrans and spirooxazines are examples, and
ly ethene (BPE). The concept of the requirement that		- a chiral carbon atom (which may be chiral in the free ligand, or only when co-
n the molecular chain that forms a link between	25	ordinated to one or more metal atoms, of which triaryfmethane is an example).
explained by reference to these examples. In these		
N-) or eithene (-CH=CH-) group, respectively, form a		The above isomerisable groups are suitably within the molecular chain of the
adjacent metal atoms are attached through co-	ligan	d. This language excludes isomerisable groups that are pendant to the main chain of
toms.	the li	gand. To establish whether a group is within the molecular chain of the ligand, one can
nformational change between a first conformation and a	30 trace	through the atoms from one end (co-ordinating to the metal atom) to the other, and
tional change is a structural change in the molecule.	provi	ded the isomerisable group (or part of the isomerisable group) must be passed through
in the relative locations of atoms in the MOF. One	in at	least one route between the ends, then the isomerisable group forms part of the
ler to a trans-isomer, or vice versa. Other examples of	mole	cular chain.
ng closing rearrangements of atoms and other		In some embodiments, the MOF comprises two ligands, each containing an
ems, such as conversions between chair and boat ring	35 isom	erisable group within the molecular chain. The form of isomerisation may be a cis-trans
nt of the MOF that changes conformation is the ligand	isom	erisation or any other isomerisation that results in a structural change (a conformation
	chan	ge) in the MOF, as described previously.

0831

groups include phenyl rings. The MC preferably free of bulky pendant grou

WO 2014/015383

and release of gas species are guest A further category of MOFs

of a stimutus. The guest molecule has which is rigid and does not change co within the pore with the guest molecul cavity so as to prevent the gas specie within the cavities an isomerisable gu ŝ

suited for the present application are The MOFs of particular inter and one or more ligands. The metal 10

The metal species may be su Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, Y, Mg, Ca, Sr, Ba

embodiments, the metal species is so Ba, Zr, Ti and lanthanides and combi comprises a single metal species. It Gd, Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb and Lu), charged, and that the molecule will ir 15

The MOF preferably compris group within the molecular chain that MOF. This accordingly excludes liga isomerisable group (such as an azo ç dicarboxylate (AzDC) and 4.4 - bipyric 20

- The MOF is capable of a con adjacent metal atoms in the MOF" is examples, the isomerisable azo (-N=I part of the main chain through which ordination of the ligand to the metal a there be "an isomerisable group withi 25 90 B
- second conformation. The conformat example is a change from a cis- isom Structural change refers to a change structural changes are ring opening/n
- structural movements within ring syste system configurations. The componer component of the MOF. 35

In some embodiments, the MOF comprises one or more ligands containing a photoisomerisable azo or ethene bond enabling reversible isomerisation between the cisand trans- state. The azo or ethene bond is suitably within the ligand chain bridging between metal atoms. In other words, the azo or ethene group is not pendant to the main chain of the ligand.

In some embodiments, suitable ligands may be selected from the following

structures:

ŝ

- A. L^a-X^a-Ar-N=N-Ar-X^a-L^a B. L^a-X^b-CH=CH-X^b-L^b
- C. L^e-X^e-oligothiophene-X^e-L^e.

10

in which each of L^{*}, L^{*} and L^{*} is independently a co-ordination linking group capable of co-ordinating with the metal atom,

 X^* is a direct bond, or a chain comprising one group, or a sequence of groups, selected from the group consisting of substituted or unsubstituted any and –N=N-, provided that any –

- 15 N=N- group does not immediately adjoin any other –N=N- group; X^b is a direct bond, or a chain comprising one group. or a sequence of groups, selected from the group consisting of substituted or unsubstituted any and -CH=CH ; X^c is a direct bond, or a chain comprising one group, or a sequence of groups, selected from the group consisting of substituted any i+N=N- and -CH=CH, provided that
- 20 any –N=N- group does not immediately adjoin any other –N=N- group; Ar is a substituted or unsubstituted anyi: and "oligothiophene" is a substituted or unsubstituted oligothiophene comprising from 2 to 8 thiophene units. It is noted that in the above ligand definitions, the bond attachment through the
- It is noted that in the above ligand definitions, the point attachment through the aromatic rings or the thiophene units is through any suitable ring atom. It is also noted that the X[±] at the end of each molecule may be of a different definition, although in some
 - 25 the X^{*} at the end of each molecule may be of a different definition, although in some embodiments, both X^{*}s are the same. This applies equally for X^b and X^c. Where reference is made to substitution, suitable substitutients may be selected from the group consisting of : H, .NH₃, -BR, .-CI, .NO₃, .-CH₃, .and .-C-CH₃R₄.

wherein R₁ is an alkyl or alkene of from about 1-5 carbons, and R_2 is an anyl or substituted

- 30 aryl. Substitutents on the aryl group in the case or R₂ may be selected from the group consisting of -H, -NH₂, -BR, -CI, -NO₂, -CH₃, and -OCH₂R, . Alkyl refers to C1-C6 straight chain, branched or cyclic alkyl, including methyl, ethyl, propyl, tert-buyh and so forth. Alkene refers to C2-C6 straight chain or branched alkenes, including 1-propene, 1-buttene, and so forth.
- 15 L*, L* and L* each represent a co-ordination linking group capable of co-ordinating with the metal atom. Such groups are sometimes referred to as "finkers" in the art. The range of groups containing this function include carboxylate groups and N-donor rings such as imidazole, pyrazole, pyridyl and triazole, carbamate, thiocarbamate and so forth. The

N-donor rings may be substituted or unsubstituted. The substituents may be selected from the group consisting of -H, -NH₂, -BR, -CI, -NO₂, -CH₃, and -OCH₂R, In some embodiments, the N-donor ring is unsubstituted.

e

- According to some embodiments, each of L^a, L^b and L^a is independently selected from the group consisting of carboxylate and pyridyl rings. In some embodiments, L^a is
 - carboxylate. In some embodiments, L° is carboxylate. In some embodiments, L° is pyridyl. X* is a direct bond, or a chain comprising one group, or a sequence of groups, selected from the group consisting of substituted or unsubstituted any and –N=N-According to some embodiments, X* comprises an alternating series of substituted or
- 10 unsubstituted any groups and -N=N-. According to some embodiments, X^a comprises one or a sequence of substituted or unsubstituted any groups. In some embodiments, X^a is sequence of substituted or unsubstituted phenyl groups. In some embodiments, the number of any groups is between 2 and 5. In some embodiments, X^a is a sequence of between 2 and 5 phenyl groups. According to some embodiments, X^a is a substituted or unsubstituted
- 15 anyl. In some embodiments, X^a is substituted or unsubstituted phenyl. In some embodiments, X^a is phenyl. As noted above, X^a at each end of the molecule may be the same or different. When different, one X^a may be denoted X^a, and X^a has the same definition as for X^a. According to some embodiments, each X^a is the same. X^a is a direct bond, or a chain comprising one group, or a sequence of groups,
 - 20 selected from the group consisting of substituted or unsubstituted aromatic rings and -CH=CH-. According to some embodiments, X^b is a direct bond. According to some embodiments, X^b is one or a sequence of substituted or unsubstituted aryf groups. According to some embodiments, X^b comprises an alternating series of substituted or unsubstituted aryf groups and -CH=CH-. In some embodiments, X^b is sequence of
- 25 substituted or unsubstituted phenyl groups. In some embodiments, the number of anyl groups is between 2 and 5. In some embodiments, X^b is a sequence of between 2 and 5 phenyl groups. According to some embodiments, X^b is a substituted anyl. In some embodiments, X^b is a substituted phenyl. In some embodiments, X^b is substituted phenyl. In some embodiments, X^b is substituted or unsubstituted phenyl. In some embodiments, X^b is substituted or unsubstituted anyl. In some embodiments, X^b is phenyl. As noted above, X^b at each end of the molecule may be the same or different.
 - 30 When different, one X^b may be denoted X^b, and X^b has the same definition as for X^b. According to some embodiments, each X^b is the same. X^c is a direct bond, or a chain comprising one group, or a sequence of groups,
- A list entropy consisting of substituted or unsubstituted any. -N=N and -CH=CH. selected from the group consisting of substituted or unsubstituted any. -N=N- and -CH=CH. According to some embodiments, X^{*} is a direct bond. According to other embodiments, X^{*} is one or a sequence of substituted or unsubstituted any groups. According to some
 - 35 one or a sequence of substituted or unsubstituted any groups. According to some embodiments, X^c comprises an atternating series of substituted or unsubstituted any groups and -CH=CH-. In some embodiments, X^c is sequence of substituted or unsubstituted pheny groups. In some embodiments, the number of any groups is between 2 and 5. In

PCT/AU2013/000831	WO 2014/015383
	12
troups. According to	The MOF may comprise paddlewheel dinuclear M ₂ units, with bridging by Ligand
me embodiments, X ^c is	and pillars formed by Ligand 2. Ligand 1 may be a di-anionic ligand, such as a dicarboxyla
henyl. As noted above,	ligand, and Ligand 2 may be a di-N-donor ring containing ligand, such as a dipyridyl ligand
n different, one X° may be	The MOF preferably is able to release at least 40%, preferably at least 45%, at
some embodiments,	5 least 50%, at least 55%, at least 60% or at least 65% of the adsorbed (separated) first gas
	species. The MOFs studied in the examples was capable of 69% release of the adsorbed
uch as "substituted ary!",	gas species. Thus, the process of the present application may comprise:
natic hydrocarbons or	 releasing at least 40% of the separated first gas species from the gas separatic
yl, biphenyl, terphenyl,	material by switching the conformation of the metal organic framework to the
enyl, dihydroanthracenyl,	o second conformation.
anyi, indenyi, azulenyi,	
rryk, pyrrolyl, furanyt,	The amount may be even greater, as indicated by the preferred percentages of ge
yrazolyi, pyrazinyi.	release indicated previously.
hienyi, purinyi.	The first gas species may be carbon dioxide. The gas stream will comprise a
d the like. According to	5 second (and possibly further) gas species. The second gas species may be selected from
to atternative	the group consisting of N_2 , O_2 , H_2 , CO, CH4 and so forth, including combinations thereof.
independently selected	According to other embodiments, the first gas species is one of N_a , O_a , H_a , CO or CH_4 . The
contains a single ring (and	first gas species is selectively separated from the second gas species in the gas stream.
liments, the aryl is phenyl	such that at least 90%, or at least 95%, at least 99% or 100% of the adsorbed gas species
an unsubstituted ary, 20	0 the first gas species.
	The gas stream may be an exhaust gas stream, such as a power plant exhaust ga
etween the thiophene	stream.
	Studies on Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5}
ucture A and a ligand of	5 The synthesis of the triply interpenetrated framework Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE) _{6.5} and
f structure A and a ligand	studies on its properties are set out in the Examples below. The framework is assembled
t of structure B and a	from paddle wheel dinuclear Zn2 units, bridging AzDC di-anions and 4,4-BPE pillar ligands
	Photoresponsive studies in solid state revealed a photoactive framework. Trans- and cis-
r metal atom may be	AzDC n-m [*] (S1 state) and m-m [*] (S2 state) transitions can be detected at 455 nm and 380 n
36	o in the excitation spectra respectively (Figure 10). The coordination of 4,4'-BPE to Zn result.
ula:	in a photoactive species under light irradiation. The trans isomer of 4,4'-BPE ligand exhibit:
	overlapping excitation bands of metal to ligand charge transfer and intra-ligand charge
	transfer in the 310-375 nm region. Excitation in this region generates trans⊸cis
ligand of a second type.	isomerisation. Both cis- AzDC and 4,4'-BPE can return to their trans state.
cribed previously. Thus,	5 As shown in Figure 2, Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE) _{0.5} exhibits unprecedented dynamic
gands A, B and C are	switching under CO ₂ adsorption, with a 240 % variation in capacity under static irradiation
	conditions, and as much as 69 % during dynamic measurements. Dynamic irradiation
	isotherms follow values obtained under continuous conditions, however the reversal in

=

some embodiments, X⁶ is a sequence of between 2 and 5 phenyl groups. Acc some embodiments, X⁶ is a substituted or unsubstituted anyl. In some embodin substituted or unsubstituted phenyl. In some embodiments, X⁶ is phenyl. As n X⁶ at each end of the molecule may be the same or different. When different, o denoted X⁷ and X⁷ has the same definition as for X⁶. According to some embo

5 denoted X², and X² has the same definition as for X². According to some embodim each X² is the same. The term "any" used either alone or in compound words such as "substitut.

The term "ary" used either alone or in compound words such as "substituted an denotes single, polynuclear, conjugated and fused residues of aromatic hydrocarbons or aromatic heterocyclic ring systems. Examples of any include phenyl, biphenyl, terpheny quaterphenyl, phenoxyphenyl, naphtyl, tetrahydronaphthyl, anthracenyl, dihydroarnthrace

10 quaterphenyl, phenoxyphenyl, naphtyl, tatrahydronaphthyl, anthracenyl, dihydroanthracet benzanthracenyl, dibenzanthracenyl, phenanthrenyl, fluorenyl, pyrnyl, pyrnyl, zulenyl, chrysenyl, pyrtolyl, 4-phenylpyridyl, 3-phenylpyridyl, thienyl, furyl, pyrnyl, pyrnolyl, furanyl, imadazohyl, pyrnolydinyl, pyridinyl, piperidinyl, indolyl, pyridazinyl, pyrazinyl, thiazohyl, pyrimidinyl, quinolinyl, isoquinolinyl, benzofuranyl, benzothienyl, purinyl, duinazolinyl, phenazinyl, acridinyl, benzoxazohyl, benzothilenyl, purinyl.

1.5 quinazolinyl, phenazinyl, acridinyl, benzozizowi, benzothiazowy and the like. According to some embodiments, the anyl is a carbocyclic anyl group. According to attemative embodiments, the anyl is heteroaryl and contains 1 to 4 heteratoms independently selected from N. O and S. According to some embodiments, the anyl group contains a single ring (and therefore excludes fused ring systems). According to some embodiments, the anyl is phenyl con substituted phenyl. According to some embodiments, the anyl is an unsubstituted anyl.

such as phenyl. The oligothiophene may be a dithiophene. The bonding between the thiophe rings may be 4.4', or 2.5' or otherwise.

The MOF preferably comprises two different ligands. In the MOF preferably Comprises two different ligands.

25 In some embodiments, the MOF comprises a ligand of structure A and a ligand of structure B. In some embodiments, the MOF comprises a ligand of structure A and a ligand of structure C. In some embodiments, the MOF comprises a ligand of structure B and a ligand of structure C.

It will be understood that the relative number of ligands per metal atom may be 30 uneven.

Thus, in some embodiments, the MOF may be of the fomula: M(Ligand 1)(Ligand 2)_{0.5} Ligand 1 refers to a ligand of a first type, and Ligand 2 to a ligand of a sec 35 Ligand 1 may be of structure A, and Ligand 2 of structure B, as described previous the MOF may be of the formula M(A)(B)_{6.5}. Other combinations of ligands A, B and possible.

₽

uptake was not entirely complete under the dynamic measurement conditions employed. A series of careful control experiments were undertaken to ensure that this phenomenon was not an experimental or material antefact, but due solely to the dynamic photo-response observed. Careful localized temperature monitoring showed that the temperature varied by

- 5 less than 0.2°C, ruling out localized heating as a significant effect. Furthermore, experiments with control materials including SAPO 34 zeolite, and also a framework without photoactive groups, Cu-BTC, showed atmost no CO₂ uptake variations (0.2-2 % vs 69 % for Zn(AZDC)(4,4'-BPE)0.5), see Figure 12. To the best of our knowiedge, this MOF exhibits the strongest light response reported to date. In the only comparable experiment, 10 conducted under static conditions, a 30 % uptake fluctuation was observed.
 - Figure 3 shows that significant changes in peak intensity for the region 540-700 cm⁻¹ were observed under irradiation, whereas the remaining spectrum was unchanged Peak intensity increase at 550 cm⁻¹ can be attributed to C-C-C and C-C-N bending modes with AzDC, indicating low energy structural variations about the azo group, which occurred
- 15 due to the suppression of cis-trans isomerisation. These bending modes are likely to be responsible for the spontaneous release of adsorbed CO₂ upon irradiation, in which the pore surface was activated and the surface energy was increased (Figure 3b). Similar experiments on the free ligand AZDC confirmed this effect (Figure 3a). An increase in intensity at 537 cm⁻¹ indicated the activation of bending modes about the C-C-N bonds
- 20 within the ligand. Furthermore, very minor peak increases in the free ligand at 1516 cm⁻¹ were observed, assigned to higher energy cis-N=N stretching modes forming as the native trans material was excited. These modes were not seen to change within the framework, highlighting the restricted nature of AzDC in this structure, which could not undertake these transitions. This also explains with no changes were seen in XRD
- 25 (Figure 3d). This result was also replicated with similar UV-Vis experiments, where only a small fraction of cis isomers were detected (Figure 3c). The framework was continuously exposed to either 365 nm or 460 nm light and the intensity of the absorption peak is monitored. Absorption related to *trans*-AZDC and *cis*-AZDC moleties was found to be complementary and also periodically changing, regardless of whether the excitation 30 wavelength promoted formation of either *cis* or *trans* structures. Under continuous 30 wavelength promoted formation of either *cis* or *trans* structures.
- 30 wavelength promoted formation of aither cis or trans structures. Under continuous irradiation from either 370 nm (promote cis-AzDC) or 460 nm light (promote trans-AzDC), small fractions of the structure were found to periodically oscillate between both isomeric conformations in a complementary fashion given the additive nature of cis- and trans- peaks across the two separate experiments. Similar additive effects were less clear from 4,4. BPE
 - 35 excitation profiles where there was considerable overlap, although this ligand also clearly underwent transitions whilst coordinated within the framework. Most likely, this continual reversion to native states even under irradiation that promotes an isomeric transformation stems from the structural streases induced within the interpenetrated framework, due

Furthermore, rapid changes predominantly through bending motions must occur throughout the framework in order to maintain the original triply interpenetrated framework and accommodate the constraints.

to the components also being critical to the topology, and not pendant to it.

4

- Figure 4 shows that absolute CO₂ uptake is increased and the amount released upon light exposure lessened when a filtered light source, which has a lower flux, is used. Filtering the light to 365 nm promotes photoisomerisation in both the A2DC and BPE ligands (Figures 10 and 11). Accounting for variations in raw uptake amounts, and changing flux gives Figure 4. Here it is shown that the efficiency of CO₂ release is greatly enhanced by the use of 365 nm filtered light. In both cases the adsorption amounts in the absence of light
- 10 the use of 355 nm fiftered light. In both cases the adsorption amounts in the absence of light inadiation are similar, yet CO₂ desorption is found to be more efficient with use of fiftered 365 nm radiation. This effect is most pronounced at high partial pressures, yet it is notable that at partial pressures similar to those encountered in post-combustion capture gas streams (ca. 115 mmHg) that unfiftered light gives a very comparable response. The results
 - 15 imply that in cases where light intensity is not a limiting factor, that filtration to 365 nm is preferable, but in other instances, unfiltered. concentrated sunlight will also perform almost as well, especially in post combustion capture streams. Illuminations up to 20 W/cm² (200 solar equivalents) can be achieved using concentrated sunlight. These remarkable results stem from the fact that the photo-induced structural changes in Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE)_{6.5} are 2.0 dynamic.

The foregoing results demonstrate that the interpenetrated framework $Zn(A2DC)(4,4'-BPE)_{0.5}$ can undergo dynamic light-induced structural flexbility, which results in large variations in CO₂ uptakes. For the first time an experimental protocol was established to exploit this remarkable property for low energy CO₂ capture and release. The

- 25 variation in CO₂ capture performance was found to be exceptionally strong, as much as 69 % under dynamic measurements, increasing to 240 % in static conditions. Characterisation of the framework showed that the structural flexibility is due to both the AZDC and BPE ligands, occurring reversibly and on a local scale, even under fradiation that would promote formation on just one conformer. This is akin to a twisted rope that 30 spontaneously unwinds when sufficiently twisted.
 - This approach represents a route to renewable energy CO₂ capture and release, and was found to remain effective under broadband irradiation. This means that unfiltered sunlight may be used instead of the energy intensive temperature and pressure swings to release trapped gases.
- 35 The present invention will now be described in further detail with reference to the following non-limiting examples which demonstrate the principles underlying the present invention.

-	VO 2014/015383 PC	T/AU2013/000831	/O 2014/015383
	15		16
	Examples		Section 3: X-Rav Powder Diffraction (PXRD) S4
	Section 1: Experimental Procedures S1		S3.1 General PXRD Procedure
	S1.1 Synthesis of AzDC (1) – "Ligand 1"		PXRD data was recorded using a Bruker D8 Advance X-ray Diffractometer with
	4-Nitrobenzoic acid (15.0304 g, 0.09 mol) was dissolved into an aqi	ueous sodium	CuKa radiation (40kV, 40mA) monochromatised with a graphile sample monocromator was
ŝ	hydroxide solution (51.0039, 1.28 mol, in 225ml water) by heating the solutik	m. A hot 5	employed to determined the X-ray diffraction patterns. Each sample was scanned over the
	aqueous glucose solution (101.01590, 0.56mol, in 150ml water) was slowly.	added into the	2-theta range 5 to 85° with a step size of 0.02° and a count time of 4 seconds per step. The
	above solution at 50°C, in which the initially formed yellow precipitate immer	Nately turned	PXRD pattern broadens when the as synthesized 2 is solvent exchanged with dry methanol.
	into a brown solution upon further addition of glucose. The mbdure was allow	ved to react	This is a typical feature of the interpenetrated frameworks as the slight change in the
	overnight at room temperature to form a dark solution. Methanol was added	to the aged	structure resulted from the changes in guest content and composition.
10	solution until a bright brown precipitate formed. The fittered precipitate was c	lissolved in 10	
	water, followed by acidification with acetic acid (20 mL), whereupon a light p	ink precipitate	S3.2 Photo-response PXRD Patterns
	was obtained. The product was filtered, washed with excess water and dried	I overnight to	PXRD data was obtained using the powder diffraction beamline at the Australian
	yield the final product (4.92 g, 17mmol, 38.5 %). ¹ H NMR (DMSO, 400 MHz): Q (bbm)	Synchotron with an incident wavelength of 1.00 Å. The sample was sealed in a 0.3 mm
	8.04-8.06 (d, 4H), 5 8.18-8.20 (d, 4H), 5 13.0 (brs, 1H). ¹³ C NMR (DMSO, 5(0 MHz): 122.86,	diameter quartz capitiary and examined over the range of 2 < 26 < 82. Using Actioure®
15	130.72, 133.50, 154.17, 166.67.	LS	4000 as the UV-VIS light source, the sample was irradiated with light throughout the
			measurement. The results are shown in Figure 6.
	S1.2 Synthesis of Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPE) _{as} (2) - "Framework 2"		
	Framework 2 was solvothermally synthesized according to a generi	al procedure	S3.3 X-Ray Crystal Structure
	described by Zhou et al. B. Chen, S. Ma, E. J. Hurtado, E. B. Lobkovsky, H.	-C. Zhou,	Crystal unit cell structure of 2 was constructed using Diamond v3.1. This is shown
20	Inorganic Chemistry 2007, 46, 8490-8492. A mixture of $Zn(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$, 1 ar	d 4,4'-BPE was 20	in Figure 7.
	suspended in DMF (100 mL) and heated at 100 °C for 24 h. The resulting re	d block-shaped	
	crystals formed were fittered and washed with DMF and hexane, and dried i	1 air.	Section 4: Photo-Response Characterisation S5
	BET surface area: 126.4575 m²/a.		S4.1 General Photo-Response Characterization Procedure
			Excitation and emission wavelengths of the sample in solid state were read in a
25	Section 2: Gas Adsorption Measurement S2		Coming black flat clear bottom microplate using FlexStation® 3 Benchtop Multi-Mode
	S2.1 General Gas Adsorption Procedures	25	Microplate Reader in fluorescence bottom reading mode at room temperature. The
	Gas adsorption isotherms of activated Framework 2 were recorded	at low pressure	excitation spectra of ArDC is shown in Figure 8. The excitation band at 380 nm and 455 nm
	(0 - 1 2 bar) by a volumetric method using a Micrometrics ASAP 2040 instru	ment	is due to the trans and dis AzDC in 2 respectively. The peak around 330 nm and 430 nm is
	Approximately 100 ms of didd methanol exchanged sample was weighed in	a ore-dried and	charastic of the trans and dis free AzDC ligand respectively. Figure 9 shows the excitation
2	weinhed Querts BET tube The sample was evacuated and articized at 150		spectra of the ligand 4, 4'BPE. The excitation wavelengths at the 300 nm region and 285
2	Advantic variant of 10° Tor for at least 24 h to control any solvert molecule	30 ar 20	rum correspond to the trans and cis peaks respectively. Free BPE was found to have no
	accourate weight of the decassed sample was calculated prior to analysis. G	tas adsorption	photoactivity in the solid state.
	measurements were performed using ultra-high purity H ₂ , CO ₂ and CH ₄ gas.	The gas	
	adsorption isotherms are shown in Figure 5.		Section 5: Light-Responsive Control Experiments S6
35			S5.1 General Light-Responsive Control Procedure
		35	Basolite C300 and Silica Alumina were chosen as non-photoactive porous materials
			for a control study. Approximately 1mg of degassed sample was used in Quartz BET tube.
			Basolite C300 was activated at 150 °C for 24 h and Silica Alumina was activated at 90 for

20

25

30

15

10

35

1 h, then at 350 C for 5 h. The experiment was conducted by swliching the unfittered light on Basolite C300 and Silica Aumina show up to approximately 0.2 % and 2 % responsiveness respectively. In comparison to the 69% response in Zn(AzDC)(4,4-BPE)_{\alpha_5}, the response is and off throughout the analysis. The gas adsorption isotherms are shown in Figure 10. very low. This is due to the sudden change in condition when the light was switched on. ŝ

- Section 6: Light-Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Setup S7
- Pre-weighed and dried custom made aluminium foiled quartz BET tube was used for light experiment. A custom made BET light cell was used to contain the BET tube and General Light-Responsive Gas Adsorption Experimental Setup S6.1
- temperature at 303 K or 273 K throughout the experiment. A temperature probe was wedged light guide to allow maximum light exposure and coverage on the sample when the light was inside the light cell between the quartz BET tube and light guide to monitor the temperature. Acticure® 4000 was used as a UV-VIS light source to trigger sample's light response during switched on. A Cole Palmer Model BT 15 heated circulating bath was used to maintain the 10
 - (24,600 mWcm²) and 365 nm fitter (5,600 mW/cm²). The spectral output for light fittered analysis. The light was fixed at the highest intensity output with no filter (200 - 500 nm) with a 365 nm fitter is shown in Figure 13. 15

Section 7: Gas Separation Device Setup S7

- as illustrated. Then, as shown in Figure 11b, the separated gas species is released from the The separation process is illustrated schematically in Figure 11. In the absence of the activating light (Figure 11a), a gas stream containing a first (target) gas species, comes into contact with the MOF adsorbent, while the MOF is in a first conformation that allows the target gas species to be captured. The non-adsorbed gas continues through the adsorbent, 20
- includes an adsorbed gas release passageway, which can be opened so as to channel the adsorbed (and released) gas species in a different direction to the non-adsorbed gas. The gas separation material by irradiating the MOF with light (hv) which results in switching of the conformation of the metal organic framework to the second conformation which forces the gas species out of the material. The MOF may be located within an arrangement that 52
 - of the adsorbed gas species, the MOF is regenerated and ready for use in the adsorption of non-adsorbed gas species passageway can be closed during this operation. After removal more of the first gas species. 0 M

One specific arrangement for the gas separation device is thustrated in Figure 12. cartridge that is positioned in a cartridge receiver within a gas stream. Feed gas passes In Figure 12, the gas separation device comprising MOF adsorbent is in the form of a

conformation that allows the target gas species to be captured, and the non-adsorbed gas through the cartridge in the absence of light, during which time the MOF is in a first 35

the MOF in the permeate gas stream. After removal of the adsorbed gas species, the MOF hand corner). Then the separated gas species is released from the gas separation material carthidge, allowing the separated gas to be drawn out of the MOF in the carthidge and out of hows through the cartridge (in the direction illustrated by the arrow headed to the top right by irradiating the MOF with light (hv) while a permeate gas is channelled through the ŝ

is regenerated and ready for use in the adsorption of more of the first gas species.

₽

WO 2014/015383 PCT/A U2013/000831	WO 2014/015383	PCT/AU2013/000831
19		20
CLAIMS:	8. The process of claim 7, wherein	the metal species is selected from the group
	consisting of Zn, Y, Mg. Ca, Sr, Ba, Zr,	and Ti.
1. A process for the separation of a first gas species from a gas stream using a gas	9. The process of any one of claim	s 2 to 8, wherein the ligands are selected from the
separauori material compranty a metal organic namework una is reversion switchaure between a first conformation that alivue the first ras snaries in he camiured in the matal	5 following structures:	,
borneous a may comprise una anone may are may be appreced to be dependent in the mount organic framework and a second conformation that allows the release of the cartured first		
organic manufactor, and a poorting contractor, and many and more an endoged of the pro-	A. L"-X ^a -Af-N=N-Af-X ^a -L ^a	
yes species on the use of agin as the same ing automa, the process comprishing. Addeding a new stream containing the first have exactles with the new constraint metaining.	B. L ^b -X ^b -CH=CH-X ^b -L ^b	
- contacturing a gas sureant containing the first conformation to capture the first gas	C. L ^e -X ^e -oligothiophene-X ^e -L	0
species	10	
- releasing the separated first gas species from the gas separation material by switching the	IN WHICH EACH OF L', L' AND L' IS INDEPEI	ndentry a co-ordination linking group capable of co-
conformation of the metal organic framework to the second conformation, and	ordinating with the metal atom,	
- switching the metal organic framework to the first conformation to regenerate the gas	X^{4} is a direct bond, or a chain comprising	ig one group, or a sequence of groups, selected from
separation material.	the group consisting of substituted or ur	substituted any and -N=N-, provided that any -N=N-
	15 group does not immediately adjoin any	other –N=N- group;
2 The process of claim 1 wherein the metal omanic framework comprise a metal and	X^b is a direct bond, or a chain comprisin	ig one group, or a sequence of groups, selected from
	the group consisting of substituted or ur	Isubstituted aryl and -CH=CH;
	X^e is a direct bond X^e is a direct bond, o	r a chain comprising one group, or a sequence of
The process of claim 2, wherein the metal organic framework comprises at least one	groups, selected from the group consist	ing of substituted or unsubstituted anyl, -N=N- and
ligand containing an isomerisable group within the molecular chain that forms a link between	20 -CH=CH-, provided that any -N=N- grou	up does not immediately adjoin any other –N≡N-
adjacent metal atoms in the metal organic framework.	:dnoug	
	Ar is a substituted or unsubstituted ary:	and
The process of claim 2, wherein the metal organic framework comprises one or more	olioothiophene is a substituted or unsub	stituted oliaothioohene comprising from 2 to 8
ligands containing a photoisomerisable group enabling reversible isomerisation between the	highhane mits	
cis- and trans- state within the molecular chain bridging between metal atoms.	25	
	10. The process of claim 9, wherein	L [*] , L [*] and L ^c are each independently selected from
5. The process of any one of claims 2 to 4, wherein the metal organic framework	the group consisting of carboxylate and	N-donor rings.
comprises one or more ligands containing a photoisomerisable azo or ethene bond enabling		
reversible isomerisation between the cis- and trans- state within the molecular chain bridging	11. The process of claim 9, wherein	L^{a} , L^{b} and L^{c} are each independently selected from
between metal atoms.	30 the group consisting of carboxylate and	pyridyl.
The process of any one of claims 2 to 5, wherein the metal organic framework	10 The monese of any one of claim	e 0 to 11 wherein X° is calacted from the arrive
comprises two different ligands each comprising a photoisomerisable azo or ethene bond	12. The process of any one of and shell the and and and and	s surtience of substituted or insubstituted and
enabling reversible isomenisation between the cis- and trans- state within the molecular		
chain bridding between metal atoms.	35 35	
. The nonsee of any one of claims 2 in 8. wherein the metal is selected from the rovin	13. The process of claim 12, whereir	r X ^a is substituted or unsubstituted phenyi.
consisting of: Sc. Ti, V, Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, Y, Mg, Ca, Sr, Ba, Zr, Ti, La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Dr. Sr. Fr. Cr, He, Cr, He, Ca, He, Ca, Sr, Ba, Zr, Ci, La, Ce, Pr, Nd,	14. The process of claim 12, whereit	1 X ⁻ Is pnenyl.
רש, אש, בט, פס, ווס, בע, חס, בז, זווו, זע מוזע בע, מוזע כטוונטוומונטוט טופי בעי.	40 15. The process of any one of claim	s 9 to 14, wherein X° is a direct bond.

S

16. The process of any one of claims 9 to 15, wherein the metal organic framework comprises a ligand of structure A and a ligand of structure B.

- 5 17. The process of any one of claims 9 to 15, wherein the metal organic framework comprises a ligand of structure A and a ligand of structure C.
- 18. The process of any one of claims 9 to 15, wherein the metal organic framework comprises a ligand of structure B and a ligand of structure C.

10

- 19. The process of any one of claims 9 to 15, wherein the metal organic framework is of the formula $M(\Delta)(B)_{64}$, in which M refers to a metal, and A and B are as defined in any one of claims 9 to 15.
- 15 20. The process of claim 19, wherein the metal organic framework is M(AzDC)(4.4⁻ BPE)_{0.5}.
- 21. The process of claim 20, wherein the metal organic framework is Zn(AzDC)(4,4'-BPEha.
 - **5** 23
- 22. The process of any one of the preceding claims, further comprising:

 reusing the regenerated gas separation material for the separation of the first gas species from the gas stream.

23. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the light is light of broadband wavelength.

25

24. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the light is sunlight.

ŝ

- The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein light is the only switching stimulus.
- 26. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the second conformation is
 - 35 achieved on application of light.

27. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the conformation that is achieved on application of light is a conformation that is under tension, and removal of the light results in spontaneous reversal to the structure of the other conformation.

ង

- 28. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the metal organic framework is an interpenetrated metal organic framework.
- 29. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the MOF is able to release 5 at least 40%, of the adsorbed first gas species when switched to the second conformation.
- 30. The process of any one of the preceding claims, wherein the first gas species is carbon dioxide.
- 10 31. Use of a metal organic framework that is reversibly switchable between a first confirmation and a second conformation on the use of light as the switching stimukus, as a gas separation material for the separation of a first gas species from a gas stream, through adsorption of the first gas species from the gas stream when in the first conformation, and release of the first gas species through switching to the second conformation.
- 32. The use of claim 30, wherein light is the only switching stimulus.

15

- 33. The use of claim 31 or claim 32, wherein the metal organic framework comprise a metal M and one or more ligands.
- 34. The use of any one of claims 31 to 33, wherein the metal organic framework comprises at least one ligand containing an isomerisable group within the molecular chain that forms a link between adjacent metal atoms in the metal organic framework.
- 25 35. A gas separation device comprising gas separation material, the gas separation material comprising a metal organic framework that is reversibly switchable between a first conformation and a second conformation on the use of light as the only switching stimulus, wherein the first conformation allows the adsorption of a first gas species, and the second conformation allows the release of the first gas species.
- 36. The gas separation device of claim 35, which is in the form of a gas separation membrane or a gas separation cartridge.

30

37. The gas separation device of claim 34 or claim 35, wherein the metal organic framework comprises at least one ligand containing an isomerisable group within the molecular chain that forms a link between adjacent metal atoms in the metal organic framework. PCT/AU2013/000831

WO 2014/015383

- 2/8 -

e 10 i. (, uc) stadinauta dat 200 ASS million) \$ ş, . 5 (878) ŝ ţ ¥ ¥ Ē



Figure 3

PCT/AU2013/000831

- 1/8 -



Figure 1



WO 2014/015383

- 3/8 -





ļ

Figure 7

56663



Figure 5

122312000 CC 6922 CC 69

8

Absolute Pressure (mmHg)

PCT/AU2013/000831

- 5/8 -

PCT/AU2013/000831











ł

Non-adsorbed gas

MOF

Gas mixture

- 2/8 -







Press Releases:

Source	URL
Monash University	http://www.monash.edu.au/news/show/carbon-sponge-
	could-soak-up-coal-emissions
CSIPO	http://www.csiro.au/Portals/Media/CSIRO-solar-sponge-
CSIKO	soaks-up-CO2-emissions.aspx
Australian	http://www.synchrotron.org.au/aussyncbeamlines/powder
Synchrotron	-diffraction/highlights-pd/solar-sponge-mofs
Chemical	http://www.engineersaustralia.org.au/sites/default/files/s
Engineering in	hado/Learned%20Groups/Colleges/Chemical%20College
Australia	/feb13_cea_final.pdf
Tcetoday	https://www.tcetoday.com/~/media/Documents/TCE/A
Teetoday	rticles/2013/861/861innovations.pdf
SpaceDaily	http://www.spacedaily.com/reports/Carbon_sponge_coul
SpaceDaily	d_soak_up_coal_emissions_999.html
The Register (UK)	http://www.theregister.co.uk/2013/02/13/csiro_carbon_c
The Register (OR)	apture_sponges/
Wiley (USA)	http://au.wiley.com/WileyCDA/PressRelease/pressReleas
	eId-107640.html